

Identification of Chromodomain on Y Like 2 (CDYL2) as an indispensable protein for a faithful mitosis Audrey Dujardin

▶ To cite this version:

Audrey Dujardin. Identification of Chromodomain on Y Like 2 (CDYL2) as an indispensable protein for a faithful mitosis. Molecular biology. Université de Lyon, 2021. English. NNT: 2021LYSE1134. tel-03855841

HAL Id: tel-03855841 https://theses.hal.science/tel-03855841

Submitted on 16 Nov 2022

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



N°d'ordre NNT : 2021LYSE1134

THESE de DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITE DE LYON

opérée au sein de l'Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1

Ecole Doctorale N° ED340 BMIC – Biologie Moléculaire, Intégrative et Cellulaire

Spécialité de doctorat : Biologie **Discipline**) : Biologie Moléculaire

Soutenue publiquement le 05/07/2021, par : Audrey DUJARDIN

Identification of Chromodomain on Y Like 2 (CDYL2) as an Indispensable Protein for a Faithful Mitosis

Devant le jury composé de :

Rapporteur JAULIN, Christian DR INSERM, Université de Rennes 1, IGDR VOURC'H, Claire Professeure, Université Grenoble Alpes, IAB Rapporteure GODINHO FERREIRA, DR CNRS, Université Côte d'Azur, IRCAN Miguel Examinateur PONCET, Delphine MCU-PH, Université Lyon 1, CRCL Examinatrice MULLIGAN, Peter CR INSERM, Université Lyon 1, CRCL Directeur de thèse

Informations concernant la préparation de la thèse

Cette thèse a été préparée au sein du Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Lyon (UMR INSERM1052 / CNRS 5286), dirigé par le Docteur Patrick MEHLEN, dans l'équipe "Épigénétique et Cancer" crée en Juin 2014 et dirigée par le Dr. Peter MULLIGAN, sur le site du Centre Léon Bérard situé 28 rue Laennec, 69373 Lyon Cedex 08.

Université Claude Bernard – LYON 1

Président de l'Université	M. Frédéric FLEURY
Président du Conseil Académique	M. Hamda BEN HADID
Vice-Président du Conseil d'Administration	M. Didier REVEL
Vice-Président du Conseil des Etudes et de la Vie Universitaire	M. Philippe CHEVALLIER
Vice-Président de la Commission de Recherche	M. Petru MIRONESCU
Directeur Général des Services	M. Pierre ROLLAND

COMPOSANTES SANTE

Département de Formation et Centre de Recherche en Biologie Humaine	Directrice : Mme Anne-Marie SCHOTT
Faculté d'Odontologie	Doyenne : Mme Dominique SEUX
Faculté de Médecine et Maïeutique Lyon Sud - Charles Mérieux	Doyenne : Mme Carole BURILLON
Faculté de Médecine Lyon-Est	Doyen : M. Gilles RODE
Institut des Sciences et Techniques de la Réadaptation (ISTR)	Directeur : M. Xavier PERROT
Institut des Sciences Pharmaceutiques et Biologiques (ISBP)	Directrice : Mme Christine VINCIGUERRA

COMPOSANTES & DEPARTEMENTS DE SCIENCES & TECHNOLOGIE

Département Génie Electrique et des Procédés (GEP)	Directrice : Mme Rosaria FERRIGNO
Département Informatique	Directeur : M. Behzad SHARIAT
Département Mécanique	Directeur M. Marc BUFFAT
Ecole Supérieure de Chimie, Physique, Electronique (CPE Lyon)	Directeur : Gérard PIGNAULT
Institut de Science Financière et d'Assurances (ISFA)	Directeur : M. Nicolas LEBOISNE
Institut National du Professorat et de l'Education	Administrateur Provisoire : M. Pierre CHAREYRON
Institut Universitaire de Technologie de Lyon 1	Directeur : M. Christophe VITON
Observatoire de Lyon	Directrice : Mme Isabelle DANIEL
Polytechnique Lyon	Directeur : Emmanuel PERRIN
UFR Biosciences	Administratrice provisoire : Mme Kathrin GIESELER
UFR des Sciences et Techniques des Activités Physiques et Sportives (STAPS)	Directeur : M. Yannick VANPOULLE
UFR Faculté des Sciences	Directeur : M. Bruno ANDRIOLETTI

Identification de CDYL2 (Chromodomain on Y Like 2) en tant que protéine indispensable pour une mitose fidèle

La sous-unité de la chromatine, le nucléosome, est constitué d'ADN et d'histones, des protéines pouvant être modifiées de manière covalente pour recruter d'autres protéines sur la chromatine. Souvent étudiés dans le contexte du contrôle de l'expression, les modifications d'histones sont également importantes pour la stabilité génomique. Une perte de la triméthylation de la lysine 9 de l'histone 3 (H3K9me3) aux péricentromères induit par exemple un manque de cohésion des chromosomes et une instabilité génomique. La protéine CDYL2 (Chromodomain on Y-Like 2) est un lecteur de H3K9me3. Alors que son paralogue CDYL1 a pu être lié à la répression génique, la réparation de l'ADN, la tumorigénèse et l'épilepsie, CDYL2 reste peu caractérisée. Pendant ma thèse, j'ai montré que CDYL2 est essentiel pour la stabilité génomique de la cellule. Avec un immunomarquage, j'ai observé que CDYL2 est une protéine principalement nucléaire, localisée aux péricentromères dépendamment de H3K9me3, et aux centrosomes. En utilisant notamment la spectrométrie de masse, j'ai montré que CDYL2 interagit avec de nombreuses protéines impliquées dans la mitose, tel que des facteurs épigénétiques répresseurs, CHAMP1 (Chromosome Alignment-Maintaining Phosphoprotein 1), et des protéines du complexe cohésine. En parallèle, j'ai collaboré à montrer que CDYL2 interagit avec la méthyltransférase d'histone EHMT2 et la recrute sur la région promoteur de miRNA-124. Grâce à un inhibiteur de EHMT2, j'ai aussi pu montrer que la méthylation de H3K9 induite par EHMT2 est nécessaire pour la répression de la transcription de miRNA-124. Dans l'ensemble, ma thèse participe à définir CDYL2 en tant que protéine importante pour la régulation de la transcription et la stabilité génomique.

Mots clés: Épigénétique, CDYL2, Mitose, Péricentromères, Instabilité génomique

Identification of Chromodomain on Y Like 2 (CDYL2) as an Indispensable Protein for a Faithful Mitosis

The chromatin subunit, the nucleosome, contains DNA and histone proteins that can be covalently modified to, among other functions, recruit binding proteins to the chromatin. Often studied in the context of gene expression regulation, histone modifications are also relevant for genomic stability. As an example, loss of trimethylated lysine 9 on histone 3 (H3K9me3) at pericentromeres induces defects in chromosome cohesion and genomic instability. Chromodomain on Y-like 2 (CDYL2) protein is an H3K9me3 reader. While its paralog CDYL1 has been linked with gene repression, DNA repair, tumorigenesis, and epilepsy, CDYL2 remains poorly characterized. During my thesis, I revealed that CDYL2 is essential for faithful mitosis as its knock-down induces mitotic defects, including chromosome misalignment and cohesion defects. Using immunofluorescence staining, I observed that CDYL2 is mostly a nuclear protein, localizing at pericentromeres, in an H3K9me3 dependent manner, and at centrosomes. Using notably mass spectrometry, I have shown that CDYL2 is interacting with many proteins involved in mitosis, such as epigenetic silencing factors, Chromosome Alignment-Maintaining Phosphoprotein 1 (CHAMP1), and proteins from the cohesin complex. In parallel, I collaborated to show that CDYL2 interacts with the histone methyltransferase EHMT2 and recruits it to the promotor region of miRNA-124. Using an EHMT2 inhibitor, I also revealed that H3K9 methylation induced by EHMT2 are necessary for miRNA124 transcription repression. Taken together, my thesis participates to reveal CDYL2 as an important protein for both transcription regulation and genomic stability.

Key words: Epigenetics, CDYL2, Mitosis, Pericentromeres, Genomic Instability

Remerciements

J'aimerais tout d'abord remercier chaleureusement **Dr. Claire Vourc'h** ainsi que **Dr. Christian Jaulin** pour avoir accepté d'être les membres rapporteurs de mon jury de thèse. Merci également à **Dr. Miguel Godinho Ferreira** et **Dr. Delphine PONCET** pour en être les examinateurs. Je suis heureuse et honorée de pouvoir discuter avec vous de ce projet sur lequel j'ai travaillé pendant un peu plus de trois ans.

Un grand merci à **Reini Fernandez de Luco** et **Franck Tirode**, membres de mon comité de suivi de thèse pour avoir accepté de suivre ce projet. Merci **Reini** pour ta gentillesse et tes questions toujours pertinentes. Merci **Franck** pour ton écoute objective et ton assurance.

Thank you, **Peter** for accepting me in your team and allowing me to do my thesis in your lab. Thank you for sharing your knowledge and point of view, both in science and in everyday life. I wish you all the best in your future research projects.

I would also like to acknowledge **Dr Thomas Jenuwein** for the MEF cells he kindly shared with our lab and which allowed me to show the dependance of H3K9me3 for CDYL2 pericentromeric localization.

Je tiens évidemment aussi à remercier tous les ex-membres de l'équipe Mulligan. Un énorme merci à **Maha** pour m'avoir transmis tous ses précieux protocoles. Merci pour avoir toujours été prête à discuter sur les manips et le projet. Un énorme merci pour ton amitié, le partage de nos moments de peine et de nos tranches de vie plus joyeuse. Rendez-vous à la prochaine bière ! Merci également à **Laetitia**, l'autre pilier de notre petite équipe. Merci Laetitia pour ton accueil chez toi et dans ton cœur. Moi et mon rejet de l'administratif te remercient également pour toutes les commandes qui tu as passé pour moi, c'était parfait. Merci à toutes nos (petites ?) stagiaires qui sont passées dans cette équipe et ont égayé mes journées. Merci **Blanche** d'avoir été ma première stagiaire, merci pour ton travail avec les MEF qui a permis de faire avancer mon projet et que tu retrouveras dans ces pages. Merci **Manon** pour être celle que tu es, étonnamment proche de celle que je suis. Merci pour tes petits mails de nouvelles qui n'étaient peut-être pas réguliers mais toujours très précieux et plein de vie. Je te souhaite tellement plein (oui tellement plein) de bonheur et surtout (parce que je sais à

quel point c'est le plus important) plein de courage pour la fin de ta thèse. Merci **Tina** pour tes discussions toujours surprenantes et pour la création de tes dinosaures-parasites qui ont décoré longtemps mon bureau. Enfin, merci **Aurélie**, pour ta douceur et la boîte à sucre qui est toujours là !

Merci aussi à toutes les personnes qui sont passées à un moment ou à un autre par le 5^{ème} étage du Cheney A. Cela inclue bien évidemment l'équipe Bartholin à côté de laquelle j'en ai vécu des aventures ;-) Merci **Véronique** pour ta générosité, nos échanges de post-it et nos SMS. Je te souhaite vraiment plein de bonheur pour la fin de ta thèse. Et comme dit, si le karma existe, elle ne peut que bien se finir pour toi. À moins que tu m'aies caché quelque chose d'important sur ta vie avant ta venue dans le bureau. J'espère vraiment te revoir souvent et arriver à jouer à Par Minou avec toi à défaut de connecter nos Switch. Merci **Victoire** d'avoir été un exemple de courage, de ténacité et de travail. Je te souhaite le meilleur également dans ton postdoc. Merci **Cassandre**, pour ton humour, ta joie de vivre et ta liberté. Elle m'a inspirée et j'espère que tu la garderas bien précieusement. Merci **Adrien** et **Sophie** pour votre présence et les échanges d'informations précieuses. Plein de courage à vous deux aussi pour la suite. Merci **Sylvie** pour avoir eu de nombreuses réponses à mes questions. Merci à **Agathe**, d'être passée presque en coup de vent à cet étage et d'avoir apporté un peu de soleil dans mes journées.

Merci à l'équipe des Maries (je pluralise les noms propres, oui) qui a partagé l'étage seulement au début de la thèse mais est restée dans mon cœur jusqu'au bout. Many thanks to you **Mister Reader**. I do miss you a lot and I do really hope you'll find a way that makes you truly happy. Don't hesitate to call whenever you want to go out, I'll be happy to join you. Merci **Ossama** de toujours passer prendre des nouvelles quand tu es dans le coin. Tu as un cœur en or, prends confiance et finis ta thèse en beauté si c'est ce que tu veux. Merci **Saidi** d'être à l'écoute et de te soucier de tout le monde, tout le temps. Garde cette si belle énergie qui fait croire à tout le monde que tu es un tout jeune post-doc. Garde cet humour qui sait si bien animer le labo. Thank you, **Chloe** for sharing your life with so much enthusiasm. I really did appreciate a lot to talk with you whenever I had the opportunity. Merci **Alexandra** pour ta gentillesse je crois légendaire. Merci **Ramdane** pour ton assiduité et ta motivation exemplaires dans tout ce que tu entreprends.

Dans mon stock de merci, j'en ai encore à distribuer à mes deux équipes d'adoption. Merci aux Ichims pour rendre mes journées en culture, et plus récemment les rares que je passe au bureau, plus joyeuses. Un énorme merci à **Kévin** évidemment. Je ne sais pas qui de toi ou de moi a été le plus surpris de découvrir que je partirai avant toi, et que ce serait de mon plein gré en plus. Merci pour m'avoir fait rire si souvent, merci de m'avoir prêté tes oreilles pendant que tes mains soignaient tes cellules, et merci de m'avoir permis d'y déverser tout ce qui me passait par la tête. Je compte sur toi pour venir m'embêter autant que tu veux dans ma maison (tu sais quoi ? Il y aura une piscine ! :-p). Un grand merci aussi à Déborah qui m'aura, par son accent, ramené un peu de ma Belgique natale. Merci aussi pour ta participation à l'embêtage de Kévin, un sport qui était quand même bien moins drôle sans toi. Merci à Jade grâce à qui le stock de culture était toujours plein sans que je n'aie rien à y faire. Merci aux Bernards pour me servir de refuge loin du Cheney A et pour toujours m'accueillir avec des gâteaux, des sourires et des histoires. En particulier évidemment, merci **Clotilde**, ma bella chica. Merci pour tous ces repas qu'on a pris ensemble à parler sans s'arrêter, pour tous ces soucis, ces espoirs, ces bières et ces résolutions (presque toujours dans cet ordre-là il me semble) que j'ai pu partager avec toi. Merci pour avoir vécu plus que des moments au labo avec moi. Merci pour être devenue une véritable amie.

Merci enfin à toutes les personnes du CRCL que j'ai croisé plus ou moins fréquemment et qui ont rendu cette thèse telle qu'elle est. Merci à **Inès** de faire en sorte qu'il y ait toujours "tout ce qu'il faut". Merci à **Christophe** pour tant donner à nous, petits amateurs de microscopie. Merci aux organisateur.rice.s des after-labs et à tou.te.s celleux qui y ont participé. Merci à celleux avec qui j'ai eu des conversations autour d'un verre. Merci à tou.te.s celleux qui m'ont nourri lors de pot de thèse. Merci à la team du laboratoire P3 pour m'avoir formé puis surveillé. Un énorme merci aux membres des petits génies de l'IHOPe. Vous faites un travail formidable et j'ai passé quelques après-midis mémorables à faire des volcans, une voiturehélicoptère ou encore une histoire sur Scratch avec les enfants.

Ma thèse ne s'est pas que déroulée au sein du CRCL et je remercie toutes les personnes avec qui j'ai pu enseigner. Un merci particulier à **Sébastien Violot** pour sa confiance et sa disponibilité. J'ai beaucoup apprécié travailler et discuter avec toi. Merci aussi à l'école doctorale BMIC, **Roxane**, **Mathilde**, **Françoise**, **Mathias** et tous les membres du conseil. Merci

d'être à notre écoute, de proposer des solutions pertinentes à nos problèmes et de nous soutenir.

Ceux qui me connaissent personnellement savent à quel point j'aime remplir mon agenda de tas d'activités plus ou moins extravagantes. Ces activités m'ont permis de me changer les idées et de recharger mes batteries les jours difficiles. Mais surtout elles m'ont permis de rencontrer des personnes formidables dans cette ville qui m'était inconnue lorsque je suis arrivée pour mon stage de master.

Merci à la **Troupe Théâtrale de l'INSA** pour accepter des personnes hors INSA (donc moi). Merci de m'avoir permis de hurler, de courir et de sauter dans des amphithéâtres une fois par semaine pendant trois belles années. Merci particulièrement au groupe de Voyage vers l'Enfer. Notre pièce aurait été tout simplement magnifique si le coronavirus avait bien voulu nous laisser jouer. Vous étiez beaucoup trop beaux, le monde n'était pas prêt <3 Merci au **Centre Lyonnais de la Dentelle** pour m'apporter du papotage et me permettre de frimer avec mes œuvres. Merci à **Ghislaine** et **Valérie** pour me faire rire avec leurs anecdotes quotidiennes. Merci aux **Secouristes Français de la Croix Blanche** et tous les adhérents pour toutes ses heures passées ensemble, pour cette confiance, cette générosité et ces fous rires. Enfin last but not least comme on dit si bien, merci aux membres et ex-membres d'**Un Peu de Bon Science !** Je vous aime tous et tant pour votre ouverture d'esprit et votre bienveillance. Merci pour toutes ces soirées, ces tournées et ces moments de vie partagés. Merci de me suivre sur la pente des animaux totems (#Ornithorynque4ever). Et surtout bravo pour ce que vous faites, c'est toujours magnifique. Je suis extrêmement fière et heureuse de vous avoir rencontré et de faire partie de votre équipe.

Merci aussi à tous les amis que je collectionne depuis la maternelle, et qui m'ont tous apporté du soutien et du bonheur. Merci à **Marie**, seule rescapée de Goxwiller. Merci à **Julia**, **Nathalie**, **Aicha**, **Diane**, **Alexander** et **Lara**, la team ESK. Merci à la team Regio qui a rendu mes années de licence tout simplement magiques : bravo à tous pour votre parcours dans les études et vos débuts de carrière. Vous êtes tous incroyables <3. **Gauthier**, c'est officiel, tu pourras m'appeler Dr Drey. Quant à **Zak**, il me semble que tu me dois une blague. Ach, und **Christina**, was soll ich dir sagen ? *Eigentlich* mag ich dich sehr ;-) und ich wünsche dir alles bestens. Ich wünsche mir, dass wir noch oft zusammen stundenlang schwätzen werden. Merci à **Dona**, ma

belle Dona pour tous ces bons moments et ces belles vacances passées ensemble. Merci pour ta franchise et ton amitié. Et comme je sais ce que tu en penses, je ne te souhaite pas de bonne continuation ;-) Merci **Edgar** pour m'avoir rassuré lors de mes moments de doute. Merci pour ta gentillesse sans faille, de me faire découvrir ta culture et tous les restaurants mexicains de la ville. Merci **Fabien** pour ta motivation et ton courage exemplaire. Je reste admirative de ton enthousiasme et de ta tenacité qui t'ont mené (tu me l'as annoncé il y a quelques heures) si rapidement et si brillament au poste de chercheur que tu convoitais tant.

Enfin, j'aimerais formuler une mention spéciale à la team Villeurjeux. Vous êtes devenus tellement plus ces deux dernières années que vous méritez votre propre paragraphe, même si du coup il a l'air tout petit. Merci pour ces innombrables soirées jeux, makis, crêpes et/ou discussions pour refaire le monde. Merci **Jérémy** pour ton entrain permanent. Merci **Elen** pour ton calme et ton écoute posée. Merci **Bernard** pour tes anecdotes et, soyons fous, pour tes jeux de mots. Merci **Barbara** pour ta bienveillance envers les autres, bienveillance dont je n'ai pas encore trouvé les limites. Et surtout, surtout, merci à vous tou.te.s d'être prêt.e.s à devenir des pies. Vous savez quoi ? On va acheter une maison. D'ici la soutenance on aura probablement déménagé et notre aventure ne fait que commencer. <3

Il parait qu'on choisit ses amis mais pas sa famille. Si j'avais eu l'occasion de le faire, je n'aurais pas pu mieux choisir. Merci à **Papy Lulu**, pour nous faire rire avec ses chansons sorties de nulle part. Merci à **Pépé** de vouloir comprendre ce que je fais et de le regretter au bout d'un quart d'heure d'explications. Merci à **Granny** de toujours prendre des nouvelles et de jouer avec brio à la radio familliale. Merci à **Papa** d'avoir répondu à mes questions d'enfants par « A ton avis ? ». Je n'aurais jamais pensé te remercier pour ça, mais au final c'était mes premières applications de la méthode scientifique. Merci à **Maman** de m'avoir toujours dit de faire ce que je veux face à mes questionnements d'orientation. C'est le meilleur conseil qu'on puisse recevoir et je vous souhaite à tous et toutes d'avoir des mamans comme ça. Merci à **Cédric** de m'avoir initié très tôt à l'art du débat entre deux personnes têtues. Merci à lui d'être devenu un homme incroyable, honnête et drôle. Merci à **Élodie** d'être toujours d'accord avec moi. Merci d'avoir un cerveau au moins aussi bizarre que le mien, d'être toujours pleine de bonne humeur et de courage.

J'aimerai finir ces remerciements avec la personne qui m'aura le plus soutenu au quotidien lors de cette thèse. En particulier avec ces confinements qui ont fait que tout reposait sur toi : merci **ViPe**. Merci de m'avoir consolé après les journées les plus dures. Merci d'avoir réussi systématiquement à me changer les idées lors de mes pauses. Merci de me laisser courir, tourner et sauter partout dans l'appart les jours où ça va bien. Merci de m'avoir épargné une bonne part de mes tâches ménagères lors des derniers mois. Merci surtout d'être toujours là devant ton ordi prêt à m'écouter patiemment peu importe ce que j'ai à dire et combien de temps cela dure.

En résumé : merci à tou.te.s, je vous aime.

À tous les curieux,

Qui ont ouvert ces pages.

À tous ceux qui connaissent le Jeu :

Vous avez perdu. <3

Résumé de la thèse en français

Le nucléosome, la sous-unité de la chromatine, est constitué d'un octamère d'histones autour duquel s'enroule l'ADN. Les histones sont sujets à de nombreuses modifications post-transcriptionnelles, ce qui a pour effet de modifier l'expression des gènes voisins. Les modifications d'histones sont également importantes pour la structure de la chromatine et la stabilité génomique de la cellule. C'est par exemple le cas de la triméthylation de la lysine 9 de l'histone 3 (H3K9me3), une modification enrichie au niveau de l'hétérochromatine constitutive qui comprend notamment les régions péricentromériques (Saksouk et al., 2015). Une suppression de cette modification est liée à l'instabilité génomique et à un manque de cohésion des chromosomes en métaphase (Peters et al., 2001).

La cohésion correcte des chromosomes est principalement réalisée par le complexe cohésine. Cohésine est recrutée sur le chromosome humain en phase G1 du cycle cellulaire et y est libérée en deux phases (Morales and Losada, 2018). Au début de la mitose, la cohésine située sur les bras des chromosomes est relâchée par la voie de la prophase, alors qu'au niveau des péricentromères, cohésine reste jusqu'au début de l'anaphase afin d'éviter une séparation prématurée des chromatides sœurs. L'interaction des kinétochores avec les microtubules lors de la mitose est également importante pour le déroulement d'une mitose fidèle. CHAMP1 (Chromosome Alignment Maintaining Phosphoprotein 1) est une protéine nécessaire à l'assemblage correct des kinétochores et à la stabilité des microtubules (Itoh et al., 2011). Une diminution de CHAMP1 provoque un défaut d'alignement des chromosomes.

Lors de ma thèse, j'ai étudié la fonction de CDYL2 (Chromodomain on Y Like 2), une protéine lectrice de H3K9me3. CDYL2 fait partie d'une famille de six protéines dont deux sont issues de gènes autosomaux. Les protéines de la famille CDYL ont deux domaines conservés : un chromodomaine qui leur permet d'interagir avec H3K9me3 (Fischle et al., 2008) et un domaine d'hydratase enoyl-CoA dont l'activité enzymatique permet à CDYL1 de catalyser la réaction de crotonyl-CoA en ß-hydroxybutyryl-CoA (S. Liu et al., 2017). CDYL1 a également été révélé comme un répresseur de la transcription, notamment en recrutant des méthyltransférases d'histones (Abu-Zhayia et al., 2018; Mulligan et al., 2008). Enfin, il a été montré que CDYL1 est impliqué dans de nombreuses maladies comme la dépression, l'épilepsie ou encore certains cancers (Liu et al., 2019; Y. Liu et al., 2017a; Mulligan et al., 2008; Qi et al., 2014). **En revanche,**

CDYL2 reste une protéine très peu caractérisée et ce travail cherche à étudier sa fonction cellulaire.

Avant mon arrivée dans l'équipe, certaines expériences ont révélé que CDYL2 était potentiellement impliqué dans la mitose puisqu'une diminution de son expression induit des défauts mitotiques, incluant un défaut d'alignement des chromosomes sur le plan équatorial pendant la métaphase et un manque de cohésion des chromosomes. Avec des marquages d'immunofluorescence, j'ai montré que CDYL2 est une protéine nucléaire située notamment au niveau des péricentromères grâce à H3K9me3. D'autres analyses ont permis de mettre en évidence la localisation des CDYL2 au niveau des centrosomes. Enfin, pour compléter la caractérisation de CDYL2, une coimmunoprécipitation suivie d'une analyse de spectrométrie de masse a permis de révéler une liste d'interacteurs de CDYL2. Parmi cette liste, j'ai retrouvé des protéines épigénétiques impliquées dans la répression de la transcription génique, des protéines membre du complexe cohésine, ainsi que CHAMP1.

Suite à ces premiers résultats, trois hypothèses ont été formulées quant aux mécanismes impliquant CDYL2 dans la mitose et la stabilité génomique :

CDYL2 est impliqué dans la répression de l'expression des répétitions satellites aux péricentromères. En interagissant avec EHMT2 ou SETDDB1, trouvées dans la spectrométrie de masse et nécessaires pour la répression de l'expression des séquences satellites, CDYL2 pourrait recruter ces protéines sur la chromatine, au niveau des péricentromères, et ainsi participer à la répression des séquences satellites. L'instabilité génomique provoquée par une diminution de CDYL2 serait alors expliquée par une augmentation aberrante de l'expression des répétitions satellites.

CDYL2 participe à la régulation de la cohésion des chromosomes. En interagissant avec les protéines impliquées dans le complexe cohésine, CDYL2 pourrait par exemple participer au recrutement ou à la protection du complexe, notamment au niveau des régions péricentromèriques. Une diminution de CDYL2 provoquerait une fragilité sur la cohésion des chromosomes et induirait ainsi des mitoses infidèles.

CDYL2 interagit avec CHAMP1 et lui est nécessaire pour la régulation des connections kinétochores-microtubules. Une diminution de CDYL2 inhiberait la fonction de CHAMP1 et phénocopierait une mutation de CHAMP1 : un mauvais alignement des chromosomes pendant la métaphase provoquée par un mauvais assemblage des kinétochores.

Pour la première hypothèse, j'ai pu confirmer l'interaction de CDYL2 avec EZH2 et SETDB1 par coimmunoprécipitation suivie de Western Blot. Cependant, un changement de l'expression de séquences répétitives péricentromériques n'a pas pu être observé avec une réaction en chaine par polymérase quantitative (qPCR). Une coimmunoprécipitation de chromatine (ChIP) suivie de qPCR n'a pas pu non plus révéler un changement de degré de méthylation de H3K9 au niveau des péricentromères après diminution de CDYL2. CDYL2 semble donc être dispensable pour la répression des séquences répétitives et satellites au niveau des péricentromères.

En parallèle, j'ai pu confirmer l'interaction de CDYL2 avec le complexe cohésine par coimmunoprécipitation et test de lien entre protéines (PLA). La localisation de cohésine au niveau des péricentromères pendant la mitose a pu être observé à l'aide d'un microscope confocal après immunomarquage. Cependant, malgré un manque de cohésion des chromosomes observé précédemment, une diminution de CDYL2 n'a pas semblé influencer la localisation de cohésine au niveau des péricentromères, suggérant que CDYL2, bien est dispensable au recrutement de cohésine au niveau de l'hétérochromatine péricentromérique.

Enfin, j'ai pu également confirmer l'interaction de CDYL2 avec CHAMP1 par coimmunoprécipitation. Une perte de fonction de CHAMP1 induit une instabilité des microtubules mitotiques ainsi qu'un défaut de leur connexion aux kinétochores, ce qui provoque ensuite un défaut d'alignement des chromosomes sur le plan équatorial pendant la mitose. Bien que ce défaut d'alignement ait pu être observé après diminution de CDYL2, la stabilité des microtubules mitotiques et leur connexion aux kinétochores semblent préservés, indiquant que CDYL2 n'est pas nécessaire à la fonction de CHAMP1.

Pendant ma thèse, j'ai collaboré à l'étude de la fonction de CDYL2 dans le cancer du sein. J'ai montré par coimmunoprécipitation que CDYL2 interagit avec EHMT1 et EHMT2. En utilisant des inhibiteurs des activités enzymatiques de EHMT2 et EZH2, j'ai pu également révéler que

l'activité enzymatique de EHMT2 est nécessaire à la répression de l'expression de miR124 par méthylation de H3K9. Au final, l'étude a permis de conclure que CDYL2 recrute EHMT2 sur la région promotrice de miR124 et réprime son expression.

Dans l'ensemble, ma thèse a participé à l'élucidation de la fonction cellulaire de CDYL2. J'ai montré que CDYL2 est principalement nucléaire et se localise sur la chromatine au niveau des régions péricentromériques grâce à la modification H3K9me3. Cette observation est dans la lignée des études *in vitro* précédemment menée sur la protéine qui montrait son affinité avec H3K9me3 (Fischle et al., 2008). Plus surprenante mais non moins intéressante est la localisation de CDYL2 au niveau des centrosomes pendant tout le cycle cellulaire. Reste à déterminer si cette localisation est dépendante d'une modification post-transcriptionnelle structurellement similaire à H3K9me3.

D'un point de vue fonctionnel, j'ai pu montrer que CDYL2 est une protéine indispensable au bon déroulé de la mitose. En étudiant les interacteurs de CDYL2, j'ai trouvé plusieurs candidats pouvant expliquer les phénotypes de mitoses infidèles observés après diminution de CDYL2. Ces candidats, comprenant EHMT2, SETDB1, le complexe cohésine ainsi que CHAMP1 ont tous pu être confirmé par une deuxième méthode, renforçant les premières observations. Cependant, malgré la fiabilité des techniques utilisées, un mécanisme reliant ses interactions avec la fonction de CDYL2 dans un contexte mitotique n'a pas pu être dévoilé. Des futures pistes de développement sont proposées dans ce travail afin d'explorer plus en avant la fonction cellulaire de CDYL2.

Dans le contexte de la cancérologie, provoquer une instabilité génomique est une stratégie qui est utilisée dans les traitements. Étant donné qu'une surexpression de CDYL2 profite aux tumeurs du sein en augmentant leur plasticité et leur agressivité (Siouda et al., 2020), une inhibition de CDYL2 dans ces tumeurs pourrait avoir un double intérêt thérapeutique : réduire l'agressivité et augmenter l'instabilité génomique des cellules cancéreuses, provoquant potentiellement leur mort.

TABLE DES MATIERES

1	Epi	genetics: Transcription Regulation and Chromatin Organization	27
	1.1	"Beyond Genetics" – A Historical Approach	. 27
	1.2	Mechanism of Epigenetic Regulations	29
	1.3	Epigenetics and Cancer	. 45
2	Ger	nomic Instability	51
	2.1	An Emerging Cancer Hallmark	. 51
	2.2	Progression of a faithful mitosis	. 53
	2.3	Mitosis From an Epigenetic Point of view	. 66
3	CD	YL: A Multi-Tasked Histone Reader Family	69
	3.1	A family to share the reading monopole of H3K9me3	69
	3.2	CDYL Family	. 70
	3.3	Cellular Function	. 74
	3.4	Implication in Diseases	. 81
	3.5	Targeting CDYL Proteins?	. 83
4	Нур	pothesis and Objectives	85
5	Кеу	/ materials	89
	5.1	Antibodies	. 89
	5.2	Primers	. 90
6	Me	thods	93
	6.1	Cell Culture	.93
	6.2	Transfections	. 94
	6.3	Protein work	. 94
	6.4	RNA work	. 97
	6.5	Microscopy work	. 97

	6.6	Cell Cycle Analysis
	6.7	Chromatin Immunoprecipitation99
7	CD	YL2 biological function in mitosis – Preliminary Results103
	7.1	CDYL2 knock-down induces aberrant mitosis
	7.2	CDYL2 proteome
8	CD	YL2 Biological Function in Mitosis - Thesis Results107
	8.1	CDYL2 is a nuclear protein, tightly bound to chromatin
	8.2	CDYL2 localizes at pericentromeres in a H3K9me3 dependent manner
	8.3	CDYL2 localizes at centrosomes throughout interphase and mitosis
	8.4	CDYL2 interactome reveals many interactors involved in genomic stability and
	mitos	is
	8.5	Hypothetic mechanisms descriptions124
	8.6	CDYL2 seems dispensable for satellite repression
	8.7	CDYL2 interacts with Cohesin but does not seem to regulate its level at
	perice	entromeres
	8.8	CDYL2 interacts with CHAMP1 but is dispensable for microtubules stability135
9 Pl	CD ^V asticity	YL2 Epigenetically Regulates MIR124 to Control NF-kB/STAT3-Dependent Breast Cancer Cell
1() Res	ults Discussion
	10.1	CDYL2 localization and regulation through the cell cycle
	10.2	Mechanisms of CDYL2 Implication in Mitosis
	10.3	CDYL2 as a transcription repressor?
	10.4	Further CDYL2 characterization
	10.5	CDYL2 as a potential therapeutic target?
11	L Cor	nclusion211
12	2 Bib	liography215

Abbreviations

APC: Anaphase Promoting Complex ATP: Adenosine Triphosphate

BUB: Budding Uninhibited by Benzimidazoles

CAF1: Chromatin Assembly Factor 1 CARM1: Coactivator-Associated Arginine Methyltransferase 1 CDC20: Cell Division Cycling Protein 20 CDK1: Cyclin Dependent Kinase 1 CDYL: Chromodomain on Y-Like CENPA: Centromeric Protein A CHAMP1: Chromosome Alignment Maintaining Phosphoprotein 1 ChIP: Chromatin Immunoprecipitation CTBP1: C-Terminal Binding Protein 1 CTNNB1: Catenin beta 1

DNA: Desoxyribonucleic Acid DNMT: DNA Methyltransferase DOT1L: Disrupter Of Telomer Silencing Protein 1 Like

ECH: Enoyl CoA Hydratase EHMT2: Euchromatic Histone Lysine Methyltransferase 2 EZH2: Enhancer of Zeste Homolog 2

FAD: Flavin Adenine Dinucleotide FDA: Food and Drug Administration

H3K9me3: Histone 3 Lysine 3 trimethylated HAT: Histone Acetyl Transferase HDAC: Histone Deacetylase HKMT: Histone Lysine Methyltransferase HP1: Heterochromatin Protein 1

JMJD: Jumonji Domain Containing Protein KDM: Lysine Specific Demethylase

MAD2L2: Mitotic Arrest Deficient 2-Like Protein 2 MBD: Methyl-CpG Binding Domain MBT: Malignant Brain Tumor MCC: Mitotic Checkpoint Protein MCM4: Minichromosome Maintenance 4 MECP2: Methyl-CpG-Binding Protein 2 MHC: Major Histocompatibility Complex MPS1: Monopolar Spindle 1

NAD: Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide NCAP-H: Non-SMC Chromosome Associated Protein H NF-κB: Nuclear Factor κB NIPBL: Nipped B-Like NMR: Nuclear Magnetic Resonance NUMA1: Nuclear Mitotic Apparatus Protein NuRD: Nucleosome Remodeling and Deacetylase

P/CAF: P300/CBP-Associated Factor PD1: Programmed Cell Death PD1L1: PD1 Ligand 1 PDS5B: Sister chromatid cohesion protein PDS5B PHD: Plant Homeodomain PLK1: Polo-like Kinase 1 POGZ: Pogo Transposable Element with Zinc-Finger Domain PP2A: Phosphatase 2A PRC1: Polycomb Repressive Complex 1 PRMT: Protein Arginine Methyltransferase PRMT1: Protein Arginine Methyltransferase 1

RAD21: Double Strand Break Repair Protein Rad21 Homolog RC1: Repair Complex 1 RCOR1: REST Corepressor 1 REST: RE1-Silencing Transcription Factor RhoA: Ras Homolog Family Member A RNA: Ribonucleic Acid

SAC: Spindle Assembly Checkpoint SAM: S-Adenosyl-L-Methionine SAM: S-Adenosylmethionine SCN8: Sodium Channel Protein Type 8 SET: Suv(var)3-9, Enhancer of Zeste and Trithorax SGO1: Shugoshin 1 SIRT1: Sirtuin 1 SMC: Structural Maintenance of Chromosome STAG: Stromal Antigen STAT3: Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 SUV39H1: Suppressor of Variegation 3-9 Homolog 1

TCGA: The Cancer Genome Atlas TET: Ten-Eleven Translocation

WAPL: Wings-Apart Protein Like WT: Wild-Type

INTRODUCTION

1 EPIGENETICS: TRANSCRIPTION REGULATION AND CHROMATIN ORGANIZATION

1.1 "BEYOND GENETICS" – A HISTORICAL APPROACH

In 1930, Hermann Joseph Muller, an American geneticist, referenced abnormal phenotypes in Drosophila that could not be explained by genetics only (Muller, 1930). In 1952 and 1970, work in both *Rana pipiens* and *Xenopus laevis* lead to the observation that all somatic cells, despite different functions and shapes, contain the same DNA, holding all the information needed to form a complete organism when introduced into an enucleated egg (Briggs and King, 1952; Laskey and Gurdon, 1970). These observations strongly suggest that the genome cannot control all the events leading to phenotype establishment and that something "beyond genetics" should be involved. To describe this phenomena, we nowadays use the term "epigenetics" introduced by Waddington, which he defined as changes in phenotype that do not involve changes in genotype (Waddington, 1942).

In the following decades, an impressive number of publications revealed the mechanisms underlying this newly observed phenomenon. DNA methylation, corresponding to the



Figure 1: A nucleosome, corresponding to the chromatin subunit, is made out of a histone octamer, surrounded by a DNA strand. (A) The nucleosome structure revealed by X-ray crystallography (Luger et al. 1997). Brown and turquoise: DNA double helice; blue: H3; green: H4; yellow: H2A; red: H2B. (B) The nucleosome structure schematized by Young Zoon Kim, highlighting histone tails and nucleosome size (Kim, 2014).

covalent addition of a methyl group on cytosine base, was reported before the 50s by several groups (Hotchkiss, 1948; Johnson and Coghill, 1925) and its function in gene regulation observed approximatively 30 years later (reviewed by Razin and Riggs, 1980). Also very important for the epigenetic field, was the discovery of histones. These small proteins were isolated from the nucleus and their diversity studied using notably chromatography (Crampton *et al.*, 1955). The organization of DNA around histones and the resulting subunit, the nucleosome, were proposed with more details in 1974 (Kornberg, 1974), and the X-ray structure, that can be seen on figure 1A, revealed in 1997 by Luger *et al.* (Luger *et al.*, 1997). Structurally, the nucleosome consists of a histone octamer packaging 147 bp of DNA wrapped 1.7x around the complex. Histones are small and conserved proteins, consisting of a globular and a tail domain. In the 60s, Allfrey *et al.* reported that histones could carry post-transcriptional modifications and suggested that these modifications could be linked with gene expression (Allfrey *et al.*, 1964). Since the 90s, various histone modifications, mostly localized on histone tails, have been observed and their function on gene regulation characterized.

Our understanding of epigenetic control of gene expression increased greatly since 2000 thanks to the use of more and more genome and proteome-wide analysis. The combination of genome-wide sequencing after chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) in particular allowed us to characterize with precision the position of specific histone modifications, transcription factors, and DNA modifications (reviewed in Park, 2009). Similarly, the progress made on mass spectrometry techniques facilitated the discovery of interactions between epigenetic proteins and partners of specific histone modifications (Stunnenberg and Vermeulen, 2011). However, the more we detail epigenetic mechanisms, the more the mechanism seems multifaceted and tightly regulated by multiple actors. During the first discoveries of histone modifications, epigenetic whether, when, and how the neighbour gene would be expressed (Jenuwein and Allis, 2001; Strahl and Allis, 2000). The code denomination now seems outdated and epigenetic pathways are more and more presented like a complex language (Allis and Jenuwein, 2016).

In the following chapters, I will review the current knowledge of the mechanism used by epigenetic factors to regulate both DNA transcription and chromatin organization. This review will include DNA methylation, histone modifications with a highlight on methylation, crosstalk mechanisms between the different modifications, histone variants, a brief introduction into the different chromatin structure, and transcription regulation by non-coding RNA. I will also discuss the importance of epigenetics in diseases, particularly in cancer and the advances made and to be done on therapies targeting epigenetics.

1.2 MECHANISM OF EPIGENETIC REGULATIONS

1.2.1 DNA methylation

The first description of DNA methylation – and thus the first modification on nuclear bases – was described as early as 1925 in *Tubercle bacillus* (Johnson and Coghill, 1925). Several hypotheses were given for DNA methylation function in the cell and a link with gene repression was confirmed by several groups in the mid-1970s (Holliday and Pugh, 1975; Razin and Riggs, 1980). Nowadays, we know that at least four different DNA modifications exist: methylation, hydroxylation, formylation, and carboxylation. Hydroxylation, formylation, and carboxylation are obtained through sequential oxidation of DNA methylation and were therefore considered to be intermediate for DNA demethylation (Tahiliani et al., 2009). More recent work has highlighted, that they are also implicated in gene regulation (Branco et al., 2012; Sun et al., 2013), but methylation remains the bestcharacterized modification. Three DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs) have been identified in mammals and all three catalyze the transfer of a methyl group from S-adenosyl-Lmethionine (SAM) to cytosine C5. The three enzymes differentiate notably in their function: while DNMT1 is implicated for DNA methylation maintenance after replication, DNMT3a and DNMT3b are responsible for *de novo* establishment of DNA methylation, for example during embryogenesis (Hata et al., 2002; Okano et al., 1999).

Before the discovery of hydroxylation, DNA methylation was for a long time considered to be a rather stable modification, disappearing passively through a lack of maintenance of the modification on the new strand when DNA gets replicated (Rougier et al., 1998). However, some observations have challenged this idea of stability and suggested the



Figure 2: Cytosine modifications structure. Cytosine is C5 methylated by DNMT enzymes. Methylcytosine demethylation happens through subsequent oxydation of the methyl group to hydroxymethyl, formyl and carboxyl. Methyl-cytosine also has a similar structure to thymine and can be source of mutations.

existence of a more active demethylation mechanism. As an example, it has been observed that DNA undergoes a major global methylation loss in early zygotes before DNA replication occurs (Oswald *et al.*, 2000). A mechanism for DNA demethylation was proposed in 2009 with the description of DNA hydroxymethylation (Kriaucionis and Heintz, 2009; Tahiliani *et al.*, 2009). The Ten-Eleven Translocation (TET) family, consisting of three proteins – TET1, TET2, and TET3 – was shown to correspond to the enzymes responsible for this reaction (Ito *et al.*, 2010; Tahiliani *et al.*, 2009). The oxidation of methylated DNA by TET enzymes is illustrated on figure 2.

The first protein discovered which was able to recognize and bind to DNA methylation was methyl-CpG-binding protein 2 (MECP2) (Nan *et al.*, 1996). Soon after, four proteins, called methyl-CpG binding domain (MBD1-4) with a similar methylcytosine binding domain were discovered (Filion *et al.*, 2006). MBD2 and MBD3 can both be part of the Nucleosome Remodeling and Deacetylase (NuRD) complex, in a however mutually

exclusive manner (Guezennec *et al.*, 2006). Both proteins are playing a role in gene silencing by recruiting histone deacetylases to the chromatin. It is interesting to note that MBD3 has a poor affinity to DNA methylation due to a critical tyrosine being replaced by phenylalanine (Fraga *et al.*, 2003). MBD1 recruits chromatin-modifying enzymes to the chromatin and is mostly linked with transcription silencing (Fujita *et al.*, 2003; Ng *et al.*, 2000). Finally, MBD4 function is less characterized but seems implicated in DNA mismatch repair (Wong *et al.*, 2002). Except for MBD3, MBD proteins seem to have their strongest affinity for DNA methylation compared to other DNA modifications (Buchmuller *et al.*, 2020).

DNA methylation is mostly linked with transcription repression. It is found notably in permanently silenced regions like centromeres, telomeres, at repeat sequences, and on the inactive X-chromosome (Gonzalo *et al.*, 2006; Mohandas *et al.*, 1981; Weisenberger *et al.*, 2005; Yan *et al.*, 2010). DNA methylation is also found on so-called CpG islands, sites enriched in cytosine-guanine sequences and present in approximately 70 % of all mammalian promotors (Deaton and Bird, 2011). DNA methylation on these sites was shown to be linked with transcription silencing of downstream genes. However, DNA methylation was also found within actively transcribed gene bodies (Jones, 1999). It is now considered that DNA methylation functions are context-dependent, which brings new challenges to elucidate its effects. Other DNA modifications functions have been poorly characterized. Still, genome-wide mapping of DNA hydroxylation revealed a distribution at both active and repressed genes (Wu and Zhang, 2011), suggesting a context-depedent signification as well.

1.2.2 Histone Modifications

In the 60s, Vincent Allfrey gave some evidence for histone acetylation and suggested that histone post-transcriptional modifications are involved in gene transcription regulation (Allfrey *et al.*, 1964). The first histone acetyltransferase – the enzyme responsible for histone acetylation – was discovered three decades later by Brownell *et al.* (Brownell *et al.*, 1996). Very soon after, the first histone deacetylase was discovered too, indicating that histone acetylation is a reversible process (Taunton *et al.*, 1996). Lysine acetylation, lysine and arginine methylation, as well as serine phosphorylation are the most studied



Crotonyl-lysine

Figure 3: Lysine modifications structure. Lysine amino acids can be either acetylated, crotonylated or mono-, di- or trimethylated. The positiv global positiv charge of lysine in a physiological context is suppressed after acylation.

modifications, but other modifications as ubiquitylation, crotonylation, or sumoylation have also been described, and all are reversible. It is here interesting to note that lysines can be both acylated or methylated as described on figure 3. The enzymes responsible for their addition on histones were named "writers", the ones for the reverse reaction the "editors" or "erasers" and the enzymes recognizing those modifications were designed as "readers". In 2000, Strahl and Allis proposed a theory, called "the histone code", saying that the combination of histone modifications leads to a specific biological outcome (Strahl and Allis, 2000). This would happen by the recruitment of reader proteins or transcription complexes at the wished loci. In addition to the recruitment of transcription proteins, some modifications, like acetylation and phosphorylation, neutralize histone tail positive charge, which may induces weaker interactions with the DNA strand, changes chromatin structure and thus its accessibility (Zhang et al., 2017).

Histone acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, and crotonylation are detailed in the next paragraphs, as well as their writers, editors, readers, and their broad functions.

1.2.2.1 Histone Acetylation

Histone acetyl-transferases (HAT) were the first histone modification proteins purified from ciliated protozoans in 1996 (Brownell *et al.*, 1996). These enzymes catalyze the transfer of the acetyl group from the cofactor acetyl-CoA to the ε -amino group of lysine (Racey and Byvoet, 1971). The HAT enzymes are classified into two types: A and B. The A-type enzymes are diverse and classified into three different sub-groups based on their amino acid sequence and their conformation. Each HAT can acetylate multiple sites and their specificity can be conferred by the complex they interact with (Grant *et al.*, 1997). Unlike the A-type, the B-type enzymes acetylate histones before they get deposited on chromatin. This is notably the case for acetylated lysines 5 and 12 from histone 4 (H4K5Ac and H4K12Ac), which are indeed acetylated by HAT-B enzymes (Haigney *et al.*, 2015). Those two modifications are necessary for Centromeric Protein A (CENPA) containing nucleosome deposition at the centromere (Shang *et al.*, 2016). It is interesting to note that, even though it is most common, histones are not only acetylated on the tail. As an example, H3K56 was found to be acetylated by hGCN5 following DNA damage (Tjeertes *et al.*, 2009).

Histone deacetylases – HDAC – are the enzymes catalyzing the removal of the acetylation marks deposited by HAT. The first HDAC purification and cloning was published one month after the report of the first HAT enzymes by Taunton and colleagues (Taunton *et al.*, 1996). Nowadays, eighteen enzymes have been identified in *Homo sapiens* and classified into four different classes (reviewed by Seto and Yoshida, 2014). Enzymes in the first and second classes are most closely related to the histone deacetylases scRpd3 and scHda1 respectively. Class IV only contains HDAC11. All three classes use a similar deacetylation mechanism, which necessitates a zinc metal ion. On the opposite, the third class, which contains enzymes related to scSir2, uses a mechanism involving Nicotinamide Adenine

Dinucleotide (NAD⁺). All HDACs can deacetylate various modifications, including acetylation on non-histone proteins. As an example, HDAC1 is responsible for p53 deacetylation (Ito *et al.*, 2002). Since HDACs are often found in big complexes that may contain several other HDAC proteins, it is difficult to investigate the specific function of each particular enzyme in the cell.

Histone acetylation was very rapidly linked to gene activation as the first HAT discovered was an ortholog to scGcn5, a known transcriptional activator in yeast (Brownell et al., 1996), while the first HDAC was described as an ortholog of the budding yeast transcriptional co-repressor scRpd3 (Taunton et al., 1996). Additionally, the silenced Xi chromosome in mammals was found to be hypoacetylated (Csankovszki et al., 2001; Gilbert and Sharp, 1999) and ChIP-seq analysis revealed acetylated histones enriched at enhancers regions and throughout the transcribed region of active genes (Millar et al., 2006; Roh et al., 2005). The HAT/HDAC system, therefore, proposes a very interesting ON/OFF switch for gene activation. How acetylation is mechanistically linked to gene transcription was not clear from the beginning. It was first expected to induce changes in the chromatin structure through electrochemical charges. Indeed, naked lysine has a positive charge possibly inducing some interaction with the negative DNA strand and thus "closing" chromatin. Acetylation of the lysine residue will destroy this positive charge and this interaction with DNA, making the chromatin more open (Bode et al., 1980; Walia et al., 1998). In 1999 however, P300/CBP-Associated Factor (P/CAF), the first histone acetylation reader protein, containing a bromodomain, was described (Dhalluin et al., 1999), putting light on the *trans* mechanism where the reader recruits various proteins at acetylated sites. Now, over fourty proteins with bromodomain have been reported in humans. They do not only recruit transcription coactivators but also chromatin modelers, histone acetyltransferases, and methyltransferases. Other acetyl-lysine-reader proteins, containing a tandem plant homeodomain (PHD) fingers were also described (Zeng et al., 2010). Their implication in transcription, DNA repair, replication, and condensation highlighted the importance of histone acetylation for numerous cellular functions (Feitoza et al., 2017; Li et al., 2018; Murr et al., 2006; Sterner and Berger, 2000; Unnikrishnan et al., 2010).

1.2.2.2 Histone Methylation

Histone methylation, unlike acetylation, includes several different modifications. Indeed two amino acids can get methylated: lysines and arginines. While the former can be mono-, di- or trimethylated, the latter can be monomethylated, symmetrically, or asymmetrically demethylated as illustrated on figures 3 and 4 respectively. The first Histone Lysine Methyltransferase (HKMT) enzyme, Suppressor of Variegation 3-9 Homolog 1 (SUV39H1), was reported in 1994 and shown to selectively trimethylate histone 3 lysine 9 (H3K9) six years later (Rea *et al.*, 2000; Tschiersch *et al.*, 1994). The enzymatic activity is made possible by the SET domain, whose name originates from Su(var)3-9, Enhancer of zeste and Trithorax, three proteins able to methylate histone lysines (Dillon *et al.*, 2005). In the mammalian genome, approximately 50 genes have been found to have a SET domain. HKMTs have specificity for both the modification localization



Figure 4: Arginine methylation structure. Arginine amino acids can be either mono- or dimethylated. Dimethylation happens either symmetrically or asymmetrically.
on the substrate and methylation. As an example, Euchromatic Histone lysine Methyltransferase 2 (EHMT2) mono- and dimethylates H3K9, Suv39h1 trimethylates the same lysine starting from H3K9me1, while Enhancer of Zeste Homolog 2 (EZH2) is responsible for H3K27 methylation (Cao and Zhang, 2004; Rea et al., 2000; Tachibana et al., 2002). Main histone methylation writer and eraser enzymes are presented on figure 5. The specificity is also observed when working *in vitro* with only one enzyme, suggesting it is independent of interactions with any complex (Collins et al., 2005; Rea et al., 2000). HKMTs without SET domain were also described and are responsible for methylation of lysine in the histone globular domain. This is for example the case for Disrupter Of Telomer Silencing Protein 1 Like (DOT1L) which methylates H3K79 (Feng et al., 2002). All HKMT catalyze the transfer of a methyl group from S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) to a lysine εamino group. Every enzyme contains two distinct pockets: one is working as a binding site for SAM while the other is for the enzyme substrate. X-ray analysis has revealed that an aromatic residue, usually tyrosine or phenylalanine, is determinant to control the methylation degree of the SET enzyme (Collins *et al.*, 2005; Zhang *et al.*, 2003). The family of Protein Arginine Methyltransferases (PRMT) contains 11 members which are divided into two groups. The first contains proteins that catalyze mono- and asymmetric methylations, while the other contains enzymes responsible for mono- and symmetric methylations. Like for HKMT, PRMT enzymes transfer a methyl group from SAM and show a distinct pocket for their cofactor and the substrate (Copeland *et al.*, 2009).

Histone methylation was first believed to be a stable modification that could only get erased by diffusion through DNA replication, as the first HDMT description only got published in 2004. The described enzyme, Lysine-Specific Demethylase 1 (LSD1) uses Flavine Adenine Dinucleotide (FAD) as a co-factor (Shi *et al.*, 2004). As the demethylation mechanism requires protonation of the lysine, LSD1 is only able to demethylate monoand dimethylation. Depending on the complex it is binding with, LSD1 can have different substrate, for example, complexed with REST Corepressor 1 (RCOR1) or Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) it catalyzes H3K4 demethylation while with the androgen complex it demethylases H3K9 (Metzger *et al.*, 2005; Mulligan *et al.*, 2011; Shi *et al.*, 2005). Two years after the identification of LSD1, another class of histone demethylases was found, containing a Jumonji domain and demethylating lysine through another mechanism, which uses iron (II) and α -ketoglutarate as co-factors, allowing them to work as well on trimethylation (Tsukada *et al.*, 2006). Like for HKMTs, histone demethylases have high specificity for both substrate and degree of methylation. As an example, the Jumonji proteins from the Jumonji Domain-containing protein 2 (JMJD2) subfamily can demethylate H3K9me3 and H3K36me3 but have only poor effects on the mono- and dimethylated forms (Cloos *et al.*, 2006; Couture *et al.*, 2007; Klose *et al.*, 2006). Demethylation of arginine was first described to go through deamination of the histone but JMJD6 was recently shown to be able to demethylate H3R2 and H4R3 even though it is not thought to be its main activity (Chang *et al.*, 2007).

Many different enzymes have been found to act as histone methylation readers and they are usually classified into two groups: the Royal superfamily, which contains chromodomain, tudordomain, and malignant brain tumor (MBT) proteins, and plant



Figure 5: Principal histone methylation sites with their corresponding writers and editors proteins in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae, Drosophila Melanogaster* and *Homo sapiens*. The writers and erasers are depicted with their specificity for both the amino acid and the methylation state. Single circle: me1; two circles: me2; three circles: me3. Image taken from Hyun et al. (Hyun et al. 2017).

homeodomain (PHD) fingers. PHD domain proteins use a zinc-finger to interact with methylated histones and interact mainly with di- or trimethyl H3K4 (Org et al., 2008; Wysocka et al., 2006). The Royal superfamily interacts with methylated lysine through a pocket containing an aromatic cage. Since methylated lysine is mostly cationic in the physiological context, this cage containing aromatic residues allows cation- π -type interactions (Ma and Dougherty, 1997; Ruthenburg et al., 2007). Polycomb proteins are probably the most famous complex interacting with H3K27me3, however, the first methylation reader to be described in 2001 in humans was Heterochromatin Protein 1 (HP1) (Bannister *et al.*, 2001; Lachner *et al.*, 2001), a protein containing a chromodomain recognizing H3K9me3 and a chromoshadow domain allowing HP1 to dimerize (Cowieson et al., 2000). Another family of H3K9me3 reader, the chromodomain on Y like (CDYL) family, is described with more precision in the third chapter of this introduction. Even though enzymes implicated in histone methylation are overall more specific than those involved in acetylation, some writers and erasers may also use non-histone proteins as substrate and several readers have been shown to interact with those modified proteins through their aromatic cages. For example, EHMT2 can self-methylated and is then recognized by CDYL chromodomain (Chin *et al.*, 2007; Fischle *et al.*, 2008).

Histone methylation is a modification highly conserved during evolution as it is present in unicellular organisms, in plants, in invertebrates as well as in mammals. In opposition to histone acetylation, histone methylation does not change the electrochemical charge of the histone tail and thus works through the recruitment or stabilization of downstream complexes. It is involved in many cellular processes and can either activate or repress gene transcription, however, each modification seems to have some functional specificity. H3K4 trimethylation for example is mostly associated with gene activation, as its di- and trimethylated forms are located on transcriptional start site (Guenther *et al.*, 2007; Santos-Rosa *et al.*, 2002). Similarly, H3K36 methylation is usually associated with active gene bodies (Guenther *et al.*, 2007; Wang *et al.*, 2007). While H3K9 monomethylation seems associated with gene activation as well (Barski *et al.*, 2007), higher methylated forms are linked with gene repression and are found in permanently silenced regions, as notably the Xi chromosome and satellite repeats (Bannister *et al.*, 2001; Keniry *et al.*, 2016; Nishibuchi and Déjardin, 2017). Similarly, H3K27me3 was mostly described on

silenced regions and is highly enriched in the Xi silenced chromosome (Barski *et al.*, 2007; Li *et al.*, 2012). During development however some genes, referred to as bivalent, show a high amount of both activating (H3K4me3) and repressing (H3K27me3) modifications (Cui *et al.*, 2012; Stock *et al.*, 2007). It seems this conformation allows the gene to be poised and protects the cell from differentiation while keeping the gene ready to be activated. Histone arginine methylation is also associated with gene regulation as for example Coactivator-Associated Arginine Methyltransferase 1 (CARM1) and Protein Arginine Methyltransferase 1 (PRMT1), two arginine methyltransferases were found to have co-activator activities and can mediate hormone-dependent transcriptional stimulation via H3R17 or H4R3 methylation respectively (Li *et al.*, 2010, 2008; Selvi *et al.*, 2010).

1.2.2.3 Histone Phosphorylation

Histone phosphorylation can happen on histone threonine, tyrosine, and serine residues. As for the two previously described modifications, the modifications are found predominantly but not exclusively in the N-terminal histone tails (Tropberger and Schneider, 2010). The kinases proteins are catalyzing a transfer reaction from adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to the hydroxyl group of the target amino acids. Usually, the kinases are not specific to histones and have roles sometimes in the cytoplasm where they phosphorylate other proteins. Aurora B is for example responsible for H3S10 phosphorylation but also phosphorylates several proteins involved in the kinetochore formation (Bishop and Schumacher, 2002; Hirota *et al.*, 2005; Tanno *et al.*, 2010; Welburn *et al.*, 2010). It is however unclear how most of the kinases get recruited to the chromatin. Phosphatases, inducing the dephosphorylation reaction are poorly characterized in the context of histone modification.

Phosphorylation, like acetylation, is a modification affecting the electrochemical charge of the histone tail, thus possibly affecting chromatin folding and opening chromatin. Phosphorylation modifications show a highly dynamic pattern and are implicated in various dynamics cellular processes. Histone phosphorylation plays notably essential roles during mitosis, where its exact function is however not completely elucidated yet. Still, a decrease of H3T3 phosphorylation induces spindle assembly defects (Kelly *et al.*, 2010). Histone phosphorylation is also involved in DNA repair as H2AX phosphorylation is necessary for the assembly of the damage response machinery to the chromatin (Podhorecka *et al.*, 2010). Functions in gene expression regulation, DNA replication, chromatin condensation, and apoptosis were also reported (Gurley *et al.*, 1974; Matsumoto *et al.*, 1980; Mukherjee *et al.*, 2006; Nakamura *et al.*, 2004; Yamamoto *et al.*, 2003).

1.2.2.4 Histone crotonylation

Histone acetylation, methylation, and phosphorylation are considered as the three main post-transcriptional modifications of histones. However, currently, over 10 different histone modifications have been reported. Some of these modifications like ubiquitylation, sumoylation, or ATP-ribosylation were described with corresponding reader proteins and function but many still need to be characterized. As the protein family CDYL, described in the third part of this introduction, was described to have potential crotonylase activity, I would like here to summarize the current knowledge available on histone crotonylation.

Histone crotonylation is a modification taking place on lysine residues and was first reported in 2011 from a mass spectrometry study aiming to find new histone modifications (Tan et al., 2011). Several histone acetyltransferases were soon reported to have crotonylase activity in vitro and in vivo (Kollenstart et al., 2019; Sabari et al., 2015). It, therefore, seems that acetyl-CoA and crotonyl-CoA compete in the cell to regulate to some extent the balance between histone crotonylation and acetylation. This observation could additionally link epigenetic changes with metabolism (Sabari et al., 2015). CDYL family, on the opposite, was shown to reduce histone crotonylation before the histones get modified through catalyzing Crotonyl-CoA into ß-hydroxybutyryl-CoA (S. Liu et al., 2017). Due to the structural similarities between crotonyl and acetyl groups (see Figure 3), it was rapidly hypothesized to have similar functions on gene activation. Crotonylation was indeed found enriched at some promotor and enhancer regions (Kollenstart et al., 2019; Li et al., 2016a; Sabari et al., 2015). Still, crotonylation and acetylation have a different pattern in vivo suggesting crotonylation has, at least partially, non-redundant functions (Tan et al., 2011). Notably, crotonylation is particularly enriched in post-meiotic cells at "escapees" genes, known to escape Xi chromosome silencing. YEATS domain

40

containing protein 2 (YEATS2) was described as a specific crotonylation reader, potentially explaining the different functions between acetylation and crotonylation (Andrews *et al.*, 2016; Li *et al.*, 2016b). Many aspects of this modification still remain unknown, however, crotonylation defects were already linked with diseases (Liao *et al.*, 2020; Liu *et al.*, 2019; Wan *et al.*, 2019) and it seems that it may gain in importance in the next years.

1.2.3 Crosstalks between Epigenetic Marks

Rapidly, it has been reported that several modifications influenced the deposition, interpretation, or erasure of other epigenetic modifications. Several modes of action have been described to link the different modifications together (reviewed by Lee *et al.*, 2010). The simplest mechanism involves substrate competition, as the same amino acids can carry several different modifications but only one at a time. For example, lysines can be acetylated, methylated, ubiquitylated, or crotonylated. H3K9Ac, therefore, does not only activate gene expression, but it also blocks H3K9me3 and thus gene repression. Some histone writers also have a reader domain corresponding to their product modification, which can induce some positive feedback loop on modification deposition. This is for example the case of the S. pombe homolog of SUV39, Clr4 which has a chromodomain, essential for heterochromatin spreading, in addition to its SET domain (Ivanova et al., 1998). It is believed that binding of H3K9me3 by the chromodomain orientates Clr4 optimally to methylate the neighbor nucleosome, thus increasing its activity (Al-Sady et al., 2013; K. Zhang et al., 2008). A similar mechanism has also been observed in histone erasers, as for Lysine Specific Demethylase 5A (KDM5A), an H3K4 demethylase, which recognizes H3K4 unmodified and when bound to it, increases its enzymatic activity by 30fold (Torres *et al.*, 2015).

Sometimes a modification is recognized by modifiers to induce another neighbor modification. This is for example the case of KDM4A and KDM4C, able to remove the repressive H3K9me3 mark and to recognize the activating H3K4me3 mark through a double-tudor domain (Pedersen *et al.*, 2016). This is also the case when the histone modifier enzyme belongs to a multicomplex. Complex components may be able to recognize specific modifications, allowing the enzyme to modify the neighbor nucleosome. In some cases, a modification can be event-dependent on another, as for

H3K4 and H3K79 methylation which can only exist after ubiquitylation of H2BK123 (Rhie *et al.*, 2013). Finally, the recognition of a modified or unmodified sequence by a reader or a substrate recognition site can be disrupted by an adjacent modification. A well-known example is the release of HP1 from H3K9me3 during mitosis as H3S10 gets phosphorylated (Fischle *et al.*, 2005; Hirota *et al.*, 2005).

Several crosstalks have also been reported between DNA and histone methylation. The modifications can work cooperatively, as for E3 ubiquitine-ligase UHRF1 whose interaction with H3K9me3 is significantly increased when the corresponding nucleosomal DNA is methylated (Bartke *et al.*, 2010). On the opposite, DNA can also inhibit the recognition by some readers. This is the case for KDM2A that can bind H3K9me3 only when DNA is unmethylated (Bartke *et al.*, 2010). Finally, there seems to be a reciprocal control between DNA methylation and histone modification. H3K9 methylation was for example proven to be necessary for DNA methylation (Tamaru and Selker, 2001), while MeCP2 can recruit HDAC to chromatin (Jones *et al.*, 1998; Nan *et al.*, 1998). This interplay adds a layer of complexities to gene transcription regulation through epigenetic mechanisms.

1.2.4 Histone variants

Histones do not only regulate chromatin through their modifications but also by themselves: indeed, histone 3 and 2A have several isoforms, which can be specific for chromatin regions or cellular events. Histone H2A has two universal variants: H2AZ and H2AX. The former is enriched at the transcription site, is anti-correlated with 5mC, and helps to recruit RNA polymerase II to chromatin (Adam *et al.*, 2001; Hardy *et al.*, 2009; Zilberman *et al.*, 2008), while the latter is an important recruiter of the DNA damage response when phosphorylated (Paull *et al.*, 2000; Rogakou *et al.*, 1998). An evolutionary more recent H2A variant is the macro H2A (mH2A) which can only be found in the animal reign and are notably enriched on the Xi chromosome in mammals, suggesting a role in transcription repression (Chadwick *et al.*, 2001; Costanzi and Pehrson, 2001). Histone 3 also has two universal variants. In contrast to canonical H3, which is loaded on chromatin during DNA replication with the Chromatin Assembly Factor 1 (CAF1) chaperone (Verreault *et al.*, 1996), H3.3 is deposited preferentially into actively transcribed

chromatin with the HIRA chaperone independently of DNA replication (Tagami *et al.*, 2004). The other H3 variant, called CENPA in humans is loaded on and defines centromeric regions (Black and Bassett, 2008) as will be further described in the paragraph on heterochromatin. It is interesting to note that in humans, the canonical H3 gene encodes for two different proteins H3.1 and H3.2 that differ at only a single residue. This small difference however is already able to induce changes in post-transcriptional modifications, revealing the importance of the histones sequences (Hake and Allis, 2006). The different histone variants and their deposition on chromatin is far from being fully characterized yet, but it reveals an additional complexity on the epigenetic mechanisms to regulate chromatin structure and gene expression.

1.2.5 Chromatin Structure and classification

After improving a cytological staining method, Emil Heitz described in 1928 two distinct structures in chromosomes which were designated as euchromatin and heterochromatin (Berger, 2019). The former was described as "open" regions, undergoing changes during the cell cycle, while the latter corresponds to condensed and compacted regions. Various attempts were made to further divide euchromatin and heterochromatin into more precise chromatin states depending notably on the histone modifications found in these regions. Analyzing the different histone modifications in human cells, Ernst and Kellis reported 51 distinct states (Ernst and Kellis, 2010). During the same period, work in *Drosophila melanogaster* classified the DNA in five different chromatin types depending on the chromatin interactors found; three types were considered as euchromatin and two as heterochromatin (Filion *et al.*, 2010).

1.2.5.1 Heterochromatin

Heterochromatin was first defined as the DNA that remains condensed throughout the cell cycle. It carries mostly repressive marks and is divided into two types: facultative and repressive heterochromatin (Déjardin, 2015; Filion et al., 2010). Facultative heterochromatin is heavily marked by the H3K27me3 repressive mark and the presence of the polycomb repressor complex (Trojer and Reinberg, 2007). It corresponds mostly to genes silenced after development or differentiation. The repressed mammals' Xi chromosome for example is rich in facultative heterochromatin regions (Wutz, 2011).

Constitutive heterochromatin on the other hand consists of permanently silenced regions and is mostly marked by H3K9me3, the presence of HP1 and HP1 interacting proteins (Saksouk *et al.*, 2015; Wreggett *et al.*, 1994). Telomeres, centromeres, pericentromeres but also chromatin regions containing repetitive DNA sequences are examples of constitutive heterochromatin (Saksouk *et al.*, 2015).

Interestingly, centromeres are universally conserved heterochromatic structures but their DNA sequence is not. Additionally, centromeres are responsible for the kinetochore assembly but it was observed that centromeric DNA, consisting in humans of megabase sized arrays of satellite sequences, is neither necessary nor sufficient to mark the site of centromere formation (Black and Bassett, 2008). This suggests that centromeric features are controlled through something else, possibly epigenetics. Interestingly, CENPA, a variant of histone 3, is only found in centromeric regions and is an evolutionarily conserved protein among eukaryotes. CENPA depletion induces kinetochore assembly failure, while *de novo* CENPA localization on ectopic sites is enough to recruit several kinetochore proteins (Black and Bassett, 2008; Heun *et al.*, 2006), suggesting CENPA might be one of the keys for centromeric heterochromatin structure. However several studies reported that CENPA is not sufficient in vertebrates to define a centromere (Hooser *et al.*, 2001), meaning that other factors have to be involved.

Pericentromeres are regions flanking both sides of the centromeric regions. Similarly to centromeres, they show a non-conserved DNA sequence consisting of satellite repeat sequences. These satellite regions are epigenetically silenced by DNA and histone methylation, and their derepression was linked with dramatic genomic instability (Black and Bassett, 2008; Peng and Karpen, 2007; Saksouk *et al.*, 2015). Pericentromeres are highly enriched in H3K9me3 and H4K20me3 and these modifications are required for sister chromatid cohesion during mitosis (Inoue *et al.*, 2008; Peters *et al.*, 2001).

1.2.6 Small RNAs

In addition to histones and DNA modifications, gene expression can also be regulated post-transcriptionally through non-coding RNA. Non-coding RNA grew in importance since it was realized that only 2% of the genome is actually coding for genes (Amaral *et al.*,

2008). The rest serves notably as a template for non-coding RNAs. Non-coding RNAs can be classified into two categories depending on their size. Long non-coding RNA – over 200 nucleotides – are regulating gene expression through various mechanisms. They can for example act as molecular chaperones (Docter *et al.*, 2016) or recruit epigenetic regulators to chromatin (Kogo *et al.*, 2011; Tsai *et al.*, 2010).

Short RNAs are shorter than 200 nucleotides and can be classified into small nucleolar RNAs (snoRNAs), PIWI-interacting RNAs (piRNAs), small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), and microRNAs (miRNAs). Generally, short RNAs block translation by interacting with mRNA through specific base pairing (Petersen *et al.*, 2006). These RNAs are involved through interference binding in many processes, as differentiation, EMT, or mitosis, and were found deregulated in many cancers (Ji *et al.*, 2019; Winsel *et al.*, 2014; Zhao *et al.*, 2010).

1.3 EPIGENETICS AND CANCER

In 2000 and 2011, Hanahan and Weinberg reviewed in most famous work, the different characteristics a cell must obtain to promote tumor growth, invasion, and thus cancer (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011, 2000). To acquire these characteristics, the cell must undergo changes influencing various aspects of its life, including transcription regulation, genomic stability, cellular plasticity, DNA replication, and repair. Genetic mutations were first reported as being responsible for most of the changes observed. However, epigenetics, as seen previously are implicated in those mechanisms and rapidly, scientists looked and found many epigenetic deregulations in cancer. Interestingly, epigenetic changes may explain the link observed between some external environment, like aging, and the increasing risk of cancer development (Dugué et al., 2018; Issa et al., 1994; Liu et al., 2003). Nowadays, it is accepted that most if not all tumors show epigenetic alterations (Feinberg *et al.*, 2006). The importance of these changes, notably for tumor initiation and propagation remains however to be discussed. In opposition to DNA mutations, epigenetic modifications are known to be reversible. This is of particular interest for cancer therapy as it gives hope to the scientific community to find a drug, able to reverse the cancerous state of tumor cells by targeting proteins involved in epigenetics.

In the following subchapters, I will describe the epigenetic regulation which can be found in cancer and discuss their importance and relevance as tumor drivers. Finally, I will review the cancer therapies targeting epigenetic factors already in use or in clinical development and highlight the advantages and the remaining challenges of these therapies.

1.3.1 Epigenetic Deregulation in Cancer

Since epigenetics play a critical role in gene transcription, DNA replication and repair, and genome stability, aberrant patterns of epigenetic proteins can have significant effects on cancer initiation and progression. One of the first reported and most studied epigenetic deregulations in cancer is the global DNA hypomethylation (Feinberg and Vogelstein, 1983). Intriguingly, hypomethylation is observable even before the tumor is formed, in the pre-cancerous tissue, suggesting it could be an initiating event of the tumor and used for early diagnosis (Feinberg et al., 2006; Feinberg and Vogelstein, 1983). Surprisingly, while the general DNA methylation decreases, CpG islands that are non-methylated in normal tissues show an increased methylation level, thus repressing gene expression, notably the expression of tumor-suppressor genes (Baylin, 2005; Issa et al., 1994; Vrba et al., 2013). Consistent with abnormal DNA methylation in many cancers, mutations in TET genes, mostly loss of function mutations, are also commonly found, notably in hematological malignancies (Delhommeau et al., 2009; Langemeijer et al., 2009). Repression of tumor suppressor genes can also be performed through deregulation of the Polycomb complex. EZH2 overexpression was for example found to correlate with poor prognosis in prostate and breast cancer (Bryant et al., 2007; Kleer et al., 2003; Varambally et al., 2002).

Gene expression regulation is not the only mechanism that links epigenetics to carcinogenesis. Ectopic histone deposition can be linked with genome instability. This is for example the case for H3.3. Mutations in this histone or the complex responsible for its deposition were associated with increased telomere length and genomic instability in pediatric glioblastoma (Schwartzentruber *et al.*, 2012). Similarly, overexpression of CENPA – the H3 paralog specific for centromeric regions – was found in many cancers and increases genome instability (Amato *et al.*, 2009; Shrestha *et al.*, 2017; Tomonaga *et al.*, 2003). Finally, DNA methylation is prone to induce mutations. Indeed, methylated

46

cytosine tends to spontaneously deaminate and thus forms a thymidine. This thymidine forms a mismatch with guanine and if not corrected, can lead to a C-T mutation (Cooper *et al.*, 2010).

The epigenetic importance in cancer allows us to better understand the environmental events increasing cancer risk. This is particularly true with aging, as we know that when the organism is aging DNA methylation tends to decrease generally over the chromatin but increases at CpG islands, similar to what is observed in cancer (Dugué *et al.*, 2018; Issa *et al.*, 1994; Liu *et al.*, 2003). Epigenetics also allow us to link the cellular metabolism with cancer risk. For example, maintenance of unmethylated CpG islands requires vitamin C (Hore *et al.*, 2016), while methylation of DNA sequence needs folate (Kim, 2005). α -ketoglutarate and acetyl-CoA, described previously as important cofactors for histone modification, are also important metabolites, giving potential links with cancer development and cellular metabolism.

1.3.2 Epigenetic Events: Enough to Drive the Tumor?

Epigenetic changes are therefore extremely common in cancer and it is nowadays highly accepted that genetics and epigenetics have to work together to promote tumorigenesis. More interestingly, it is also observed that epigenetic mutations can sometimes be considered as "driver" mutations. Such modifications, positively selected by the tumor as it helps its progression, are notably recognized by their presence in many tumors. Impressively, global DNA hypomethylation was found in all tumors, even at very early stages, suggesting an essential role for cancer initiation and progression (Feinberg *et al.*, 2006). Mutations in histone writers or erasers are also very common as HKMT2, a histone methyltransferase was found mutated in close to 90% of follicular lymphoma (Morin *et al.*, 2011), while KDM6A, a histone demethylase is deregulated in up to 12 histologically distinct cancer (van Haaften *et al.*, 2009).

Epigenetic deregulation is therefore considered as a potential driver event in cancer initiation and progression and a potentially interesting target for chemotherapy. Remains the question: are those aberrant epigenetic modifications still necessary at later stages of cancer? Said in other words: would it be possible to reverse the cancerous hallmarks by correcting those modifications? In very exciting experiments at the beginning of the century, Hochedlinger *et al.* showed it is possible to use mouse melanoma nuclei to clone a normal mouse (Hochedlinger *et al.*, 2004). This observation suggests, that epigenetic properties acquired by cancer, when reversed can loose their oncogenic characteristic and turn into normal tissue. Epigenetics modifications may thus be targeted in chemotherapies to decrease or stop tumor progression.

1.3.3 Between Success and Challenges: Targeting Epigenetic Factors in Cancer Therapy

The reversible aspect of epigenetic modifications, in opposition to DNA mutations, drove the attention of scientists and raised the hope to reprogram cancer cells into normal tissues. Azacitidine and decitabine, two drugs targeting DNMTs, were approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2004 and 2006 respectively, as the first drugs to target epigenetic proteins (Gore et al., 2006; Issa et al., 2005). Both drugs are cytidineanalog and thus can integrate DNA, where they trap DNMT leading to the proteasomal degradation of the writer and thus DNA methylation inhibition (Gore et al., 2006; Issa et al., 2005). DNMT inhibitors showed mixed results in solid tumors but are used with success in myelodysplastic syndrome. Histone modifications are targeted by therapies as well and in 2009, the first HDAC inhibitor was also approved by the FDA. HDAC inhibitors are used for cutaneous T-cell lymphoma but they show quite high toxicity (Grant et al., 2007). This toxicity is probably due to the lack of specificity for HDAC inhibitors. Given the fact, that the HDAC themselves are involved in many reactions, it seems difficult to use them as a therapeutic target with low side-effects. Histone methylation, on the other hand, has very high specificity both for substrate and product, and may thus be more adapted for therapies. Several EZH2 inhibitors, blocking the repression of tumor suppressor genes are currently in clinical trials (Mohammad *et al.*, 2019).

Interestingly, many therapies combining a drug targeting epigenetic factors with another agent are currently being analyzed in clinical trials and may reveal high efficiency. This hope is based on two mechanisms. First, blocking epigenetic proteins might protect against resistance as it may inhibit cellular reprogramming. Second, targeting the epigenetic protein sometimes increases the effect of the first therapy. This is for example the case for immunotherapies as both HDACs and DNMT inhibitors upregulate Major

48

Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) class I genes and tumor antigens (Cruickshank *et al.*, 2018). Numerous epigenetic inhibitors are therefore tested in combination with Programmed Cell Death Protein 1 (PD-1) or Programmed Cell Death 1 Ligand 1 (PD1L1) antibodies to increase its effect. Several clinical trials with epigenetic inhibitors in combination with other drugs are currently being performed to evaluate their practical effectiveness (reviewed by Mohammad *et al.*, 2019).

To conclude, as promising as some therapies targeting epigenetic proteins might be, several challenges remain to be elucidated, notably the specificity of the different inhibitors, which is sometimes difficult to achieve either because of the lack of specificity of the target itself or because of the high structural similarities between the members of the same family. It is therefore mandatory to further study the epigenetics field to increase our capacity to predict relevant targets and find particularities that can be used to increase the specificity of future therapies.

2.1 AN EMERGING CANCER HALLMARK

2.1.1 Mechanism of Genomic Instability in Cancer

Genomic instability corresponds to an increase in genomic alterations in the cell. These alterations can be either small, as base-pair mutations, deletions, or insertions, or bigger, up to the loss, gain, or rearrangement of a complete chromosome. Genomic instability is not required for cancer as such, but strongly facilitates the acquisition of cancer hallmarks (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2011) and is a characteristic found in various tumors. Genomic instability can evolve from DNA damage, replication stress, or mitotic defects (Ovejero et al., 2020).

In normal tissue, DNA damage repair maintains genome integrity and stability after DNA damage. Depending on the type and timing of the damage, different repair mechanisms might be activated such as base excision repair, single-strand break repair, nucleotide excision repair, mismatch repair, non-homologous end-joining and homologous recombination. Interestingly, in cancer cells, however, pathways implicated in repair are often deregulated and can drive genomic instability, promoting tumor progression (Curtin, 2012).

Genomic instability can also arise from replication stress, corresponding to the blockage or overactivation of the replicative machinery (Sarni and Kerem, 2017). A high level of replication stress is strongly linked with double-strand breaks, increasing the risk that DNA repair machinery fails to repair every incident. Replication stress can also result from socalled R-loops, intermediate RNA-DNA hybrid structures. R-loops are normal transcriptional intermediates, but when they are happening at unscheduled timing, they result in double-strand breaks (Wimberly *et al.*, 2013). R-loops were additionally linked with genomic instability, notably in ER+ breast cancer (Stork *et al.*, 2016).

Finally, defects in mitosis can also commonly result in genomic instability, notably chromosome number instability. This is for example the case when sister chromatids are

not properly held together, when the checkpoints are not functional, when more than two centrosomes are present or when cytokinesis fails to happen (Barber et al., 2008; Chan, 2011; Itoh et al., 2011; Leylek et al., 2020). During my thesis I mostly focused on mitosis defects inducing genomic instability. Faithful mitosis is a complex process, involving many mechanisms, which are detailed with more details in the following chapter "Progress of a faithful mitosis".

2.1.2 Turning the enemy into an Ally: Inducing Genome Instability for Cancer Therapy

Genomic instability has proven to have pro-oncogenic activities, but interestingly, after a certain threshold, it seems that even tumor cells reach a point where the consequence of genomic instability becomes lethal. Recently, Andor *et al.* performed an analysis with more than 1000 tumors available from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) project (Andor *et al.*, 2017). They found that, indeed, tumors had a preferred genomic instability range, above which the instability is not viable. The authors propose two mechanisms to elucidate this idea. First, a large increase of chromosome number and size might slow down chromosome alignment during metaphase and require more energy to pull sister chromatids during anaphase, thus slowing the proliferation rate. Secondly, an increase in genomic instability, particularly in the case of cancer, would increase the copies of oncogenic genes and thus the production of oncogenic proteins. This, in turn, can amplify antigens expression, which may increase the immune recognition of the cancer cell.

Since too much genomic instability is also leading cancer cells to die, it might be of strategic therapeutic interest, depending on the number of genome instabilities already present in the tumor, to increase this instability even more and bring the tumor over the lethal threshold. Some chemotherapies used are already based on increasing the number of double-strand breaks. This is for example the case for alkylating agents and platinum-based drugs, such as bendamustine (Barman Balfour and Goa, 2001), melphalan (Thatcher et al., 1989), cisplastin (Dong *et al.*, 2017), or carboplatin (Boulikas and Vougiouka, 2004) (reviewed by Woods and Turchi, 2013). as for example cisplatin, which enhances double-strand breaks from irradiation. Irradiation, commonly used in cancer therapy is also working through the induction of DNA break (Prendergast et al., 2011). However, as described previously, promoting DNA breaks is not the only mechanism able to induce

genome instability. Additionnaly, drugs targeting mitosis and more specifically microtubules dynamics are successfully used in chemotherapy. This is for example the case of taxanes used against breast and ovarian cancer (Kelling et al., 2003; Long, 1994) and vinca alkaloids used against haematological malignancies (Zhou and Rahmani, 1992). Both drug families show great success but also a high toxicity as the drugs are non-specific to cancer cells and inhibit microtubules function in normal mitotic cells and in non-dividing cells. As a side effect of the chemotherapy, the inhibition of microtubules polymerization in peripheral neurons may thus induce neuropathie (Chaudhry et al., 1994). It is therefore of high interest to study in more depth the mechanism inducing genomic instability to find potential therapeutic targets with a similar or higher effectiveness but a lower toxicity than the currently used drugs.

To conclude, genomic instability is important for both tumor progression and cancer therapy and thus an important field of interest in oncology. Genomic instability can come through various mechanisms but during my thesis, I concentrated on genomic instability induced by mitotic defects. In the following subchapters, I will therefore review the different mechanisms relevant for a faithful mitosis.

2.2 PROGRESSION OF A FAITHFUL MITOSIS

2.2.1 Chromosome Formation and Segregation

During mitosis, chromatin structure undergoes major changes. Chromatids are dramatically condensed from prophase to telophase and sister chromatids are held together through a carefully regulated cohesion process. Those changes are mostly orchestrated by three complexes: cohesin, condensin I, and condensin II (Hirano, 2015). As their names indicate, cohesin is involved in sister chromatids cohesion while the two other complexes regulate chromosome condensation. The three complexes show a very similar ring-shaped structure (Gruber *et al.*, 2003; Haering *et al.*, 2002; Hirano, 2015). Briefly, cohesion between two sister chromatids is established during DNA replication (Lafont *et al.*, 2010; Samora *et al.*, 2016). The condensation happens in two waves during mitosis (Lipp *et al.*, 2007). During prophase, condensin II associates with chromatin while most cohesin complexes present on chromosome arms get released to allow chromatid

resolution (Losada et al., 2002). After nuclear envelope breakdown, condensin I, which is only cytoplasmic, gets access to the chromatin (Lipp *et al.*, 2007). The remaining cohesin at pericentromeres is released at the onset of anaphase, allowing the sister chromatids to move to opposite poles (Waizenegger *et al.*, 2000). This process is very important for an equitable distribution of chromosomes between the two daughter cells. The importance of cohesin to avoid chromosomal instability was highlighted in numerous studies (Barber *et al.*, 2008; Leylek *et al.*, 2020). Mutations in cohesin genes were found in several tumors showing chromosomal instability (Barber *et al.*, 2008; Cucco *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, increasing cohesion leads to a decrease in genomic instability (Manning *et al.*, 2014), suggesting a potential for cohesin as a cancer therapy target. It is however to note that genomic instability could not be detected in all tumors with mutated cohesin proteins (Balbás-Martínez *et al.*, 2013; Taylor *et al.*, 2014), suggesting that other functions of the complex, notably gene expression regulation, might induce other phenotypes that could benefit the tumor. Indeed, it was reported that cohesin complex is also involved in gene expression control (Busslinger et al., 2017; Kagey et al., 2010).

Cohesin is of particular importance in the cells, both for faithful mitosis and gene expression. The structure of cohesin and condensin complexes is described in the nextsubchapter. The discovery of the exact mechanism of cohesion establishment, cohesin loading, and unloading has proven to be very challenging and our current knowledge is summarized in the following subchapters. Finally, I will briefly review the functions of cohesin outside mitosis and sister chromatid cohesion.

2.2.1.1 SMC Complex structure

Cohesin and condensin I and II are structurally very similar multiprotein complexes, which are sometimes designated as structural maintenance of chromosome (SMC) complexes due to their characteristic SMC heterodimers. SMC proteins have a long coiled-coil region separated by a hinge domain, allowing the protein to fold itself so that its N and C terminus interact together to form a globular head domain (Haering *et al.*, 2002). SMC proteins form a V-shaped heterodimer by interacting at their hinge domain. For the cohesin complex, SMC1 dimerizes with SMC3 while for both condensin complexes SMC2 dimerizes with SMC4. Noteworthy in humans is also the SMC5-SMC6 complex which is involved in



Figure 6: Cohesin complex consist of tripartite ring. Through interaction of SMC heads, the ring is divided into two compartements. It is believed that DNA is usually entrapped in the kleisin compartment. Image taken and adapted from Chapard et al. (Chapard et al. 2019).

DNA damage repair (Fujioka et al., 2002). Two kleisin proteins, Double Strand Break Repair Protein Rad21 Homolog (RAD21) and Non-SMC Chromosome Associated Protein H (NCAPH) bind the head of both SMC proteins in cohesin and condensin respectively, and act as docking sites for other proteins (Haering et al., 2002; Ono et al., 2003). In cohesin, interactors of RAD21 include Stromal Antigen 1 or 2 (SA1 or SA2), two proteins containing a HEAT repeat domain, sister chromatid cohesion protein PDS5B, Wings-Apart Protein Like (WAPL), and Nipped-B-Like (NIPBL), proteins involved in cohesin loading and unloading as will be detailed later. In condensin, NCAPH is interacting with Non-SMC Chromosome Associated Protein G and D (NCAPG and NCAPD). Finally, the kleisin subunit closes the tripartite ring-shaped structure, which topologically entraps the DNA strand. Interestingly it was more recently proven that SMC1 and SMC3 heads also interact together, thus forming two compartments where DNA can be entrapped (Chapard et al., 2019; Murayama and Uhlmann, 2015). In this conformation, three gates were described as being able to open to allow DNA entrapment as can be seen on figure 6: the entry gate between the SMC hinges, the inner gate between their heads, and the exit gate between RAD21 N-terminus and SMC3 head. Cohesin loading on the chromatin and thus the opening of the cohesin ring at the entry gate or inner gate can only be achieved with ATP hydrolysis at SMC heads (Arumugam et al., 2003; Murayama and Uhlmann, 2015).

2.2.1.2 Cohesin loading...

While in budding yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, cohesin is loaded on the chromatin just before DNA replication (Uhlmann and Nasmyth, 1998), in vertebrate cells, the loading happens right after mitosis (Gerlich *et al.*, 2006; Morales and Losada, 2018). How exactly cohesin is loaded on chromatin is still unclear, and in the last decade, an impressive amount of publications tried to solve both structural and molecular mechanisms of DNA entrapment by the complex. As described in the paragraph on SMC complex structure and on figure 6, cohesin is now considered to have two compartments (Chapard *et al.*, 2019; Murayama and Uhlmann, 2015). In July 2019, Chapard *et al.* published their work which is strongly suggesting that DNA is entrapped in the compartment delimited by kleisin and SMC heads (Chapard *et al.*, 2019). They do however not exclude rare, possibly transient events, where DNA is entrapped in the compartment delimited by the SMC dimer.

Cohesin loading is enhanced by the NIPBL - MAU2 heterodimer, which consists of a globular domain, a body, and a hook (Chao et al., 2015). The body and the hook were found sufficient to load cohesin on circular DNA, whereas the globular domain was only necessary *in vivo*, suggesting that it might act as a chromatin adaptor (Chao *et al.*, 2015). In S. pombe sister chromatid cohesion 2 (Scc2), NIPBL ortholog, promotes ATP hydrolysis at the heads of the SMC dimers (Petela et al., 2018). NIPBL was found enriched around promotors of actively transcribed genes but shows little colocalization with cohesin (Busslinger et al., 2017). This is explained by the fact that cohesin, after loading on chromatin, is relocated to CTCF-binding sites (Busslinger et al., 2017). In vitro studies show that cohesin can slide on the DNA by itself. However, Kanke et al. revealed that ATP and thus possibly NIPBL-MAU2 loading complex is needed for cohesin sliding on chromatin (Kanke et al., 2016). It was also proposed that cohesin is being pushed by RNA polymerase II (Busslinger et al., 2017; Kanke et al., 2016). How DNA entrampment in the cohesin ring is happening on a molecular level is still controversial. It has been proposed in 2006 that DNA enters the cohesin ring through opening of a gate at the SMC hinges, as holding the hinges together blocks its loading (Gruber *et al.*, 2006). ATP hydrolysis which is needed for DNA entrapment, on the other hand, promotes the opening of the "inner gate" of cohesin complex by dissolving the interaction between the SMC heads. Based on this, people have hypothesized that ATP hydrolysis would induce conformational changes

that would be transmitted to the hinge through the SMC coiled coils (Morales and Losada, 2018). The observation that post-translational acetylation on the structure of the coiledcoil of SMC induces ring opening at the hinge domains is suggesting a mechanism as to how conformational changes at the SMC heads can regulate their conformation at the hinge (Kulemzina *et al.*, 2016). In 2015 however, Murayama and Uhlmann published biochemical analysis, showing that WAPL, a known unloading factor, also has strong loading activities. They suggest that cohesin loading and unloading might happen through symmetrical processes and the NIPBL-MAU2 complex would promote loading through the inner gate (Murayama and Uhlmann, 2015). This model is however still controversial (Morales and Losada, 2018).

Until DNA replication, cohesin loading and unloading is extremely dynamic. To hold the complex on the chromatin and thus establish cohesion, SMC3 needs to get acetylated at lysines K105 and K106 by Establishment of Cohesion (ESCO) 1 and 2 (J. Zhang et al., 2008). Both enzymes were found to be able to acetylate cohesin, with some redundancy as ESCO2 deficiency is viable in humans (Vega et al., 2005). However, in this context, cohesion defects are visible, especially at centromeres, suggesting that ESCO2 has some unique functions in sister chromatid cohesion (Vega et al., 2005; Whelan et al., 2012). SMC3 acetylation by ESCO2 happens during DNA replication (Alomer et al., 2017). Its recruitment depends on the prereplication complex assembly in *Xenopus laevis* egg extracts (Higashi et al., 2012). Mechanistically, it is thought that SMC3 acetylation blocks ATP binding of the SMC heads, thus RAD21/SMC3 opening and DNA unloading (Chan et al., 2012)(see next chapter for more details on unloading mechanism). In addition to SMC3 acetylation, cohesin is also protected from unloading through interaction with sororin (Nishiyama et al., 2010; Schmitz et al., 2007). Sororin binds PDS5 and inhibits its interaction with WAPL, two proteins essential for cohesin unloading (Nishiyama et al., 2010).

2.2.1.3 ... and cohesin unloading mechanism

Before DNA replication, when cohesin shows a very dynamic interaction with chromatin, it is unloaded by PDS5 and WAPL (Kueng *et al.*, 2006; Shintomi and Hirano, 2009). WAPL interacts with cohesin through PDS5, which in turn interacts with RAD21. Together, they

induce an opening between SMC3 and RAD21 during interphase, allowing DNA exit out of the cohesin ring (Murayama and Uhlmann, 2015). How exactly the unloading complex helps the gate opening is unclear but ATP binding by the SMC heads seems necessary. After DNA replication, cohesion is established and sororin binds to PDS5, blocking its interaction with WAPL (Nishiyama *et al.*, 2010). From this point, cohesin can get released from chromatin through two different mechanisms, happening at precise cell cycle stages.

Most cohesin is released at prophase through the phosphorylation pathway – also called the prophase pathway. Cohesin unloading happens through phosphorylation of STAG proteins by Polo-Like Kinase 1 (PLK1) (Hauf *et al.*, 2005). In parallel, phosphorylation of sororin by Cyclin Dependent Kinase 1 (CDK1) and Aurora B, two kinases regulated by the cell cycle, induces its removal, leaving the possibility for WAPL to bind RAD21 and unload cohesin (Dreier *et al.*, 2011; Nishiyama *et al.*, 2013). WAPL depleted cells have problems separating their chromatids at anaphase (Haarhuis *et al.*, 2013; Nishiyama *et al.*, 2013), suggesting that cohesin removal at prophase helps topoisomerases to decatenate DNA and facilitates sister chromatid separation (Haarhuis *et al.*, 2013; Losada *et al.*, 2002). It is also possible that the prophase pathway allows quick reloading of cohesin after mitosis, as the complex is not destroyed by the unloading and only needs deacetylation of SMC3 by HDAC8 to be functional again (Deardorff *et al.*, 2012). Consistent with this last hypothesis, it is interesting to note that the prophase pathway is missing in yeast where cohesin loading happens in late G1, after new synthesis of RAD21 ortholog (Uhlmann *et al.*, 2000; Uhlmann and Nasmyth, 1998).

While most cohesin on chromosome arms is released through the prophase pathway, a small fraction of the complex remains at pericentromeres to hold sister chromatids together until anaphase. An important feature, as too early separation of sister chromatids would lead to unequal chromosome distribution between the two daughter cells and thus chromosomal instability. To protect cohesin, Shugoshin 1 (SGO1) and its partner phosphatase 2A (PP2A) locate at pericentromeres to antagonize phosphorylation from the prophase pathway (Kitajima *et al.*, 2006). Shugoshin localizes at pericentromeres through the recognition of H2A phosphorylation, which is mediated by Budding Uninhibited by Benzimidazoles 1 (BUB1) kinase (Kawashima *et al.*, 2010). Mechanistically,

58

once recruited to the pericentromeres, SGO1 binds cohesin and competes with WAPL affinity to STAG and RAD21 (Hara, 2014), thus inhibiting cohesin release. At the onset of anaphase, the remaining cohesin at pericentromeres is released through the cleavage of RAD21 by separase (Hauf *et al.*, 2001), allowing the sister chromatids to move to opposing poles.



Nature Reviews | Cancer

Figure 7: Cohesin loading and unloading mechanism during the cell cycle. Cohesin is loaded on the chromatin with the NIPBL-MAU2 complex and unloaded with PDS5B and WAPL. During G1 phase, cohesin is dynamically loaded and unloaded from the chromatin. After DNA replication, cohesion is established by ESCO1 or ESCO2 which acetylates SMC3 heads. Additionnally sororin binds PDS5B, inthibiting WAPL interaction with PDS5B and thus cohesin unloading. At the onset of mitosis, cohesin at the chromosome arms is dissociated from the chromatin through phosphorylation of sororin and unloading by WAPL. At the pericentromeres cohesin release happens through RAD21 cleavage by separase at the onset of anaphase. Before a new loading cycle, cohesin is deacetylated by HDAC8. Image taken from Losada (Losada 2014).

2.2.1.4 Other cohesin functions

The canonical function of cohesin is as described earlier to hold sister chromatids together during cellular division. However, cohesin mutations were found to have effects in other various processes including development and DNA repair. In addition to holding DNA in an inter-chromatid way, cohesin is also responsible for enhancer clustering by bringing intra-chromatid DNA together, forming DNA loops, and bringing gene enhancer and promotor together. In this context, cohesin interacts additionally with mediator proteins, which are found to interact with both enhancer and promotor regions (Kagey et al., 2010). Consistent with this model, cohesin is found mostly at the promotor and enhancer regions of transcription active genes (Busslinger *et al.*, 2017). Additionally, it seems that cohesin is involved in gene repression as it was found to interact with the Polycomb Repressive Complex 1 (PRC1) complex and regulate its availability (Dorsett and Kassis, 2014).

Cohesin was also found to be relevant for DNA repair mechanisms. In *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, cells with a mutation in RAD21, were deficient in doublestrand break repair, while restoring RAD21 wild-type expression restored the pathway (Birkenbihl and Subramani, 1992). Mutations in SMC1, SMC3, or PDS5 leads to hypersensitivity to DNA damage induced by γ-irradiation (Sjögren and Nasmyth, 2001). Moreover, SMC1 and 3 were found in the Repair Complex 1 (RC1) (Jessberger *et al.*, 1996), and SMC1 gets phosphorylated by the serine threonine kinase ATM kinase after radiation, a modification that has proven to be essential for DNA repair (Yazdi *et al.*, 2002). How cohesin is mechanistically involved in the repair pathways remains unknown, but it potentially holds sister DNA sequences together to ensure a correct template for the repair (Hagstrom and Meyer, 2003a).

2.2.2 Connection between Chromosomes and Microtubules

2.2.2.1 The Kinetochore Complex: a brief overview

The kinetochore complex includes over eighty proteins (Cheeseman and Desai, 2008) and is responsible for the connection between centromeric DNA and microtubules during mitosis. Some proteins are localized permanently at the centromeres such as CENPA, while others such as CENPE and CENPF are recruited during specific cell cycle stages, respectively prometaphase and prophase (Liao *et al.*, 1995; Thrower *et al.*, 1996). The kinetochore complex, in addition to its role of connection to microtubules, is also responsible for chromosome movement through controlling the polymerization and depolymerization of tubulin (reviewed by Cheeseman and Desai, 2008; Coue *et al.*, 1991). Attachment defects of microtubules with kinetochore induce aberrant chromosome segregation and chromosome number instability (Bakhoum *et al.*, 2009).



Figure 8: Mechanism of the Spindle Assembly Checkpoint (SAC). When the kinetochore is not connected to a microtubule, the SAC is activated: MPS1 is localized at the kinetochore and induces a phosphorylation cascade that leads to the formation of the MCC complex. The APC/C machinery is blocked and CDK1 and Separase inactivated. Once the kinetochore is connected, the SAC is satisfied and MPS1 released from the chromatin. CDC20 is therefore freed from the MCC complex and act as a co-activator for the APC/C machinery, which induces the degradation of securin and cyclin B, thus activating separase and CDK1. Image taken from Henriques et al. (Henriques et al. 2019).

In the following subchapter, I will focus on a protein discovered in the last decade to be necessary for kinetochore assembly, and which I found to be a CDYL2 interaction partner.

2.2.2.2 CHAMP1: A new player to take into account

In 2011, Itoh *et al.* described a novel protein, called chromosome alignment-maintaining phosphoprotein 1 (CHAMP1) and involved in kinetochore attachment (Itoh *et al.*, 2011). CHAMP1 – also designated as CAMP, C13orf8, or ZNF828 – is a zinc-finger protein conserved in vertebrates. It contains two Zinc-finger domain at its N-terminal and three at its C-terminal, while its middle region shows three characteristic repeat motifs: SPE, WK and FPE (Itoh *et al.*, 2011; Tanaka *et al.*, 2016). One zinc-finger at its C-terminal allows CHAMP1 to localize on the chromosome (Itoh *et al.*, 2011). The middle region possibly contains a nuclear localization sequence as a truncated protein missing the middle region is not able to localize on spindle fibers and kinetochores (Itoh *et al.*, 2011). CHAMP1 was first identified as a Mitotic Arrest Deficient 2-Like Protein 2 (MAD2L2) interactor (Hara *et al.*, 2017; Tanaka *et al.*, 2016). The interaction could be detected in cells synchronized at both the onset of S-phase and mitosis and happens through the CHAMP1 WK motif (Hara *et al.*, 2017). CHAMP1 fragment is wrapped in the so-called "safety-bell" region of MAD2L2 at its C-terminus (Hara *et al.*, 2017).

On a cellular level, a knock-down of CHAMP1 induces misalignment of chromosomes at the metaphase plate (Itoh *et al.*, 2011; Tanaka *et al.*, 2016). No aberrant loss of cohesion could be observed but the interkinetochore distance was found shorter in CHAMP1 depleted cells and not all sister chromatids were attached to microtubules (Itoh *et al.*, 2011). Additionally, the kinetochore bound microtubules-fibers (K-fibers) were found to be irregular and unstable in cells treated with CHAMP1 interference RNA. How CHAMP1 regulates K-fibers stability and attachment to kinetochores could not be explained in detail yet, however, Itoh *et al.* observed an abolishment of MAD2L2, CENPE, and CENPF proteins at the kinetochores in cells lacking CHAMP1 (Itoh *et al.*, 2011; Tanaka *et al.*, 2016).

The phenotype observed after CHAMP1 knock-down can partially be explained by its interaction with MAD2L2 as CHAMP1 may recruit physically MAD2L2 to the kinetochore attachment region (Itoh et al., 2011). However, this possibility was not further addressed in other studies and so remains somewhat hypothetical. CHAMP1 was also found to interact with Pogo transposable element with Zinc-Finger domain (POGZ) and HP1 proteins both interacting with the C-terminal region of CHAMP1 (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2010). Interestingly, POGZ also directly interacts with HP1 proteins but not through the PxVxL motif usually recognized by HP1 (Nozawa *et al.*, 2010). Instead, POGZ binds HP1 through its unique zinc-finger like motif. This raises the question of a potential competition between POGZ and other HP1 binding partners (Nozawa *et al.*, 2010).

On a clinical level, large scale sequencing revealed that CHAMP1 mutations, resulting mostly in truncated proteins, are potentially linked to intellectual disabilities and developmental delay. Decreased pain sensation, partial seizures, or difficulties in breathing were also described by some (Hempel *et al.*, 2015; Isidor *et al.*, 2016; Okamoto *et al.*, 2017; Tanaka *et al.*, 2016). When analyzed, the karyotype was always found normal (Hempel *et al.*, 2015; Isidor *et al.*, 2016), but lymphoblast cells from CHAMP1 mutated patients showed abnormal spindle and misaligned chromosomes as observed in *in vitro* analysis (Okamoto *et al.*, 2017). In mice, CHAMP1 was found in the developing brain at day E14,5, suggesting it plays a role in its development (Isidor *et al.*, 2016). Interestingly, while CHAMP1 depletion in mice was lethal soon after birth, HP1 β -/- mice also die in the neonatal period and show abnormal brain development and reduced proliferation of neuronal precursors (Isidor *et al.*, 2016). These observations thus raise the possibility that CHAMP1, POGZ, and HP1 can work together in brain development.

2.2.2.3 Spindle Assembly Checkpoint and Anaphase Promoting Complex

To obtain two identical daughter cells, with the same DNA content, it is essential to assure that, in each chromosome, each chromatid is attached to exactly one pole through microtubules. The Spindle Assembly Checkpoint (SAC) blocks mitosis until all kinetochores are correctly connected, avoiding a premature separation of sister chromatids, which would lead to unequal chromosome distribution. In yeast, SAC was found to be not essential for correct mitosis, but in mammals, mutations in SAC proteins were linked with cancer and neurodegenerative disorders (Hayward *et al.*, 2019; Karra *et al.*, 2014; Ling *et al.*, 2014). Mechanistically, SAC relies on a cascade induced by the protein Monopolar Spindle 1 (MPS1) (Abrieu *et al.*, 2001; London and Biggins, 2014a). When there is no microtubule connection, MPS1 is localized at the kinetochore, where it induces a phosphorylation cascade to form the mitotic checkpoint complex (MCC) consisting of Cell Division Cycling protein 20 (CDC20), the mitotic checkpoint proteins BUB1B and BUB3, and the mitotic spindle assembly checkpoint protein MAD2 (Hayward *et al.*, 2019; London and Biggins, 2014b). The MCC complex interacts with the anaphase-promoting complex (APC) and acts as a pseudo-substrate to inhibit its action (Izawa and Pines, 2015). Once a microtubule gets attached to the kinetochore, the spindle assembly checkpoint is satisfied, MPS1 is released from the kinetochore and MCC stops to be released, as schematized in figure 8.

To be activated, APC needs to interact with its co-activator CDC20 released from the MCC (Izawa and Pines, 2015). APC mechanism then relies on proteasomal degradation, acting as an E3 ubiquitin ligase (Barford, 2011). Two targets of the APC are particularly essential for anaphase promotion: cyclin B and securin (Pines, 2011). Cyclin B degradation is essential for chromatids' motion as overexpressing a non-degradable mutant of Cyclin B blocks the chromosomes at the metaphase plate (Chang *et al.*, 2003). The mechanism behind this observation is however not elucidated. Securin, on the other hand, is a well-characterized protein acting as a chaperon for separase (Hornig *et al.*, 2002; Zhou *et al.*, 2020). When securin is degraded, separase is released and catalyzes the removal of the remaining cohesin at pericentromeres, as described previously. The cohesion between sister chromatids is thus lost and the chromatids are pulled by the microtubules in the direction of the centrosomes.

2.2.3 Centrosomes: The Microtubules Organisation Center

Centrosomes are organelles with various functions including cell motility, transport of vesicle or cell shape. They are particularly important for spindle organization and serve as an organizing center for the microtubules during mitosis. Centrosomes consist of two perpendicular centrioles surrounded by numerous proteins, notably γ-tubulin (Schatten, 2008). Centrosomes are tightly regulated by the cell cycle. During the early S-phase, the

centrosomes are duplicated (Lacey *et al.*, 1999). At the onset of mitosis, one centrosome will migrate to the opposite pole of the cell, preparing for bipolar chromosome attachment. Nuclear Mitotic Apparatus protein (NUMA1), a protein necessary for the anchorage of mitotic spindles, interacts with centrosomes structure transiently during mitosis (Tang *et al.*, 1994). Both centrosomes at the opposed pole of the cell will get attached via tubulin fibers to one chromatid of each chromosome, assuring an equal distribution of DNA content during anaphase.

Surprisingly, centrosomes were found to be not absolutely essential for bipolar mitosis, as in embryonic Xenopus laevis egg extracts, the functional bipolar spindle can be observed without the presence of centrosomes (Heald et al., 1996). Additionally, Drosophila melanogaster genetically modified to avoid centrosomes duplication are still able to proceed into adult flies (Basto et al., 2006). Heald et al. have suggested that bipolarity might be an intrinsic function of microtubules but recent studies have reported that NUMA1 is able to promote spindle polarization and bipolar orientation in centrosomes-lacking cells. In cells containing centrosomes, both pathways function in a redundant manner (Chinen et al., 2020). Still, an aberrantly high number of centrosomes can induce defects in equal chromosome distribution and could be reported in most cancers studied, strongly suggesting that centrosomes are needed for correct mitosis (Chan, 2011; D'Assoro et al., 2002). Additionally, centrosome amplification was linked to tumorigenesis in breast cancer patients and Drosophila melanogaster (Basto et al., 2008; Salisbury et al., 2004). It was proposed that centrosome amplification promotes chromosomal instability and thus cancer by inducing segregation errors and lagging chromosomes during anaphase (Ganem et al., 2009).

2.2.4 Blocking the Cell Cycle

Mitosis is a critical event in cellular life and to ensure it happens in a controlled manner, so-called mitotic checkpoints can stop the mitotic progression at critical moments if the conditions are not fulfilled to continue mitosis faithfully, as the previously briefly described SAC. In the laboratory praxis, it is possible to use this checkpoint and other mechanisms to block the cell at a wished cycle stage. During my thesis, I have used several drugs, whose mechanisms are detailed below. Nocodazole and colchicine are two drugs,

derivatives of benzimidazole with a similar mechanism (Friedman and Platzer, 1978). They both interact with purified tubulin in vitro and inhibits microtubules polymerization (Friedman and Platzer, 1978; Hoebeke *et al.*, 1976). The cells treated with these drugs are thus blocked in prometaphase as microtubules cannot align the chromosomes on the equatorial cell plate (Ma and Poon, 2011). Another mechanism to block cells during mitosis is by using MG132, a well-known proteasome inhibitor (Lee and Goldberg, 1998). MG132, among other effects, inhibits the protein degradation usually induced by the anaphase-promoting complex, notably Cyclin B, and the treated cells, therefore, remain in metaphase. MG132 shows however a high toxicity due to its lack of specificity and the inhibition of most degradations. It is therefore a drug only adapted for imaging techniques, where a small fraction of synchronized cells is sufficient for analysis, and so a brief MG132 treatment can be used. Finally, cells can also get synchronized in the early Sphase using thymidine. The addition of thymidine to the cell media reduces the dCTP available in the cell, thus significantly slowing down DNA synthesis (Bjursell and Reichard, 1973; Bostock, 1971). Cells treated with double thymidine block are considered to be blocked at very early S-phase (Ma and Poon, 2011).

2.3 MITOSIS FROM AN EPIGENETIC POINT OF VIEW

During mitosis, epigenetic marks, in particular histone modifications, undergo major changes. Transcription during mitosis is mostly repressed to avoid DNA damage due to the highly condensed chromatin structure. A global acetylation loss is therefore observed on most residues, including for example on H3K9, H3K18, or H4K12 (Kruhlak *et al.*, 2001). The deacetylation may also be necessary for the dense packaging of nucleosomes during mitosis (Cimini *et al.*, 2003).

Specific histone residue phosphorylations are characteristic of mitosis. The first identified and most cited histone phosphorylation in mitosis is H3 Serine 10 phosphorylation (H3S10ph) (Hendzel et al., 1997; Wei et al., 1998). It is however not the only reported as H3 Serine 28 and H3 Threonine 3 phosphorylations (H3S28ph and H3T3ph) also show an impressive increase (Wang and Higgins, 2013). H3S10ph is mediated by Aurora B and starts at the onset of mitosis (Hirota et al., 2005). By the end of prophase, chromosomes are extensively covered by the modification. It was rapidly shown that H3S10ph releases

66

HP1 proteins from the chromatin, even in the presence of H3K9 methylation (Fischle et al., 2005; Hirota et al., 2005). Similarly, H3S28 is phosphorylated as well by Aurora B and pieces of evidence suggest that H3S28ph releases polycomb proteins usually binding to methylated H3K27 (Gehani et al., 2010; Hirota et al., 2005). Why these methylated histone readers have to be removed and if this is the main function of H3S28 and H3S10 is not exactly known. Some hypothesize that HP1 removal may promote pericentromeres accessibility for mitotic factors such as Aurora B (Fischle et al., 2005), and others suggest that removal of interacting factors may help chromosome condensation (Dormann et al., 2006). Finally, H3T3 is phosphorylated by Haspin at early prophase as well and becomes highly enriched at inner centromeres by prometaphase (Dai et al., 2005; Polioudaki et al., 2004). As for the previously described modifications, H3T3ph potentially inhibits interactions of reader proteins with the neighboring methylated residues. It was indeed observed *in vitro* that proteins involved in gene transcription by binding methylated H3K4 were unable to do so upon H3T3ph (Couture et al., 2007; Varier et al., 2010), suggesting that H3T3ph participates in the general transcriptional repression happening during mitosis. H3T3ph was also proven to be involved in Chromosomal Passenger Complex (CPC) recruitment to inner centromeres through binding with survivin (Kelly et al., 2010). Other phosphorylations as H2AT120ph or H3T11ph were also reported to be specific to mitosis but their function remains unknown (Wang and Higgins, 2013).

Histone methylation is also influenced by mitosis. This is for example the case of H4K20 which gets extensively monomethylated by KMT5A, starting in the S phase and decreasing in late mitosis with a peak during metaphase (Houston *et al.*, 2008). H4K20me was observed to colocalize with condensin on the chromatin, suggesting this modification is involved in the complex recruitment and chromosome condensation (Liu *et al.*, 2010). Further work to confirm and characterize their mechanistic link remains to be studied. Maintenance of H3K9me3 is also essential for mitosis, notably at pericentromeric regions, as its knock-down induces a lack of chromosome cohesion, condensation, and the cells are more prompt to genomic instability (Peters et al., 2001). Indeed, in yeast Swi6, HP1 homolog, was shown to recruit cohesin to pericentromeres (Nonaka et al., 2002). This exciting result first failed to be reproduced in mammals where HP1 was found to be dispensable for cohesin establishment (Koch *et al.*, 2008; Serrano *et al.*, 2009) even

though mice cells lacking H3K9me3 at pericentromeres revealed cohesion defects (Peters *et al.*, 2001). Recently, HP1 was shown to be involved in cohesin protection rather than loading in humans (Yi et al., 2018). Indeed, HP1 was found to interact with and to help to recruit Haspin, a histone kinase, to the pericentromeres. Haspin was previously found to be necessary for the protection of pericentromeric cohesion of sister chromatids by phosphorylation and thus inhibiting WAPL activity (Dai et al., 2006; Liang et al., 2018). Finally, certain histone methylations, such as H3K4 methylation, are also particularly important during mitosis, even though they do not participate directly in the mitotic process, but allow the maintenance and transmission of gene transcription repression or activation through mitosis (Valls et al., 2005).

In conclusion, many histone modifications are not only relevant for gene transcription regulation, but they are also necessary for the regulation of cellular events, such as mitosis. While the establishment and the effects of their knock-down are often well characterized, the exact mechanism linking histone modifications and their effects remains mainly obscure. During my thesis, I identified the chromodomain on Y-like 2 (CDYL2) protein, a poorly characterized H3K9me3 reader, as an important regulator of mitosis.

3.1 A FAMILY TO SHARE THE READING MONOPOLE OF H3K9ME3

Historically, HP1 was the first described reader for H3K9me3 (Bannister *et al.*, 2001; James and Elgin, 1986). However, it is not the only one that can be found in mammalian cells: in 1999, Lahn and Page described a family of proteins containing a conserved chromodomain, similar to the one observed in HP1 (Fischle *et al.*, 2008; Lahn and Page, 1999). Designated as chromodomain on Y like – CDYL – family, in reference to the Y chromosome localization of the first members discovered, these proteins were rapidly described in biochemical interactions studies to have a strong binding affinity for H3K9me3. Some observations even suggested, they may have a stronger interaction with the modification than HP1 proteins (Fischle *et al.*, 2008; Vermeulen *et al.*, 2010). Interestingly, the chromodomain is not the only common point between the two families. Indeed, while HP1 is known to dimerize through its chromoshadow domain (Brasher *et al.*, 2000), CDYL proteins were rapidly shown to trimerize through a conserved crotonyl-coA domain (Wu *et al.*, 2009).

In the last decade, many publications have emerged to characterize CDYL family members. Some cellular functions have started to emerge and several publications linked mutations or aberrant expression of CDYL family members with diseases, notably cancer and epilepsy. These results strongly suggest CDYL members are implicated in several important functions. Nevertheless, many remain unclear as to how these proteins work and what their exact role in the cell and organism is.

In the third and last part of my thesis introduction, I will present the current knowledge available on the CDYL family and its members. First, I will review the knowledge on the genes and proteins themselves, including a structural and functional analysis of the conserved domains. Second, I will highlight the cellular and molecular functions that have been already characterized and finally the importance of CDYL family members in human diseases and their potential as a new diagnostic tool or therapeutic target.

3.2 CDYL FAMILY

3.2.1 Evolution – Conservation

In *H. Sapiens*, six genes belong to the Chromodomain on Y Like Family. Four of them: *CDY1A*, *CDY1B*, *CDY2A*, and *CDY2B* are located on the Y chromosome, a localization that inspired their names. The two others: *CDYL1* – often written as *CDYL* in literature – and *CDYL2* are located on autosomal chromosomes, respectively chromosomes 6 and 16 in humans and chromosomes 13 and 8 in mice (Lahn and Page, 1999). The genes show high homology and the proteins they encode have two well-conserved domains: a chromodomain at the C-terminus and an Enoyl-CoA Hydratase domain (ECH) at the N-terminus (Fischle *et al.*, 2008; Wu *et al.*, 2009). Both domains are described with more details in the following subchapters.

CDYL family is also highly conserved during evolution. While CDY genes are only present in simians (Lahn and Page, 1999), CDYL1 and CDYL2 are found in most, if not all, mammals, in Xenopus Laevis and many fishes. Less complex organisms, such as Sylophora pistillata or Drosophila Melanogaster also have one autosomal copy of CDYL homolog – called HIPP1 in Drosophila (Glenn and Geyer, 2019). It is believed that the progenitor of the CDYL family arose *de novo* via domain accretion and separated later into the two autosomal CDYL. As they are only present in simian mammals, it was first thought that CDY genes emerged recently in evolution (Lahn and Page, 1999). However, Dorus et al. argued in 2003, that the high sequence difference between CDY and their autosomal paralogs does not support this hypothesis and suggests that CDY might have appeared earlier, before mouse-human separation, and have disappeared in the mouse and non-simian mammals afterward. Indeed, between mouse and human CDYL2, the amino acid identity reaches 100% in both chromodomain and catalytic domain and drops to 80% in the less conserved linker regions (Dorus, 2003). On the other hand, human CDYL2 and human CDY only reach 65% and 61% amino acid identity in the chromodomain and catalytic domain respectively. Similarly, between CDYL1 and CDY, we observe 64 % amino acid identity, while on the opposite, CDY proteins show an impressive identity of 98 % between each other. CDYL1 and CDYL2 show moderate conservation as they have 51 % amino acid identity. However, the identity reaches 68 % for the ECH-domain and 72 % for the chromodomain. The

sequence homologies were calculated using Blast (blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov). Protein sequences are referenced as follows: CDYL1 Q9Y232; CDYL2 Q8N8U2; CDY1 Q9Y6F8 and CDY2 Q9Y6F7.

Due to their homology and based on our current knowledge, a redundancy between CDYL family proteins can yet not be excluded. However, as will be described in the next chapters, the phenotypes observed after CDYL proteins knock-down suggest it also, if not mostly, has necessary unique cellular functions.

3.2.2 Expression and Transcripts

Given their localization on the Y chromosome, it is likely that CDY proteins have a function in male reproduction and thus localized in masculine reproductive organs. Indeed, CDY was only reported in testis, notably in elongating spermatids (Lahn *et al.*, 2002; Lahn and Page, 1999). On the other hand, the autosomal *CDYL1* and *CDYL2* are expressed in most tissues (Franz *et al.*, 2009) and the proteins were found to be nuclear and localizing mostly at the heterochromatin (Abu-Zhayia *et al.*, 2018; Fischle *et al.*, 2008; Franz *et al.*, 2009). In mice and rats, where *CDY* does not exist, *CDYL1* was also found expressed in elongating spermatids and spermatids tail, suggesting the protein has additional functions compared to its human ortholog to compensate CDY loss (Franz *et al.*, 2009; Lahn *et al.*, 2002; Lahn and Page, 1999; Parab *et al.*, 2017).

Rapidly during the functional analysis of CDYL1, three transcripts were reported: CDYL1a, CDYL1b, and CDYL1c, whose differences only remain at their N-terminus. While CDYL1b has a very similar structure to CDYL2, CDYL1a has an additional 54 amino acids long sequence and CDYL1c has a complete deletion of its chromodomain and 178 amino acids of the linker region (Franz *et al.*, 2009). CDYL1b is the only transcript to have a functional chromodomain as explained in the chapter on chromodomain. CDYL1b is also the most abundant transcripts in many human tissues, explaining why most of the work was performed in this isoform. An exception lies in the testis where CDYL1a is expressed at the same level (Franz *et al.*, 2009). In addition to these different transcripts, CDYL proteins are possibly also fine-tuned by post-transcriptional modifications. Indeed CDYL1 was found to be methylated by EHMT2 *in vitro* (Rathert *et al.*, 2008) and phosphorylated during DNA
damage response (Bennetzen et al., 2010). A precise characterization of CDYL proteins post-transcriptional modifications, their biological relevance, and consequences were however never performed.

3.2.3 **ECH Domain**

In 2009, Wu et al. published the X-ray crystallography structural analysis of CDYL family proteins C-terminal conserved domains (Wu et al., 2009). They described this domain as having a high structural similarity with already known Enoyl-CoA Hydratase (ECH) – also called crotonase - enzymes. ECH proteins are catalyzing the hydratation of an enoyl-CoA into the corresponding hydroxyacyl-CoA (reviewed in Hamed et al., 2008). Additionally, their catalytic domain allows those enzymes to trimerize and hexamerize – through trimers dimerization. As modelized in figure 9B, the trimerization capacity of CDYL proteins was confirmed and its structure analyzed in the same publication and Wu et al. do not exclude a possible hexamer formation. It remains however unknown if, in vivo, CDYL family proteins multimerize as homo- or heterotrimers.



5jjz, modelized with PyMol

2gtr, modelized with PyMol

Figure 9: Modelisation of CDYL domains structure analysed with X-ray crystallography. (A) CDYL2 chromodomain (PDB 5jjz), in red are the amino acids forming the aromatic cages, allowing H3K9me3 specific binding. (B) Trimerisation of the enoyl CoA-Hydratase domain (PDB 2gtr). In red and orange are the amino acids predicted by Wu et al. to be responsible for respectively hydrophobic and H-bound interactions between the monomers.

When analyzing the structure of CDYL proteins ECH domain and comparing it to the other ECH-containing proteins, Wu *et al.* predicted the amino acids necessary for the enzymatic activity in CDYL1. They suggested the oxyanion hole is formed by L403 and L452 and the residue D483 might be responsible for proton transfer (Wu *et al.*, 2009). Recently, CDYL1 crotonylase activity was confirmed as it was shown to be able to catalyze the reaction from Crotonyl-CoA into β -hydroxybutyryl-CoA and thus prevent histone crotonylation (S. Liu *et al.*, 2017). As CDYL enzymatic activity was observed in elongated spermatids and was found to be important for male fertility, the author suggests it is implicated in the repression of sex chromosome-linked genes. The exact enzymatic activity of CDYL proteins however is still poorly studied, probably due, at least in part, to the lack of knowledge on crotonylation as a post-transcriptional protein modification. Indeed, its role in the histone code remains poorly characterized although it is now more and more linked with gene activation (S. Liu *et al.*, 2017; Wei *et al.*, 2017). Thus, if CDYL proteins are indeed able to protect histone from getting crotonylated, they may have a role in repression maintenance.

3.2.4 Chromodomain

The chromodomain – the domain which gave its name to the family – is conserved among all members and is localized at the N-terminal of CDYL proteins. Even though it is still not officially published, the structure of CDYL2 chromodomain was analyzed with X-ray crystallography and NMR and deposited on the protein databank PDB under the references 5jjz – which is modelized on Figure 9A – and 2dnt (deposited respectively by Dong *et al.* 2016 and Ruhul Momen *et al.* 2006). When compared with HP1, another human chromodomain protein, the CDYL2 chromodomain shows high structural similarities (Fischle *et al.*, 2008). It was therefore rapidly predicted to bind to histone trimethylation modifications. Fischle *et al.* showed in 2008, that CDYL chromodomain is indeed binding with specificity to the trimethylated lysine modification of ARK(S) motif. This motif can be found in histone proteins, where it is usually considered as a mark of repression and heterochromatin, like H3K9me3, H3K27me3, and H1.4K26me3 but also in non-histone proteins as EHMT2 (EHMT2-K185) and EHMT1 (EHMT1-K174). CDYL2 and CDY but not CDYL1a were found in this publication to bind these modifications, including to the non-histone proteins, *in vitro*. *In cellulo*, CDYL1b and CDYL2 localize at mouse chromocenters, heterochromatic regions heavily enriched in H3K9me3 and this localization is dependent on both the histone modification and chromodomain integrity (Fischle *et al.*, 2008; Franz *et al.*, 2009). *In vitro*, CDYL proteins affinities to H3K9me3 and H3K27me3 were greatly reduced when the neighbor serine is phosphorylated (Fischle *et al.* 2008).

Chromodomains bind their target through an aromatic cage that interacts with the methylated modifications through cation- π interactions (reviewed in Taverna *et al.*, 2007). CDYL chromodomain makes no exception to this rule. In CDYL1b and CDYL2, the aromatic cage is formed by two tyrosines (Y7 and Y32) and one tryptophan (W29). In CDY proteins, the first tyrosine residue is replaced by phenylalanine (Fischle *et al.*, 2008). Exceptions to the H3K9me3 binding capacities in the CDYL1c transcript which misses the complete chromodomain. Surprisingly, the ECH domain and probably its multimerization capacity were shown to be necessary for the chromodomain to bind H3K9me3, as CDYL1b proteins depleted from their C-terminal was not able to bind chromatin (Franz *et al.*, 2009). Mutants lacking chromodomain and which have not lost their oligomerization capacities were proposed to have a regulator function on the H3K9me3 binding of other CDYL family proteins through trimerization. Indeed overexpression of CDYL1c in mouse cells was shown to be sufficient to displace CDYL1b from chromatin despite H3K9me3 marks (Franz *et al.*, 2009).

3.3 CELLULAR FUNCTION

3.3.1 Interactors

Proteomic-wide techniques, as coimmunoprecipitation followed by mass spectrometry, have gained in popularity in the last decades and have allowed us to find many interactors of CDYL proteins, in particular CDYL1 which is the most studied. Most interactions are recapitulated in Table 1. Those broad-ranged studies are of great help to find hypotheses for the proteins' cellular function. For CDYL1, the interactions with many epigenetic proteins involved in gene repression, including EHMT2 and HDAC, are noteworthy (Caron *et al.*, 2003; Mulligan *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly, transcription repressors were also found

	Interactor	interactor of	shown by	reciprocal shown by	Sources
Epigenetic Factors	EHMT2	CDYL1; CDYL2	CoIP-MS ; CoIP-WB	CoIP-WB; CoIP-MS	Mulligan et al. 2008 ; Siouda et al. 2020; Bantscheff et al. 2011
	EHMT1	CDYL1	CoIP-MS		Mulligan et al. 2008
	EZH2	CDYL1	CoIP-WB		Zhang et al. 2011
	HDAC1	CDYL1	CoIP-MS	Affinity Capture - MS; CoIP-WB	Mulligan et al. 2008; Hein et al. 2015; Caron et al. 2003; Bantscheff et al. 2011
	HDAC2	CDYL1	CoIP-MS	CoIP-WB	Mulligan et al. 2008; Caron et al. 2003; Bantscheff et al. 2011
	SETDB1	CDYL1	CoIP-MS		Mulligan et al. 2008
	CBX1	CDYL1		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	YEATS4	CDYL2		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	SMARCB1	CDYL1	CoIP-MS		Mulligan et al. 2008
	RBBP4	CDYL1	IP - MS		Brantscheff et al. 2011
	SUZ12	CDYL1	CoIP-WB		Zhang et al. 2011
	CDYL1	CDYL1	two hybrid assay		Luck et al. 2020
	SNF5	CDYL1	CoIP-MS		Mulligan et al. 2008
Histones -	H3	CDYL1; CDYL2	Affinity Capture - MS		Vermeulen et al. 2010
	H2AX	CDYL1		Affinity Capture - MS	Leung et al. 2017
- Transcription Factors -	Rest	CDYL1	CoIP-MS		Mulligan et al. 2008
	CtBP1	CDYL1			Shi et al. 2003 ; Kuppuswamy et al. 2008
	Wiz	CDYL1 ; CDYL2		Affinity Capture - MS; CoIP-WB	Hein et al. 2015 ; Kuppuswamyet al. 2008 ; Mulligan et al. 2008
	POU5F1 Oct4				Eiselleova et al. 2019
	MIER1	CDYL1	IP - MS		Brantscheff et al. 2011 ; Mulligan et al. 2008

Table1: Known CDYL proteins interactors.

	MIER2	CDYL1	IP - MS		Brantscheff et al. 2011
- Transcription Factors - -	ZSCAN5A	CDYL2		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	ZNF644	CDYL1	CoIP-MS	Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015; Mulligan et al. 2008
	C10orf12	CDYL1		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	ESR2	CDYL1		Affinity Capture - MS	Giurato et al. 2018
	NR2C2	CDYL1		BioID - MS	Yu et al. 2018
	SMARCA4	CDYL1	CoIP-MS		Mulligan et al. 2008
	ATF7IP	CDYL1	CoIP-MS		Mulligan et al. 2008
	PBRM1	CDYL1	CoIP-MS		Mulligan et al. 2008
Replication Fork	CAF1	CDYL1	CoIP-MS		Liu et al. 2017
	МСМ	CDYL1	CoIP – MS; CoIP – WB	CoIP - WB	Liu et al. 2017
- Others - -	MYH9	CDYL1		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	SRP72	CDYL1		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	HUWE1	CDYL2		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	CCT4	CDYL2		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	TPX2	CDYL1		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	NOP9	CDYL1		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	HTRA1	CDYL1	Two-hybrid assay		Murwantoko et al. 2004
	Srp72	CDYL1		Affinity Capture - MS	Hein et al. 2015
	PRMT5	CDYL2	Yeast-Two- hybrid		Weimann et al. 2013

to interact with CDYL1, notably C-Terminal Binding Protein 1 (CTBP1) or RE1-Silencing Transcription Factor (REST) (Mulligan *et al.*, 2008; Shi *et al.*, 2003). Other proteins, for example, Minichromosome Maintenance 4 (MCM4), a protein involved in replication fork, are interactors of CDYL proteins (Y. Liu *et al.*, 2017b). However, these broad-range analyses, as interesting as they are, could not always be characterized in the cellular environment and linked with a known function of CDYL proteins. Some interactions were further studied and are detailed in the following subchapters but many have not been explained until now and need further characterization.

Finally, I would like to highlight the controversial binding of CDYL1 with EZH2. Indeed this interaction was suggested in 2011 by Zhang *et al.* through pull-down assay (Zhang *et al.*, 2011), however, other convincing publications using broad range analysis like mass spectrometry did not notice an interaction between CDYL1 and EZH2 (Escamilla-Del-Arenal *et al.*, 2013; Maier *et al.*, 2015; Mulligan *et al.*, 2008). Similarly in our lab, I performed coimmunoprecipitation showing a strong interaction between CDYL2 and EHMT1 and a very weak interaction with EZH2 (Siouda et al., 2020).

In the following chapters, I will review the cellular functions of CDYL proteins, which include histone modifications, transcription repression, DNA repair, and function in development. Most of the studies are performed on CDYL1, even though, CDYL2 seems to share functional similarities. The phenotypes observed after a single knock-down of either CDYL1 or CDYL2 do however suggest the two proteins, despite similarities have unique functions.

3.3.2 Histone modifications

Many epigenetic readers show abilities to regulate histone modifications and CDYL proteins make no exception to it. Initially, before knowing the structure of their enzymatic domain, CDYL proteins were reported to act *in vitro* as histone acetyltransferases and suggested to be responsible for H4 hyperacetylation during spermatogenesis (Lahn *et al.*, 2002). This acetyltransferase activity is however controversial. While Franz *et al.* failed to reproduce it (Franz *et al.*, 2009), Caron *et al.* showed the acetyltransferase activity is inhibited in the presence of HDAC, which makes the author skeptical about a function *in vivo* (Caron *et al.*, 2003). The lack of HDAC in spermatids, however, may allow the

acetyltransferase function in this specific tissue. Indeed, recently, acetylation of tubulin from rat sperm flagella by CDYL1 was reported (Caron *et al.*, 2003; Parab *et al.*, 2017).

When the structure and the conservation of the CDYL ECH domain were revealed, it seemed possible that CDYL enzymatic activities would include decrotonylation (Wu *et al.*, 2009). The *in vivo* crotonylation relevance was long unknown, making progress on CDYL catalytic function difficult. In the last years, however, this post-transcriptional modification was more studied and histone crotonylation has arisen as a new activation marker. Recently, Liu *et al.* showed that the CDYL1 ECH domain can protect histones from this modification, by catalyzing the transformation of crotonyl-CoA into ß-hydroxybutyryl-CoA, notably during mouse spermatogenesis (S. Liu *et al.*, 2017). Due to the high sequence homology between the Enoyl-CoA-hydratase domains of the different CDYL proteins, it seems likely that CDYL2 and CDY also have crotonase activities which however need to be further characterized.

Finally, CDYL1 seems to be implicated in the restoration of repressive histone modifications after DNA replication. CDYL1 was indeed shown to localize to replication sites and interact with both CAF1 and MCM4, two members of the replication fork complex (Y. Liu *et al.*, 2017b). In cells depleted for CDYL1, EHMT2, and EZH2, two writers necessary for histone methylation transmission fail to physically associate with the replication fork, suggesting that CDYL1 bridges the interaction and is necessary for histone methylation transmission (Y. Liu *et al.*, 2017b).

3.3.3 Transcription repression

The number of interactors of CDYL proteins having a function in gene repression suggests strongly that this family is implicated in processes of gene expression regulation. Indeed, rapidly, many genes were found to be repressed by CDYL proteins. This is notably the case of RhoA and BDNF, two proteins involved in brain development (Qi *et al.*, 2014; Qin *et al.*, 2017). Interestingly, CDYL1 was also found to interact with the neuronal gene repressor REST (Mulligan *et al.*, 2008) and to be necessary for the transcription regulation of REST target genes (Y. Liu *et al.*, 2017a; Mulligan *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, CDYL1 was shown to localize at the repressed X chromosomes in mouse embryonic stem cells (Escamilla-Del-



Figure 10: CDYL2 general mechanism for transcription silencing as reported by several studies. CDYL2 recruits the epigenetic writers G9a and EZH2 to chromatin, which methylate H3K9 and H3K27 respectively, thus maintening transcription repression. Strong direct interactions were reported between CDYL proteins and G9a but interactions with EZH2 are less evident and possibly indirect.

Arenal *et al.*, 2013). Finally, CDYL proteins, also show repressive activities against miRNA genes, as was shown very recently by our lab. CDYL2 indeed controls the repression of miR-124, which targets genes involved notably in epithelial to mesenchymal transition (Siouda *et al.*, 2020). In most described cases, the repressive mechanism consists of CDYL proteins recruiting G9a and/or EZH2 to chromatin, thus indirectly regulating repressive methylation mark deposition (Y. Liu *et al.*, 2017a; Mulligan *et al.*, 2008; Siouda *et al.*, 2020). The mechanism of gene repression through CDYL proteins is schematized with our current knowledge on figure 10. In the next two paragraphs, I will focus on DNA repair and on development, two events where CDYL proteins seem to be implicated, mostly through their repressive function. If CDYL proteins have any functions that do not implicate transcription repression still needs to be investigated.

3.3.4 DNA Repair

In the cells, CDYL1b was found to localize at DNA breaks induced by endonuclease or microirradiation (Abu-Zhayia *et al.*, 2018; Y. Liu *et al.*, 2017b). Interestingly, the chromodomain was found to be dispensable for this interaction, as CDYL1b binds to poly(ADP-ribose) with its ECH domain, probably through the PAR-binding motif found between amino acids 535 and 542 (Abu-Zhayia *et al.*, 2018). Similar to the previously

described silencing mechanism, after CDYL1b is localized at DNA damage sites, EZH2 is recruited to the chromatin and participates in the transcriptional repression at doublestrand breaks. As a result of this, cells lacking CDYL1b show a decreased capacity of homology DNA repair and an increased sensitivity to chemotherapy using DNA damage as their mechanism, as cisplatin (Abu-Zhayia *et al.*, 2018). Additionally, Liu *et al.* suggested that similar to its function after DNA replication, CDYL1b could recruit histone modifiers to induce the restoration of the repressive marks on the new DNA strand (Y. Liu *et al.*, 2017b).

3.3.5 In Development

There is, for now, no study clearly indicating a function of CDYL proteins in development. However one report claimed, without presenting supporting data, that Cdyl1-/- mice were born in a Mendelian distribution but die within one or two hours after birth (Wan et al., 2013). The author reported diaphragmatic breathing and cyanosis, suggesting a function of CDYL1 in the respiratory system development. CDYL1 was also reported to be highly expressed at embryonic day 12 in the brain and to be a necessary regulator of neuronal migration (Qin et al., 2017). In vitro studies, suggested that CDYL1 is also involved in neuronal differentiation as induced pluripotent stem cells from Cdy/1-/- mice were shown to be more prompt to spontaneous differentiation (Wan et al., 2013). REST is a transcriptional repressor necessary for neuronal development and orchestrating many major epigenetic changes during neuronal differentiation (Ballas and Mandel, 2005; Nechiporuk et al., 2016). Since CDYL1 was shown to interact with REST (Mulligan et al., 2008), it might be that both proteins are working together in neurodevelopment and it would be of great interest to study CDYL1-REST interaction in this context. Finally, bioinformatics analysis linked CDYL1 with gastroschisis, suggesting CDYL1 protein may also be relevant for early developmental stages (Salinas-Torres et al., 2019). All together, these observations strongly suggest that CDYL proteins are implicated and necessary for development.

3.4 IMPLICATION IN DISEASES

3.4.1 In Cancer

CDYL1 and CDYL2 were found overexpressed in wide-range analyses of cancer diseases, revealing them as new putative oncogenes (Kim et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2013) and tumor suppressors (Mulligan et al., 2008) depending on the context. We recently found that in breast cancer, CDYL2 was not only found overexpressed in patients, a higher level of the protein is also correlating with a worse prognosis (Siouda et al., 2020). In breast cancer cells, CDYL2 was found to repress miR124, a miRNA targeting Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription (STAT3) and Nuclear Factor κB (NF-κB) and thus tumor migration and invasiveness. An increase in CDYL2 expression was shown to increase the metastatic potential of the tumor, while a decrease is reducing it (Siouda et al., 2020). Additionally, some Single-Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) next to CDYL2 genes are correlating with prostate and breast cancer predisposition, suggesting CDYL2 may also be involved at earlier stages of tumor progression (Ghoussaini et al., 2013; Michailidou et al., 2013; Oh et al., 2019). Noteworthy is the fact that CDYL1 circRNA may also be affecting tumor progression. Indeed, circCDYL1 expression was found altered in several types of cancer, though its effect and mechanism of action are still quite controversial (Cui et al., 2019; Mei et al., 2019; Okholm et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2019; Wei et al., 2020).

Finally, CDYL expression in the tumor was found to correlate with resistance to farnesol (Efferth and Kuete, 2013). This information could be used as a prognostic for the treatment efficiency or to co-target CDYL in therapies using farnesol. A knock-out of CDYL1 was also shown to increase cisplatin efficiency *in vitro* by inducing DNA breaks sensitivity of the cancer cells (Abu-Zhayia *et al.*, 2018; Y. Liu *et al.*, 2017b) and the author suggest the possibility to co-target CDYL proteins in chemotherapy inducing DNA breaks. In both studies, a therapy targeting CDYL might increase the chance of therapy success. Studying the mechanisms by which CDYL is implicated in cancer and interacting with those drugs could be of great interest for future therapy design.

3.4.2 In Brain

As detailed earlier (see Transcription Repression and Function in development), CDYL1 is controlling transcription repression of several genes involved in the brain function and seems implicated in brain development. Still, CDYL1 might emerge as an important regulator of brain development, but its concrete function remains mostly unknown. Interestingly, a decrease in CDYL1 levels induces a higher susceptibility to epilepsy in mouse models (Y. Liu et al., 2017a; Qin et al., 2017). Two hypotheses possibly explain this: the derepression of Ras Homolog Family Member A (RhoA) during development and the derepression of Sodium Channel Protein Type 8 (SCN8). Increased levels of the former induce defects in neuronal migration and mobility, known to contribute to neurological and psychiatric disorders (Qin et al., 2017). The latter reduces the neuronal threshold, making the mice more prompt to an epileptic episode (Y. Liu et al., 2017a). On the other hand, overexpression of CDYL1 increases the resistance of mice to epileptogenesis (Y. Liu et al., 2017a; Qin et al., 2017). Moreover, in human patients, a single nucleotide modification 61 kb upstream of CDY1 was found to correlate with responsiveness to ketogenic dietary therapies (Schoeler et al., 2018). Even though this study needs to be confirmed with a broader number of patients, this observation makes CDYL1 an interesting gene to study more closely in an epileptic context.

In addition to effects on epilepsy, CDYL1 was also linked to stress-induced depression in mouse models (Liu *et al.*, 2019). It was observed that crotonylation levels are lower and CDYL1 levels higher in the medial prefrontal cortex in the mouse after inducing depressive disorders. An overexpression of CDYL1 in this region increased the sensitivity of the mice while downregulation protected the animals from stress-induced depression. These results showed that CDYL1 plays a critical role in stress-induced depression, possibly through its crotonase activity, and is a potential therapeutic target (Liu *et al.*, 2019).

3.4.3 In Fertility

Due to their expression profile in testis and their localization on the Y chromosome, it was rapidly suggested that *CDY* genes have a biological function for fertility. Several mutations of *CDY* genes were already linked with male infertility (Poli *et al.*, 2015). Localized knock out of *CDYL1* in mouse testis confirmed a function of CDYL proteins in spermatogenesis.

82

Male mice lacking CDYL1 in testis gave smaller and fewer litter compared to wild-type (WT) males. They also showed progressive infertility earlier during their life (Xia *et al.*, 2019). These observations suggested a role for CDY proteins in man fertility. The hypothesis of CDY proteins' involvement in spermatogenesis was strengthened by a study where CDY1 low expression correlated with failure of sperm recovery in testicular tissues (Heydarian *et al.*, 2016).

As CDY genes are not present in women and both CDYL1 and CDYL2 seem ubiquitously expressed, it is tempting to think that the CDYL family is only involved in men's fertility. But recently, a link between overexpression of CDYL1 and repetitive implantation failure (RIF) was found. Indeed, CDYL1 represses Catenin Beta 1 (CTNNB1) and was found downregulated in endometrial tissues of patients with RIF. The resulting overexpression of CTNNB1 then contributes to the poor endometrial receptivity in these women (Zhou *et al.*, 2020).

Interestingly, CDYL proteins have physical or functional interactions with sex hormones, even though these interactions were not characterized in detail yet. Deficits of testosterone and FSH were able to decrease CDYL1 levels (Gill-Sharma *et al.*, 2012). And broad range protein interaction analysis revealed that both CDYL1 and CDYL2 seem to interact with estrogen receptor ESR2 (Hein *et al.*, 2015).

3.5 TARGETING CDYL PROTEINS?

As discussed above, CDYL proteins were discovered twenty years ago and are getting more and more interesting as they show numerous indispensable cellular functions, and their aberrant expression is linked with various diseases, notably cancer, epilepsy, depression, and fertility. Brief studies also link CDYL proteins and circRNA to other diseases like gastroschisis, Hirschprung disease, and Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 (Enguix-Riego *et al.*, 2016; Salinas-Torres *et al.*, 2019; Voellenkle *et al.*, 2019). Up to now, CDYL1b is the most studied candidate, but it is to be expected that the other proteins of the family, notably CDYL2, also show very interesting features. Due to the high implication of CDYL1 in disease, it was suggested to use it as a complementary diagnostic tool, notably for cancer (Mei *et al.*, 2019; Savci-Heijink *et al.*, 2019). Some studies suggest it may also be

used as a prediction tool, for the success of some therapies or surgeries (Efferth and Kuete, 2013; Heydarian *et al.*, 2016; Schoeler *et al.*, 2018). The efficiency of it needs however to be addressed in broader studies. *In vitro* studies have finally addressed the possibility to co-target it in chemotherapy to increase its efficiency (Abu-Zhayia *et al.*, 2018), while others have observed that decreasing CDYL1 level in the cortex region of mice, showing abnormally high levels of the protein, protects against depression thus raising the question to use it in depressive patients (Liu *et al.*, 2019).

In a not too far future, it can be thus envisaged to target CDYL proteins for therapy. Small molecules inhibiting CDYL chromodomain have already been described in the literature (Barnash *et al.*, 2016; Stuckey *et al.*, 2016). The high conservation between the different chromodomains in the CDYL family and with other chromodomain proteins as HP1 α , HP1 β , and HP1 γ , makes it difficult to obtain a perfect specificity for the drugs. However, by playing with organic radicals, potential satisfying specificity can be obtained (Yang *et al.*, 2019). To bypass the chromodomain specificity problems, drugs targeting other necessary CDYL domains or motif, notably its enzymatic pocket or its PAR motif, also have to be considered.

In conclusion, the CDYL family seems to be implicated in many different necessary processes and diseases. Up to now, our knowledge of this family is quite superficial and only future studies will help us understand all its implications, functions, and its relevance as a therapeutic target. My thesis, whose hypothesis and objectives are detailed on the following page, aims at characterizing CDYL2 biological function in the cell. Taken together, CDYL2 belongs to the CDYL family, a family of H3K9me3 readers that were shown to be implicated in various diseases including several cancer types. CDYL1 in particular was shown to repress transcription through recruitment of EHMT2 and EZH2 and methylation of H3K9 and H3K27. CDYL1 recruitment of both methyltransferases is also involved in histone modification transmission. An overexpression of CDYL1 is correlating with chemoresistance and mental depression, while a downregulation was linked with increased susceptibility to epilepsy. However, very little is known about CDYL2. My thesis work therefore aimed at characterizing CDYL2 function in the cell.

Before my arrival in the team, preliminary results have revealed that a knock-down of CDYL2 induces several mitotic defects. During my thesis, I confirmed the importance of CDYL2 for faithful mitosis and characterized CDYL2 spatiotemporal localization in the cell. I performed an analysis of a CDYL2 immunoprecipitation followed by mass spectrometry dataset to identify potential interactors of CDYL2 relevant to the mitotic phenotype and verified the interactions with Proximity Ligation Assay or immunoprecipitations. These analyses were performed to answer the question: How is CDYL2 influencing mitosis? And what is the molecular mechanism behind CDYL2 implication in mitosis?

Three hypotheses were formulated following CDYL2 interactors characterization. First, could CDYL2 be involved in transcription regulation of repeats sequences, notably satellite repeats at pericentromeres? Second, is CDYL2 necessary for cohesin recruitment or establishment, notably at pericentromeres? And finally, is CDYL2 needed for CHAMP1 recruitment at the kinetochore?

During my thesis, I also collaborate to study the implication of CDYL2 in breast cancer. We observed that CDYL2 overexpression in breast cancer patients is correlating with a worse prognosis and found that it regulates breast cancer cell invasion and aggressiveness. I participated mostly in elucidating the molecular mechanism behind this regulation, notably by analyzing CDYL2 interactors and confirming mir124 repression through the recruitment of histone methyltransferases by CDYL2.

Overall during these three years, my work participated to provide the first studies characterizing CDYL2 molecular function and aimed at better understanding CDYL2 implications in mitosis.

Materials & Methods

5.1 ANTIBODIES

5.1.1 Primary Antibodies

Protein Target	Supplier	Reference
CDYL2	My BioSource	MBS821304
CDYL1	Diagenode	C15310243
Flag	Sigma	F3165
Actin	Merck	A3854
pericentrin	Abcam	Ab4448
SETDB1	Gift from Yi Zhang, Harvard Medical School	
DNMT1	Chromotek	2E8
EHMT2	Gift from Y. Nakatani lab, formerly Harvard Medical School	
CREST	Antibodies incorporated	15-235- 0001
α-Tubulin	Cell Signaling	#3873
H3K9me3	Abcam	Ab8898
H3K9me2	Abcam	Ab1220
lgG	Bethyl	P120-101
Н3	Abcam	Ab1791
SMC1	Bethyl	A300-055A
RAD21	Bethyl	A300-080A
STAG1	Bethyl	A300-157A
PDS5B	Bethyl	A300-537A
CENPA	Genetex	GTX13939
CHAMP1	Bethyl	A304-216A
CENPI	MBL	PD032

5.1.2 Secondary Antibodies

Protein Target	Marker	Supplier	Reference
Rabbit (H+L)	HRP	Life Tech	#31460
Rabbit (L)	HRP	JacksonImmuno	211032171
Mouse (H+L)	HRP	Life Tech	G-21040
Rabbit	AlexaFluor 555	Life Tech	A-21428
Mouse	AlexaFluor 488	Life Tech	A-11029
Human	DyLight 650	abcam	Ab96914
Goat	Duolink in Situ PLA Probe PLUS	Sigma	DUO92006
Rabbit	Duolink in Situ PLA Probe MINUS	Sigma	DUO92002

5.2 PRIMERS

5.2.1 For mRNA Analysis

Primers	Sequence 5' - 3'
	ACCAACGGGGGATTGAACCTGC
CDTL2	GGTGTCAGGGCATTGTTATCCGAGG
GAPDH	GAAGGTGAAGGTCGGAGTC
	GAAGATGGTGATGGGATTTC

5.2.2 For repetitive Sequences

Primers	Sequence 5' - 3'
a-Sat	CTCACAGAGTTGAACCTTCC
	GAAGTTTCTGAGAATGCTTCTG
Satll	ATCGAATGGAAATGAAAGGAGTCA
Sun	GACCATTGGATGATTGCAGTCA
Negative Control	GGAACCTCTTGCACCACTGT
	TGCAAGATGCTTCACACACA
	AGGAAATACAGAGAACGCCACAA
	GCTGGATATGAAATTCTGGGTTGA
	CAAACACCGCATATTCTCACTCA
	CTTCCTGTGTCCATGTGATCTCA

	GAATGATTTTGACGAGCTGAGAGAA		
	GTCCTCCCGTAGCTCAGAGTAATT		
185	GTAACCCGTTGAACCCCATT		
100	CAAGCTTATGACCCGCACTT		
K111	AAGAGCACCAGGATGCTTAATGCC		
	AGTGACATCCCGCTTACCATGTGA		
	FAM-TGCCGGTCCTAACAGTAGACTCAC-BHQ1		
K222	CAGCGTTCTGGAATCCTATGT		
	TGTATTGTGGTAACTGGGTATATGT		
	FAM- ACCCACATGGCAGTGTTCTGGATT-BHQ1		

6 METHODS

6.1 CELL CULTURE

6.1.1 Cell lines

HeLa (ATCC, CCL-2), HeLa S3 (ATCC, CCL-2.2), HEK-293 (ATCC, CRL-1573), MDA-BD-231 (ATCC, HTB-26) and MEF (Jenuwein's Lab) cells were cultured in DMEM GlutaMAX medium (Gibco, 31966-047) supplemented with 10 % Fetal Bovine Serum (Gibco, 10270-106) and 1 % penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, 15140-122). MCF7 (ATCC, HTB-22) cells were cultured in DMEM low-glucose medium (Gibco, 31885-049) supplemented with 10 % Fetal Bovine Serum (Gibco, 10270-106), 40 μ g/mL gentamicin (Gibco, 15710-049) and 0,6 μ g/mL insulin (NovoRapid). All cells were grown at 37°C and 5% CO2 in a humidified incubator, passaged twice a week by trypsinization and regularly tested for mycoplasma contaminations using ATCC Universal Mycoplasma Detection Kit (ATCC, 30-1012K).

When indicated, for consequent biochemical experiments, HeLa S3 were cultured in suspension, in MEM medium, Joklik modified (Sigma, M8028), supplemented with 10 % Fetal Bovine Serum (Gibco, 10270-106) and 1 % penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, 15140-122). Cells were grown under agitation using a 1L bioreactor at 37°C.

6.1.2 Synchronization

Cells were synchronised in S-phase using a double thymidine block as previously described (Ma and Poon, 2011). Cells were treated with 2 mM Thymidine (Sigma, T1895-5G) for 18 hours. Then released for 9 hours in fresh medium and treated again with 2 mM Thymidine for 15 hours. For mitosis synchronization, cells were treated with 2 mM thymidine for 24 hours, released for 3 hours and finally treated with 100 ng/mL Nocodazole (Sigma, M1404) for 12 hours. For synchronization before immunofluorescence assay, cells were treated for 16 hours with 100 ng/mL Nocodazole or for 2h with 10 μ M MG132.

6.2 TRANSFECTIONS

6.2.1 Stable Transductions

For murine retroviruses, Phoenix cells were used, while human retroviruses were made in HEK293T. Cells were transfected with MSCV (Vector) or MSCV-CDYL2 plasmids described in Siouda *et al.* (2020), as well as with packaging plasmid when needed, using PolyJet (SignaGen, SL100688) and following manufacturer's instructions. Supernatant containing the viruses was taken 48 h after Transfection, filtered and added to the wished cells with 8 µg/mL polybrene. Cells were selected for 14 days using 2 µg/mL puromycin (Sigma, P8833). Expression was confirmed by western blotting, quantitative PCR and immunofluorescence.

6.2.2 RNAi Transfection

Interference RNA was transfected into cells using Interferin (Polyplus, 409-10) and manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, 500 ng esiRNA against CDYL2 and Luciferase (Control) were diluted in 100 μ L OptiMEM medium (Gibco, 11058-021). 4 μ L INTERFerin was added to the diluted RNA, mix thoroughly and incubated 10 minutes at room temperature. Meanwhile, medium was replaced by 500 μ L fresh complete medium in each well. The INTERFERIN-RNA complexes were added dropwise to each well. When a 6-well was necessary, 1 μ g esiRNA was used and everything scaled accordingly to keep the same concentrations.

6.3 PROTEIN WORK

6.3.1 Whole Cell Protein Extraction

Cells were washed with PBS and lysed in 95°C hot NRSB- Buffer (2 % SDS; 10 % Glycerol; 62,5 mM Tris-HCl pH 6,8) freshly supplemented with 1 mM PMSF, 1 mM DTT, 1X PhoSTOP (Roche, 4906845001) and 1 X protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, 04693132001). Lysates were boiled for 7 minutes at 95°C. Protein concentration was quantified using BCA Kit (ThermoScientific, 23225) and following manufacturer's instructions.

6.3.2 Coimmunoprecipitation

Cells were grown to sub-confluence in 15 cm tissue culture treated plates (Corning). Monolayers were washed three times with ice-cold PBS, scraped in cold PBS containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche) and pelleted. The resulting cell pellets were lysed in lysis buffer (50 mM Tris pH8; 150 mM NaCl; 1 % NP40; 2 mM EDTA) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, 04693132001) phosphatase inhibitors cocktail (Roche, 4906845001). The lysates were mechanically homogenized using 25G syringes (BD, #300600), then incubated for 30 min at 4°C with rotation. Lysates were centrifuged at 12000 rpm 15 min 4°C to clear debris, treated with DNase I (Qiagen, #79254) and RNase A (Sigma, R4875), then precleared with protein A agaroses beads for 1 h at 4°C with rotation. Immunoprecipitation was performed by incubating indicated antibodies with the lysates overnight at 4°C with rotation, the prewashed protein A agaroses beads were incubated with the lysates for 2 hours 4°C with rotation.

The beads were washed 5 times with wash buffer (10mM Tris pH8; 1mM EDTA; 1mM EGTA; 150mM NaCl; 1% Triton) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, 04693132001) phosSTOP (Roche, 4906845001). The immune-precipitated beads were boiled in Laemmli buffer and then subjected to immunoblotting.

For Mass Spectrometry analysis, nuclear proteins were extracted prior to coimmunoprecipitation, cell pellet was swollen in 2 Volumes cold hypotonic Buffer (20 mM Tris pH 7,4; 10 mM KCl; 1,5 mM MgCl₂), incubated for 15 minutes at 4°C with occasional mixing, and cell membrane broken using tight Dounce (Wheaton USA). Nuclei were isolated through centrifugation for 5 minutes at 4 000 rpm and 4°C and broken with snap freezing. Nucleus were then resuspended in ½ Volume low salt concentration Buffer (20 mM Tris pH7,4; 25 % Glycerol; 1,5 mM MgCl₂; 0,2 mM EDTA; 20 mM EDTA; 20 mM KCl) and protein extracted by adding dropwise ½ Volume high salt concentration Buffer (low salt but 1200 mM KCl). The extract was incubated 45 minutes at 4°C with rotation and the matrix centrifuged for 20 min at 21 000 xg and 4°C. The supernatant was dialyzed 1h in 1 L Dialysis Buffer (20 mM Tris pH 7,4; 20 % Glycerol; 1,5 mM MgCl₂; 0,2 mM EDTA) with 300 mM KCl, 1h with 200 mM KCl and overnight to 100 mM KCl. Coimmunoprecipitation was performed on the dialyzed extract as previously described.

6.3.3 Mass Spectrometry

Proteins obtained after CDYL2 coimmunoprecipitation on nuclear extracts were resolved on SDS page gel and silver stained. The gel was cut in four parts (<55kDa; 55 kDa - 65kDa; 65 kDa - 100 kDa; 100 kDa – 150 kDa) to homogenize the protein content per mass spectrometry run. IgG control was sent as one part. Mass Spectrometry analysis were performed at Harvard Medical School, Taplin Mass Spectrometry Facility: after a trypsin digestion and liquid chromatography, peptides were run through a MS/MS system. Peptide lists were generated based on following criteria: have a DeltaCn of at least 0,08; minimum Xcorr of 1,8 for +1; 2,5 for +2 and 3,5 for +3 and have a minimum peptide length of 7 amino acids.

6.3.4 Cell Fractionation

To separate nuclear proteins from the rest of the cells, a protocol similar to the Dignam protocol was used (Dignam *et al.*, 1983). Briefly, cells were swollen in hypotonic buffer, membrane broken using 25G syringe or tight Dounce when the Volume was superior to 1mL. Supernatant was kept as the S100 fraction. Nuclei were isolated through centrifugation and broken via freeze-thaw. Nuclear proteins were extracted using ½ Volume of low (20 mM Tris pH7,4; 25 % Glycerol; 1,5 mM MgCl₂; 0,2 mM EDTA; 20 mM EDTA; 20 mM KCl) and ½ Volume of high (same but 1200 mM KCl) salt concentration Buffer added dropwise at 4°C under constant stirring followed by 45 minutes incubation at 4°C under rotation. Chromatin was pellet for 20 minutes at 21 000 xg and 4°C. Supernatant was kept as the nuclear proteins fraction. The chromatin pellet was resuspended in 95°C hot NRSB- Buffer (2 % SDS; 10 % Glycerol; 62,5 mM Tris-HCl pH 6,8) freshly supplemented with 1 mM PMSF, 1 mM DTT, protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, 04693132001), and 1X phosSTOP (Roche, 4906845001) and boiled for 7 minutes at 95°C to extract the tightly bound fraction.

6.3.5 Western Blot

Protein samples were quantified using BCA Kit (ThermoScientific, 23225) and usually 20 µg were boiled 3 min with Laemmli Buffer then resolved on Bis-Tris Gels (Invitrogen, NW04122BOX) using MOPS Buffer (Novex life technologies, NP0001). Samples were transferred on a Nitrocellulose membrane (GE Healthcare) in Towbin Buffer (25 mM Tris;

192 mM Glycine; 15 % Ethanol; 0,025 % SDS) for 1h at 350mA. Transfer efficiency and homogeneity were checked by staining the membrane with Red Ponceau. Membrane was then blocked in 5 % Milk in TBS + 0.1% Tween and incubated with primary antibody, described in section 5.1, overnight at 4°C. Membrane was incubated with secondary antibody for 1 h at Room Temperature. When the blotting samples were coming from a coimmunoprecipitation, light chain specific antibodies were used. Images were collected using ECL (Immobilon Western, WBKLS0500) and the ChemiDoc system (BioRad).

6.4 RNA WORK

6.4.1 RNA Purification and quantification

Cells were washed with PBS and lysed in RLT Buffer provided in Qiagen RNeasy kit (Qiagen, 74106). RNA was purified following kit's instruction. cDNA was synthesized using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, #4368814). The RT-qPCR was performed using the Fast SYBR Green 2X Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, #4385610) and an LC480 PCR machine (Roche). Primers are described in section 5.2. When analyzing Satellite repeats, qPCR was performed using previously described TaqMan probes (Zahn *et al.*, 2015). The experiments were done with SensiFAST reagent (Ozyme, BIO-86005) and following manufacturer's protocol.

miRNA was extracted using the miRNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, #217004) following the manufacturer's instructions, cDNA synthesized using miScript II RT Kit (Qiagen, #218161), and RT-PCR performed using miScript SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen, #218073). Primers are described in section 5.2.

6.5 MICROSCOPY WORK

6.5.1 Immunofluorescence

Cells were seeded on sterilized coverslips. After the indicated treatment, cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 min at room temperature. Fixed cells were permeabilized by NP-40 0.5% at room temperature for 15 min and blocked with 5% FBS in PBS + 0.1% NP-40 at room temperature for 1 h. Cells were first probed with the indicated primary antibodies 1h at room temperature and then with Alexa dye tagged

secondary antibodies for 1h at room temperature. Antibodies references are recapitulated in section 5.1. When needed, Hoechst (abcam, ab145596) was added to the last washing step. Coverslips were mounted using mounting medium with DAPI (Vectashield; VECTOR Laboratories) and observed under the upright microscope (ZEISS AXIOIMAGER, SIP 60549). When stained for Tubulin, we used Dako Fluorescence Mounting Medium (S3023) and stained chromatin with 50 ng/mL Hoechst. Images were analyzed using Zen software.

When indicated, cells were preextracted 30 s to 3 min at room temperature prior to fixation using CSK Buffer (20 mM Hepes pH 8; 50 mM NaCl; 3 mM MgCl₂; 300 mM sucrose) + 0.01% Triton. Pre-extraction was followed by a classical Immunofluorescence but replacing PBS by CSK Buffer.

6.5.2 Proximity Ligation Assay

Cells were seeded, fixed, permeabilised and probed with indicated primary antibodies at 37°C as described for immunofluorescence assay. Coverslips were then incubated 1h at 37°C with a corresponding PLUS/MINUS pair secondary antibodies diluted 1 : 1000 (Sigma, DUO92002 and DUO92006). Ligation and Amplification were performed using PLA Duolink in Situ Detection Reagent Orange (Sigma, DUO92007-100RXN). Incubate slides 30 minutes at 37°C with Ligation Solution, then 100 minutes at 37°C with Amplification Solution. Coverslips were mounted using Dapi mounting medium (Vectashield; VECTOR Laboratories) and observed under the upright microscope (ZEISS AXIOIMAGER, SIP 60549). Images were analyzed using Zen software.

6.5.3 Metaphase Spread

Cells were treated with 0,1 µg/mL Colcemid for 2h. Mitotic cells were harvest with mitotic check off and swollen in suspension in 75 mM KCl for 15 minutes at 37°C. After centrifugation, supernatant was discard and cells fixed in Methanol : Acetic Acid (3 : 1). Microscope slides were washed with Ethanol and placed on a humid heating block at 85°C. Fixed cells were dropped from approximatively 60 cm high on the slides. Chromosomes were stained using DAPI mounting medium (Vectashield, VECTOR Laboratories) and observed under the upright microscope (ZEISS AXIOIMAGER, SIP 60549). Images were analyzed using Zen software.

6.6 CELL CYCLE ANALYSIS

Cells were trypsinised and counted using standard protocol. 1 Million cells were rinsed with PBS, resuspend in 300 μ L PBS and fixed by adding dropwise 700 μ L cold Ethanol. After at least 1h incubation at 4°C, fixative was discarded, cells rinsed with 1 mL PBS and carefully resuspended in 250 μ L PBS. 250 μ L of 2x Staining Solution (50 μ g/mL Propidium lodide (Sigma, P4864-10mL), 200 μ g/mL RNase A (Roche, 10109169001)) were added dropwise to the solution. The samples were incubated 1h at 4°C and analysed with FACS Calibur (Biosciences). Data was analysed with Flowing Software 2.

6.7 CHROMATIN IMMUNOPRECIPITATION

For ChIP-qPCR analysis, two 6-wells were transfected with esiRNA as previously described. Three days post transfection, cells were cross-linked by the addition of 1% methanol-free formaldehyde to the cell culture medium for 10 minutes, and the reaction guenched by the addition of glycine to a final concentration of 125 mM for 5 minutes. Monolayers were washed three times with ice-cold PBS, scraped in cold PBS containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche) and pelleted. The resulting cell pellets were lysed in Lysis Buffer (0,5 % SDS; 0,1 % Na-deoxycholate; 1 mM EDTA; 0,5 mM EGTA; 10 mM Tris-HCl pH8,0; 100 mM NaCl; 1X protease inhibitor cocktail), incubated on ice for 10 minutes with rotation, then sonicated on ice to an average fragment size of 150 bp using a Branson sonicator. The sonicated lysate was centrifuged at top speed in a benchtop centrifuge at 4°C, the supernatant diluted five times in dilution buffer (1% Triton X-100; 1,5 mM EDTA; 30 mM Tris-HCl pH8,0; 100 mM NaCl; 1X protease inhibitor cocktail), and incubated over night at 4°C with 3 µg antibodies. On following day, 30 µL washed magnetic beads A or G were added to the lysates and incubated for 2h at 4°C. The beads were then pelleted and washed with two sequential additions each of wash buffer 1 (0.1% SDS, 1%Triton X-100, 2mM EDTA, 20mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 150mM NaCl), wash buffer 2 (0.1% SDS, 1%Triton X-100, 2mM EDTA, 20mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 500mM NaCl), wash buffer 3 (250 mM LiCl,1% NP40, 1% deoxycholate, 1mM EDTA, 10mM Tris-HCl, pH 8), and TE buffer (10mM Tris-HCl, 1mM EDTA,pH 8.0, 50 mM NaCl). Chromatin was eluted by incubating for 30 minutes at 65°C in elution buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 10 mM EDTA pH 8, 1% SDS) with frequent vortexing. Crosslinks were reversed and eluates treated with RNAse A (Sigma, 10109169001) overnight at 65°C, followed by 1h Proteinase K (0,2 μ g/ μ L) treatment. DNA was extracted using Extraction Kit (Cell Signaling, 14209S) and qPCR performed with classic qPCR or Taqman protocol. Primers are described in section 5.2.

Results

All preliminary results were performed by Dr. Maha Siouda prior to my arrival in the team.

7.1 CDYL2 KNOCK-DOWN INDUCES ABERRANT MITOSIS.

The main goal of this study was to characterize CDYL2 cellular function. To investigate it, CDYL2 protein was knocked down in HeLa and MCF7 cell lines using RNAi. Knock-down was confirmed in both cell lines on mRNA and protein level using qPCR and immunoblotting respectively (Fig. 11A). Our first observation was that after knock-down, cells had a lower proliferation rate. This was confirmed with a proliferation assay (Fig. 11B). After crystal violet staining, it was observed that cells transfected with CDYL2 RNAi gave fewer and smaller colonies. The colony number decreased to 63 % and 74 % of the control for HeLa and MCF7 respectively, while their average size was divided by approximatively two (Fig. 11C). This suggests that CDYL2 is needed for vital functions of the cell or its proliferation.

To start exploring how CDYL2 RNAi slows down cell proliferation, live imaging of HeLa cells containing GFP-tagged histone H2B was performed, allowing us to observe the chromatin during the cell cycle. While in the cells transfected with control RNAi we could observe mitosis taking place in slightly less than ninety minutes, in cells transfected with CDYL2 RNAi, mitosis could last for over 5h (Fig. 11D). Interestingly, in CDYL2 knocked-down cells the chromosomes showed dramatic difficulties to align during metaphase, which can potentially explain the extremely long time needed for the cells to divide. In addition, instead of a well-defined bi-oriented metaphase plate, CDYL2 depleted cells showed trior quadripolar oriented plates in many mitotic cells or fail to align completely, suggesting that CDYL2 is a protein needed for faithful chromosome alignment during mitosis.

Correct chromosome condensation and cohesion are mandatory for efficient chromosome segregation (Dej *et al.*, 2004; Mazumdar *et al.*, 2004; Toyoda and Yanagida, 2006). To observe chromosome phenotypes, metaphase spreads were performed on





Ε



curly

chromosomes

Elongated chromatids



Complete separation



Partial separation

Entangled chromatin





Fig. 11: CDYL2 knock-down induces mitotic defects and chromosome misalignment. (A) HeLa and MCF7 cells were transfected with CDYL2 esiRNA and the knock-down effect checked on mRNA and protein level. (B-C) Proliferation assay revealed less and fewer colonies in cells transfected with CDYL2 esiRNA (n=1). (D) Live imaging of HeLa cells with GFP-tagged H2B reveals difficulties in chromosome alignment during metaphase after CDYL2 knoc-down. (E-F) Chromosome formation defects were observed and quantified in HeLa cells knocked down for CDYL2.

revealed well-defined chromosomes, with an X-shaped structure and clear restriction site at the centromeres, while again, a knock-down of CDYL2 induced several defects. These included lack of condensation, entangled chromatin and partial, severe, or complete loss of cohesion (Fig. 11E and F). In total, less than 15 % of the plated cells showed normal chromosomes against 97% in the control cells, which could explain the defects in mitosis observed in live imaging and the decreased proliferation rate. Taken together, the three assays strongly suggest that CDYL2 biological function is related to mitosis, potentially through chromosome formation, segregation, or their correct connection to microtubules.

7.2 CDYL2 PROTEOME

To investigate the mechanisms behind CDYL2 regulation of chromosome alignment, we looked for potential interaction partners using mass spectrometry analysis. Flag-tagged CDYL2 proteins were transgenically expressed in suspension HeLa by stable transduction of an expression vector. Coimmunoprecipitation using antibodies against the Flag-tag was performed and bound proteins eluted. The obtained eluate was run on an SDS-gel along with a negative control coimmunoprecipitate obtained by performing FLAG-IP on nuclear extracts from cells stably transduced with an empty vector (Mock). While the negative control was very clean, suggesting very few false positives in the CoIP, we observed many bands in the Flag CoIP (Fig. 12), indicating that CDYL2 is interacting with various proteins. The gel was sent to a mass spectrometry facility for the identification of the CDYL2-associated polypeptides. Three coimmunoprecipitations were performed as replicates and the returned interactomes were analyzed during my thesis.



Fig. 12: Coimmunoprecipitation was performed in MCF7 expressing Flag-tagged CDYL2 and the precipitate analysed with mass spectrometry. Nuclear extracts were isolated from HeLa S3 cells expressing Flag-tagged CDYL2 using a Dignam protocol. Coimmunoprecipitation was performed against the Flag-tag. The immnoprecipitate was run on a SDS gel, silver-stained and compared with a negative control and sent for mass spectrometry analysis.

All the following experiments were performed by me.

8.1 CDYL2 IS A NUCLEAR PROTEIN, TIGHTLY BOUND TO CHROMATIN

Cyclins are proteins strongly regulating and regulated by the cell cycle. As an example, cyclin B expression is increased to up to 50-fold between mitosis and G1 phase and its expression is necessary for mitosis progression (Hwang et al., 1995). Similarly, if CDYL2 is implicated in mitosis, its expression is potentially regulated through the cell cycle. To study CDYL2 regulation, suspension HeLa were synchronized with double thymidine block. A simple thymidine block does not guarantee a good synchronization of the cells as thymidine blocks all cells in S-phase, independently of the S-phase stage. A release is then performed to allow the cells to quit S-phase. The release is followed by a second thymidine block which will block the cells as they enter a new S-phase. Thus, after a double thymidine block, HeLa S3 cells are synchronized at the very beginning of S-phase. The cells were harvested every two hours until the they reach the beginning of the next G1-phase, corresponding to a total of 14h. Synchronization efficiency was checked by staining with propidium iodide, a fluorescent DNA intercalating agent, and FACS cell cycle analysis. FACS Analysis allow us to measure the fluorescence per cell and thus can give a histogram of the number of cells per DNA content, corresponding to a cell cycle profile (Fig. 13A). The FACS analysis confirmed that the cells were nicely synchronized and that I had samples for each cell cycle stage, starting at early S-phase right after release, to G2 eight hours after release, mitosis mostly ten hours after release, and G1 from twelve to fourteen hours after release. The whole-cell extracts were immunoblotted and I observed a moderately lower level of CDYL2, at four and six hours after release, corresponding to mid and late S-phase respectively (Fig. 13B). Overall, CDYL2 is however expressed during the complete cell cycle and no dramatic changes were observed.

Because we previously described CDYL2 as a nuclear protein strongly bound to chromatin (Siouda *et al.*, 2020), I therefore investigated if a change of CDYL2 nuclear localization or


Fig. 13: CDYL2 level in the cell is lower during mid and late S-phase. (A) Synchronization efficiency was checked and cell cycle phase determined using FACS analysis. (B) CDYL2 level over the cell cycle does not seem to change. Experiment was performed twice, representative images are shown.

binding affinity to the chromatin would happen during the cell cycle. Taking the same synchronized samples as previously described, I separated the cytoplasmic, the nuclear, and the chromatin fractions. The efficiency of nuclei isolation was checked under the microscope using Trypan blue dye after douncing. Nuclei were distinguished by their small size and Trypan blue positivity. The efficiency of the nuclear and chromatin separation was also confirmed by Ponceau S staining of membranes after western blot protein transfer, revealing much lower levels of histones in the soluble nuclear protein fractions compared to the chromatin fractions. Consistent with our previous observations in MCF7 (Siouda et al., 2020), I found that in HeLa cells as well, CDYL2 is mostly enriched in the tight chromatin fraction (Fig. 14A). Interestingly, I also observed that CDYL2 from the chromatin fraction runs slightly lower on the gel than in the other fractions, suggesting that two variants of CDYL2 with different affinities to chromatin co-exist in HeLa S3 cell line. It remains however to be elucidated if this variation comes from a posttranscriptional modification or a splicing variant. Over the cell cycle, the CDYL2 level on the chromatin matrix seems to be higher during the G1-phase (Fig. 14B). On the other hand, the nuclear fraction of CDYL2 increases just after mitosis (Fig. 14C). 10h after thymidine block release, corresponding to the sample containing the most mitotic cells, I also observed in the nuclear fraction, a signal usually corresponding to the size of CDYL2 observed on tight chromatin. This could suggest that during mitosis, CDYL2 is partially released from the chromatin in the nucleus. Mitosis being a fast event of approximatively one hour, if most CDYL2 regulation happens during this stage, we cannot get a precise picture with an analysis every two hours, and the synchronization followed by fractionation technique may not be the most adapted one.

To have a more precise picture of CDYL2 regulation during mitosis, I performed immunofluorescence staining, which allowed me to observe CDYL2 localization during each stage of mitosis separately. During interphase, CDYL2 is only and always localized in the cell nuclei in both HeLa and MCF7 cell lines (Fig. 15A and B), coherent with the western blotting pattern obtained after cell fractionation (Fig. 14A). After nuclear envelope breakdown at prophase, CDYL2 seems at least partially released from chromatin and localizes to the cell cytoplasm (Fig. 15A and B), which is consistent with the previous hypothesis of chromatin CDYL2 release into the nuclear fraction during mitosis. However,



Fig. 14: CDYL2 level is higher on the chromatin during G1 and in the nuclear extract just after mitosis. (A) CDYL2 is mostly enriched in the nuclear matrix fraction. (B) CDYL2 level in the nuclear matrix is slightly higher in G1 phases compared to the rest of the cycle, while (C) in the nuclear extract its level increases right after mitosis. NE = Nuclear Extract; NM = Nuclear Matrix; experiment was performed twice and representative images are shown.

using pre-extraction techniques, releasing chromatin unbound proteins from the cell, I observed that a fraction of CDYL2 proteins remains on the chromatin throughout mitosis in the MCF7 cell line (Fig. 15D). This observation is consistent with observations made by Dr. Maha Siouda in non-published results using MCF10A cell line. In the HeLa cell line, on the other hand, CDYL2 could not be detected (Fig. 15C). The difference might come from HeLa sensitivity to the CSK pre-extraction technique. Indeed, in my hands, HeLa cells were much more rapidly affected by the pre-extraction. Limiting the extraction time as I did, might not be enough to protect CDYL2 localization on the chromatin during mitosis. Taken together, CDYL2 levels during the cell cycle are not dramatically changing as it is the case for Cyclin proteins, indicating that CDYL2 is probably not a simple collaborator, regulator or target of Cyclin proteins, but is rather part of a more complex mechanism.

	DAPI	α-CDYL2	merged		DAPI	α-CDYL2	merged
Inter- phase	Chief.			Inter- phase		0	8
	i <u>e</u>	· ·			2 <u>u</u> m	mut	
	لمآد م	ν. N			2 <u>µ</u> m	2 <u>µ</u> m	2 <u>um</u>
			-	Pro- phase	2 <u>un</u>	2 Long	200
Pro- phase					2 <u>µ</u> m	2 <u>u</u> m	2 µm
				Meta- phase	1	Ŕ	1
Meta- phase	2 <u>47</u>	2 <u>pr</u> a	ž <u>um</u>		2 i.m	2 m	
					2 <u>Lun</u>	<u>5 tru</u>	2 <u>u</u> m
Ana- phase	ži V			Ana- phase	3		0

A HeLa without pre-extraction

B MCF7 without pre-extraction

C HeLa after pre-extraction

	DAPI	α-CDYL2	merged	D	MCF7 after pre-extraction			
Inter- phase		<u>re</u>	Le all	Inter- phase	DAPI	α-CDYL2	merged	
	2 μπ	2 <u>µm</u>	2.µm			and And And And And And And And And And A	- Andrew Contraction of the second seco	
	2.µm	2 <u>µm</u>	2µm	Pro- phase	2 <u>µ</u> m	2 um	2µm	
Pro- phase	Jun	me			2 µm	<u>з ш</u>	<u>2µт</u>	
	2 <u>µm</u>	2 jim	- 2 <u>um</u>	Meta- phase	2 <u>µ</u> m	2 <u>um</u>	2 <u>irm</u>	
Meta- phase		- In	- Ie		2 <u>µ</u> m	2 <u>µm</u>	2 μm	
	2 <u>µm</u>	2 <u>µm</u>	2,107	Ana- phase	2 µm	5 m	2 µm	
Ana- phase	2 <u>µm</u>	3 tru	3tru			-		
	",				2 <u>m</u> e	2 <u>00</u>	200	

D MCF7 after pre-extraction

Fig. 15: During mitosis, only a small portion of CDYL2 remains on chromatin. (A) In HeLa and (B) MCF7 cells, CDYL2 is strongly enriched in the nucleus, most CDYL2 is released from chromatin during mitosis. (C,D) After CSK buffer pre-extraction, we observe that a small fraction of CDYL2 remains on the chromosomes during mitosis in MCF7 cells but not in HeLa. Experiments were performed three times, representative images are shown.

8.2 CDYL2 LOCALIZES AT PERICENTROMERES IN A H3K9ME3 DEPENDENT MANNER

Due to its chromodomain recognizing H3K9me3 as already described in vitro (Fischle et al., 2008), CDYL2 is expected to bind to heterochromatin, which is notably enriched at centromeric, pericentromeric and telomeric chromatin. Interactions between chromodomain proteins and pericentromeres have already been described (Fischle et al., 2008; Minc et al., 1999), I wanted to look if this is also the case for CDYL2 in human cells. Using immunofluorescence co-staining against CDYL2 and CREST, a centromere antiserum, I found that CDYL2 is systematically localized near centromeres in interphase cells (Fig. 16A). This colocalization is even more striking using Flag-HA-tagged CDYL2 constructs, as can be seen in figure 16B, and remains after pre-extraction of cells with Triton X-100 before their fixation and staining (Fig. 16C), suggesting a strong interaction. As CDYL2 is implicated in mitosis, I wanted to analyze its colocalization with pericentromeres during this phase. In endogenous and overexpressing cells before preextraction, colocalization of CDYL2 with CREST signal was maintained, even though to a lower extent than in interphase cells. However, after CSK pre-extraction, I could not by using standard immunofluorescence techniques, observe a convincing enrichment of CDYL2 at pericentromeres during the different mitotic stages (Fig. 16C). On the opposite, it seems that the CDYL2 signal gets more diffuse around the chromatin, suggesting that CDYL2 binding to pericentromeric heterochromatin is at least weakened, if not lost during mitosis. This loss of interaction observed is consistent with the observation that in vitro H3S10ph, a marker of mitosis blocks CDYL2 chromodomain interaction with H3K9me3 peptides (Fischle et al., 2008). I see here three possible hypotheses: either CDYL2 is regulating proteins involved in mitosis prior to the nuclear envelope breakdown, the fraction of CDYL2 remaining at the chromatin is enough for its function, or, like for chromosome cohesion and HP1, its function is independent of its chromatin binding

affinity (Kiyomitsu *et al.*, 2010). Still, as in my previous observations, CDYL2 remains diffusely localized on the chromatin.







Fig. 16: CDYL2 colocalises with pericentromeres in MCF7 cells during interphase and partially during mitosis. (A) Endogenous CDYL2 in MCF7 cells localizes next to CREST proteins both in interphase and mitotic cells. (B) In cells overexpressing CDYL2 colocalisation of CDYL2 and CREST is always visible in interphase cells but is lost during mitosis. (C) When cells were treated with CSK prior to immunostaining, the same pattern was observed during interphase, but CDYL2 gave a diffuse signal in mitotic cells. Each panel is a representative experiment from a triplicate.

To further confirm CDYL2 localization at pericentromeres I performed chromatin immunoprecipitation followed by real-time PCR (ChIP-qPCR) on satellite sequences, found enriched at centromeres and pericentromeres. I used two primers pairs targeting α -satellite and satellite II repeats, specific for centromere and pericentromeres respectively. Both primers sets are commercially available. While primers against satellite II are specific to chromosome 1, the primers targeting α -Satellite are general to all chromosomes. I observed a strong increase of CDYL2 at those sequences compared to the negative control immunoprecipitation (Fig. 17). This increase was specific to the



Fig. 17: CDYL2 localization on pericentromeric heterochromatin was confirmed using ChIPqPCR. ChIP-qPCR analysis on satellite repeats confirmed CDYL2 enrichment on pericentromeres in (A) MCF7 and (B) HeLa cell lines. An unrelated genomic sequence was taken as a negative control. Samples were run as duplicates, experiment was performed twice. Shown are representative images. The standard deviations are represented as error bars.

satellite sequence, as it could not be observed in a random negative sequence. This observation thus confirmed that CDYL2 is enriched around pericentromeres both in HeLa and MCF7 cell lines.

To assess if CDYL2 is recruited to the pericentromeric regions through H3K9me3 modification, we obtained previously published mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cells double knocked-out for the H3K9 trimethyltransferases *Suv39h1* and *Suv39h2*. These cells were already described to lack H3K9me3 modification at pericentromeres (Peters *et al.*, 2001). As these MEF cells expressed only a very low amount of CDYL2, we overexpressed CDYL2 protein using retrovirus and stained the cells using immunofluorescence. Similar to



Fig. 18: CDYL2 localization on pericentromeres is H3K9me3 dependent. (A) HP1 and (B) mCDYL1 were used as positive controls and were found to colocalize with chromocenters, marked by a brighter DAPI staining. (C) mCDYL2 was found to be able to colocalize with chromocenters in wild-type (WT) cells. The colocalization could not be found in any cells double knock-out (DKO) against SUV39H1 and SUV39H2, where H3K9me3 at pericentromeres is lost. (D) Using hCDYL2, colocalization could also be observed in WT cells but never in DKO. Experiments were repeated three times with similar results. Shown are representative images

previous experiments performed (Fischle *et al.*, 2008), pericentromeres were marked with DAPI, as mice pericentromeric regions are AT-rich, thus having more affinity to DAPI and are stained brighter (Maison and Almouzni, 2004). To confirm that the assay is working in our hands, we used HP1 and CDYL1 as positive controls and observed a systematic and partial colocalization respectively (Fig. 18A and B) as previously described (Fischle *et al.*, 2008; Minc *et al.*, 1999). Interestingly, while in the wild-type cells mouse CDYL2 showed colocalization with pericentromeric satellite marked by DAPI, we could never observe a knock-out cell showing this colocalization. To the opposite, in knock-out cells, CDYL2 had a very diffuse pattern in the nucleus (Fig. 18C). The same pattern could be observed when expressing human flag-tagged CDYL2, confirming the localization conservation between humans and mice (Fig. 18D). Taken together, these data strongly suggests that CDYL2 localization at pericentromeres is dependent on H3K9me3 modification.

8.3 CDYL2 LOCALIZES AT CENTROSOMES THROUGHOUT INTERPHASE AND MITOSIS

When performing the fluorescence immunostaining against CDYL2 after cytoskeleton preextraction, I and Dr. Maha Siouda often observed one or two bright dots, just outside the nucleus or next to the chromatin, where centrosomes should be. As centrosomes are important organizational centers of the mitotic spindles and necessary for chromosome alignment, I wanted to confirm if CDYL2 is localizing at centrosomes. For this, both HeLa and MCF7 cells were immunostained for pericentrin, a marker of centrosomes, and CDYL2. Systematically, both at interphase and during mitosis, CDYL2 staining was enriched at the regions marked by pericentrin, indicating localization of CDYL2 at the centrosomes (Fig. 19). During mitosis, CDYL2 was enriched in the same way in the two opposed centrosomes (Fig. 20). As can be seen, this signal strongly decreased upon CDYL2 RNAi transfection (Fig. 19), confirming the specificity of our antibody and this colocalization.

Α	DAPI	pericentrin	CDYL2	merged
HeLa	- te	- r		
Control RNAI				
	,		روميني کې	
HeLa CDYL2 RNAi	, <u> </u>		, <u> </u>	
		1	<u> </u>	
В				
MCF7	_ 10_			•
CONTOLKINA			•	•
MCF7	<u>عبر ,</u>	م مربع د	1.000 p.	<u>, مرد</u>
CDYL2 RNAi		-		

Fig. 19: CDYL2 is localised at centrosomes. CDYL2 colocalises with pericentrin in (A) HeLa and (B) MCF7 cells during interphase. CDYL2 signal is lost after CDYL2 RNAi transfection, confirming specificity of the signal. Experiment was performed once.

I took the opportunity of the cells previously transfected with CDYL2 RNAi and stained for CDYL2 and pericentrin to briefly investigate if CDYL2 knock-down would induce pericentrin defects, as chromosome misalignments observed in figure 11 could also be explained with centrosomes defects. In MCF7 cells knocked down for CDYL2, I could not observe any gross aberration in centrosomes number or position, even in cells with alignment defects. In HeLa, mitotic cells showing chromosome alignment problems revealed an aberrant number of centrosomes. However, in interphase cells, I did not observe cells with more than two centrosomes. Due to the absence of pericentrin phenotypes in interphase HeLa cells and MCF7 cells, I therefore speculated that the aberrant number of centrosomes is a consequence of the genomic instability induced by CDYL2 knock-down, rather than the mechanism by which the genomic instability is happening.





В

Fig. 20: CDYL2 is localised at centrosomes during mitosis. CDYL2 colocalises with pericentrin throughout mitosis in both HeLa and MCF7 cells. Experiments was performed twice and representative images are shown.

120

8.4 CDYL2 INTERACTOME REVEALS MANY INTERACTORS INVOLVED IN GENOMIC STABILITY AND MITOSIS

To start elucidating the mechanism behind CDYL2 regulation of mitosis, epitope CDYL2 was immunopurified and interaction partners identified by mass spectrometry. The protein lists obtained after mass spectrometry analysis were first classified using unique peptide numbers. However, this classification system is biased towards larger proteins, which can yield more unique peptides than smaller ones. For instance, despite being the bait, CDYL2 itself was never ranked in the top proteins, ranking behind higher molecular weight proteins. I, therefore, looked for a more quantitative classification. It appeared that it would not be possible to realize a perfectly quantitative ranking with the mass spectrometry protocol that was used. However, the intensity of the detected signal in mass spectrograms correlates to the total number of peptides detected, instead of the quantity of different peptides detected. The peak intensity, therefore, relates more closely to the number of proteins available in the sample. Using a ranking with the sum of the spectral peaks' intensities, brought CDYL2 as the most abundant protein in all the coimmunoprecipitation samples, confirming this ranking technique as being more adapted. The gel was silver-stained before sending it to the mass spectrometry facility to confirm the specificity of protein enrichments in the immunoprecipitation (Fig. 21A). Additionally, to avoid any false-positive results, only proteins that showed at least a 3-fold peptide enrichment in the CDYL2 IP compared to the negative control coimmunoprecipitate were considered. The triplicates were compared and I found 85 proteins common in the three IP-MS analyses. Interestingly, CDYL1 and several of its already described interactors as EHMT2, SETDB1, or ATF7IP (Mulligan et al., 2008) were found in the list. CDYL1 and CDYL2 may therefore interact together.

This list of proteins found enriched in all three immunoprecipitations were further analyzed using various databases. From the Gene Ontology (GO) database, I found that four GO gene sets were significantly enriched: proteins involved in chromosome organization, chromosome modification, RNA binding, and cell cycle process (Fig. 21B-C). Interactions with proteins involved in chromosome organization, modification, or cell cycle process could at least partially explain defects in mitosis and were in my thesis context of high interest. Interesting partners already described to be involved in mitosis are notably the SMC proteins, directly involved in chromosome cohesion and condensation (Hirano, 2015), MCM proteins involved in DNA replication and needed for cohesion establishment (Zheng *et al.*, 2018), or EHMT2, an epigenetic factor linked with satellite repression (Fritsch *et al.*, 2010).

I additionally performed a STRING (Szklarczyk et al., 2017) analysis on the list of common proteins to see if some targets are already known to interact together. Based on its database, STRING highlighted four complexes (Fig. 21D-G; Fig. 32). The first complex included KARS, MARS, EPRS, IARS, QARS, and ADAR, which are aminoacetyl t-RNA ligases. Since their action takes mostly place outside the nucleus, these interactors seem unlikely to be relevant for CDYL2 function on chromosome alignment during mitosis and the interactions were not further studied during my thesis. A second complex contained nucleopore proteins as NUP107 or NUP160 and was not further analyzed neither, due to time limitations. I also found a complex containing numerous epigenetic factors, like HDAC1, EHMT1, EHMT2, SETDB1, or CDYL1, known to be involved in gene repression (Fritsch et al., 2010; Hassig et al., 1998; Keniry et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2015; Mulligan et al., 2008; Tachibana et al., 2002). Interestingly, SETDB1 was described to be involved in major satellites and retrotransposons silencing through H3K9 trimethylation (Cruz-Tapias et al., 2019). Additionally, SETDB1, EHMT1, and EHMT2 were described to coexist in a megacomplex that localizes at satellite promotors (Fritsch et al., 2010). EHMT2 knockdown induced changes in the methylation profile at these promotors, suggesting it might be involved in satellite repeat repression (Fritsch et al., 2010). The fourth complex contained SMC3 and Rad21 and SMC2, SMC4 and NCAPG, proteins from the cohesin and condensin complex, respectively (Hirano, 2015). Cohesin and condensin are the two main complexes responsible for mitotic chromosome structural transitions and are linked with both chromosome alignment and chromosome formation defects (Dej et al., 2004; Hirano, 2015; Toyoda and Yanagida, 2006), raising as interesting potential interactors of CDYL2 to explain its function in mitosis control. Finally, I also noticed the presence of both POGZ and CHAMP1, two proteins interacting together and who have been described to be involved in genomic stability, notably by playing a role in kinetochore attachment to

122



Fig. 21 : Characterisation of CDYL2 interactome by Mass Spectrometry reveals many proteins involved in mitosis and chromosome organisation. (A) Coimmunoprecipitation lysate of CDYL2 and negative control were separated on a SDS gel and the gel silver stained. (B,C) The proteins found in all three coimmunoprecipitations are involved in RNA binding, chromosome modification and organisation and cell cycle process. (D to G) Four big complexes were found in the proteins interacting with CDYL2, including SMC complexes and epigenetic repressive complexes.

microtubules (Itoh *et al.*, 2011; Okamoto *et al.*, 2017). In conclusion, various potential interactors of CDYL2 could explain its importance for mitosis.

8.5 HYPOTHETIC MECHANISMS DESCRIPTIONS

From my characterization of CDYL2 interactors and the analysis of its regulation and localization during the cell cycle, I studied three hypotheses during my thesis to explain CDYL2 necessity for mitosis.

1. CDYL2 could be responsible for satellite repeat sequence transcriptional repression:

CDYL2 localizes at pericentromeric regions and recruits epigenetic repressors as EHMT2 or SETDB1 by physically interacting with them. Interestingly, SETDB1 was already described to be involved in satellite sequence and other repeat elements repression, while EHMT2 was found necessary to repress retroviral repeat elements (Fritsch *et al.*, 2010). A knock-down of CDYL2 could, therefore, lead to aberrant expression of satellite repeats, which is known to induce genomic instability, centromere decondensation, and chromatid loss of cohesion (Zeller and Gasser, 2017).

2. CDYL2 might be involved in chromosome cohesion regulation: for this hypothesis, many mechanisms are possible. The most direct, given that proteins from the cohesin complex were found in the mass spectrometry analysis, is that CDYL2 could, like Swi6 in yeast (Nonaka *et al.*, 2002), promote cohesin recruitment to pericentromeric regions, by interacting with the complex. A knock-down of CDYL2 would then lead to a fragile sister chromatid cohesion and thus problems in chromosome alignment and defects in mitosis (Díaz-Martínez *et al.*, 2010).

3. CDYL2 might interact with CHAMP1 and be necessary for its function in regulating kinetochore-microtubules connection. A knock-down of CDYL2 would prevent CHAMP1 function in kinetochore formation and phenocopy CHAMP1 knock-down: failure of chromosome alignment, defects in kinetochore assembly, thus loss of connection between microtubules and centromeres and mimick the phenotype observed after CHAMP1 knock-down, notably chromosomes misalignment during mitosis (Itoh *et al.*, 2011).

8.6 CDYL2 SEEMS DISPENSABLE FOR SATELLITE REPRESSION

In previous studies (Benaissa, 2018; Siouda *et al.*, 2020), CDYL2 was found to have repressive activities. EHMT2 was found in my mass spectrometry studies to interact with CDYL2 (Fig. 21C and D) and its interaction was already confirmed in MCF7 in our previous publication (Siouda *et al.*, 2020). I wanted to additionally confirm CDYL2 interaction with SETDB1 and DNMT1 and for this performed a coimmunoprecipitation in MCF7 cell lines overexpressing CDYL2. In parallel, a coimmunoprecipitation with a non-specific antibody



Fig. 22: CDYL2 interacts with EHMT2 and SETDB1 in a RNA and DNA independent manner. SETDB1, DNMT1 and EHMT2 were coprecipitated with Flag-tagged CDYL2 in MCF7 cells. All interactions remained after DNAse treatment with the exception of interaction with DNMT1 which was lost after RNAse treatment. *corresponds to the signal coming from the antibody denaturated heavy chain. Experiment was performed twice, representative images are shown. was performed as a negative control. The obtained precipitates were immunoblotted and I could observe a specific interaction of CDYL2 with SETDB1 and DNMT1 (Fig. 22). To avoid artifact signaling that can arise through unwanted precipitation of DNA or RNA, coimmunoprecipitation on lysates treated with RNAse or DNAse was performed in parallel. EHMT2 and SETDB1 could still be detected confirming a physical interaction of CDYL2 with EHMT2 and SETDB1, independently of DNA or RNA presence (Fig. 22). Interaction between CDYL2 and DNMT1 was confirmed to be DNA independent, however, DNMT1 could not be detected in the precipitate treated with RNAse, suggesting that RNA might be needed for CDYL2 interaction with DNMT1. Since SETDB1 and EHMT2 are necessary for satellite silencing and CDYL2 localizes at pericentromeres, I hypothesized that CDYL2 is implicated in recruiting the silencing factors to the pericentromeric heterochromatin and promotes satellite expression repression.

To verify whether satellite expression is controlled by CDYL2, I knocked down CDYL2 using RNAi and analyzed satellite messenger RNA levels using qPCR. I used two commercially available primers sets, targeting α -satellite and satellite II repeats, specific for centromere and pericentromeres respectively. While primers against satellite II are specific to chromosome 1, the primers targeting α -Satellite are general to all chromosomes. A transcription change in these sequences could not be observed after downregulation of CDYL2 (Fig. 23A and B). Using primers targeting the two open reading frames and the UTR regions of long interspersed nuclear element 1 (LINE1), the most abundant class of transposable elements in mammals (Yang and Wang, 2016), I also observed that a decrease of CDYL2 does not seem to influence retroviral element transcription. To strengthen my observations, I used Tagman probes designed by Zahn *et al.* in 2015, which target endogenous retroviral sequences K111 and K222 localized at the pericentromeric regions of respectively 9 and 15 chromosomes (Zahn et al., 2015). K111 was also shown to be present on centromeric regions (Contreras-Galindo et al., 2013). The linearity between the detected signal and the sample concentration was tested and confirmed for both probes using a dilution curve of the ChIP input samples (Fig. 24A-B). Centromeric and



Fig. 23: CDYL2 seems dispensable for centromeric and pericentromeric Satellite repression. Satellite repeats mRNA are not found enriched in HeLa (A) and MCF7 (B) cells after knockdown of CDYL2. Experiments was performed thrice, representative results are shown. (C, D) ChIP on histone modifications and qPCR on satellite regions does not seem to reveal consistent and significant epigenetic changes at repetitive sequences in (C) HeLa and (D) MCF7. Experiments were performed twice, representative graphs are shown. Standard deviation between the sample replicates are represented as error bars.



Fig. 24: TaqMan probes against K111 and K222 centromeric and pericentromeric repeat retroviral elements were validated in our hands. (A) K111 and (B) K222 linearity between the fluorescence signal of the probe and the initial concentration of the sequence was confirmed using a dilution sequence of input material from HeLa cells. Experiment was performed once. (C) K111 and K222 enrichment at pericentromeres and centromeres was confirmed with a ChIP against H3K9me3 and H3K9me2, respectively. In both cases, K111 and K222 were enriched compared to our negative control sequence. Experiments were performed twice. Representatives images are shown.

pericentromeric specificity was tested by us and Zahn and colleagues by performing ChIP on CENPA and H3K9me3. I observed that in my hands, K111 and K222 sequences are enriched after H3K9me3 ChIP in HeLa cells compared to a random negative sequence (Fig. 24C-D). However, a change in messenger RNA level after CDYL2 knock-down could again not be detected (Fig. 25A and B). In conclusion, it does not seem that CDYL2 is necessary for bulk repression of satellite sequences.



Fig. 25: CDYL2 seems dispensable for retroviral repeat elements K111 and K222. K111 and K222 repeats mRNA are not found enriched in HeLa (A) and MCF7 (B) cells after knock-down of CDYL2. (C, D) ChIP on histone modifications and qPCR on satellite regions does not seem to reveal consistent and significant epigenetic changes at repetitive sequences in (C) MCF7 and (D) HeLa. Experiments were performed twice, representative graphs are shown. Standard deviation between the sample replicates are represented as error bars.

Even though CDYL2 knock-down is not sufficient to promote repetitive sequences derepression, I asked if it can still induce histone modifications at these sequences and thus fragilize the silencing. Since CDYL2 was shown to induce epigenetic modifications at promotors by attracting EHMT2 to the promotors (Siouda *et al.*, 2020), I looked in particular for modifications on H3K9. I performed a ChIP assay against both H3K9 di- and trimethylation on HeLa and MCF7 cells treated either with Luciferase or CDYL2 RNAi. Disappointingly, I did not find any consistent or significant changes in H3K9 acetylation, di- and trimethylation in α -Satellite and Satellite II repeat regions (Fig. 23). Using TaqMan probes against K111 and K222, no reproducible increase of H3K9 methylation could be observed neither after CDYL2 RNAi infection (Fig. 25). Together, my data do not support a role for CDYL2 in pericentromeric satellite repeats repression, though due to the technical limitations of the PCR-based assays used this cannot be fully excluded.

8.7 CDYL2 INTERACTS WITH COHESIN BUT DOES NOT SEEM TO REGULATE ITS LEVEL AT PERICENTROMERES

A very interesting complex found in my mass spectrometry analysis is the SMC complex cohesin. One of the main functions of cohesin is to regulate chromosome cohesion, including at the pericentromeric regions during metaphase. As in Schizosaccharomyces pombe, Swi6, a chromodomain protein recognizing H3K9me3 was able to recruit cohesin to pericentromeric regions (Nonaka et al., 2002), I hypothesized that CDYL2 might be involved in a similar mechanism in human. To confirm the mass spectrometry results, I first performed a CDYL2 immunoprecipitation followed by Western Blot. Non-specific antibodies were used in parallel as a negative control. I did observe an enrichment of RAD21 and PDS5B in the CDYL2 immunoprecipitate (Fig. 26A). Besides, using Proximity Ligation Assay (PLA), I wanted to observe if CDYL2 and cohesin colocalize in the cell. To test unspecific signaling from the primary antibodies, I performed a PLA with each antibody separately and observed no signal, suggesting that the antibodies are specific enough for this assay (Fig. 26B). As a positive control, I performed a PLA against SA1 and SMC1, two proteins interacting in cohesin, and obtained a strong signal in all cells. Finally, to ask whether cohesin and CDYL2 are colocalizing in the cell, I performed a PLA against CDYL2 and SA1. Interestingly, I could see a strong immunofluorescence signal in every cell



Fig. 26: CDYL2 seems to interact with Cohesin complex. (A) CDYL2 interaction with Rad21 and PDS5B was confirmed by coimmunoprecipitation followed by Western Blot analysis. Experiment was performed once. (B) Proximity Ligation Assay (PLA) confirmed a close proximity between SA1 and CDYL2. As a negative control, PLA was performed using each antibody individually and a PLA between SA1 and SMC1 was used as a positive control. Experiment was performed three times, representative images are shown.

observed, strongly suggesting that CDYL2 is often localized in the close neighborhood of cohesin (Fig. 26B). Interestingly, however, the proximity signal was not found only in the nucleus. Nor was the signal found where pericentromeres should be during mitosis. In fact, it seems that during metaphase the signal is rather enriched in the cytoplasm, consistent with the release of CDYL2 from the chromatin during mitosis observed in figures 15A-B and the pattern observed in SMC1 and SA1 PLA, but less consistent with my previous observation that CDYL2 remains, even though less tightly bound, on the chromatin during mitosis. Overall, my data strongly suggest a physical interaction between CDYL2 and the cohesin complex. However, whether CDYL2 is necessary for cohesin localization at pericentromeres remains to be elucidated.

To ask if lack of CDYL2 can induce changes in cohesin level at pericentromeres during metaphase, I performed SMC1 and SA1 immunofluorescence staining in cells knocked down for CDYL2, took images using confocal fluorescence, and quantified the CENPA signal colocalizing with cohesin, a protocol similar to what was done previously by Serrano et al. (Serrano et al., 2009). The antibodies used to stain SMC1 and SA1 were commercial antibodies optimized for immunofluorescence and PLA. In my hands, they gave a strong nuclear signal. Numerous cells with aberrant chromosome alignment confirmed the efficiency of CDYL2 knocked-down. With immunofluorescence stainings, I could however not observe a significant decrease in cohesin localization to pericentromeres after CDYL2 knocked down with both antibodies, even in cells showing mitotic defects (Fig. 27). I did not observe a significant decrease of cohesin localization at pericentromeres during anaphase neither, suggesting a lack of adapted technique to observe cohesin loss of localization despite all my precautions, and making my data difficult to interpret. From all my data, it seems more than likely that CDYL2 and cohesin are interacting. However, I could not observe a specific decrease of cohesin at pericentromeres after CDYL2 knockdown.





Fig. 27: CDYL2 does not seem to regulate cohesin level at pericentromeres during prometaphase. Costaining of CenpA and (A) SMC1 or (C) SA1 does not reveal a loss of Cohesin at pericentromeres after CDYL2 RNAi transfection, as quantified on (B) and (D). Error bars represent intercellular standard deviations. Experiments were performed twice. Representative images are shown.

8.8 CDYL2 INTERACTS WITH CHAMP1 BUT IS DISPENSABLE FOR MICROTUBULES STABILITY

It was previously described that CHAMP1 depleted cells induced a misalignment phenotype at metaphase, very similar to the phenotype observed after CDYL2 knockdown (Itoh *et al.*, 2011). Additionally, CHAMP1 was found necessary for kinetochore protein localization at the centromeres and microtubules stabilization. The CHAMP1-POGZ complex was present in the CDYL2 immunoprecipitation mass spectrometry analysis. I thus hypothesized that CDYL2 might work with CHAMP1-POGZ and be relevant for kinetochore assembly or microtubules stabilization. To confirm the interaction between CDYL2 and CHAMP1, I performed a co-immunoprecipitation on HeLa and MCF7 cells. A negative control using a non-specific antibody was done in parallel. I could detect a specific CDYL2 signal in the coimmunoprecipitation after immunoblotting, confirming the interaction revealed by the mass spectrometry (Fig. 28). The interaction was fainter in HeLa cell lines compared to MCF7, most likely because CDYL2 level was already observed by our lab to be lower in HeLa cell lines compared to MCF7.



Fig. 28: CDYL2 interacts with CHAMP1 in both MCF7 and HeLa cell lines. Interaction between CDYL2 and CHAMP1 was confirmed with a reverse coimmunoprecipitation on CHAMP1 in both (A) MCF7 and (B) HeLa cells. Coimmunoprecipitation with a non specific IgG antibody was performed in parallel as a negative control. *corresponds to the denaturated heavy chain of the antibodies. Experiment was performed once.

I then wanted to study if CDYL2, like CHAMP1, is necessary for kinetochore assembly or mitotic microtubules stabilization. To answer this question, I stained RNAi transfected cells for microtubules and kinetochores using α -Tubulin and CENPA, similar to the protocol described by Itoh et al. (Itoh et al., 2011). No difference in microtubules attachment to kinetochore could be seen compared to the control (Fig. 29), even in cells showing alignment defects, suggesting kinetochore assembly is not the mechanistic origin of CDYL2 knocked-down phenotype. I saw no sign of microtubules defects in interphase cells neither (Fig. 30). Finally, I wanted to test if CDYL2 is necessary for microtubules stabilization, and for this, I incubated the cells for ten minutes at 4°C to test their resistance to the cold. The efficiency of the cold incubation was confirmed by the stringent loss of α -Tubulin staining in interphase cells, where the microtubules are known to be cold-labile (Fig. 30). However, again no difference between Luciferase and CDYL2 RNAi treated cells could be observed, even in mitotic cells showing chromosome alignment defects (Fig. 31). This suggests that CDYL2 implication in mitosis is not related to microtubules' stability nor attachment to the kinetochore. It is therefore unlikely that CDYL2 is necessary for CHAMP1 activity at the centromeres.



Fig. 29: CDYL2 seems to be dispensable for microtubules-kinetochores connection. Knockdown of CDYL2 was performed in both (A) HeLa and (B) MCF7 cells, followed by staining against Tubulin and CENPI. No significant difference was observed in the microtubules structure or their connection to kinetochores after CDYL2 esiRNA treatment. Experiment was performed twice. Representative images are shown.





4°C



Fig. 31: CDYL2 seems to be dispensable for microtubules stability. Knock-down of CDYL2 was performed in both (A) HeLa and (B) MCF7 cells, followed by cold incubation and staining against Tubuli. No significant difference was observed in the microtubules structure or their stability to kinetochores after CDYL2 RNAi treatment. Experiment was performed once.

Uniprot Acc	Uniprot Symbol	MWT(kDa) U	Jnique Mock Total Mock	Uni	que IP Total IP	h	ntensity Mock [a.u.]	Intensity IP [a.u]
Q8N8U2	CDYL2	56,46	0	0	33	164	0	130000000
P78347	GTF2I	112,35	16	16	53	92	3900000	120000000
Q9Y232	CDYL1	66,44	0	0	25	83	0	110000000
P31327	CPSM	164,83	23	23	86	183	3800000	11000000
Q13547	HDAC1	55,07	4	4	17	34	1300000	8900000
Q14204	DYHC1	532,07	6	6	153	162	520000	3600000
P78527	PRKDC	468,79	24	25	126	141	2800000	3000000
P33993	MCM7	81,26	6	6	37	41	480000	27000000
Q8N108	MIER1	57,95	0	0	20	34	0	2600000
P33991	MCM4	96,5	0	0	34	65	0	24000000
Q7Z6Z7	HUWE1	481,59	0	0	71	92	0	23000000
Q92769	HDAC2	55,33	1	1	14	37	41000	21000000
P25705	ATPA	59,71	6	6	22	26	1400000	22000000
P42285	SK2L2	117,73	/	/	38	46	810000	2000000
Q6VMQ6	MCAF1	136,31	0	0	30	47	0	1900000
095347	SIVICZ	135,57	0	0	41	47	0	18000000
099460	DSMD1	144,41	3	7	32	42	870000	18000000
060264	SMCA5	105,77	2	2	29	36	260000	17000000
D50570	DVN2	121,05	5	5	22	61	200000	17000000
P08243		64 33	5	5	22	29	250000	17000000
094776	MTA2	74,98	3	3	15	17	470000	16000000
095071	UBR5	309.16	0	0	66	83	470000	15000000
P13674	P4H41	61.01	4	4	19	25	210000	14000000
O9UOF7	SMC3	141.45	8	11	44	50	1100000	14000000
P28340	DPOD1	123.55	4	4	30	33	580000	13000000
095785	WIZ	178.56	5	6	18	25	590000	13000000
Q14839	CHD4	217.87	0	0	44	51	0	12000000
Q96KQ7	EHMT2	132.29	0	0	22	39	0	12000000
Q9H9B1	EHMT1	141.38	0	0	25	41	0	9300000
P55265	DSRAD	135.98	1	1	24	26	31000	9200000
Q13263	TIF1B	88.49	6	7	21	29	490000	9200000
P51531	SMCA2	181.17	0	0	36	40	0	8700000
Q15047	SETB1	143,07	0	0	30	41	0	8000000
Q12996	CSTF3	82,87	6	6	20	26	350000	8300000
Q9NTJ3	SMC4	147,09	0	0	39	43	0	7900000
Q14697	GANAB	106,81	0	0	24	35	0	7700000
Q6P1J9	CDC73	60,54	5	5	19	28	350000	7600000
Q9UNF1	MAGD2	64,91	0	0	15	16	0	7000000
P07814	SYEP	170,48	10	10	36	43	1400000	8100000
P56192	SYMC	101,05	0	0	13	16	0	6400000
P51532	SMCA4	184,53	0	0	18	19	0	6000000
P17844	DDX5	69,1	3	3	13	15	600000	6500000
P52292	IMA1	57,83	3	3	10	13	280000	5400000
Q14980	NUMA1	238,12	3	3	40	41	94000	5200000
Q15046	SYK	68	3	3	13	15	450000	5400000
A6NHR9	SMHD1	226,23	2	2	38	39	59000	4800000
Q9BQG0	MBB1A	148,76	4	4	20	22	160000	4900000
Q92797	SYMPK	141,06	2	2	21	23	100000	4600000
P42166	LAP2A	75,45	3	3	18	19	450000	4900000
O96019	ACL6A	47,43	1	1	9	10	330000	4500000
Q10570	CPSF1	160,78	4	4	26	33	360000	4400000
Q14527	HLTF	113,86	0	0	20	22	0	3700000
P57740	NU107	106,31	0	0	17	18	0	3500000
P46379	BAG6	119,33	0	0	15	15	0	3400000
P49327	FAS	273,25	2	2	30	36	110000	3400000
Q12769	NU160	162,02	1	1	17	19	20000	3300000
Q96JM3	CHAP1	89,04	0	0	16	16	0	3000000
Q8IXH7	NELFD	66,2	2	2	12	14	310000	3300000
Q13200	PSMD2	100,14	6	6	18	18	1400000	4300000
O00268	TAF4	110,05	2	2	7	8	430000	3100000
Q8N344	MIER2	59,91	0	0	7	8	0	2600000
Q86WB0	NIPA	55,23	0	0	7	8	0	2500000
075152	2C11A	89,08	0	0	12	14	0	2200000
Q8NBJ5	GT251	/1,59	2	2	12	13	260000	2400000
060341	KDM1A	92,84	0	0	12	12	0	2100000
Q12873	CHD3	226,45	0	0	1/	18	0	2100000
Q96513	SIN3A	145,08	0	0	13	15	0	2100000
P47897	SYQ	87,74	2	2	11	11	110000	2200000
Q9BPX3	CND3	114,26	0	0	14	15	0	1900000
000210	RADZI	71,04	0	0	12	13	0	1800000
F 24000	FPAC	18,03	U	0	3	3	0	1000000
09000	ARINK DOGZ	628,7	U	0	30	31	0	1600000
Q723K3	VIME	155,24	U	0	1/	22	0	1500000
PU80/U		53,62	U	U 1	/	8	0	1200000
		20,7	1	1	4	5	84000	1100000
F 30343 D12270		48,91	0	0	5 16	2 16	0	970000
0911854	DIB11	207,13	1	1	10	10	00000	1100000
012768	STRUM	40,49	1	1	4	10	220000	100000
015942	ZYX	61 24	0	ō	3	5	2000	510000
OGUXN9	WDR82	35.06	1	1	3	2	180000	560000
Q8NI35	INAD	196.25	0	ō	10	10	00000	340000
P25490	TYY1	11 62	0	õ	4	10	0	300000
Q641Q2	FA21A	147,09	0	0	3	3	0	48000

Table 2: Proteins common in all three Flag-CDYL2 coimmunoprecipitation.





9 CDYL2 EPIGENETICALLY REGULATES MIR124 TO CONTROL NF-KB/STAT3-DEPENDENT BREAST CANCER CELL PLASTICITY

During my thesis, I also participated in the following project evaluating the function of CDYL2 in breast cancer and its effect on breast cancer invasiveness and aggressiveness. I participated particularly in the experiments and elaborations of figures 7A, S6A, and S7 of the published manuscript.

Briefly, Dr. Maha Siouda observed that high levels of CDYL2 in breast cancer tumors correlated with a worst prognosis of the patient (publication Fig. 1). RNA-sequencing allowed us to analyse the changes induced in the mRNA profile by an overexpression of flag-tagged CDYL2 in MCF7 breast cancer cell line. The transcriptional changes observed are linked with malignant progression of the tumor and several genes expression involved in EMT transition were found deregulated upon CDYL2 overexpression (publication Fig. 2). *In vitro* and *in vivo* invasion assays revealed that MCF7 cells become more invasive upon CDYL2 overexpression (publication Fig. 3F and 3G). Interestingly, MDA-MB-231, an aggressive breast cancer cell line, become less invasive upon CDYL2 knock-down induced by RNAi (publication Fig. 4).

In breast cancer, active NF-κB/p65 and STAT3 pathways are inducing Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition (EMT), linked with tumour invasion (Marotta et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2008). A knock-down of p65 or STAT3 in MCF7 cells overexpressing CDYL2 rescued the invasive phenotype of MCF7 overexpressing CDYL2, indicating that CDYL2 increases the invasion potential of breast cancer tumors through both pathways (publication Fig. 5). Interestingly, ChIP-seq analysis revealed that CDYL2 binds upstream of the *MIR124* gene (publication Fig. 6A). Mir124 was previously shown to regulate EMT and both NF-κB/p65 and STAT3s signaling (Cao et al., 2018; Hatziapostolou et al., 2011; Lv et al., 2011). Additionnally, the overexpression of CDYL2 in MCF7 cell lines decreased the expression of MIR124, while the knock-down of CDYL2 in MDA-MB-231 increased the expression. We therefore investigated by which mechanism CDYL2 regulates MIR124 repression.
From the mass spectrometry analysis performed for the mitosis project, CDYL2 seems to interact with EHMT2, a known histone methyltransferase linked with transcription repression. We thus performed a coimmunoprecipitation against CDYL2 and observed an interaction with both EHMT2 and EHMT1 (publication Fig. 7A). A reverse coimmunoprecipitation against EHMT2 was performed in parallel and further confirmed the interaction with CDYL2. A coimmunoprecipitation against a non-specific antibody was done in parallel as a negative control. Finally, a coimmunoprecipitation was performed against EZH2. The presence of a strong SUZ12 portion binding to EZH2 confirmed the quality of the precipitate. However the presence of CDYL2 signal in EZH2 coimmunoprecipitate could not be detected. Under conditions that increased western blot sensitivity of detection, a weak signal of EZH2 and SUZ12 could be detected in CDYL2 coimmunoprecipitate, suggesting a weak interaction between the proteins is possible (publication Fig. S6A).

Performing, ChIP-qPCR analysis, we observed that an overexpression of CDYL2 increases H3K9 methylation and both enzymes level at the promotor regions of miR-124 (publication Fig. 7B and 7C), while on the opposite a knock-down of CDYL2 decreases their level (publication Fig. 7D and 7E). Using UNC0642, an EHMT2 inhibitor (Kim et al., 2016), I have shown that the enzymatic activity of EHMT2 is essential for miR124 repression through CDYL2, as UNC0642 treatment in MCF7 cells expressing exogeneous CDYL2 significantly increases miR-124 expression (publication Fig. S7). On the opposite, using CPI-169, an inhibitor of EZH2 (Bradley et al., 2014), it seems that EZH2 enzymatic activity seems dispensable for miR-124 silencing (publication Fig. 7B).

Taken together, our work allowed us to reveal that overexpression of CDYL2 increases the aggressivity and invasiveness of breast cancer cells, while its downregulation decreases it. This invasiveness is controlled through the NF-κB signal, which is itself regulated by miR-124. Interestingly, CDYL2 is repressing miR-124. We studied the mechanism linking CDYL2 to miR-124 expression and found that CDYL2 locates at the upstream of miR-124 gene, where it recruits EHMT2. CDYL2 at the promotor regions is also necessary for EZH2 presence. EHMT2 finally methylates the upstream region of miR-124 gene, which leads to its repression, similar to previous description in the literature My participation to this

144

publication brought key elements to elucidate the molecular mechanism by which CDYL2 is silencing miRNA124 expression and thus controlling epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition.

iScience

Article

CDYL2 Epigenetically Regulates *MIR124* to Control NF-κB/STAT3-Dependent Breast Cancer Cell Plasticity



Maha Siouda, Audrey D. Dujardin, Laetitia Barbollat-Boutrand, ..., Hinrich Gronemeyer, Pierre Saintigny, Peter Mulligan

CelPress

peter.mulligan@inserm.fr

HIGHLIGHTS

Up-regulation of CDYL2 is common in breast cancer and correlates with poor prognosis

CDYL2 regulates enrichment of methyltransferases G9a and EZH2 at *MIR124* genes

microRNA-124 regulation by CDYL2 impacts STAT3 and NF-κB signaling

CDYL2 regulation of EMT, migration, invasion, and stemness is STAT3/NF-kB dependent

Siouda et al., iScience 23, 101141 June 26, 2020 © 2020 The Authors. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.isci.2020.101141



iScience



Article CDYL2 Epigenetically Regulates *MIR124* to Control NF-κB/STAT3-Dependent Breast Cancer Cell Plasticity

Maha Siouda,¹ Audrey D. Dujardin,¹ Laetitia Barbollat-Boutrand,¹ Marco A. Mendoza-Parra,^{2,8} Benjamin Gibert,¹ Maria Ouzounova,^{1,3} Jebrane Bouaoud,^{1,4} Laurie Tonon,^{5,6} Marie Robert,^{1,3} Jean-Philippe Foy,^{1,3} Vincent Lavergne,^{1,3} Serge N. Manie,¹ Alain Viari,^{5,6} Alain Puisieux,^{1,3} Gabriel Ichim,¹ Hinrich Gronemeyer,² Pierre Saintigny,^{1,3} and Peter Mulligan^{1,7,9,*}

SUMMARY

Epigenetic deregulation of gene transcription is central to cancer cell plasticity and malignant progression but remains poorly understood. We found that the uncharacterized epigenetic factor chromodomain on Y-like 2 (CDYL2) is commonly over-expressed in breast cancer, and that high CDYL2 levels correlate with poor prognosis. Supporting a functional role for CDYL2 in malignancy, it positively regulated breast cancer cell migration, invasion, stem-like phenotypes, and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. CDYL2 regulation of these plasticity-associated processes depended on signaling via p65/NF-κB and STAT3. This, in turn, was downstream of CDYL2 regulation of *MIR124* gene transcription. CDYL2 co-immunoprecipitated with G9a/EHMT2 and GLP/EHMT1 and regulated the chromatin enrichment of G9a and EZH2 at *MIR124* genes. We propose that CDYL2 contributes to poor prognosis in breast cancer by recruiting G9a and EZH2 to epigenetically repress *MIR124* genes, thereby promoting NF-κB and STAT3 signaling, as well as downstream cancer cell plasticity and malignant progression.

INTRODUCTION

A key feature of epigenetic processes is their ability to establish and maintain the expression level of genes in a manner that is durable, yet can be altered when necessary. To this end, the deposition of histone lysine methylation marks on chromatin is tightly regulated. However, deregulation of epigenetic factors can cause pathologic changes in cell identity and function and is a near-universal feature of cancer cells. Such perturbations offer therapeutic opportunities, and several drugs targeting epigenetic regulators are in use or under investigation as cancer treatments. These include inhibitors of the histone methyltransferases EZH2 and G9a, which respectively impart the H3K27me3 and H3K9me2 marks on chromatin (Dawson and Kouzarides, 2012; Jambhekar et al., 2019; Simó-Riudalbas and Esteller, 2015). However, despite recent progress, the epigenetic regulation of cellular plasticity in cancer remains poorly understood, with several putative epigenetic factors still uncharacterized. Addressing these issues could uncover new epigenetic drug targets for cancer treatment.

Most tumors are of epithelial origin, but epithelial cells are inherently resistant to several key steps in malignant progression. Molecular and cellular changes that render carcinoma cells more mesenchymal-like are associated with increased propensity to migrate and invade the surrounding tissues (Puisieux et al., 2014; Shibue and Weinberg, 2017). This so-called epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is also linked to the emergence of cancer stem cells (CSC), a subset of cells within a tumor mass that are highly efficient at seeding new tumor growth and in the case of breast cancer, more efficient at forming cellular aggregates called mammospheres *in vitro* (Shibue and Weinberg, 2017). In breast cancer, different tumor subtypes and prognosis correlate with distinct EMT states. Tumors expressing the estrogen receptor alpha (ER), but not the human epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor 2 (HER2), are more epithelial-like, less invasive, and have better prognosis, whereas those triple-negative (TN) for expression of ER, HER2, and the progesterone receptor (PR) are more mesenchymal-like, invasive, and have worse prognosis (Sarrio et al., 2008). ¹Université de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, INSERM 1052, CNRS 5286, Centre Léon Bérard, Cancer Research Center of Lyon, Lyon, France

²Institut de Génétique et de Biologie Moléculaire et Cellulaire (IGBMC), CNRS UMR 7104, INSERM U964, University of Strasbourg, Illkirch, France

³Equipe Labellisée Ligue Contre le Cancer, LabEx DEVweCAN

⁴Department of Maxillo-facial Surgery and Stomatology, Pitié-Salpétrière Hospital, Pierre et Marie Curie University Paris 6, Sorbonne Paris Cite University, AP-HP, Paris 75013, France

⁵Synergie Lyon Cancer, Plateforme de Bioinformatique "Gilles Thomas", Centre Léon Bérard, 28 rue Lannec, Lyon 69008, France

⁶INRIA Grenoble-Rhône-Alpes, 655 Avenue de l'Europe, Montbonnot-Saint-Martin 38330, France

⁷Centre de Recherche en Cancérologie de Lyon (CRCL), Centre Léon Bérard, Epigenetics and Cancer Team, Cheney A, 5e étage, 28 rue Laennec, Lyon Cedex 08 69373, France

⁸Present address: Genoscope, CNRS UMR8030, LISSB, SysFate, Evry, France ⁹Lead Contact

*Correspondence: peter.mulligan@inserm.fr https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci. 2020.101141



1





However, the acquisition of EMT-like features in a subset of cells within the ER+/HER2- tumor could drive the malignant progression of these cancers.

The gene expression changes underlying EMT and stemness result from interconnected regulatory systems involving transcription factors, epigenetic factors, and non-coding RNAs. In breast cancer, active forms of the transcription factors p65/NF- κ B and STAT3 promote EMT, migration, invasion, and stemness (Marotta et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2014; Zhou et al., 2008). Misregulation of EZH2 and G9a can also induce these cellular processes (Chang et al., 2011; Curry et al., 2015; Dong et al., 2012), as can aberrant silencing of the tumor suppressive microRNA-124 (miR-124) (Ji et al., 2019; Lv et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2016a), itself a regulator of p65/NF- κ B and STAT3 signaling (Cao et al., 2018; Hatziapostolou et al., 2011; Mehta et al., 2017; Olarerin-George et al., 2013). Recently, EZH2 was implicated in miR-124 repression in renal carcinoma cells (Zhou et al., 2019), supporting an interplay between these pathways. However, by and large, epigenetic regulation of EMT and stemness in cancer remains poorly understood.

In this study, we investigated the molecular and cellular functions of the putative epigenetic factor chromodomain on Y-like 2 (CDYL2) in breast cancer. This is a member of the *CDYL* family of genes, which includes two autosomal homologs in humans, *CDYL1/CDYL* and *CDYL2* (Dorus et al., 2003). The family is defined by the presence of an N-terminal chromodomain that binds to methylated histone H3 lysine 9 (H3K9) and H3K27 residues (Fischle et al., 2008; Franz et al., 2009) and a C-terminal domain homologous to enoyl coenzyme A hydratase/isomerase enzymes (Dorus et al., 2003). *CDYL1* is implicated in cancer as a candidate oncogene or tumor suppressor, depending on the context (Mulligan et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2013), and its epigenetic mechanism involves its interaction with and regulation of several other epigenetic factors, notably the H3K9 methyltransferases G9a/EHMT2, GLP/EHMT1 and SETDB1/ESET (Mulligan et al., 2008), and EZH2 (Zhang et al., 2011). By contrast, very little is known about the roles of *CDYL2* in physiology or disease or its putative epigenetic mechanism.

A potential role for *CDYL2* in cancer was suggested by a genome-wide association study that identified an intronic SNP in *CDYL2* associated with cancer risk (Michailidou et al., 2013). Here we show that CDYL2 expression is also frequently up-regulated in breast cancer, and that high expression correlates with poor outcome in the estrogen receptor-positive/human EGF receptor 2-negative (ER+/HER2–) and TN subtypes. We propose that high levels of CDYL2 expression promote epigenetic repression of *MIR124* genes by increasing G9a and EZH2 recruitment and H3K9 and H3K27 methylation at upstream regulatory regions. This, in turn, contributes to CDYL2 induction of NF- κ B and STAT3 signaling, consequent induction of EMT genes, and increased cell motility, invasiveness, and stemness. These findings implicate *CDYL2* as candidate proto-oncogene and therapeutic target in breast cancer.

RESULTS

High CDYL2 Expression Level in Breast Cancer Is Associated with Poor Prognosis

Datamining revealed that CDYL2 mRNA is up-regulated in four breast cancer cohorts within The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) (Cancer Genome Atlas Network, 2012) (Figures 1A and S1A). Similarly, the NCBI GEO datasets GSE10780 (Chen et al., 2010) and GSE21422 (Kretschmer et al., 2011) identified CDYL2 up-regulation in invasive ductal breast carcinomas as well as ductal carcinoma in situ, compared with normal breast tissues (Figure 1A). Analysis of the paired Clinical Proteomic Tumor Analysis Consortium (CPTAC) (Ellis et al., 2013) and TCGA datasets revealed that CDYL2 protein expression correlated with mRNA levels (Figure 1B). We found that both TCGA mRNA and CPTAC protein levels for CDYL2 across breast cancer subtypes also showed similar patterns, being higher in the ER+ forms than TN forms (Figures S1B and S1C). We next asked if the expression level of CDYL2 correlates with clinical outcome. Patients were subdivided into three categories based on their expression of the ER, PR, and HER2, namely, ER+/ HER2-, ER+/HER2+, and receptor TN. This revealed that high expression of CDYL2 correlated with worse survival in both ER+/HER2- and TN subtypes (Figures 1C and 1D), but not ER+/HER2+ (Figure 1E). We also analyzed the expression of CDYL2 in normal breast tissues over the course of breast cancer progression, across all breast cancer types, ER+/HER2- and TN. This showed up-regulation of CDYL2 from the earliest pre-metastatic stage (pN0) in all three patient cohorts (Figures S1D–S1F). To further probe a possible association between CDYL2 expression and breast cancer progression, we examined its correlation with cancer gene expression signatures in the Molecular Signature Database (MSigDB) (Subramanian et al., 2005). This uncovered a positive correlation between CDYL2 expression in both ER+/HER2- and TN breast cancer and the Rizki_tumor_invasiveness-2D-UP signature (Figures S1G and S1H), corresponding to genes

iScience Article







Figure 1. High CDYL2 Expression Level in Breast Cancer Is Associated with Poor Prognosis

(A) CDYL2 mRNA expression in breast tumors compared with normal tissues, as derived from the Oncomine database and GEO2R analysis of the indicated GEO datasets

(B) Paired analysis of CDYL2 mRNA (TCGA, RNA-seq) and protein levels (CPTAC, mass spectrometry) in individual tumor specimen. (C-E) Kaplan-Meier overall survival (OS) analysis performed from TCGA breast cancer subtypes: ER+/HER2- (C), triple negative (TN) (D), and ER+/HER2+ (E) using best cutoff of CDYL2 expression (high and low). Significance using log rank p value and hazard ratio (CI).

up-regulated in an invasive breast cancer cell line relative to the non-invasive precursor cell line from which it was derived (Rizki et al., 2008). Finally, we extended our analysis to other cancer contexts, revealing an association between CDYL2 expression level and survival in colorectal carcinoma, rectal adenocarcinoma, lung squamous cell carcinoma, and lung adenocarcinoma (Figures S1I–S1L). These findings identify CDYL2 as a gene commonly up-regulated in breast cancer and a candidate modulator of cancer progression and patient survival in the ER+/HER2- and TN subtypes, and other cancer forms.

CDYL2 Over-Expression in the Non-invasive Breast Cancer Cell Line MCF7 Induces **Transcriptional Changes Associated with Malignant Progression**

To ask if CDYL2 up-regulation could induce oncogenic transcriptional and cellular changes, we stably expressed a CDYL2 cDNA in the non-invasive breast cancer cell line MCF7 (MCF7-CDYL2) or empty vector (MCF7-Vector) (Figure 2A). CDYL2 over-expression did not affect cell growth (Figure S2A), whereas RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) revealed striking differences between MCF7-CDYL2 and MCF7-Vector cells, with 693 genes up-regulated and 174 genes down-regulated at least 2.5-fold (Figure 2B; Table S1). Gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) of genes up- or down-regulated in MCF7-CDYL2 cells revealed positive associations with EMT, metastasis, invasive versus non-invasive ductal carcinoma, breast cancer relapse in bone, and atypical ductal hyperplasia compared with non-cancerous breast tissue (Figures 2C and 2D). A number of genes from these GSEA signatures were validated by qRT-PCR, focusing on genes that are individually associated with breast cancer cell plasticity and malignant progression. These include the proto-oncogenes SOX2, KLF4, MYC, MUC1, FOS, FOSL1/Fra-1, and JUN (Alam et al., 2014; Bakiri et al., 2015; Jiao et al., 2010; Kufe, 2013; Nair et al., 2014; Piva et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2011), and the secretory







(in goillos (in)		P 119			- Talac
HALLMARK EPITHELIAL MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION (200)	Genes defining EMT, as in wound healing, fibrosis and metastasis.	25	0.125	1.96E-20	3.26E - 19
CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS MESENCHYMAL DN (460)	Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the mesenchymal-like.	32	0.069	4.79E-18	4.22E-16
SCHUETZ BREAST CANCER DUCTAL INVASIVE UP (351)	Genes up-regulated in IDC relative to DCIS.	27	0.076	1.68E-16	9.63E - 15
CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS BASAL DN (455)	Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the basal-like.	29	0.063	1.79E-15	8.18E-14
	HALLMARK EPITHELIAL MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION (200) CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS MESENCHYMAL DN (460) SCHUETZ BREAST CANCER DUCTAL INVASIVE UP (351) CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS BASAL DN (455)	HALLMARK EPITHELIAL MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION (200)Genes defining EMT, as in wound healing, fibrosis and metastasis.CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS MESENCHYMAL DN (460)Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the mesenchymal-like.SCHUETZ BREAST CANCER DUCTAL INVASIVE UP (351)Genes up-regulated in IDC relative to DCIS.CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS BASAL DN (455)Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the basal-like.	HALLMARK EPITHELIAL MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION (200)Genes defining EMT, as in wound healing, fibrosis and metastasis.25CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS MESENCHYMAL DN (460)Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the mesenchymal-like.32SCHUETZ BREAST CANCER DUCTAL INVASIVE UP (351)Genes up-regulated in IDC relative to DCIS.27CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS BASAL DN (455)Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the basal-like.29	HALLMARK EPITHELIAL MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION (200)Genes defining EMT, as in wound healing, fibrosis and metastasis.250.125CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS MESENCHYMAL DN (460)Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the mesenchymal-like.320.069SCHUETZ BREAST CANCER DUCTAL INVASIVE UP (351)Genes up-regulated in IDC relative to DCIS.2770.076CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS BASAL DN (455)Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the basal-like.290.063	HALLMARK EPITHELIAL MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION (200)Genes defining EMT, as in wound healing, fibrosis and metastasis.250.1251.96E-20CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS MESENCHYMAL DN (460)Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the mesenchymal-like.320.0694.79E-18SCHUETZ BREAST CANCER DUCTAL INVASIVE UP (351)Genes up-regulated in IDC relative to DCIS.270.0761.68E-16CHARAFE BREAST CANCER LUMINAL VS BASAL DN (455)Down-regulated in luminal-like BC cells compared to the basal-like.290.0631.79E-15







0.24 0.27 0.27

0.27 0.28 0.29 0.31 0.33 0.34 0.35 0.38 0.39 0.66

-0.5 0 0.5 Row Z-Score i. 1.5

-1.5 -1

iScience Article



Figure 2. CDYL2 Over-Expression in the Non-invasive Breast Cancer Line MCF7 Induces Transcriptional Changes Associated with Malignant Progression

(A) Western blot analysis of CDYL2 and beta-actin expression in MCF7-CDYL2 and MCF7-Vector cells.

(B) Volcano plot showing genes up- or down-regulated at least 2.5-fold at an adjusted p value less than 0.05 (t test).

(C) Selected molecular signatures over-represented in either the up-or down-regulated gene sets from (B).

(D) Heatmap showing expression of genes from molecular signatures in (C) in the triplicate RNA-seqs.

(E) qRT-PCR validation of selected differentially expressed genes from (C). Mean of three independent experiments \pm S.D. All differential expressions were significant at p < 0.05 (t test).

molecules *LCN2*, *CTGF*, *CXCL8*, *INHBA*, and *IL6* (Rhodes et al., 2004, p. 8; Shimo et al., 2006; Singh et al., 2013, 2013; Sullivan et al., 2009, p. 8) (Figure 2E). Down-regulation of the tumor suppressor *TP63*, breast cancer metastasis suppressor *BRMS1*, and cytokine *BMP5*, which regulate EMT, metastasis, and stemness, among other processes (Gatti et al., 2019; Romagnoli et al., 2012), was also confirmed (Figure 2E). Together, these insights suggest that CDYL2 over-expression can induce transcriptional changes associated with malignant breast cancer, potentially by promoting EMT, invasiveness, and metastasis.

CDYL2 Over-expression in MCF7 Cells Induces EMT-like Changes, Migration, Invasiveness, and Mammosphere Formation

Further probing if CDYL2 might induce EMT-like changes in MCF7 cells, we assessed the expression of a panel of established EMT markers. qRT-PCR analysis revealed CDYL2 up-regulation of mesenchymal markers TWIST1, SNAI1, FN1, VIM, CTNNB1, and SNAI2 (Figure 3A). Western blotting revealed down-regulation of epithelial marker E-Cadherin and up-regulation the mesenchymal markers Vimentin (VIM), TWIST1/Twist, and SNAI1/Snail (Figure 3B). However, CDYL2 over-expression did not alter the levels of ER-alpha (Figure 3B), down-regulation of which can induce EMT (Dhasarathy et al., 2007), suggesting an independent mechanism. Notably, 3 weeks after MCF7 cells were transduced with the CDYL2 over-expression construct a change in cell morphology occurred, with loss of the cobblestone-like morphology of monolayers, replaced by a more fibroblast-like morphology (Figure 3C), similar to previous descriptions of EMT in MCF7 (Lin et al., 2014; Yin et al., 2008).

To further investigate the possibility that CDYL2 over-expression induced EMT in MCF7 cells, we analyzed the expression of the cell surface adhesion molecules EpCAM and CD49f. It was previously demonstrated that low expression levels of EpCAM are associated with both EMT and breast cancer stem cells. The EpCAM-/CD49f- subpopulation of transformed mammary epithelial cells was especially tumorigenic, confirming high tumor-initiating, stem-like capacity. On the other hand, the EpCAM+/CD49f- subpopulation was shown not to form tumors (Kim et al., 2015). We found that over-expression of CDYL2 in MCF7 cells results in the appearance of a substantial population of EpCAM-/CD49f- cells (Figure S2C, top panels). Notably, CDYL2 over-expression also induced an EpCAM-/CD49f- cell population in another ER+ breast cancer cell line, Cama-1 (Figure S2C, center panels).

Among the primary contributions of EMT to malignant progression is increased cancer cell migration and invasion. *In vitro* assays revealed that the MCF7-CDYL2 cells migrated more proficiently across a microporous membrane compared with controls (Figures 3D and 3E). Using an adaptation of this assay to test for invasive capacity, wherein the porous membrane was first overlaid with a Matrigel barrier, we found that MCF7-CDYL2 cells also had increased invasive capacity relative to controls (Figure 3F).

We then probed the effect of CDYL2 on MCF7 cell invasion and metastasis *in vivo*. Both MCF7-CDYL2 and control cells were fluorescently labeled and injected into the perivitelline space of zebrafish embryos. The presence of tail metastases was monitored by fluorescence microscopy 24 h later. MCF7-Vector cells rarely produced metastases (3.57% of fish), whereas MCF7-CDYL2 cells did so in 21.57% of cases (Figure 3G).

To test if CDYL2 over-expression additionally induced stem-like characteristics in MCF7 cells, we first performed a mammosphere assay. This is a functional assay to assess the enrichment of stem-like cells in a population. MCF7-CDYL2 cells yielded both more and larger mammospheres compared with controls (Figures 3H–3J). Consistent with this, flow cytometry analysis revealed that CDYL2 over-expression in MCF7 cells increased the fraction of cells bearing the stem-like antigenic profile of CD44-high/CD24-low cells compared with controls (Figures 3K and 3L). Taken together, this series of studies indicates that CDYL2 over-expression in MCF7 cells promotes a number of cellular phenotypes associated with cellular plasticity and malignant progression.











Figure 3. CDYL2 Over-Expression in MCF7 Cells Induces EMT-like Changes, Accompanied by Increased Migration, Invasiveness, and Mammosphere Formation

(A) qRT-PCR analysis of a panel of EMT marker genes, normalization to GAPDH. Shown is mean ± SD of three experiments. Differences significant at p < 0.05 (t test).

(B) Western blot analysis of a panel of EMT markers, ER-alpha, CDYL2, and beta-actin.

(C) 10 x phase contrast micrograph of MCF7-CDYL2 and MCF7-Vector control. Scale bar, 200 μ M.

(D) Schematic diagram of the xCELLigence quantitative, real-time migration and invasion assay system.

(E) xCELLigence assay comparing the relative migration efficiency (Cell Index, CI) of MCF7-Vector and MCF7-CDYL2 cells. Both (E) and (F) show technical guadruplicates \pm SD. Experiments were repeated at least three times with similar results.

(F) Invasion assays were performed as in (E), except that the porous membrane separating the upper and lower chambers of the transwell was first overlaid with Matrigel.

(G) Zebrafish embryo cell invasion and migration assay. Shown are micrographs illustrating the metastasis of fluorescently labeled MCF7-CDYL2 or MCF7-Vector from the site of injection to the tail. Scale bar, 200 µM. Quantification of the percentage of embryo exhibiting tail metastases is shown below. Experiments were repeated three times.

(H) Mammosphere formation in MCF7-CDYL2 cells compared with MCF7-Vector controls. Cells were plated at the indicated seeding number per well in 96-well plates. Mammospheres with size >50 µm were counted after 8 days. Shown is a scatterplot of the results of a representative of three independent experiments indicating the median (black bar) and t test significance (****p < 0.0001).

(I) Representative 4x phase microscopy images of mammospheres counted in (H). Scale bar, 700 μ M.

(J) Mammosphere diameters were determined by image analysis. Shown is mean + SD of eight wells in which 1,000 cells were seeded. t test significance (*p < 0.05)

(K and L) FACS analysis of antigenic profile associated with breast cancer stem cells (CD44+; CD24-low/negative). Shown are representative FACS scatterplots (K) and the mean of three independent experiments \pm S.D. (L). t test significance (*p < 0.05).

RNAi Knockdown of CDYL2 in the Invasive Breast Cancer Cell Line MDA-MB-231 Diminishes the Expression of EMT Markers and Inhibits Migration, Invasion, and Mammosphere Formation

We next analyzed the effect of CDYL2 loss of function in the highly invasive, cancer stem cell-enriched, mesenchymal-like breast cancer line MDA-MB-231. CDYL2 expression was inhibited by RNAi (Figures 4A and 4B) and high-throughput RNA-seq analysis performed. This revealed that compared with CDYL2 over-expression in MCF7 cells, the effects of its knock-down on MDA-MB-231 cell gene expression were more moderate, with no genes up- or down-regulated 2.5-fold or greater, except for CDYL2 itself (Table S2). However, using a fold-change cutoff of 1.25, we identified 204 genes up-regulated and 129 genes down-regulated (Figure 4C, Table S2). These gene lists were subjected to over-representation analysis using the GSEA molecular signatures database. This revealed that the down-regulated gene set was enriched in transcripts associated with EMT, metastasis, mammary stem cells, and invasive ductal carcinoma (Figures 4D and 4E). This suggests that CDYL2 knock-down might suppress EMT, metastasis, and stemness. To determine if this is the case, we performed essentially the same suite of assays used to probe the effect of CDYL2 over-expression on MCF7 cells (Figure 3).

We first confirmed by qRT-PCR that CDYL2 RNAi reduced the levels of a number of transcripts associated with EMT, namely, JUN, MYC, SNAI2, FOSL1, and TWIST1 (Figure 4F). Immunoblotting revealed induction of E-cadherin expression and diminished expression of Vimentin, Fibronectin, and Twist (Figure 4G). Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) analysis revealed that CDYL2 RNAi also induced the appearance of a subpopulation of EpCAM+/CD49- MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure S2C, lower panels), which was shown to be associated with loss of tumorigenicity (Kim et al., 2015). However, we did not observe morphological changes in these cells indicative of a mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition (MET), possibly because the duration of the RNAi treatment was not long enough for such phenotypes to emerge. Nonetheless, transduction of MDA-MB-231 cells with three independent small hairpin RNA (shRNA) sequences targeting CDYL2 (Figure S3A) did result in epithelial-like morphological changes after 2 weeks, with cells forming cobblestone-like monolayers (Figure S3B). These cells also exhibited down-regulation of a number genes associated with EMT induction that were strongly up-regulated in MCF7-CDYL2 cells (FOS, FOSB, JUNB, CXCL8, CTGF, LCN2, MUC1, ERBB4), but not down-regulated in MDA-MB-231 cells treated with transient CDYL2 RNAi (Figure S3C).

The effect of CDYL2 RNAi on motility and invasiveness of MDA-MB-231 cells was evaluated using in vitro assays, revealing that transient or stable RNAi of CDYL2 dramatically reduced the migratory and invasive ability of MDA-MB-231 cells, relative to controls (Figures 4H, 4I, S3D, and S3E). In vivo, CDYL2 RNAi significantly impaired the ability of MDA-MB-231 cells to metastasize from the perivitelline site of injection to the tail of zebrafish embryos (Figure 4J), indicating suppression of the invasive and/or migratory capacity. Knockdown of CDYL2 by transient or stable RNAi treatment also resulted in fewer and smaller mammospheres relative to negative controls (Figures 4K-4M and S3F). While FACS analysis revealed that the







iScience

Article



Figure 4. RNAi Knockdown of CDYL2 in the Invasive Breast Cancer Cell Line MDA-MB-231 Induces Transcriptional and Phenotypic Changes Associated with Inhibition of Malignancy

(A and B) CDYL2 knock-down validated by RT-qPCR (A) and western blotting (B).

(C and D) (C) Volcano plot showing genes up- or down-regulated at least 1.25-fold. (D) Selected molecular signatures from the MSigDB database that were over-represented in either the up- or down-regulated gene sets from (C).

(E) Heatmap showing expression of selected genes from (D) in the triplicate RNA-seq.

(F) qRT-PCR validation of differential expression of selected genes from (D). Expression normalized to GAPDH. Data are the mean \pm SD of three independent experiments. All differential expressions significant at p < 0.05 (t test).

(G) Western blot analysis of a panel of EMT markers, CDYL2, and beta-actin.

(H) xCELLigence assay comparing the relative migration efficiency of MDA-MB-231 cells treated with esiLuc or esiCDYL2 (esiCD2). Both (H) and (I) show technical quadruplicates \pm SD. Experiments were repeated at least three times with similar results.

(I) Invasion assays were performed as in (H), except that the porous membrane separating the upper and lower chambers of the transwell was first overlaid with Matrigel.

(J) Fluorescence microscopy analysis of with esiLuc or esiCDYL2 on the migration of MDA-MB-231 from the perivitelline space of zebrafish embryos to the tail. Representative images are shown. Scale bar, 700 μ M. Quantification of the percentage of embryos exhibiting tail metastases (Mets) is shown to the right. Experiments were repeated three times with similar results.

(K) Mammosphere formation in MDA-MB-231 cells treated with esiLuc or esiCDYL2. Cells were plated at the indicated seeding number per well in 96-well plates. Mammospheres with size >50 μ m were counted after 8 days. Shown is a scatterplot of the results of a representative of three independent experiments indicating the median (black bar) and t test significance (**p < 0.01; ****p < 0.001).

(L) Representative $4 \times$ phase microscopy images of mammospheres counted in (K) are shown. Scale bar, 200 μ M.

(M) The diameters of mammospheres from (K) were determined using image analysis software. Shown is the mean +SD of eight wells in which 1,000 cells were seeded. t test significance (**p < 0.01).

(N and O) FACS analysis of antigenic profile associated with breast cancer stem cells (CD44+; CD24-low/negative). Shown are representative FACS scatterplots (N) and the mean of three independent experiments \pm SD. (O). t test significance (**p < 0.01).

majority of control RNAi-treated MDA-MB-231 cells were CD44-high/CD24-low, CDYL2 RNAi induced a population of CD44-low/CD24-low cells, indicative of loss of stemness (Figures 4N, 4O, and S3G). Collectively, these assays indicate that CDYL2 is required for MDA-MB-231 cell migration, invasion, and stemness, as well as the full expression of its mesenchymal-like state.

Regulation of p65/NF-κB and STAT3 Signaling by CDYL2

Gene expression signature analysis of the effects of CDYL2 over-expression in MCF7 cells or knockdown in MDA-MB-231 revealed a potential role in regulating NF- κ B/TNF-alpha and STAT3/interleukin-6 signaling (Figure 5A). Given the importance of these signaling pathways in controlling cancer cell EMT, stemness, motility, and invasiveness, we asked if their regulation by CDYL2 might contribute to its regulation of these cellular processes. Consistent with the transcriptomic analysis, over-expression of CDYL2 in MCF7 cells increased the levels of tyrosine 705-phosphorylated STAT3 (Figure 5B), the active form of this protein. It also increased the levels of serine 536 phosphorylation on the NF- κ B TF p65 (Figure 5B), indicating an increase in canonical NF- κ B pathway signaling. By contrast, the levels of both phosphoproteins were diminished in CDYL2 RNAi-treated MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 5C). We also probed the levels of total p65 and STAT3 proteins, as well as beta-actin, as a loading control. The total p65 levels were not affected by either CDYL2 over-expression or RNAi, whereas total STAT3 levels were higher in MCF7-CDYL2 cells compared with controls (Figure 5B) and down-regulated after CDYL2 RNAi in MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 5C).

We then asked if CDYL2 induction of genes associated with EMT, invasion, and stemness in MCF7 cells might be dependent on signaling via p65/NF-κB and STAT3. STAT3 and p65 were knocked down by transient transfection with small interfering RNA (siRNA) in both MCF7-Vector and MCF7-CDYL2 cells. A non-targeting siRNA was used as a control (Figures 5D and 5E). qRT-PCR analysis then revealed that p65 RNAi down-regulated several genes associated with NF-κB signaling, namely, CTGF, EGR1, FOS, IL6, CXCL8, INHBA, JUN, MYC, SNAI1, KLF4, SOX2, and TWIST1 (Figure 5F). Similarly, STAT3 RNAi down-regulated several genes associated with STAT3 signaling, including FOS, TWIST1, SOX2, JUN, MUC1, INHBA, IL6R, IL6ST, and TNF (Figure 5G). Strikingly, RNAi knockdown of either p65 or STAT3 potently suppressed both invasiveness (Figures 5H and 5I) and mammosphere induction by CDYL2 (Figures 5J and 5K). Taken together, these analyses indicate that p65/NF-κB and STAT3 signaling is regulated by CDYL2, and that both pathways are required for CDYL2 induction of invasion and mammosphere formation in MCF7 cells.

CDYL2 Binds Upstream of MIR124 Genes and Regulates miR-124 Expression

Consistent with the possibility that CDYL2 might be an epigenetic regulator of transcription, we found that it was enriched in the nucleus of both MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cells, with a significant fraction present in the



Α

iScience Article

	Cell- Line	Input Gene List	Enriched Gene Set Name (# genes (K))	Description	# Genes in Over- lap (k)	k/K	p-value	FDR q- value
MCF7 Up-regulated in HALLMARK TNFA SIGNALING MCF7-CDYL2 VIA NFKB (200)		HALLMARK TNFA SIGNALING VIA NFKB (200)	Genes regulated by NF-kB in response to TNF.	40	0.2	1.97E-40	9.86E-39	
	MCF7	Up-regulated in MCF7-CDYL2	STAT3 02 (147)	Genes having at least one occurrence of the transcription factor binding site V\$STAT3 02 (v7.4 TRANSFAC) in the regions spanning up to 4 kb around their transcription starting sites.	14	0.095	2.03E-10	3.2E-09
	MDA-MB- 231	Down-regulated by esiCDYL2	HALLMARK TNFA SIGNALING VIA NFKB (200)	Genes regulated by NF-kB in response to TNF.	7	0.035	1.23E-06	2.06E-05
	MDA-MB- 231	Down-regulated by esiCDYL2	DASU IL6 SIGNALING UP (59)	Genes up-regulated in normal fibroblasts in response to IL6.	4	0.067	1.98E-05	7.25E - 04
Β F(((MCF7 CDYL2 -STAT3 Tyr705) STAT3 p-p65 Ser536) p65	vertori CO NA → <u>b</u> 50 -75 -75 -75 -75 -75 -75 -75	с <u>MDA-MB-231</u> e ^{skUC} e ^{sk} <u>P-STAT3</u> (Туг705) STAT3 (Туг705) STAT3 <u>P-p65</u> (Ser536) <u>P65</u> <u>B-ACTIN</u>	conv2 b conv b conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv conv	e si-Ctr si-STAT3 CDYL2 STAT3 β-ACTIN		or <u>CD</u> - + + -	YL2 +
	$\mathbf{F} \underbrace{\mathbf{MCF7-CDYL2}}_{\mathbf{v} \text{ v} $							
G	ن ن ا	α – ϫ Ͼ Ͼ	N Y Y Y Y X X	2 ° -0.1 0h 6h 12h16h 24h 36h 48h	-0.25 C	12	24	36 48
-	140%	MC	F7-CDYL2	J Time (hours)	к	т	ïme (hours)	
Polotino mBNIA outronion	120% 100% 60% 20% 0%	A C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	MUCCI GF MUCCI GF MUCCI GF MUCCI GF MUCCI GF MUBA MUCCI GF MUCCI G		Mammospheres count (>200 80 - 80 - 60 - 60 - 60 - 60 - 60 - 60 -		***** •••• ••• ••• ••• ••• ••• •	**** 2 0 0 0

iScience Article





Figure 5. CDYL2 Regulation of NF-KB and STAT3 Signaling Contributes to Its Induction of Invasion and Mammosphere Formation

(A) Selected gene expression signatures enriched in the indicated RNA-seq datasets.

(B) Western blot of Ser536-phosphorylated p65 and Tyr705-phosphorylated STAT3 in MCF7-Vector versus MCF7-CDYL2. The levels of total p65, STAT3, and β -actin were also probed.

(C) As for (B), except comparing MDA-MB-231 cells treated with esiLuc or esiCDYL2.

(D and E) Western blot validation of RNAi knockdown of p65 (D) or STAT3 (E) in MCF7-Vector and MCF7-CDYL2 cells. β-actin is shown as loading control. (F) qRT-PCR analysis of the effect of RNAi knockdown of p65 on the expression of a panel of NF-κB target genes that were up-regulated in MCF7-CDYL2 compared with MCF7-Vector cells. Data are represented as mean of three independent experiments \pm SD. All differences were significant at p < 0.05 (t test). (G) As in (F), except the effect of RNAi knockdown of STAT3 on the expression of a panel of its target genes up-regulated in MCF7-CDYL2 compared with MCF7-Vector cells was evaluated.

(H and I) xCELLigence invasion assays of MCF7-CDYL2 in MCF7 cells treated with either control RNAi or siRNA targeting p65 (H) or STAT3 (I). Graphs are representative of three independent experiments in quadruple runs per condition. Error bars represent the SD of quadruplicate readings at each time point. (J and K) Mammosphere assay of MCF7-CDYL2 in MCF7 cells treated with either control RNAi or siRNA targeting p65 (J) or STAT3 (K). Mammospheres from 1,000 seeded cells with size >50 µm were counted after 8 days. Shown is a scatterplot of the results of a representative of three independent experiments indicating the median (black bar) and t test significance (***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.0001; ns, not significant).

chromatin fraction (Figures S4A-S4C). To identify where on chromatin CDYL2 is bound, we performed CDYL2 chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) in both MCF7-Vector and MCF7-CDYL2 cells followed by Illumina sequencing (ChIP-seq). This revealed several genomic loci that were more enriched in CDYL2 in the MCF7-CDYL2 cells compared with vector controls, including upstream of all three members of the MIR124 gene family (Figure 6A; Data S1, S2, and S3). Owing to their implication in tumor suppression, and the ability to regulate both p65/NF-κB and STAT3 signaling, EMT, invasion, and stemness (Cao et al., 2018; Hatziapostolou et al., 2011; Ji et al., 2019; Lv et al., 2011; Mehta et al., 2017; Olarerin-George et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2016a, 2016b), we decided to investigate CDYL2 regulation of the MIR124 genes further. We confirmed CDYL2 enrichment upstream of MIR124 genes using ChIP-qPCR (Figure 6B). A non-reactive IgG was used as negative ChIP control, whereas gPCR analysis did not detect enrichment of CDYL2 at an unrelated sequence (Figure 6B). We reasoned that CDYL2 repression of MIR124 genes might contribute to its regulation of STAT3 and NF-κB signaling in MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cells. In agreement with this possibility, CDYL2 RNAi diminished its levels upstream of MIR124 genes in MDA-MB-231 (Figure 6C), with a corresponding increase in the expression of both the precursor (pri-mir-124) and mature (miR-124-3p) forms of microRNA-124 (Figure 6E). Stable knock-down of CDYL2 using three independent shRNAs also increased levels of both pre-mir-124 and miR-124-3p (Figure S5). In complementary analysis, both MIR124 transcripts were down-regulated by CDYL2 over-expression in MCF7 (Figure 6D). Supporting the notion that the alterations of miR-124 levels were sufficient to affect cell function, analysis of the MCF7-CDYL2 and MDA-MB-231 esiCDYL2 RNA-seq data showed that miR-124 target genes were commonly up-regulated in the former and down-regulated in the latter (Figure 6F). The miR-124 GSEA signature was also positively correlated with CDYL2 mRNA expression across all samples in the TCGA breast cohort, as well as in the ER+/HER2- and TN subtypes (Figures 6G-6I). Differential expression of several of the genes up-regulated in MCF7-CDYL2 cells or down-regulated in MDA-MB-231 cells treated with CDYL2 RNAi was validated by RT-qPCR (Figures 6J and 6K). In suppression assays, a miR-124-3p mimic strongly diminished the levels of the active, phosphorylated forms of both p65 and STAT3 (Figure 6L). miR-124-3p also suppressed the total levels of STAT3 protein (Figure 6L). In complementary experiments, a neutralizing anti-miR-124-3p oligonucleotide rescued esiCDYL2 suppression of phospho-p65 and phospho-STAT3 levels in MDA-MB-231 cells, compared with a control non-targeting anti-miR oligonucleotide (Figure 6M). The reduced total STAT3 levels observed upon esiCDYL2 treatment were also rescued by antimiR-124-3p treatment (Figure 6M). These findings indicate that CDYL2 regulates miR-124 levels, possibly by its binding upstream of MIR124 genes, and that control of miR-124-3p levels by CDYL2 contributes to its regulation of NF-κB and STAT3 signaling.

CDYL2 Interacts with G9a, GLP, and PRC2 Complex Components EZH2 and SUZ12

Because CDYL2 is enriched at MIR124 genes and negatively regulates miR-124 expression, we asked if it might promote an epigenetically repressive chromatin environment at these loci. However, the epigenetic mechanism of CDYL2 is not known. By analogy with CDYL1, we speculated that it may form a complex with the H3K9 di-methyltransferases G9a, GLP, or SETDB1 (Mulligan et al., 2008) and the Polycomb Repressive Complex 2 (PRC2) core components EZH2 and SUZ12 (Zhang et al., 2011). Using immunoprecipitation (IP) assays we found that anti-CDYL2, but not a control IgG, efficiently recovered endogenous CDYL2 from MCF7 lysates and co-immunoprecipitated (coIP) G9a and its heterodimeric partner (Tachibana et al., 2005), GLP (Figure 7A). After long exposure of the western blot membrane, we also detected the presence of small amounts of EZH2 and SUZ12 in the CDYL2 IP, but at a much lower percentage of input compared







Gene set	Gene Set Name (# genes (K))	Over-lap (k)	k/K	p-val.	FDR
Up-regulated in MCF7-CDYL2	TGCCTTA MIR124A ^a (552)	18	3.20E-02	8.96E-06	8.25E-05
Down-regulated in MDA-MB-231 CDYL2 RNAi	TGCCTTA MIR124A ^a (552)	10	1.80E-02	p-val. 8.96E-06 2.57E-06	6.31E-05
^a Gonos having at least one occurrence of the mot	if TGCCTTA in their 3' untranslated region	n Tho motif ro	proconte putativo	target (that is so	od match) of

^a Genes having at least one occurrence of the motif TGCCTTA in their 3' untranslated region. The motif represents putative target (that is, seed match) of human mature miRNA hsa-miR-124a (v7.1 miRBase).



iScience Article



Figure 6. CDYL2 ChIP-Seq Analysis Identifies miR-124 as a Mediator of CDYL2 Regulation of STAT3 and NF-kB Signaling

(A) Relative enrichment of CDYL2 upstream of MIR124 genes in MCF7-Vector cells (blue) and MCF7-CDYL2 (red), as revealed by ChIP-seq analysis. Input control and gene positions relative to the peaks are shown below.

(B) ChIP-qPCR validation of data presented in (A). ChIP-qPCR signal at an unrelated negative control sequence is also shown. Shown is the mean enrichment as a percentage of input of three independent experiments, \pm SD. (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01, t test)

(C) As in (B), except CDYL2 or IgG ChIP was performed using chromatin prepared from MDA-MB-231 cells treated with esiLuc or esiCDYL2.

(D) qRT-PCR analysis of pre-mir-124 and miR-124-3p levels in MCF7-CDYL2 and MCF7-Vector cells. Expression was normalized to an unrelated miRNA. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments \pm SD. Significance determined by test (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01).

(E) As in (D), except qRT-PCR analysis was performed using microRNA (miRNA) prepared from MDA- MB-231 cells treated with esiLuc or esiCDYL2. (F) Selected gene expression signatures enriched in the indicated RNA-seq datasets.

(G–I) Correlation between CDYL2 expression and the GSEA signature "TGCCTTA MIR124A" in the indicated TCGA breast cancer patient cohorts. The linear regression r and p value are indicated.

(J) qRT-PCR analysis of the expression of miR-124-3p target genes in MCF7-CDYL2 and MCF7-Vector cells. Data represented as mean of three independent experiments \pm SD. (*p < 0.05, by t test).

(K) As in (J), except qRT-PCR analysis was performed using RNA prepared from MDA-MB-231 cells treated with esiLuc or esiCDYL2.

(L and M) Western blot of phosphorylated p65 (Ser 536), total p65, phosphorylated STAT3 (Tyr 705), and total STAT3 in MCF7-CDYL2 cells treated with a miR124-3p mimic or miR control (L) or in MDA-MB-231 cells co-treated with esiCDYL2 and either an anti-miR-124-3p oligonucleotide or a control anti-miR (M). Data are representative of three independent experiments.

with G9a and GLP, suggesting a low abundance or labile interaction (Figure S6A). Reciprocal coIP assays confirmed G9a interaction with CDYL2, but did not identify CDYL2 association with EZH2 (Figures 7A and S6A). These data indicate that CDYL2 forms a complex with G9a and GLP and may interact marginally with EZH2 and SUZ12.

CDYL2 Regulates the Enrichment of G9a and EZH2 Upstream of *MIR124* Genes, as well as that of Their Cognate Methylation Marks H3K9me2 and H3K27me3

We next asked if CDYL2 might control the levels of G9a and EZH2 at a promoter-proximal region upstream of MIR124 genes. ChIP-qPCR assays indicated that CDYL2, G9a, and EZH2 were enriched upstream of all three MIR124 genes in both MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cells (Figures 7B, 7C, S6B, and S6C). The enrichment of both methyltransferases was increased by CDYL2 over-expression in MCF7 cells (Figures 7B and S6B) and diminished by CDYL2 RNAi knockdown in MDA-MB-231 cells (Figures 7D and S6C). Increased levels of H3K9me2 and H3K27me3 were also observed upstream of MIR124 genes in MCF7-CDYL2 (Figures 7C and S6B), whereas levels of H3K9me2 and H3K27me3 at these loci were decreased upon CDYL2 RNAi in MDA-MB-231 (Figures 7E and S6C). The levels of total histone H3 at these loci were not affected by CDYL2 over-expression in MCF7 or its knockdown in MDA-MB-231 (Figures 7C and 7E, left panels). The same pattern of alterations was not observed at two independent control sequences (Figures 7C and 7E, right panels; Figures S6B and S6C). These findings indicate that in addition to interacting with G9a, and weakly so with EZH2, CDYL2 positively regulates the enrichment of both methyltransferases upstream of MIR124 genes, as well as those of the histone marks they regulate. To further probe the involvement of G9a and EZH2 in CDYL2 down-regulation of miR-124 levels, we treated MCF7-CDYL2 cells with the G9a/ GLP inhibitor UNC0642 (Kim et al., 2017) or the EZH2 inhibitor CPI-169 (Bradley et al., 2014). We observed that UNC0642 treatment indeed resulted in increased levels of miR-124-3p (Figure S7A), relative to vehicle controls. However, treatment with CPI-169 at a range of doses did not affect miR-124-3p levels after 3, 4, or 5 days of treatment (Figure S7B and data not shown). This result further supports the importance of G9a/ GLP methyltransferase activity in regulating miR-124 levels, but argues that inhibition of EZH2 enzymatic activity is not sufficient to antagonize CDYL2-mediated miR-124 down-regulation.

DISCUSSION

Despite the emergence of epigenetic factors as important regulators of cancer cell plasticity and malignant progression, the underlying molecular mechanisms remain poorly understood. This is due in part to insufficient characterization of several putative epigenetic factors, including CDYL2. Our study shows that CDYL2 is frequently misexpressed in breast cancer and provides a proof of principle that this could promote cellular phenotypes associated with malignant progression. We present the first insights into the genes and cellular pathways of CDYL2 controls, and the epigenetic mechanisms it engages. Based on our findings, we propose that CDYL2 up-regulation contributes to poor prognosis in breast cancer by inducing epigenetic deregulation of genes and pathways important in tumorigenesis (*MIR124*, NF- κ B, STAT3), resulting in cellular changes central to malignant progression (EMT, migration, invasion, stemness) (schematic diagram, Figure 7F).











Figure 7. CDYL2 Interaction with G9a, GLP, EZH2, and SUZ12 and Its Regulation of G9a, EZH2, H3K9me2, and H3K27me3 Levels Upstream of MIR124-2

(A) Immunoprecipitation (IP) of CDYL2, EZH2, and G9a was performed on MCF7 cell lysates and the presence of the indicated proteins in the resulting IP eluates determined by western blotting (WB). A non-specific IgG was used as negative control. Input lysate was used to assess the relative strength of each coIP signal. The experiment was repeated three times with similar results. (*specific band; **H.C., IgG heavy chain).

iScience Article



Figure 7. Continued

(B) ChIP-qPCR analysis of the relative occupancy of CDYL2, EZH2, and G9a upstream of *MIR124-2* in MCF7-CDYL2 compared with MCF7-Vector cells. IgG, negative control ChIP. qPCR analysis was also performed at an unrelated negative control sequence. Shown is the mean enrichment as a percentage of input of three independent experiments, \pm SD. Significance was determined by t test (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001).

(C) As in (B), except using antibodies specific to H3K9me2, H3K27me3, H3, and IgG. These ChIP analyses were conducted using the same lysates as in (B), so are paired analyses.

(D and E) Experiments were conducted as described in (B) and (C), except using chromatin lysates prepared from MDA-MB-231 cells treated with esiCDYL2 or esiLuc.

(F) Schematic model of the proposed contribution of CDYL2 to epigenetic regulation of MIR124, cell signaling, and malignancy-associated cellular processes.

Although we predicted CDYL2 to be an epigenetic repressor of transcription due to its homology to CDYL1 (Dorus et al., 2003; Fischle et al., 2008), this was not previously demonstrated. We have shown that CDYL2 is localized in the nuclear fraction of cells and binds to chromatin upstream of the MIR124 genes. Further implicating CDYL2 as an epigenetic repressor of transcription, CDYL2 over-expression in MCF-7 cells both increased its enrichment upstream of MIR124 genes and decreased the levels of MIR124 transcripts. Treatment of MCF7-CDYL2 cells with the G9a/GLP inhibitor UNC0642 increased expression of miR-124-3p, indicating that the catalytic activity of G9a and/or its heterodimeric partner GLP (Tachibana et al., 2005) is important for the CDYL2-mediated repression of MIR124 genes. Meanwhile, CDYL2 RNAi in MDA-MB-231 cells had the opposite effect. Our coIP data suggest that CDYL2 might regulate G9a levels at MIR124 genes via a mechanism involving physical association of the two factors, whereas they only weakly support this possibility in the case of EZH2. We speculate that an indirect mechanism could account for the strong effects of CDYL2 over-expression and RNAi on EZH2 enrichment upstream of MIR124 genes, such as the previously described regulation of EZH2 levels on chromatin by G9a methyltransferase activity (Mozzetta et al., 2014). However, the inhibition of the catalytic activity of EZH2 using the small molecule CPI-169 was not sufficient to de-repress miR-124 expression in MCF7-CDYL2 cells. This indicates that recruitment of the EZH2 methyltransferase activity to MIR124 genes by CDYL2 is not sufficient for their repression. Taken together, our findings are consistent with the idea that CDYL2 regulation of G9a enrichment at MIR124 genes promotes their transcriptional repression, likely via local increases in H3K9me2. Although CDYL2 also regulated the enrichment of EZH2 and H3K9me3 levels upstream of MIR124 genes, the weak interaction between CDYL2 and EZH2/SUZ12 and failure of CPI-169 to reverse CDYL2 repression of MIR124 genes in MCF7 cells suggests that these may be indirect and not sufficient for CDYL2 repression of miR-124.

MIR124 genes are emerging tumor suppressors commonly silenced in various cancers including breast (Conaco et al., 2006; Sullivan et al., 2009, p. 124; Wang et al., 2016a, p. 124; Wang et al., 2016b, p. 124). miR-124-3p directly targets STAT3 mRNA and antagonizes p65/NF-κB by inhibiting multiple components of its signaling pathway. It also regulates EMT, migration, invasion, and stemness (Ji et al., 2019; Lv et al., 2011, p. 124; Wang et al., 2016a, p. 124). Importantly, we showed that CDYL2 over-expression up-regulated the levels of active STAT3 and p65 in MCF7 cells, whereas CDYL2 RNAi down-regulated their levels in MDA-MB-231 cells. These observations were consistent with the effects of CDYL2 gain or loss of function on miR-124 levels, suggesting a functional association. Further supporting this possibility, CDYL2 up-regulation of STAT3 and NF-κB signaling in MCF7 cells was suppressed by a miR-124-3p mimic, whereas CDYL2 RNAi down-regulation of STAT3 and NF- κ B signaling was rescued by a miR-124-3p inhibitor. Our data suggest that CDYL2 might regulate STAT3 levels via direct targeting by miR-124-3p, as the levels of total STAT3 were increased or diminished in accordance with CDYL2 gain or loss of function. Owing to the diversity of miR-124-3p targets implicated in NF-κB regulation across different cell types, it is challenging to determine which ones might connect CDYL2 with NF-κB regulation. Based on our studies, candidates include BIRC3, RELA, and STAT3 in MCF7 cells, all of which were up-regulated upon CDYL2 over-expression and are known to link miR-124 with NF-κB regulation (Cao et al., 2018, p. 3; Mehta et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2016a). In MDA-MB-231 cells, they include RELA and STAT3, which were down-regulated upon CDYL2 RNAi.

In accordance with the known effects of constitutive NF-κB and STAT3 signaling in cancer cells (Banerjee and Resat, 2016; Huber et al., 2004, p.; Wu et al., 2009), stable over-expression of CDYL2 induced migration and invasiveness in MCF7 cells *in vitro*. Likewise, whereas control MCF7 cells injected into zebrafish embryos seldom metastasized, cells over-expressing CDYL2 frequently did so. In complementary experiments, we showed that CDYL2 RNAi suppressed migration and invasion of MDA-MB-231 cells, which are normally highly invasive. CDYL2 RNAi also diminished the metastatic potential of MDA-MB-231 cells





injected into zebrafish embryos. NF- κ B and STAT3 signaling also promote the emergence of breast cancer stem cells, which are believed to play crucial roles in malignant progression (Marotta et al., 2011; Shostak and Chariot, 2011; Wang et al., 2016a; Zhou et al., 2008). We showed that CDYL2 over-expression augmented mammosphere formation in MCF7 cells, suggesting an increase in the proportion of stemlike cells in the culture. Consistent with this, we also observed an increase in the proportion of cells expressing the breast cancer stem cell marker profile CD44-high/CD24-low. In complementary assays, CDYL2 RNAi in MDA-MB-231 cells decreased both mammosphere formation and the fraction of CD44-high/ CD24-low cells. These findings support the notion that CDYL2 not only promotes breast cancer cell migration and invasion but also stemness. As was the case for invasion, CDYL2 induction of both invasiveness and mammosphere formation was suppressed by RNAi knockdown of either NF- κ B or STAT3, indicating key roles of these pathways in CDYL2 regulation of cancer cell biology.

It has been proposed that in certain malignancies, including breast, molecular and cellular changes that promote the emergence of mesenchymal-like cells constitute a key enabling step in the process of malignant progression (Huber et al., 2004; Puisieux et al., 2014; Sarrio et al., 2008; Shibue and Weinberg, 2017). We found that stable over-expression of CDYL2 induced morphological and molecular changes in the normally non-invasive, epithelioid, MCF7 cells, strongly indicative of an EMT. While transient transfection of MDA-MB-231 cells with siRNA targeting CDYL2 altered the expression of some genes consistent with a partial loss of mesenchymal cell identity, and impaired invasiveness and mammospheres formation in these cells, it did not induce any striking morphological changes. This is consistent with a partial reversal of the EMT state. However, when CDYL2 was knocked down for a longer duration using lentiviral RNAi vectors, we observed clusters of cells forming epithelial-like cobblestone monolayers after 2 to 3 weeks, suggesting a more advanced EMT reversal. These cells also exhibited down-regulation of several EMT-related genes (LCN2, CTGF, FOSB, JUNB, and MYC) that were over-expressed in MCF7-CDYL2 cells but not down-regulated by transient knock-down of CDYL2 in MDA-MB-231. This difference in gene expression may account for the observation of changes in cell morphology only after prolonged CDYL2 knock-down. In genetic suppression experiments, we found that the EMT-like gene expression program activated in MCF7-CDYL2 cells was antagonized by RNAi knock-down of either STAT3 or p65. These data argue that CDYL2 induction of migration, invasion, metastasis, and stemness in breast cancer cells might be due in part to its regulation of EMT states via up-regulation of NF-κB and STAT3 signaling.

Overall, our studies are consistent with an oncogenic effect of CDYL2 over-expression in breast cancer. This might contribute to the poor prognosis of the patients with ER+/HER2– and TN breast cancer whose cancers express high levels of CDYL2. Although not studied in depth here, we also observed a correlation between high CDYL2 expression and poor prognosis in lung and colorectal carcinomas, hinting at a wider role in cancer. Given the emergence of epigenetic factors as viable therapeutic targets in cancer, our study supports the further evaluation of CDYL2 as a candidate drug target in breast cancer, and potentially other malignancies.

Limitations of the Study

Our study provides several lines of molecular and cellular evidence supporting roles for CDYL2 in regulating EMT, stemness, and cancer cell migration and invasion. Future studies should further extend these findings using murine models of breast cancer cell growth, invasion, and stemness. Although we showed that both G9a and EZH2 were involved in the mechanism of CDYL2 regulation of *MIR124* genes, several molecular details remain to be fully elucidated. For instance, given the weak coIP between CDYL2 and EZH2, it remains to be determined how over-expression or knock-down of CDYL2 exerts comparably strong effects on EZH2 chromatin levels at *MIR124* genes. We speculate that this may be due to the previously described ability of G9a to regulate EZH2 enrichment at certain chromatin loci in a manner that depends on an intact G9a histone methyltransferase activity (Mozzetta et al., 2014), but this remains to be demonstrated in our models. An important aspect of this study is that it links the previously uncharacterized CDYL2 with pathways and genes of established importance in breast cancer, notably *MIR124* genes and signaling via the STAT3 and NF- κ B pathways. However, we do not exclude the possibility that CDYL2 regulation of other genes and pathways may also contribute to the cellular phenotypes we observed, and the role of CDYL2 in cancer.

Resource Availability

Lead Contact

Further information and requests for resources and reagents should be directed to and will be fulfilled by the Lead Contact, Peter Mulligan (peter.mulligan@inserm.fr).





Materials Availability

All unique/stable reagents generated in this study are available from the Lead Contact with a completed Materials Transfer Agreement.

Data and Code Availability

The published article includes all datasets generated or analyzed during this study. They are also available via NCBI GEO: GSE150320.

METHODS

All methods can be found in the accompanying Transparent Methods supplemental file.

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Supplemental Information can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2020.101141.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge the technical assistance provided by Aurelie Jullien and Valery Attignon. We thank Christophe Ginestier, Toufic Renno, and Hichem Mertani for helpful technical discussions and sharing of protocols. This work was funded by grant number PLBIO2016-180 from l'Institut National du Cancer, grant number AJE20131128936 from La Fondation pour la recherche médicale, and financial support from le Centre Léon Bérard, and l'Institut national de la santé et de la recherche médicale, France (Inserm).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

M.S.: execution and analysis of majority of experiments; writing of original and updated manuscript; supervision and mentorship of other project participants; co-ordination with other co-authors. P.M.: conceptualization, funding acquisition, project administration, supervision and mentorship of other project members, investigation, formal analysis, writing of original and updated manuscript. P.S. and H.G.: conceptualization, project administration, funding acquisition, formal analysis; M.A.M.-P.: formal analysis; A.D.D.: investigation; L.B.B.: investigation; M.O.: conceptualization, investigation; G.I.: conceptualization and investigation; L.T., A.V., M.R., J.-P.F., V.L., S.N.M., A.P., J.B., and B.G.: formal analysis.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Received: December 20, 2019 Revised: March 31, 2020 Accepted: May 4, 2020 Published: June 26, 2020

REFERENCES

Alam, M., Rajabi, H., Ahmad, R., Jin, C., and Kufe, D. (2014). Targeting the MUC1-C oncoprotein inhibits self-renewal capacity of breast cancer cells. Oncotarget 5, 2622–2634.

Bakiri, L., Macho-Maschler, S., Custic, I., Niemiec, J., Guio-Carrion, A., Hasenfuss, S.C., Eger, A., Muller, M., Beug, H., and Wagner, E.F. (2015). Fra-1/AP-1 induces EMT in mammary epithelial cells by modulating Zeb1/2 and TGFbeta expression. Cell Death Differ. 22, 336–350.

Banerjee, K., and Resat, H. (2016). Constitutive activation of STAT3 in breast cancer cells: a review. Int. J. Cancer *138*, 2570–2578.

Bradley, W.D., Arora, S., Busby, J., Balasubramanian, S., Gehling, V.S., Nasveschuk, C.G., Vaswani, R.G., Yuan, C.-C., Hatton, C., Zhao, F., et al. (2014). EZH2 inhibitor efficacy in non-Hodgkin's lymphoma does not require suppression of H3K27 monomethylation. Chem. Biol. 21, 1463–1475.

Cancer Genome Atlas Network (2012). Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature 490, 61–70.

Cao, J., Qiu, J., Wang, X., Lu, Z., Wang, D., Feng, H., Li, X., Liu, Q., Pan, H., and Han, X. (2018). Identification of microRNA-124 in regulation of Hepatocellular carcinoma through BIRC3 and the NF-kB pathway. J. Cancer *9*, 3006.

Chang, C.-J., Yang, J.-Y., Xia, W., Chen, C.-T., Xie, X., Chao, C.-H., Woodward, W.A., Hsu, J.-M., Hortobagyi, G.N., and Hung, M.-C. (2011). EZH2 promotes expansion of breast tumor initiating cells through activation of RAF1- β -catenin signaling. Cancer Cell 19, 86–100.

Chen, D.-T., Nasir, A., Culhane, A., Venkataramu, C., Fulp, W., Rubio, R., Wang, T., Agrawal, D., McCarthy, S.M., Gruidl, M., et al. (2010). Proliferative genes dominate malignancy-risk gene signature in histologically-normal breast tissue. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. *119*, 335–346.

Conaco, C., Otto, S., Han, J.-J., and Mandel, G. (2006). Reciprocal actions of REST and a microRNA promote neuronal identity. PNAS 103, 2422–2427.

Curry, E., Green, I., Chapman-Rothe, N., Shamsaei, E., Kandil, S., Cherblanc, F.L., Payne, L., Bell, E., Ganesh, T.,



Srimongkolpithak, N., et al. (2015). Dual EZH2 and EHMT2 histone methyltransferase inhibition increases biological efficacy in breast cancer cells. Clin. Epigenetics 7, 84.

Dawson, M.A., and Kouzarides, T. (2012). Cancer epigenetics: from mechanism to therapy. Cell 150, 12–27.

Dhasarathy, A., Kajita, M., and Wade, P.A. (2007). The transcription factor snail mediates epithelial to mesenchymal transitions by repression of estrogen receptor-*a*. Mol. Endocrinol. *21*, 2907– 2918.

Dong, C., Wu, Y., Yao, J., Wang, Y., Yu, Y., Rychahou, P.G., Evers, B.M., and Zhou, B.P. (2012). G9a interacts with Snail and is critical for Snail-mediated E-cadherin repression in human breast cancer. J. Clin. Invest. *122*, 1469–1486.

Dorus, S., Gilbert, S.L., Forster, M.L., Barndt, R.J., and Lahn, B.T. (2003). The CDY-related gene family: coordinated evolution in copy number, expression profile and protein sequence. Hum. Mol. Genet. 12, 1443–1650.

Ellis, M.J., Gillette, M., Carr, S.A., Paulovich, A.G., Smith, R.D., Rodland, K.K., Townsend, R.R., Kinsinger, C., Mesri, M., Rodriguez, H., and Liebler, D.C.; Clinical Proteomic Tumor Analysis Consortium (CPTAC) (2013). Connecting genomic alterations to cancer biology with proteomics: the NCI clinical proteomic tumor analysis Consortium. Cancer Discov. *3*, 1108– 1112.

Fischle, W., Franz, H., Jacobs, S.A., Allis, C.D., and Khorasanizadeh, S. (2008). Specificity of the chromodomains for lysine-methylated ARK(S/T) motifs. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 19626–19635.

Franz, H., Mosch, K., Soeroes, S., Urlaub, H., and Fischle, W. (2009). Multimerization and H3K9me3 binding are required for CDYL1b heterochromatin association. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 35049–35059.

Gatti, V., Bongiorno-Borbone, L., Fierro, C., Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli, M., Melino, G., and Peschiaroli, A. (2019). p63 at the crossroads between stemness and metastasis in breast cancer. Int. J. Mol. Sci. *20*, 2683.

Hatziapostolou, M., Polytarchou, C., Aggelidou, E., Drakaki, A., Poultsides, G.A., Jaeger, S.A., Ogata, H., Karin, M., Struhl, K., Hadzopoulou-Cladaras, M., and Iliopoulos, D. (2011). An HNF4*a*-miRNA inflammatory feedback circuit regulates hepatocellular oncogenesis. Cell *147*, 1233–1247.

Huber, M.A., Azoitei, N., Baumann, B., Grunert, S., Sommer, A., Pehamberger, H., Kraut, N., Beug, H., and Wirth, T. (2004). NF-kappaB is essential for epithelial-mesenchymal transition and metastasis in a model of breast cancer progression. J. Clin. Invest. *114*, 569–581.

Jambhekar, A., Dhall, A., and Shi, Y. (2019). Roles and regulation of histone methylation in animal development. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 1, https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0151-1.

Ji, H., Sang, M., Liu, F., Ai, N., and Geng, C. (2019). miR-124 regulates EMT based on ZEB2 target to inhibit invasion and metastasis in triple-negative breast cancer. Pathol. Res. Pract. *2*15, 697–704. Jiao, X., Katiyar, S., Willmarth, N.E., Liu, M., Ma, X., Flomenberg, N., Lisanti, M.P., and Pestell, R.G. (2010). c-Jun induces mammary epithelial cellular invasion and breast cancer stem cell expansion. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 8218–8226.

Kim, G., Ouzounova, M., Quraishi, A.A., Davis, A., Tawakkol, N., Clouthier, S.G., Malik, F., Paulson, A.K., D'Angelo, R.C., Korkaya, S., et al. (2015). SOCS3-mediated regulation of inflammatory cytokines in PTEN and p53 inactivated triple negative breast cancer model. Oncogene *34*, 671–680.

Kim, Y., Lee, H.-M., Xiong, Y., Sciaky, N., Hulbert, S.W., Cao, X., Everitt, J.I., Jin, J., Roth, B.L., and Jiang, Y.-H. (2017). Targeting the histone methyltransferase G9a activates imprinted genes and improves survival of a mouse model of Prader-Willi syndrome. Nat. Med. 23, 213–222.

Kretschmer, C., Sterner-Kock, A., Siedentopf, F., Schoenegg, W., Schlag, P.M., and Kemmner, W. (2011). Identification of early molecular markers for breast cancer. Mol. Cancer *10*, 15.

Kufe, D.W. (2013). MUC1-C oncoprotein as a target in breast cancer: activation of signaling pathways and therapeutic approaches. Oncogene *32*, 1073–1081.

Lin, Y.-C., Lee, Y.-C., Li, L.-H., Cheng, C.-J., and Yang, R.-B. (2014). Tumor suppressor SCUBE2 inhibits breast-cancer cell migration and invasion through the reversal of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J. Cell. Sci. 127, 85–100.

Lv, X.-B., Jiao, Y., Qing, Y., Hu, H., Cui, X., Lin, T., Song, E., and Yu, F. (2011). miR-124 suppresses multiple steps of breast cancer metastasis by targeting a cohort of pro-metastatic genes in vitro. Chin. J. Cancer *30*, 821.

Marotta, L.L., Almendro, V., Marusyk, A., Shipitsin, M., Schemme, J., Walker, S.R., Bloushtain-Qimron, N., Kim, J.J., Choudhury, S.A., and Maruyama, R. (2011). The JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway is required for growth of CD44+ CD24-stem cell-like breast cancer cells in human tumors. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2723–2735.

Mehta, A.K., Hua, K., Whipple, W., Nguyen, M.-T., Liu, C.-T., Haybaeck, J., Weidhaas, J., Settleman, J., and Singh, A. (2017). Regulation of autophagy, NF-kB signaling, and cell viability by miR-124 in KRAS mutant mesenchymal-like NSCLC cells. Sci. Signal. *10*, eaam6291.

Michailidou, K., Hall, P., Gonzalez-Neira, A., Ghoussaini, M., Dennis, J., Milne, R.L., Schmidt, M.K., Chang-Claude, J., Bojesen, S.E., Bolla, M.K., et al. (2013). Large-scale genotyping identifies 41 new loci associated with breast cancer risk. Nat. Genet. 45, 353–361, 361.e1-e2.

Mozzetta, C., Pontis, J., Fritsch, L., Robin, P., Portoso, M., Proux, C., Margueron, R., and Ait-Si-Ali, S. (2014). The histone H3 lysine 9 methyltransferases G9a and GLP regulate polycomb repressive complex 2-mediated gene silencing. Mol. Cell 53, 277–289.

Mulligan, P., Westbrook, T.F., Ottinger, M., Pavlova, N., Chang, B., Macia, E., Shi, Y.J., Barretina, J., Liu, J., Howley, P.M., et al. (2008). CDYL bridges REST and histone methyltransferases for gene repression and suppression of cellular transformation. Mol. Cell 32, 718–726. Nair, R., Roden, D.L., Teo, W.S., McFarland, A., Junankar, S., Ye, S., Nguyen, A., Yang, J., Nikolic, I., Hui, M., et al. (2014). c-Myc and Her2 cooperate to drive a stem-like phenotype with poor prognosis in breast cancer. Oncogene 33, 3992– 4002.

Olarerin-George, A.O., Anton, L., Hwang, Y.-C., Elovitz, M.A., and Hogenesch, J.B. (2013). A functional genomics screen for microRNA regulators of NF-kappaB signaling. BMC Biol. 11, 19.

Piva, M., Domenici, G., Iriondo, O., Rabano, M., Simoes, B.M., Comaills, V., Barredo, I., Lopez-Ruiz, J.A., Zabalza, I., Kypta, R., and Vivanco, M. (2014). Sox2 promotes tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer cells. EMBO Mol. Med. *6*, 66–79.

Puisieux, A., Brabletz, T., and Caramel, J. (2014). Oncogenic roles of EMT-inducing transcription factors. Nat. Cell Biol. *16*, 488–494.

Rhodes, D.R., Yu, J., Shanker, K., Deshpande, N., Varambally, R., Ghosh, D., Barrette, T., Pandey, A., and Chinnaiyan, A.M. (2004). ONCOMINE: a cancer microarray database and integrated datamining platform. Neoplasia 6, 1–6.

Rizki, A., Weaver, V.M., Lee, S.-Y., Rozenberg, G.I., Chin, K., Myers, C.A., Bascom, J.L., Mott, J.D., Semeiks, J.R., Grate, L.R., et al. (2008). A human breast cell model of preinvasive to invasive transition. Cancer Res. *68*, 1378–1387.

Romagnoli, M., Belguise, K., Yu, Z., Wang, X., Landesman-Bollag, E., Seldin, D.C., Chalbos, D., Barille-Nion, S., Jezequel, P., Seldin, M.L., and Sonenshein, G.E. (2012). Epithelial-tomesenchymal transition induced by TGF-beta1 is mediated by Blimp-1-dependent repression of BMP-5. Cancer Res. 72, 6268–6278.

Sarrio, D., Rodriguez-Pinilla, S.M., Hardisson, D., Cano, A., Moreno-Bueno, G., and Palacios, J. (2008). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer relates to the basal-like phenotype. Cancer Res. *68*, 989–997.

Shibue, T., and Weinberg, R.A. (2017). EMT, CSCs, and drug resistance: the mechanistic link and clinical implications. Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol. 14, 611–629.

Shimo, T., Kubota, S., Yoshioka, N., Ibaragi, S., Isowa, S., Eguchi, T., Sasaki, A., and Takigawa, M. (2006). Pathogenic role of connective tissue growth factor (CTGF/CCN2) in osteolytic metastasis of breast cancer. J. Bone Miner Res. *21*, 1045–1059.

Shostak, K., and Chariot, A. (2011). NF-kappaB, stem cells and breast cancer: the links get stronger. Breast Cancer Res. *13*, 214.

Simó-Riudalbas, L., and Esteller, M. (2015). Targeting the histone orthography of cancer: drugs for writers, erasers and readers. Br. J. Pharmacol. *172*, 2716–2732.

Singh, J.K., Simoes, B.M., Howell, S.J., Farnie, G., and Clarke, R.B. (2013). Recent advances reveal IL-8 signaling as a potential key to targeting breast cancer stem cells. Breast Cancer Res. 15, 210.

Subramanian, A., Tamayo, P., Mootha, V.K., Mukherjee, S., Ebert, B.L., Gillette, M.A.,

iScience Article

iScience

Article

Paulovich, A., Pomeroy, S.L., Golub, T.R., Lander, E.S., and Mesirov, J.P. (2005). Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A 102, 15545–15550.

Sullivan, N.J., Sasser, A.K., Axel, A.E., Vesuna, F., Raman, V., Ramirez, N., Oberyszyn, T.M., and Hall, B.M. (2009). Interleukin-6 induces an epithelial-mesenchymal transition phenotype in human breast cancer cells. Oncogene *28*, 2940– 2947.

Tachibana, M., Ueda, J., Fukuda, M., Takeda, N., Ohta, T., Iwanari, H., Sakihama, T., Kodama, T., Hamakubo, T., and Shinkai, Y. (2005). Histone methyltransferases G9a and GLP form heteromeric complexes and are both crucial for methylation of euchromatin at H3-K9. Genes Dev. 19, 815–826.

Wang, X., Li, Y., Dai, Y., Liu, Q., Ning, S., Liu, J., Shen, Z., Zhu, D., Jiang, F., Zhang, J., and Li, Z. (2016a). Sulforaphane improves chemotherapy efficacy by targeting cancer stem cell-like properties via the miR-124/IL-6R/STAT3 axis. Sci. Rep. *6*, 36796. Wang, Y., Chen, L., Wu, Z., Wang, M., Jin, F., Wang, N., Hu, X., Liu, Z., Zhang, C.-Y., Zen, K., et al. (2016b). miR-124-3p functions as a tumor suppressor in breast cancer by targeting CBL. BMC Cancer 16, 826.

Wu, H., Zhang, H., Wang, P., Mao, Z., Feng, L., Wang, Y., Liu, C., Xia, Q., Li, B., Zhao, H., et al. (2013). Short-Form CDYLb but not long-form CDYLa functions cooperatively with histone methyltransferase G9a in hepatocellular carcinomas. Genes Chromosomes Cancer 52, 644–655.

Wu, Y., Deng, J., Rychahou, P.G., Qiu, S., Evers, B.M., and Zhou, B.P. (2009). Stabilization of snail by NF-kappaB is required for inflammationinduced cell migration and invasion. Cancer cell 15, 416–428.

Yang, L., Han, S., and Sun, Y. (2014). An IL6-STAT3 loop mediates resistance to PI3K inhibitors by inducing epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell expansion in human breast cancer cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 453, 582–587.

Yin, L., Castagnino, P., and Assoian, R.K. (2008). ABCG2 expression and side population abundance regulated by a transforming growth



factor beta-directed epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cancer Res. *68*, 800–807.

Yu, F., Li, J., Chen, H., Fu, J., Ray, S., Huang, S., Zheng, H., and Ai, W. (2011). Kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) is required for maintenance of breast cancer stem cells and for cell migration and invasion. Oncogene *30*, 2161–2172.

Zhang, Y., Yang, X., Gui, B., Xie, G., Zhang, D., Shang, Y., and Liang, J. (2011). Corepressor protein CDYL functions as a molecular bridge between polycomb repressor complex 2 and repressive chromatin mark trimethylated histone lysine 27. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 42414–42425.

Zhou, H., Tang, K., Liu, H., Zeng, J., Li, H., Yan, L., Hu, J., Guan, W., Chen, K., and Xu, H. (2019). Regulatory Network of two tumor-suppressive noncoding RNAs interferes with the growth and metastasis of renal cell carcinoma. Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids 16, 554–565.

Zhou, J., Zhang, H., Gu, P., Bai, J., Margolick, J.B., and Zhang, Y. (2008). NF-kappaB pathway inhibitors preferentially inhibit breast cancer stem-like cells. Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 111, 419–427. iScience, Volume 23

Supplemental Information

CDYL2 Epigenetically Regulates

MIR124 to Control NF-κB/STAT3-Dependent

Breast Cancer Cell Plasticity

Maha Siouda, Audrey D. Dujardin, Laetitia Barbollat-Boutrand, Marco A. Mendoza-Parra, Benjamin Gibert, Maria Ouzounova, Jebrane Bouaoud, Laurie Tonon, Marie Robert, Jean-Philippe Foy, Vincent Lavergne, Serge N. Manie, Alain Viari, Alain Puisieux, Gabriel Ichim, Hinrich Gronemeyer, Pierre Saintigny, and Peter Mulligan

Supplemental Information:

Supplemental Figure Legends:

Figure S1: CDYL2 expression level is upregulated in a variety of human cancer and is associated with poor prognosis. Related to Figure 1.

(A) Oncomine analysis of cancer cohorts revealed upregulation of CDYL2 mRNA in breast, colorectal, esophagus cancers and leukaemia, but a downregulation in lymphoma.

(B,C) CDYL2 mRNA **(B)** and protein **(C)** expression in the indicated breast cancer sub-types, as derived from analysis of the TCGA and CPTAC breast cancer cohorts. P-values were calculated by t-test. NS: not significant.

(D-F) Expression of CDYL2 in normal breast tissues over or breast cancer at the indicated AJCC stages (pN0 – pN3) across all TCGA breast samples (D) or in the ER+/HER2- (E) and TN (F) sub-types. P-values were calculated by t-test. * P < 0.05; ** P < 0.01; *** P < 0.001; **** P < 0.0001.

(G,H) Analysis of the correlation between CDYL2 expression in both ER+/HER2- (G) and TN breast cancer (H) and the 'Rizki_tumor_invasiveness-2D-UP' GSEA signature.

(I,J) Kaplan–Meier overall survival (OS) analysis performed from TCGA colorectal cancer (I), or rectal adenocarcinoma (J). High or low CDYL2 mRNA was based best cut-off. Significance using LogRank p-value and Hazard Ratio (CI) are indicated.

(K,L) Kaplan–Meier overall survival (OS) analysis performed from TCGA lung squamous cell carcinoma (K) or lung adenocarcinoma (L). High or low CDYL2 mRNA was based respectively on best cut-off of and highest versus lowest quartiles. Significance using LogRank p-value and Hazard Ratio (CI) are indicated.



Figure S2: Analysis of the effect of CDYL2 over-expression on MCF7 cell growth and the EpCAM/CD49f profile of MCF7-CDYL2, Cama1-CDYL2 and MDA-MB-231 cells treated with CDYL2 siRNA. Related to Figures 3 and 4.

(A) Cell proliferation was monitored for 5 days by live imaging using the *Incucyte Zoom*. Images were taken every 2 hours. Values plotted represent mean±SD of confluency from three experiments.

(B) Colony formation assay of MCF7-CDYL2 or control (MCF7-Vector) that were seeded at low density, grown for 1 week then stained with Crystal Violet. Colonies count and size were quantified using *Fiji* image analysis software. Significance was determined by T-test (p >0.05). (C) FACS Scatter plots showing the expression of EpCAM and CD49f antigens on the indicated cell lines either expressing an empty vector or CDYL2 over-expression vector (MCF7, Cama-1) or treated with a control or CDYL2 siRNA (MDA-MB-231).

Figure S2



С



Figure S3: Stable knockdown of CDYL2 in the invasive breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231 induces transcriptional and phenotypic changes associated with inhibition of malignancy. Related to Figure 4.

(A) CDYL2 knockdown was confirmed by western blotting as well as protein levels of EMT markers Vimentin (VIM) and fibronectin (FN). Beta-actin was probed as a loading control.

(B) 10X phase contrast micrograph demonstrating morphological differences consistent with mesenchymal to epithelial transition between MDA-MB-231 with stable knock of CDYL2 (sh-CDYL2) compared to control (sh-Ctr). Scale bar, 100 μ m.

(C) q-RT PCR validation of selected genes involved in loss of EMT. Values are normalized to GAPDH. Data are represented as mean of three independent experiments \pm S.D. Significance was determined by t-test (differences shown were significant at p <0.05).

(D,E) stable CDYL2 sh-RNA in MDA-MB-231 cells decreased the rate of migration across a porous membrane (D) and suppressed invasiveness of cells across porous membranes overlaid with Matrigel (E). Graphs shown are representative of three independent experiments in quadruple runs per condition.

(F) Mammospheres formation from cells plated at the indicated seeding number per well in 96-well plates, mammospheres with size > 50μ m counted after 8 days. Shown is a scatter plot of the results of a representative of three independent experiments indicating the median (black bar), and T-test significance (** p<0.01; *** p<0.001).

(G) FACS analysis of antigenic profile associated with breast cancer stem cells (CD44+/CD24low/–).

Figure S3



Figure S4: Nuclear localization of CDYL2. Related to Figure 6.

(A) Western blot detection of endogenous CDYL2 in several cellular fractions of MCF7 cells treated with RNAi against CDYL2 (esiCDYL2) or control (esiLuc). Total = whole cell lysate; Cyto.= Cytoplasmic fraction ; N.E. = Soluble nuclear extract ; MX = Matrix, or tight chromatin fraction.
(B,C) Immunofluorescence detection of CDYL2 (red) in MCF7-Vector and MCF7-CDYL2 cells (B) and MDA-MB-231 cells (C). Nuclear DNA is detected by DAPI staining.

Figure S4

MERGE





В



С



Figure S5: Stable knockdown of CDYL2 in the invasive breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231 induces increase levels of MIR124. Related to Figure 6.

(A) The expression levels of both the precursor and mature 3' strand of mir-124 were measured by qRT-PCR. Values are the mean +/- S.D. of triplicate experiments. The differences with control are all significant with T-test (*p <0.05).

Figure S5



Figure S6: CDYL2 interacts with the histone methyltransferase G9a and regulates its enrichment and that of EZH2 at the *MIR124* promoter, as well as that of their cognate methylation marks. Related to Figure 7.

(A) Endogenous co-immunoprecipitation of G9a/EHMT2, EZH2 and CDYL2 using their respective endogenous antibodies. The immuno-precipitated proteins were visualized by immunoblotting. Non-specific IgG was used as a control for background binding. H.C.*= IgG Heavy Chain cross-reactivity from the IP antibody.

(B,C) ChIP-qPCR analysis of the enrichment CDYL2, G9a, EZH2, H3K9me2, H3K27me3 at *MIR124-1, MIR124-3* or an additional negative control region (Neg. Ctr. #2) in MCF7-CDYL2 compared to MCF7-Vector (B) or MDA-MB-231 treated with esiCDYL2 or esiLuc (C). Enrichment is presented as percentage of Input. Values are the mean +/- S.D. of triplicate experiments. T-test: * p < 0.05, ** p<0.01; ns= not significant, p > 0.05).

Figure S6







Figure S7: Analysis of the effect of the G9a/GLP inhibitor UNC0642 or the EZH2 inhibitor CPI-169 on miR-124 expression in MCF7-CDYL2 cells. Related to Figure 7.

(A) qRT-PCR analysis of miR-124-3p levels in MCF7-CDYL2 cells treated with 1.1 μM
UNC0642 for 24h or 48h. A DMSO vehicle control was included for each time point.
Expression was normalized to an unrelated miRNA. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments ± S.D. Significance determined by test, as indicated.
(B) qRT-PCR analysis of miR-124-3p levels in MCF7-CDYL2 cells treated with the indicated concentrations of CPI-169 for 96h. Matching DMSO vehicle controls were included for each concentration of drug used. Expression was normalized to an unrelated miRNA. Data represent the mean of three independent experiments ± S.D. No significant differences were detected by t-test.
Figure S7



В

A



Transparent Methods:

Cell culture

MCF7 cells (ATCC, HTB-22) and their derivatives were grown in DMEM Low Glucose (Gibco, 31885-023) supplemented with 10 % of FBS (Gibco, 10270-106), 40 μ g/mL of gentamicin (Gibco, 15710-049) and 0.6 μ g/mL of insulin (NovoRapid, 3525909). MDA-MB-231 cells (ATCC, HTB-26) and Cama-1 cells (ATCC, HTB-21) were grown in DMEM GlutaMAX (Gibco, 10566016) supplemented with 10 % of FBS (Gibco, 10270-106), 1 % penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco, 15140122). Cells were grown at 37°C and 5% CO2 in a humidified incubator and passaged every 2 – 4 days by trypsinization. Sustained expression of ER-alpha in MCF7 and Cama-1 was validated regularly by western blotting and immunofluorescence. Cells were regularly tested for mycoplasma using a commercial kit (ATCC, 30-1012K), and cultures renewed from low passage stocks every two months or less.

Stable expression of CDYL2 in MCF7 and Cama-1 cells

CDYL2 cDNA was cloned by PCR from an MCF7 cDNA library using the primers in Table S3 and Phusion polymerase (NEB, M0530), and inserted into the Gateway pENTR-D-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, K240020). Sequencing on both strands confirmed that the cDNA corresponded to a published CDYL2 sequence (Genbank, NM_152342.2). The cloned cDNA was then transferred into MSCV plasmid (Addgene # 41033) using LR Clonase (Invitrogen, 11791100), and the resulting expression construct validated by sequencing. MCF7 or Cama-1 cells were then stably transduced with MSCV (Vector) or MSCV-CDYL2 retroviruses and selected for 14 days using 2 µg/mL puromycin (Sigma, P8833). Expression was confirmed by western blotting and immunofluorescence using CDYL2 antibody.

RNA interference and microRNA treatments

For transient RNAi, MDA-MB-231 cells were transfected with CDYL2 esiRNA (Sigma, EHU042511), esiLuciferase (Sigma, EHUFLUC), on-target plus p65 siRNA (Dharmacon, L-003533-00), or on-target plus STAT3 siRNA (Dharmacon, L-003544-00-0005) or on-target plus control siRNA (Dharmacon, D-001810-01-05) using Interferin reagent (Polyplus, 409-10)

according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cellular assays and analysis were performed between 48 and 72h post-transfection, according to the experiment. For stable RNAi, MCF7 cells were transduced with non-targeting control shRNA pLKO.1 lentiviruses (Sigma, SHC016) or shRNA-pLKO targeting CDYL2 (Sigma, shCDYL2 #1, TRCN0000359078; shCDYL2 #2, TRCN0000130741; shCDYL2 #3, TRCN0000129278), selected for 14 days using 2 µg/mL puromycin (Sigma, P8833). Cellular assays and analysis were then performed between weeks 2 and 4 post-transduction. The Hsa-miR-124-3p MISSION microRNA Mimic (Sigma, HMI0086) and or a Negative Control miRNA mimic (Sigma, HMC0002) were transfected into MCF7-Vector or MCF7-CDYL2 cells using Interferin reagent (Polyplus). Samples were harvested for analysis 48 – 72h post-transfection. The hsa-miR-124-3p Inhibitor (Qiagen, YI04102198-ADA), and its corresponding negative control (Qiagen, YI00199006-ADA) were co-transfected into MDA-MB-231 cells along with either esiCDYL2 or esiLuciferase siRNA, using Interferin reagent. Samples were harvested 72h later for analysis.

Antibodies and reagents

The following antibodies were used: CDYL2 (MyBiosource, MBS821304), ERα (Santa Cruz, sc-8002), β-Actin–HRP (Sigma, A3854), Vimentin (Dako, M0725), E-cadherin (BD 610682), Snail/Slug (Abcam, ab85936), Twist (Abcam, ab50887), Phospho-NF-κB p65 (Ser536) (Cell Signaling Technologies, #3031), total p65 (Cell Signaling Technologies, #3034), phosphor-STAT3 (Tyr705) (Cell Signaling Technologies, #9145), total STAT3 (Cell Signaling Technologies, #9139), CD44-FITC (Miltenyl Biotec, 130-113-341), CD24-PE (Miltenyl Biotec, 130-095-953), APC anti-human CD326 (EpCAM) Antibody (Biolegend, 324208), PerCP/Cy5.5 antihuman/mouse CD49f Antibody (Biolegend, 313618), EZH2 (Cell Signaling Technologies #5246S), ChIP-grade EZH2 (Diagenode, C15410039), SUZ12 (Cell Signaling Technologies #3737S), H3K9me2 (Abcam, Ab1220), H3K27me3 (Diagenode, C15410069), rabbit IgG (Bethyl, P120-101), H3 (Abcam, Ab1791). The G9a and GLP antibodies were gifts from Y. Nakatani Iab (Ogawa et al., 2002). UNC0642 and CPI-169 were obtained from Cayman Chemicals, resuspended in cell-culture grade DMSO (Sigma), and used as described.

Immunoblot

Cells were washed with PBS, lysed in ice-cold RIPA buffer (10 mM Tris-Cl (pH 8.0), 1 mM EDTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.1% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS, 140 mM NaCl, 1 mM PMSF, all from Sigma) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, 04693132001) phosphatase inhibitors cocktail (Roche, 4906845001), and sonicated briefly. Cleared lysates were boiled in Laemelli buffer, resolved on Bis-Tris NuPage Gels (Invitrogen), transferred to Nitrocellulose (GE Healthcare), and probed according to the primary antibody manufacturer's protocols. Images were collected using the ChemiDoc system (BioRad).

Co-Immunoprecipitation

Cells were grown to sub-confluence in 15 cm tissue culture treated plates (Corning). Monolayers were washed three times with ice-cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS), scraped in cold PBS containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche) and pelleted. The resulting cell pellets were lysed in lysis buffer (50mM Tris pH8; 150mM NaCl; 1% NP-40; 2mM EDTA; all from Sigma) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, 04693132001) and phosphatase inhibitors cocktail (Roche, 4906845001). The lysates mechanically homogenized on ice using 25G syringes (BD, #300600), then incubated for 30 min at 4°C with rotation. Lysates were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C. The resulting supernatants were treated with DNase I (Qiagen, #79254) and RNase A (Sigma, R4875), then precleared with protein A agaroses beads for 1 hour 4°C with rotation. Immunoprecipitation was performed by incubating indicated antibodies with the lysates overnight at 4°C with rotation, followed by addition of prewashed protein A agaroses beads for 2 hours 4°C with rotation. The beads were then washed 5 times with wash buffer (10mM Tris pH8; 1mM EDTA; 1mM EGTA; 250mM NaCl; 1% Triton) containing protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, 04693132001) phosphatase inhibitors cocktail (Roche, 4906845001). The immune-precipitated beads were boiled in Laemmli buffer and then subjected to immunoblotting.

Immunofluorescence

Cells were seeded on sterilized coverslips. Forty-eight hours after seeding, cells were fixed with 4% fresh electron microscopy-grade paraformaldehyde (Fisher, 50-980-487) diluted in PBS (Sigma) for 15 minutes at room temperature. Fixed cells were permeabilized by NP-40 0.5% (Sigma) in PBS at room temperature for 15 minutes and blocked with 5% FBS in a PBS/0.1% NP-40 buffer, at room temperature for 1 hour. Coverslips were then probed with

the indicated primary antibodies 1h at room temperature and then Alexa dye tagged secondary antibody (see above) for 1 h at room temperature. Coverslips were mounted using DAPI mounting medium (Vectashield; Vector Laboratories) and observed under the upright microscope (Zeiss axioimager, SIP 60549), images were analyzed using Zen software (Zeiss).

Flow cytometry

The cells were labeled with anti-CD44-PerCP-Cy 5.5, anti-CD24-PE, APC anti-human CD326 (EpCAM) Antibody, PerCP/Cy5.5 anti-human/mouse CD49f Antibody, according to the manufacturer's instructions. All analyses were performed using a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer and BD CellQuest software (BD Biosciences).

Gene expression

RNA was extracted using TRI-reagent (Sigma, T9424), and cDNA synthesized using the High-Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, #4368814). miRNA was extracted using the miRNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, #217004) following the manufacturer's instructions, and cDNA synthesized using miScript II RT Kit (Qiagen,#218161). The RT-qPCR was performed using the Fast SYBR Green 2X Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, #4385610) and an LC480 PCR machine (Roche). Primers are described in Table S3.

RNA-seq and enrichment analysis

RNA libraries were prepared with the TruSeq Stranded Total-RNA kit and sequenced on a Illumina NextSeq sequencing machine. After careful quality controls, raw data were aligned on the human genome (hg38) with STAR v2.7.0f (Dobin et al., 2013) and default parameters. Read counts on each genes of the Gencode annotation v29 were produced by STAR.

Unless otherwise specified, the analyses were performed using R (v 3.4.4) and illustrations produced with the ggplot2 (Wickham, H., 2016) and ggpubr packages. Starting from raw counts, we used the R package DESeq2 (Love et al, 2014) (v1.14) to perform the differential expression analyses. Each time the design was set as $\sim REP + TYPE$, where REP refers to the replicate number (paired analysis) and TYPE to the treatment group. Differential expression was tested using the Wald test, and p-values were corrected with the Benjamini-Hochberg method. To test the pathway enrichment of a list of genes, we used the R packages

clusterProfiler (Yu et al, 2012) (v 3.8.1), msgidbr (v 6.2.1), org.Hs.eg.db (v 3.5.0) and reactomePA (v 1.24) (Carlson, M, 2013). We tested the list of genes against pathways from msigdb hallmarks, GO molecular functions, KEGG and Reactome. Over-representation p-values were corrected with the Benjamini-Hochberg method.

Chromatin immunoprecipitation

For MDA-MB-231 ChIP-qPCR analysis, cells grown in 6-well plates were treated as described, then cross-linked by the addition of fresh 1% methanol-free formaldehyde to the cell culture medium for 10 minutes, followed by the addition of glycine to a final concentration of 125 mM for 5 minutes. Monolayers were washed three times with ice-cold PBS, scraped in cold PBS containing a protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche) and pelleted. Chromatin lysates were prepared from the cross-linked pellets, and ChIP assays performed using a commercial kit (Cell Signaling Technologies, #9003), with the indicated antibodies. Quantitative PCR was performed using the primers listed in Table S3. Input chromatin was purified in parallel in each ChIP assay and used to validate the chromatin digestion efficiency, and to determine the percentage of input recovered in each ChIP assay.

For MCF7 ChIP-seq and ChIP-qPCR analysis, cells were grown to sub-confluence in 15 cm tissue culture treated plates (Corning), cross-linked, washed and pelleted as described for MDA-MB-231 cells, above. The resulting cell pellets were pre-treated by incubating in lysis buffer A (Lysis Buffer 1 (50 mM HEPES pH 7.5; 140 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 10% glycerol, 0.5% NP-40, 0.25% Triton X-100, 1× protease inhibitors) for 10 minutes at 4°C, then lysis buffer B (10 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0; 200 mM NaCl; 1 mM EDTA; 0.5 mM EGTA; 1× protease Inhibitors) for 10 minutes at room temperature, as previously described (Lee et al., 2006). They were then lysed in buffer C (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 100 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM EGTA, 0.1%; Na-Deoxycholate, 1× protease inhibitors) supplemented with 0.5% SDS, incubated on ice for 30 minutes with occasional vortexing, then sonicated on ice to an average fragment size of 150 bp using a sonicator (Branson, Digital Sonifier 450). The sonicated lysate was centrifuged at 12,000 r.p.m. in a benchtop centrifuge at 4°C, the supernatant diluted five times in buffer C, and 1 mL aliquots of this added to 50 μ L of magnetic protein A beads (Invitrogen) pre-coated with 5 μ g of anti-CDYL2 IgG. These were incubated overnight at 4°C with rotation, then pelleted and

washed with two sequential additions each of wash buffer 1 (0.1% SDS, 1%Triton X-100, 2mM EDTA, 20mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 150mM NaCl), wash buffer 2 (0.1% SDS, 1%Triton X-100, 2mM EDTA, 20mM Tris-HCl, pH 8, 500mM NaCl), wash buffer 3 (0.25M LiCl, 1% NP40, 1% deoxycholate, 1mM EDTA, 10mM Tris-HCl, pH 8), and TE buffer (10mM Tris-HCl, 1mM EDTA, pH 8.0, 50 mM NaCl). Chromatin was eluted by incubating for 30 minutes at 65°C in elution buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8, 10 mM EDTA pH 8, 1% SDS) with frequent vortexing. Crosslinks were reversed by overnight incubation at 65°C, and eluates treated with RNAse A (Sigma) for 2h, followed by Proteinase K for 2h, then extracted using a classical Phenol-Chloroform/Ethanol precipitation protocol.

ChIP-seq

Pair end DNA sample libraries were sequenced using Illumina. Raw sequences were aligned to human genome hg19, using Bowtie 2.0 (Langmead and Salzberg, 2012) with paired-end parameters. Normalized and subtraction bigwig files were obtaining using deepTools (Ramírez et al., 2016). Analysis of ChIP-Seq data was in the galaxeast.fr instance. Significant peaks were called using MACS2 (Zhang et al., 2008, p. 2). Called peaks were annotated using Homer_AnnotatePeaks.

Colony formation assay

To form adherent colonies, 3000 cells were seeded in 12 well tissue-culture treated plates. After 14 days of growth, all colonies were stained with crystal violet solution (crystal violet 0.05%, formaldehyde 1%, methanol 1%) for 20min, washed extensively with water. Colonies were counted and their size was measured using *Fiji* software.

Migration and invasion assays

Real-time cell migration and invasion were measured using the *xCELLigence* RTCA DP apparatus (Acea Biosciences, Inc.) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, 40,000 cells were prepared in serum-deprived medium and then added to the upper chambers of *CIM-16 plates* (Aceabio, #5665817001). Complete medium containing 10% FBS was added to the lower chamber. For invasion assays, Matrigel diluted in serum-free medium at 500µg/mL (BD Biosciences, #354234) was added to the upper chamber and allowed to set before adding

cells. Migration across the membrane separating the two chambers was expressed as the Cell Index (CI).

Mammosphere formation assay

Cells were seeded at several densities (10, 50, 100, 1000 cells per well) in 96-well ultra-low attachment plates (Corning, #3474) with MEBM Basal Medium (Lonza, CC-3151) containing 2% B-27 (Invitrogen, 17504-044), 20 ng/mL EGF (Sigma, E9644), 4 μ g/mL insulin (Novo Nordisk, # 3525909), and 2 μ g/mL hydrocortisone (Sigma, H0135). Mammospheres were cultured for 1-2 weeks, with image collection approximately every three days starting at day 8. Whole-well images were taken with the *IncuCyte ZOOM* System (Essen Bioscience) using a 4X phase contrast objective. Mammosphere diameter and the number of mammospheres >50 μ m were determined by image analysis using Fiji software (Fiji).

Zebrafish embryo metastasis assay

Zebrafish embryos were raised under standard experimental conditions. Cells trypsinated, resuspended in serum-free media, and stained with lipophilic dyes DiO or DiD from the Vybrant Multicolor Cell-Labeling Kit (Invitrogen, V22889) for 20 minutes at 37°C, then washed resuspended in PBS 1x. 48 hours post-fecundation, the embryos were dechorionated and anesthetized with tricaine (Sigma-Aldrich, E10521). The anesthetized embryos were subjected to microinjection. 20nl of cell suspension, which represent approximately 300 labeled human cells, were injected into perivitelline space of each embryo. The injected zebrafish embryos were immediately placed at 30°C for 24 hours in presence of N-phenylthiourea (Sigma-Aldrich, P7629) to inhibit melanocyte formation. For metastasis assessment, The anesthetized embryos were evaluated using the fluorescent microscope Axio Observer Zeiss microscope (Zeiss).

Statistical analysis

CDYL2 expression levels from *TCGA* were stratified based on molecular markers such as ERα and HER2 expression by IHC. Correlation analysis between CDYL2 RNA and protein levels were performed using *GraphPad Prism7*. For overall survival analysis, patients were divided into

two groups (low and high CDYL2) using the expression level of CDYL2 and best cutoff. Kaplan-Meier survival plots, log-rank p-values, hazard ratios were calculated using GraphPad Prism7.

Supplemental References:

Carlson, M, 2013. Genome wide annotation for Human. R package version, 3(1).

- Dobin, A., Davis, C.A., Schlesinger, F., Drenkow, J., Zaleski, C., Jha, S., Batut, P., Chaisson, M., Gingeras, T.R., 2013. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. Bioinformatics 29, 15–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bts635
- Langmead, B., Salzberg, S.L., 2012. Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. Nat. Methods 9, 357–359. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.1923
- Ogawa, H., Ishiguro, K., Gaubatz, S., Livingston, D.M., Nakatani, Y., 2002. A complex with chromatin modifiers that occupies E2F- and Myc-responsive genes in G0 cells. Science 296, 1132–6.
- Ramírez, F., Ryan, D.P., Grüning, B., Bhardwaj, V., Kilpert, F., Richter, A.S., Heyne, S., Dündar,
 F., Manke, T., 2016. deepTools2: a next generation web server for deep-sequencing
 data analysis. Nucleic Acids Res. 44, W160-165. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw257

Wickham, H., 2016. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis.

Zhang, Y., Liu, T., Meyer, C.A., Eeckhoute, J., Johnson, D.S., Bernstein, B.E., Nusbaum, C., Myers, R.M., Brown, M., Li, W., Liu, X.S., 2008. Model-based analysis of ChIP-Seq (MACS). Genome Biol. 9, R137. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2008-9-9-r137

Discussion

10.1 CDYL2 LOCALIZATION AND REGULATION THROUGH THE CELL CYCLE

Despite showing more and more relevance in diseases (Kim et al., 2014; Siouda et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2013), including several cancer types, CDYL family proteins remain poorly characterized, and their cellular functions mostly unknown. This is particularly the case for CDYL2, which was shown by us and others to be implicated in breast cancer growth and invasiveness (Siouda et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020). In this study, my work aimed at characterizing CDYL2 cellular function and provided strong evidence that CDYL2 is necessary for faithful mitosis. Knocking down CDYL2 induced notably a strong defect in chromosome alignment during metaphase and defects in chromosome shape. Defects in chromosome shape include loss of cohesion between sister chromatids, entangled chromatids, and curly chromosomes (Fig. 11). These phenotypes are similar to some extent to the ones observed after the knock-down of proteins involved in mitosis, notably proteins involved in the cohesin complex, in H3K9 trimethylation, or CHAMP1. Indeed, knock-down of RAD21 in HeLa cells for example induced aberrant separation of sister chromatids and triaxial alignment of chromosomes during metaphase (Díaz-Martínez et al., 2010). Lack of cohesion establishment, by knocking-down ESCO proteins also induced aberrantly separated sister chromatids and curly chromosomes (Ivanov et al., 2018). Lack of sister chromatids cohesion in metaphase could also be observed in cells lacking H3K9me3 at pericentromeres after knock-out in SUV39h in MEF cells (Koch *et al.*, 2008) and HeLa cells knocked-own for HP1 α (Kiyomitsu *et al.*, 2010). Finally, the defects in chromosomes alignment I observed after CDYL2 knocked-down was similar to the one observed after CHAMP1 knock-down (Itoh et al., 2011). Taken together, CDYL2 seems implicated in mitosis, but its mechanism in this context remains unknown. My thesis aimed at characterizing CDYL2 implication in mitosis and the mechanisms behind it, which would be the first analysis of a CDYL protein in the mitotic context.

Since CDYL2 is implicated in mitosis, I wondered if its level is regulated by the cell cycle. It seems, from my experiments that the total level of CDYL2 is lower during the mid and late

stages of the S-phase (Fig. 13). Similarly, its level on the chromatin seems to increase around mitosis and stays higher during the G1-phase, suggesting a function in these times (Fig. 14). The change of CDYL2 level during the cell cycle was however not as dramatic as the one observed with cyclins, proteins directly regulating cell cycle progress (Hayward *et al.*, 2019; Hwang *et al.*, 1995), This may suggest that CDYL2 is regulating mitosis through an indirect mechanism, potentially by interacting or regulating essential proteins or complexes, as cohesin, CHAMP1, or repressor complexes.

CDYL family was described to bind H3K9me3 modification in vitro (Fischle et al., 2008). In vivo, using the MEF cell line, CDYL1 was found to colocalize with pericentromeres in an H3K9me3 dependent manner (Fischle et al., 2008; Franz et al., 2009). Fischle and colleagues also briefly studied the localization of CDYL2 in the same cell line model but remained inconclusive whether the protein localizes at pericentromeric heterochromatin (Fischle et al., 2008). In MCF7 and HeLa cells, I found a systematic colocalization between CDYL2 and CREST during interphase as no interphase cells could be found lacking it (Fig. 16). To confirm that this localization is dependent on H3K9me3, I obtained MEF cells lacking this modification after knocking-out of the SUV39H1 and SUV39H2 proteins. This model was already used to describe HP1 α and CDYL1 localization at pericentromeres through H3K9me3 (Fischle et al., 2008). We confirmed that the technique is working in our hands by using cells expressing both proteins as positive controls (Fig. 18A and B). In mouse embryonic fibroblasts, the colocalization between CDYL2 and pericentromeres was not systematic in opposition to HeLa and MCF7 cells (Fig. 18 D and C). This difference can be explained by a variation in infection efficiency as, due to the low levels of CDYL2 in MEF cells, the endogenous protein cannot be stained correctly for immunofluorescence. We thus used as was described by Fischle and colleagues, a retroviral infection to increase CDYL2 level and this infection probably induces intercellular variation for the protein expression. The lower colocalization frequency found in cells transfected with flag-tagged human CDYL2 despite high CDYL2 signal can potentially come from the Flag-tagged, disturbing the binding between CDYL2 chromodomain and H3K9me. It can also be explained by a lower transfection efficiency or due to the species change. Still, the fact that human CDYL2 can localize to pericentromeric regions of mouse cells, indicated that the protein is highly conserved. Taken together, we observed that CDYL2 localization at pericentromeres is dependent on H3K9me3, similar to what was observed previously by others for CDYL1 (Franz *et al.*, 2009).

I could also observe CDYL2 localization at pericentromeres in mitotic MCF7 cells, however, this colocalization disappeared upon removal of soluble proteins using CSK buffer treatment before immunostaining (Fig. 16C), suggesting a weaker interaction of CDYL2 with the chromatin during mitosis compared to interphase cells. Interestingly, mitosis is notably epigenetically characterized by phosphorylation of H3S10 by Aurora B. My observation is therefore concordant with *in vitro* analysis showing that H3S10ph inhibits CDYL proteins chromodomain interaction with H3K9me3 (Fischle et al., 2008). Interestingly, HP1, another chromodomain protein, despite its interaction with H3K9me3 also being inhibited by H3S10ph (Hirota et al., 2005), is still localized at pericentromeres during mitosis through interaction with NSL1, allowing it to stay at pericentromeres during mitosis (Kiyomitsu et al., 2010). As I could observe colocalization of CDYL2 and CREST in mitotic cells when they were not pre-extracted and a fraction of CDYL2 remained on the chromatin in MCF7 cells pre-extracted before immunofluorescence staining (Fig. 15), a similar mechanism may be working for CDYL2. However, since only a small fraction remains and is easily removed with pre-extraction, it is also possible that most CDYL2 function at pericentromeres is completed before mitosis onset. In HeLa cell lines the small fraction at pericentromeres during metaphase could not be observed (Fig. 15). In my hands, HeLa cells were more sensitive to the pre-extraction, one hypothesis is thus that the remaining fraction of CDYL2 during mitosis in HeLa cells is washed away during the pre-extraction.

Finally, I also observed that CDYL2 is localized at centrosomes throughout the cell cycle (Fig. 19 and 20). As CDYL2 is an epigenetic protein, recognizing histone methylation, it was first surprising to find it outside of the nucleus. However, CDYL family chromodomains were shown in *in vitro* analysis to recognize non-histone proteins as well, such as methylated EHMT2 (Fischle *et al.*, 2008). It would be interesting to study if CDYL2 chromodomain is necessary for its localization at the centrosomes and if it recognizes non-histone protein methylation.

10.2 MECHANISMS OF CDYL2 IMPLICATION IN MITOSIS

Phenotypes induced by knock-down of CDYL2 indicate that CDYL2 is necessary for a faithful mitosis. Its localization during the cell cycle suggest that its function takes place at pericentromeres or centrosomes. To better apprehend the mechanism of CDYL2 action and find potential interactors, we performed a broad-range mass spectrometry analysis. This unbiased interactome analysis is the first one performed on CDYL2. From the previous CDYL2 characterization and the proteins found in the mass spectrometry analysis, three hypotheses were formulated to explain CDYL2 implication in mitosis and are discussed in the following paragraphs: (i) Considering CDYL2 localization at pericentromeres and its interaction with epigenetic silencing factors, is CDYL2 implicated in pericentromeric repeat sequences silencing? (ii) Considering again CDYL2 enrichment at pericentromeres, loss of chromosome cohesion upon CDYL2 knock-down, and the presence of cohesin proteins in the mass spectrometry analysis, is CDYL2 interacting with cohesin to regulate its recruitment at pericentromeres? and (iii) Since CDYL2 is interacting with CHAMP1, a protein known to be indispensable for chromosome alignment and microtubuleskinetochore attachment, is CDYL2 working with CHAMP1 to connect microtubules and kinetochores?

10.2.1 CDYL2 as a pericentromeric repetitive sequence repressor

Several epigenetic proteins involved in transcription repression were found in the mass spectrometry analysis, as EHMT1, EHMT2, SETDB1, DNMT1, HDAC1 and HDAC2 (Fig.21). I confirmed CDYL2 interaction with EHMT1, EHMT2, SETDB1 and DNMT1 using coimmunoprecipitation followed by Western Blot (Fig. 22). Interestingly, WIZ, a protein known to interact with both EHMT1 and EHMT2 and recruiting both complex to chromatin (Bian *et al.*, 2015), was found in the mass spectrometry analysis, but also in previous broad-range interaction analyses (Hein *et al.*, 2015; Kuppuswamy *et al.*, 2008). CDYL1 was also found to interact with WIZ protein (Mulligan *et al.*, 2008). To further validate the interaction with epigenetic repressor, I performed as well a reverse immunoprecipitation of EHMT2 (Siouda et al., 2020). False-positive interactions can sometimes be reported in coimmunoprecipitation assays when the proteins are all binding to the same polynucleotide strand that gets immunoprecipitated as well. To avoid such artifacts, the

immunolysates were treated with DNAse and RNase and the interactions between EHMT2 and SETDB1 could still be reported, strongly validating CDYL2 interaction with the two proteins. Interestingly, EHMT2 and SETDB1 were already described to interact with CDYL1 and work together to repress gene transcription (Mulligan *et al.*, 2008).

We and others already described CDYL1 and CDYL2 to have repressive functions, by recruiting EHMT2 and potentially EZH2 to chromatin and induce histone dimethylation and trimethylation (Caron et al., 2003; Y. Liu et al., 2017a; Mulligan et al., 2008; Siouda et al., 2020). I further confirmed during my thesis, that CDYL2 is interacting with epigenetic repression factors and hypothesized that CDYL2 could be necessary for the repression of satellite repeats at pericentromeres. Indeed, a derepression of centromeric and pericentromeric satellite sequences and accumulation of their transcripts are linked with genomic instability and notably a loss of chromosome cohesion (Bouzinba-Segard et al., 2006; Hall et al., 2012). I used commercially available primer pairs for α -Satellite and chromosome 1 specific Satellite II and did not observe a change in satellite repeat expression, neither could we observe a change in their H3K9 methylation grade (Fig. 23). I then used Tagman probes targeting retroviral repeat sequences K111 and K222. K222 was shown to be specific to pericentromeres, while K111 is present on both centromeric and pericentromeric regions (Contreras-Galindo et al., 2013; Zahn et al., 2015). These probes are additionally present in multiple copies on multiple chromosomes. The specificity of the sequences was further confirmed as I obtained their enrichment after a ChIP on H3K9me3, a marker of pericentromeres compared to ChIP performed with a negative control antibody (Fig. 24C). The original publication describing the development of the probes additionally tested them in CENPA and CENPB ChIP assays (Contreras-Galindo et al., 2013; Zahn et al., 2015). This confirmed the specificity of both probes to the detection of pericentromeric and centromeric, rather than non-repeat sequences and validate the pertinence to use them to observe histone methylation changes at those regions. Finally, the linearity between the fluorescence of the probes and the sequence quantity was verified in my hands using a dilution curve of input samples (Fig. 24A and B). However, CDYL2 RNAi did not induce a change in K111 or K222 repeat elements expression as determined by qPCR or in the methylation grade of their genomic sequence (Fig. 25). It remains however possible, even though unlikely, that CDYL2 is regulating

repeat elements transcription that is not covered by the probes I used. However, the observation of CDYL2 being dispensable for repeats sequences repression is concordant with a previous publication, where several chromodomain proteins, including CDYL2, were found to be dispensable for retroviral repeats sequences silencing in mouse embryonic stem cells (Maksakova *et al.*, 2011). To conclude this hypothesis more confidently, it could be interesting to perform broad range RNA-seq after CDYL2 knock-down with parameters allowing us to analyze precisely repeats expression.

10.2.2 CDYL2 as a Regulator of Chromosome Cohesion

Pericentromeres are also a region where sister chromatid cohesion is established and has to be maintained during metaphase. Other chromodomain proteins were previously described to be implicated in chromosome cohesion. This is for example the case for Swi6 in yeast, which recruits cohesin complex to pericentromeres (Nonaka et al., 2002). In humans, HP1 α and HP1 γ , two Swi6 homologs, also regulate cohesion at metaphase, but they do it by recruiting Haspin, a cohesin protector, and not through direct binding of cohesin (Yi et al., 2018). The mass spectrometry analysis of CDYL2 immunoprecipitation revealed interactions of the protein with both RAD21 and SMC3, two proteins of the cohesin complex. Interaction between CDYL2 and RAD21 could be confirmed in MCF7 cell lines with endogenous levels of CDYL2 through coimmunoprecipitation and immunoblotting (Fig. 26A). Even though they are not always considered as strict members of the complex, PDS5 proteins, which include PDS5A and PDS5B are stochiometric interactors and regulators of cohesin (Litwin and Wysocki, 2018). Interaction of CDYL2 and PDS5B was observed in MCF7 cell line through coimmunoprecipitation followed by immunoblotting, further confirming the interaction between CDYL2 and the cohesin complex. Finally, the interaction was further validated with PLA between CDYL2 and SA1 in HeLa cell lines. Close proximity between the two proteins could be detected in all cells, both at interphase and mitotic phases (Fig. 26B). Specificity of the detected signal was tested by performing a PLA with either CDYL2 or SA1 antibody. In both cases, when using only one primary antibody, no fluorescence signal could be detected, confirming the close proximity observed between SA1 and CDYL2 (Fig. 26B). Interestingly, the proximity between CDYL2 and SA1 did not seem enriched at pericentromeres but was rather found overall in the nucleus. In particular, in mitotic cells, proximity signals were found out of

chromatin as well. The cytoplasmic proximity signal between CDYL2 and SA1 during mitosis could indicate that both proteins remain close after dissociation of cohesin from the chromatin. Overall, my data support a physical interaction of CDYL2 with the cohesin complex.

Through physical interaction with the cohesin, CDYL2 could, similar to Swi6 function in S. the complex pericentromeric heterochromatin. pombe, recruit to the Immunofluorescence staining followed by confocal microscopy analysis was used to observe cohesin localization at pericentromeres after CDYL2 RNAi, similar to what was described previously (Serrano et al., 2009). Using this technique, I could not see a significant difference in cohesin loading specifically at pericentromeres (Fig. 27), indicating that CDYL2 is dispensable for cohesin localization at pericentromeres during metaphase. CDYL2 seems therefore not necessary for cohesin complex loading on the chromatin and protection during early mitosis as are Swi6 or HP1 (Nonaka et al., 2002; Yi et al., 2018, p. 1).

10.2.3 CDYL2 as a CHAMP1 partner

Another interactor protein found in the mass spectrometry analysis that could have explained the mitotic defects observed after CDYL2 knock-down is CHAMP1. CHAMP1 is a protein necessary for the recruitment of kinetochore proteins to the centromeres and thus kinetochore-microtubule attachment (Itoh *et al.*, 2011; Okamoto *et al.*, 2017). CHAMP1 interaction with CDYL2 could be confirmed in both HeLa and MCF7 cell lines with a reverse coimmunoprecipitation (Fig. 28). CDYL2 signal in CHAMP1 coimmuno-precipitation seems stronger in MCF7 cells, a difference which can potentially be explained by the fact that MCF7 has a higher level of CDYL2 proteins (non-published results). Finally, POGZ, a known interactor of CHAMP1 was also found in the mass spectrometry analysis, which further validate the interaction between CDYL2 and CHAMP1.

Knock-down of CHAMP1 induces defects in chromosome alignment during metaphase (Itoh *et al.*, 2011; Okamoto *et al.*, 2017), similar to the phenotype observed after CDYL2 knock-down (Fig. 11D), suggesting that both proteins may work together. However, CDYL2

knock-down did not have any observable effects on kinetochore-microtubules attachment, even in cells showing strong alignment defects (Fig. 29). It is therefore unlikely that CDYL2 is necessary for the activity of CHAMP1 at kinetochores. CHAMP1 is however poorly characterized and it may have additional functions where CDYL2 interaction is needed and that does not involve microtubules' connection to kinetochores. Whether CHAMP1 and CDYL2 interaction is necessary for CDYL2 function on chromosome alignment remains unanswered and would need additional experiments to be elucidated. Still, CHAMP1 was also found to interact with HP1 in previous publications (Vermeulen *et al.*, 2010), it, therefore, seems that CHAMP1 and H3K9me3 readers are linked. The effects of these interactions remain however to be elucidated.

10.2.4 Additional hypotheses to investigate CDYL2 implication in mitosis.

During my thesis I observed that CDYL2 is necessary for a faithful mitotic progress. However, despite a convincing proteome-wide analysis of CDYL2 interactors, I could not explain the mechanism behind CDYL2 regulation of mitosis and several hypotheses are still open for investigation. As an example, instead of being necessary for cohesin loading on the chromatin, CDYL2 may be needed for cohesion establishment. Cohesion on the chromosome is established during DNA replication through SMC3 acetylation by ESCO1 or ESCO2 (Whelan et al., 2012; J. Zhang et al., 2008). The MCM complex, localized at the replication fork, is notably required for ESCO2 recruitment on the chromatin and thus cohesin acetylation (Higashi et al., 2012; Ivanov et al., 2018). Since MCM4 and MCM7 were found in the mass spectrometry analysis, CDYL2 may interact with the replication fork, possibly through the MCM complex, and collaborate for cohesion establishment. Interestingly, it was already reported that CDYL1 can interact with MCM4 and localizes at the replication fork (Y. Liu et al., 2017b). It remains to be determined if CDYL2 is necessary at the replication fork for cohesin acetylation. If this is the case, a knock-down of CDYL2 would lead to a fragilized cohesion at pericentromeres. This fragilized cohesion would be enough to induce cohesion defects during metaphase but may not be sufficient to release completely cohesin from pericentromeres.

Cohesin subunits are also known to localize outside chromatin at the centrosome structures, where they regulate the cohesion between the two centrioles during the cell

cycle (Guan et al., 2008; Schöckel et al., 2011). Removal of cohesin at centrioles shows similarities with the removal of the complex at pericentromeres as it relies on RAD21 cleavage by separase and is protected by SGO1 activity (Schöckel *et al.*, 2011). Since CDYL2 is interacting with cohesin and localizes throughout the cell cycle at centrosomes, CDYL2 may be interacting with the complex at centrosomes as well, where it potentially could regulate its function or association with centrioles. If this is the case, a knock-down of CDYL2 might lead to a lack of centrioles cohesion defects. This would explain the multipolar metaphase plate and the multipolar spindle observed in mitotic HeLa cells after CDYL2 knock-down. In interphase and MCF7 cells, a difference in the pericentrin signal after CDYL2 RNAi transfection could not be observed in the number nor the appearance. However, it remains to be determined, through knock-down of cohesin proteins, if a defect in centrioles cohesion would be visible with a pericentrin staining. Indeed, in previous literature, centriole disengagement upon cohesin defects can be put in evidence using staining against C-NAP1, a centrosome associated protein (Schöckel 2011). Performing the same staining in cells depleted for CDYL2 would indicate if a centriole disengagement is present in interphase cells and would explain the defects in mitosis observed.

Finally, as described in the next section, CDYL2 might regulate mitosis through the expression regulation of genes necessary for a faithful mitosis.

10.3 CDYL2 AS A TRANSCRIPTION REPRESSOR?

As described previously CDYL2 is interacting with various epigenetic silencing proteins, including EHMT1 and EHMT2. Still, even if CDYL2 is confirmed to be dispensable to control satellite expression, we previously described its function for transcription repression for the miRNA mir124 (Siouda *et al.*, 2020). Using EHMT2 inhibitors, I demonstrated that the catalytic activity of EHMT2, recruited to the promoter region by CDYL2, is necessary for the silencing mechanism. As EHMT2 was reported by others to interact with EZH2 (Mozzetta *et al.*, 2014), I tested in our publication (Siouda *et al.*, 2020), whether I could observe EZH2 interaction with the CDYL2 – EHMT2 complex. Despite having an efficient coimmunoprecipitation of EZH2 and EHMT2 as can attest the presence in the precipitates of SUZ12 and EHMT1 respectively, an interaction between the two proteins could not be

observed in my hands, nor could a strong interaction between CDYL2 and EZH2 be found. Of note, the coimmunoprecipitation presented by Mozetta *et al.* reported an EZH2-EHMT2 interaction that seemed much weaker compared to the interactions with SUZ12 and EHMT1 respectively (Mozzetta *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, the coimmunoprecipitation of Mozetta and colleagues in human HeLa cell line was performed using ectopically expressed EHMT2 proteins which may induce aberrant interactions due to overexpression of the protein. They confirmed the interaction in endogenous conditions using mouse embryonic stem cells, it remains therefore possible that EHMT2 and EZH2 interaction is species or cell line dependent and can therefore not be observed in our MCF7 and HeLa S3 cell lines models.

Interestingly, CDYL1 was found to regulate transcription, including genes expression, through a very similar repression mechanism (Abu-Zhayia *et al.*, 2018; Mulligan *et al.*, 2008) as the one we described for miRNA124 silencing by CDYL2. It is, therefore, likely that CDYL2 also has several other gene targets. Interestingly, WIZ a protein recruiting EHMT1/EHMT2 complex to the chromatin (Bian *et al.*, 2015), was found in the mass spectrometry analysis, further suggesting a function of CDYL2 in gene transcription repression. An RNA-seq analysis might reveal genes regulated by CDYL2 which are involved in mitosis progression.

Finally, cohesin does not only regulate sister chromatid cohesion during metaphase but is also responsible for transcription loops (Hagstrom and Meyer, 2003b). It could be interesting to see if CDYL2 is implicated in cohesin loading or localization on heterochromatin in the gene transcription context. To better understand CDYL2 and cohesin interactions, it would be of great interest to compare ChIP-seq analyses from CDYL2 and proteins implicated in the cohesin complex or its loading and see if they are concordant.

10.4 FURTHER CDYL2 CHARACTERIZATION

Potentially interesting, but not addressed in the present study, is the potential collaboration or redundancy between CDYL1 and CDYL2 proteins. From the mass spectrometry analysis, the proteins are interacting. Additionally, many of CDYL1 known

interactors, as EHMT2, WIZ, HDAC1 or SETDB1 (Mulligan et al., 2008) were found in my analysis as well. When revealing the structure of CDYL proteins ECH domain, Wu et al. described a capacity of the proteins to trimerize and suggests, a possible trimers dimerization as this happens with proteins showing a conserved ECH domain (Wu et al., 2009). As the ECH domain between CDYL proteins is highly conserved, it seems possible that CDYL proteins may also be able to form heterotrimers or heterohexamers. My results suggest CDYL2 and CDYL1 interact together. If both CDYL1 and CDYL2 work together, and if this putative heterotrimerization is necessary for CDYL protein functions in vivo is not yet elucidated. CDYL1 and CDYL2 seems also to have a similar mode of action for transcription repression as they were both found to recruit EHMT2 to promote H3K9 methylation (Y. Liu et al., 2017b; Siouda et al., 2020). It is therefore possible, that CDYL1 and CDYL2 are working together and are both necessary for faithful mitosis. Still, due to the high mitotic defects observed after CDYL2 knock-down (Fig. 11) and the poor viability of cdyl1 -/- mice (Wan et al., 2013), it seems that at least some effects are non-redundant between the two proteins. It would be interesting to investigate mitosis phenotypes after CDYL1 knock-down and compare them with the one observed after CDYL2 knock-down.

Interestingly, CDYL2 was found to interact with components from the replication fork as well, notably MCM proteins. An interaction between CDYL1 and MCM complex was also previously described and linked with transmission of repressive marks by CDYL1 (Y. Liu et al., 2017b). The transmission of histone marks happens during DNA replication and consists of reproducing the epigenetic marks from the original to the newly synthesized strand to maintain cellular identity. It raises therefore the possibility from my observation, that CDYL2 could also be linked with repressive histone marks transmission.

Finally, I observed that CDYL2 runs at two different weight when fractionating the nucleus into the nuclear extract and tight chromatin fractions, suggesting a difference in the structure or in post-transcriptional modifications when CDYL2 is loaded on the chromatin. From the Phosphosite database (Fig. 33) (Hornbeck *et al.*, 2004), it seems that CDYL2 indeed carries several sites that can potentially be phosphorylated or ubiquitylated. Another possibility would be that *CDYL2* gives rise to more than one transcript, that has a different molecular weight, similar to *CDYL1* which has three different splice forms. On

the Ensembl database (Zerbino *et al.*, 2018), the described CDYL2 transcripts differ in size with only one amino acid, which seems unlikely to match the difference I observed. However, the NCBI database (O'Leary *et al.*, 2016) computationally predicted three transcripts with a molecular weight of 60,2 kDa, 56,1 kDa, and 49,3 kDa, while the molecular weight of canonical CDYL2 is 56,5 kDa. When comparing the bands I observe with the molecular weight, I obtain a variant of 54,6 kDa on the chromatin fractions and 56,9 kDa in the nuclear fraction (Fig. 14, calculated using Image Lab Software, BioRad), which does not fit with the molecular weight of the predicted splice variants. It could be of interest to study the exact reason behind the molecular weight difference, as it could allow us to gain further insights into the CDYL2 loading mechanism on the chromatin and potentially use this information to control CDYL2 function in the cell.

10.5 CDYL2 AS A POTENTIAL THERAPEUTIC TARGET?

In the last decades, CDYL family proteins have been revealed to be implicated in various cellular processes and deregulated in many diseases, including cancer (Kim *et al.*, 2014; Siouda *et al.*, 2020; Wu *et al.*, 2013). CDYL2, the less studied proteins from the two autosomal genes, was never until recently, studied from a functional and mechanistic point of view. My thesis aimed at characterizing CDYL2 function in the cells. It appears from the work detailed here that CDYL2 knock-down induces mitotic defects and genomic instability. Even though the mechanism is not fully characterized yet, it could be interesting to see the effect of this induced genomic instability in cancer cells. During my thesis, I also participated in the study of CDYL2 function in breast cancer and how its overexpression is linked with a worse prognosis in breast cancer patients. In this study, a knock-down of CDYL2 was able to reduce the invasion potential of MDA-MB-231, an aggressive breast cancer cell line. A knock-down of CDYL2 in aggressive breast cancer tumors could thus both potentially decrease the metastatic potential of the tumor and induce cell death through genomic instability, conjugating both effects to fight cancer.

Interestingly, CDYL1 knock-down was shown to increase the efficiency of chemotherapy inducing DNA damage and Abu-Zhayia and colleagues suggested using it in combination with cisplatin therapy (Abu-Zhayia *et al.*, 2018). CDYL1 was shown in the same study to be involved in the deposition of repressive histone marks at DNA damage sites, by interacting

with the replication fork and recruiting EZH2 to the damaged site. From my analysis, I observed that CDYL2 and CDYL1 probably interact together, that CDYL2 possibly interacts with the MCM complex and that CDYL2 is able to recruit EHMT2 and EZH2 and promote methylation of both H3K9 and H3K27. It would be therefore interesting to study CDYL2 function in DNA damage repair context and analyze the effect of CDYL2 knock-down on cisplatin treatment.

The advantage of targeting proteins involved in histone methylation is that they are more specific to particular histone residues and are thus expected to have fewer side-effects than acetylation transferases or deacetylases inhibitors (Mohammad et al., 2019). Chromodomain inhibitors were already designed (Barnash et al., 2016; Stuckey et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2019). Their efficiency and specificity on CDYL2 would still need to be determine. It would then be interesting to test the effect of this drug both in cancerous cell lines and in tumors in vivo. This would reveal if, as expected, targeting CDYL2 would reduce cancer aggressiveness and increases chemotherapy efficiencies either by promoting genomic instability, increasing DNA damage, or avoiding epithelial to mesenchymal transition. A parameter to take into account, when analyzing the effects of CDYL2 inhibition in cancer cells, is the presence of wild-type p53. Indeed, we observed differences in HeLa and MCF7 response to CDYL2 knock-down which could potentially be explained by p53 effects. HeLa thus showed defects even during interphase, possibly because their lack of competent p53 reduces cell death as a response to genomic instability, while MCF7 had more subtle effects as the cells with the strongest response may have died after induction of the p53 pathway.

In conclusion, CDYL2 seems, in theory, a promising target for chemotherapies. Its mode of function may however need to be further analyzed before starting to study if it is adapted for chemotherapy. Indeed, the drugs already designed are targeting CDYL2 chromodomain, however, until now, it was never studied if CDYL2 chromodomain is necessary for its function in mitosis or to increase cancer aggressiveness. It is therefore possible that targeting its chromodomain might not be the strategy of choice. Additionally, we could during my thesis observe an interaction of CDYL2 with various proteins and at least two localization in the cell. It seems therefore likely that CDYL2 is implicated in several other functions that were not detected here. If this is the case, targeting CDYL2 would most likely induce side-effects. To bypass this limitation, deeper analyses of CDYL2 functions and the implication of its different domains would be needed and allow us to consider other strategies to inhibit its action.



Figure 33: Potential post-transcriptional modifications on CDYL2 as predicted by Phosphosite database (Hornbeck et al. 2004).

Conclusion

To recapitulate, my thesis aimed broadly at characterizing CDYL2 cellular function in the cell. Indeed, while CDYL1, its ortholog, was found to be involved in several cellular functions including transcription regulation and DNA repair, CDYL2 function remains mostly unknown. Preliminary data from the team indicated a function of CDYL2 in mitosis regulation. I performed CDYL2 characterization with the aim to elucidate the mechanism behind mitosis regulation through CDYL2.

First, I performed a characterization of CDYL2 localization and levels during the cell cycle. I observed that CDYL2 is a nuclear protein, tightly bound to chromatin and relocalizing at least partially during mitosis. Using costaining techniques, I observed that CDYL2 binds to pericentromeres in a H3K9me3 dependent manner. It also localizes outside the nucleus at centrosomes throughout the cell cycle. Secondly, I revealed, through Mass Spectrometry Analysis and validated with either Immunoprecipitation or Proximity Ligation Assay, several interactors of CDYL2 that could potentially explain its function in mitosis regulation. From these interactors and the precedent characterization, three hypothesis were formulated and tested in the work I present here. Through its interaction with EHMT2 and DNMT1, it was proposed that CDYL2 could regulate centromeric repeats repression. However, from our experiments this could not be observed for satellite I, satellite II or retroviral repeat elements K111 and K222. Through its interaction with the cohesin complex, it was hypothesized that CDYL2 could regulate its loading at pericentromeric regions. This could however not be observed using confocal imaging. Our third hypothesis suggested that, since CDYL2 is interacting with CHAMP1, both proteins could work together in order to regulate microtubules-centromeres interaction. I, however could not reveal any microtubules attachment defects after CDYL2 knock-down, suggesting that CDYL2 is dispensable for this CHAMP1 described function.

Even though the mechanism linking CDYL2 and mitosis could not be elucidated during my thesis, I participated to the elucidation of CDYL2 action as a transcription repressor. Indeed, we observed that CDYL2 is interacting with EHMT2 and through this interaction, recruits EHMT2 to the chromatin and indirectly regulates histone trimethylation upstream of the *MIR124* gene. This can be considered as a proof of principle that CDYL2 can act as a gene transcription repressor.

To conclude, I could observe that CDYL2 is necessary both for mitosis and transcription repression, two key processes of cellular life. Similar to CDYL1, CDYL2 therefore seems to be a multi-functional regulator, whose mechanism still has to be investigated in future work.

Bibliography

I

12 BIBLIOGRAPHY

Abrieu, A., Magnaghi-Jaulin, L., Kahana, J.A., Peter, M., Castro, A., Vigneron, S., Lorca, T., Cleveland, D.W., Labbé, J.C., 2001. Mps1 is a kinetochore-associated kinase essential for the vertebrate mitotic checkpoint. Cell 106, 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(01)00410-x

Abu-Zhayia, E.R., Awwad, S.W., Ben-Oz, B.M., Khoury-Haddad, H., Ayoub, N., 2018. CDYL1 fosters double-strand break-induced transcription silencing and promotes homology-directed repair. J Mol Cell Biol 10, 341–357.

https://doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjx050

Adam, M., Robert, F., Larochelle, M., Gaudreau, L., 2001. H2A.Z Is Required for Global Chromatin Integrity and for Recruitment of RNA Polymerase II under Specific Conditions. Molecular and Cellular Biology 21, 6270–6279. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.21.18.6270-6279.2001

Allfrey, V.G., Faulkner, R., Mirsky, A.E., 1964. ACETYLATION AND METHYLATION OF HISTONES AND THEIR POSSIBLE ROLE IN THE REGULATION OF RNA SYNTHESIS*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 51, 786–794.

Allis, C.D., Jenuwein, T., 2016. The molecular hallmarks of epigenetic control. Nat Rev Genet 17, 487–500. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg.2016.59

Alomer, R.M., Silva, E.M.L. da, Chen, J., Piekarz, K.M., McDonald, K., Sansam, C.G., Sansam, C.L., Rankin, S., 2017. Esco1 and Esco2 regulate distinct cohesin functions during cell cycle progression. PNAS 114, 9906–9911.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1708291114

Al-Sady, B., Madhani, H.D., Narlikar, G.J., 2013. Division of Labor between the Chromodomains of HP1 and Suv39 Methylase Enables Coordination of Heterochromatin Spread. Molecular Cell 51, 80–91.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.06.0 13

Amaral, P.P., Dinger, M.E., Mercer, T.R., Mattick, J.S., 2008. The Eukaryotic Genome as an RNA Machine. Science 319, 1787– 1789.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1155472

Amato, A., Schillaci, T., Lentini, L., Di Leonardo, A., 2009. CENPA overexpression promotes genome instability in pRbdepleted human cells. Mol. Cancer 8, 119. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-8-119

Andor, N., Maley, C.C., Ji, H.P., 2017. Genomic Instability in Cancer: Teetering on the Limit of Tolerance. Cancer Res 77, 2179– 2185. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1553

Andrews, F.H., Shinsky, S.A., Shanle, E.K., Bridgers, J.B., Gest, A., Tsun, I.K., Krajewski, K., Shi, X., Strahl, B.D., Kutateladze, T.G., 2016. The Taf14 YEATS domain is a reader of histone crotonylation. Nature Chemical Biology 12, 396–398. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2065

Arumugam, P., Gruber, S., Tanaka, K., Haering, C.H., Mechtler, K., Nasmyth, K., 2003. ATP Hydrolysis Is Required for Cohesin's Association with Chromosomes. Current Biology 13, 1941–1953. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2003.10.036

Bakhoum, S.F., Thompson, S.L., Manning, A.L., Compton, D.A., 2009. Genome stability is ensured by temporal control of kinetochore–microtubule dynamics. Nature
Cell Biology 11, 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1809

Balbás-Martínez, C., Sagrera, A., Carrillo-de-Santa-Pau, E., Earl, J., Márquez, M., Vazquez, M., Lapi, E., Castro-Giner, F., Beltran, S., Bayés, M., Carrato, A., Cigudosa, J.C., Domínguez, O., Gut, M., Herranz, J., Juanpere, N., Kogevinas, M., Langa, X., López-Knowles, E., Lorente, J.A., Lloreta, J., Pisano, D.G., Richart, L., Rico, D., Salgado, R.N., Tardón, A., Chanock, S., Heath, S., Valencia, A., Losada, A., Gut, I., Malats, N., Real, F.X., 2013. Recurrent inactivation of STAG2 in bladder cancer is not associated with aneuploidy. Nature Genetics 45, 1464– 1469. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2799

Ballas, N., Mandel, G., 2005. The many faces of REST oversee epigenetic programming of neuronal genes. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, Neuronal and glial cell biology / New technologies 15, 500–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2005.08.015

Bannister, A.J., Zegerman, P., Partridge, J.F., Miska, E.A., Thomas, J.O., Allshire, R.C., Kouzarides, T., 2001. Selective recognition of methylated lysine 9 on histone H3 by the HP1 chromo domain. Nature 410, 120–124. https://doi.org/10.1038/35065138

Barber, T.D., McManus, K., Yuen, K.W.Y., Reis, M., Parmigiani, G., Shen, D., Barrett, I., Nouhi, Y., Spencer, F., Markowitz, S., Velculescu, V.E., Kinzler, K.W., Vogelstein, B., Lengauer, C., Hieter, P., 2008. Chromatid cohesion defects may underlie chromosome instability in human colorectal cancers. PNAS 105, 3443–3448. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0712384105

Barford, D., 2011. Structural insights into anaphase-promoting complex function and mechanism. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 366, 3605–3624.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0069

Barman Balfour, J.A., Goa, K.L., 2001. Bendamustine. Drugs 61, 631–638. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-200161050-00009

Barnash, K.D., Lamb, K.N., Stuckey, J.I., Norris, J.L., Cholensky, S.H., Kireev, D.B., Frye, S.V., James, L.I., 2016. Chromodomain Ligand Optimization via Target-Class Directed Combinatorial Repurposing. ACS Chem Biol 11, 2475–2483. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.6b004 15

Barski, A., Cuddapah, S., Cui, K., Roh, T.-Y., Schones, D.E., Wang, Z., Wei, G., Chepelev, I., Zhao, K., 2007. High-Resolution Profiling of Histone Methylations in the Human Genome. Cell 129, 823–837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.009

Bartke, T., Vermeulen, M., Xhemalce, B., Robson, S.C., Mann, M., Kouzarides, T., 2010. Nucleosome-Interacting Proteins Regulated by DNA and Histone Methylation. Cell 143, 470–484.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.012

Basto, R., Brunk, K., Vinadogrova, T., Peel, N., Franz, A., Khodjakov, A., Raff, J.W., 2008. Centrosome Amplification Can Initiate Tumorigenesis in Flies. Cell 133, 1032–1042. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.05.039

Basto, R., Lau, J., Vinogradova, T., Gardiol, A., Woods, C.G., Khodjakov, A., Raff, J.W., 2006. Flies without Centrioles. Cell 125, 1375– 1386.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.025

Baylin, S.B., 2005. DNA methylation and gene silencing in cancer. Nature Clinical Practice Oncology 2, S4–S11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncponc0354

Benaissa, M., 2018. Caractérisation d'un facteur épigénétique impliqué dans la régulation des cellules souches embryonnaires murines (These de doctorat). Lyon.

Bennetzen, M.V., Larsen, D.H., Lukas, J.,
2010. Site-specific Phosphorylation
Dynamics of the Nuclear Proteome during
the DNA Damage Response*□S 10.

Berger, F., 2019. Emil Heitz, a true epigenetics pioneer. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 20, 572–572. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-019-0161-z

Bian, C., Chen, Q., Yu, X., 2015. The zinc finger proteins ZNF644 and WIZ regulate the G9a/GLP complex for gene repression. eLife 4, e05606.

https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.05606

Birkenbihl, R.P., Subramani, S., 1992. Cloning and characterization of rad21 an essential gene of Schizosaccharomyces pombe involved in DNA double-strand-break repair. Nucleic Acids Res 20, 6605–6611. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/20.24.6605

Bishop, J.D., Schumacher, J.M., 2002. Phosphorylation of the Carboxyl Terminus of Inner Centromere Protein (INCENP) by the Aurora B Kinase Stimulates Aurora B Kinase Activity. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 27577–27580. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.C200307200

Bjursell, G., Reichard, P., 1973. Effects of Thymidine on Deoxyribonucleoside Triphosphate Pools and Deoxyribonucleic Acid Synthesis in Chinese Hamster Ovary Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 248, 3904–3909.

Black, B.E., Bassett, E.A., 2008. The histone variant CENP-A and centromere specification. Current Opinion in Cell Biology, Cell structure and dynamics 20, 91–100.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2007.11.007

Bode, J., Henco, K., Wingender, E., 1980. Modulation of the Nucleosome Structure by Histone Acetylation. European Journal of Biochemistry 110, 143–152. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-1033.1980.tb04849.x

Bostock, C., 1971. An evaluation of the double thymidine block for synchronizing mammalian cells at the G1-S border*1. Experimental Cell Research 68, 163–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(71)90599-4

Boulikas, T., Vougiouka, M., 2004. Recent clinical trials using cisplatin, carboplatin and their combination chemotherapy drugs (Review). Oncology Reports 11, 559–595. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.11.3.559

Bouzinba-Segard, H., Guais, A., Francastel, C., 2006. Accumulation of small murine minor satellite transcripts leads to impaired centromeric architecture and function. PNAS 103, 8709–8714. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0508006103

Bradley, W.D., Arora, S., Busby, J., Balasubramanian, S., Gehling, V.S., Nasveschuk, C.G., Vaswani, R.G., Yuan, C.-C., Hatton, C., Zhao, F., Williamson, K.E., Iyer, P., Méndez, J., Campbell, R., Cantone, N., Garapaty-Rao, S., Audia, J.E., Cook, A.S., Dakin, L.A., Albrecht, B.K., Harmange, J.-C., Daniels, D.L., Cummings, R.T., Bryant, B.M., Normant, E., Trojer, P., 2014. EZH2 Inhibitor Efficacy in Non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma Does Require Suppression of H3K27 Not Monomethylation. Chemistry & Biology 21, 1463-1475.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2014.09 .017

Branco, M.R., Ficz, G., Reik, W., 2012. Uncovering the role of 5hydroxymethylcytosine in the epigenome. Nature Reviews Genetics 13, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3080

Brasher, S.V., Smith, B.O., Fogh, R.H., Nietlispach, D., Thiru, A., Nielsen, P.R., Broadhurst, R.W., Ball, L.J., Murzina, N.V., Laue, E.D., 2000. The structure of mouse HP1 suggests a unique mode of single peptide recognition by the shadow chromo domain dimer. The EMBO Journal 19, 1587–1597. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/19.7.1587

Briggs, R., King, T.J., 1952. Transplantation of living nuclei from blastula cells into enucleated frogs' eggs. PNAS 38, 455–463. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.38.5.455

Brownell, J.E., Zhou, J., Ranalli, T., Kobayashi, R., Edmondson, D.G., Roth, S.Y., Allis, C.D., 1996. Tetrahymena Histone Acetyltransferase A: A Homolog to Yeast Gcn5p Linking Histone Acetylation to Gene Activation. Cell 84, 843–851. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81063-6

Bryant, R.J., Cross, N.A., Eaton, C.L., Hamdy, F.C., Cunliffe, V.T., 2007. EZH2 promotes proliferation and invasiveness of prostate cancer cells. The Prostate 67, 547–556. https://doi.org/10.1002/pros.20550

Buchmuller, B.C., Kosel, B., Summerer, D., 2020. Complete Profiling of Methyl-CpG-Binding Domains for Combinations of Cytosine Modifications at CpG Dinucleotides Reveals Differential Read-out in Normal and Rett-Associated States. Scientific Reports 10, 4053. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61030-1

Busslinger, G.A., Stocsits, R.R., van der Lelij, P., Axelsson, E., Tedeschi, A., Galjart, N., Peters, J.-M., 2017. Cohesin is positioned in mammalian genomes by transcription, CTCF and Wapl. Nature 544, 503–507. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22063

Cao, J., Qiu, J., Wang, X., Lu, Z., Wang, D., Feng, H., Li, X., Liu, Q., Pan, H., Han, X., Wei, J., Liu, S., Wang, L., 2018. Identification of microRNA-124 in regulation of Hepatocellular carcinoma through BIRC3 and the NF-κB pathway. J Cancer 9, 3006– 3015. https://doi.org/10.7150/jca.25956 Cao, R., Zhang, Y., 2004. The functions of E(Z)/EZH2-mediated methylation of lysine 27 in histone H3. Current Opinion in Genetics & Development 14, 155–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2004.02.001

Caron, C., Pivot-Pajot, C., van Grunsven, L.A., Col, E., Lestrat, C., Rousseaux, S., Khochbin, S., 2003. Cdyl: a new transcriptional corepressor. EMBO Rep 4, 877–882. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.embor91 7

Chadwick, B.P., Valley, C.M., Willard, H.F., 2001. Histone variant macroH2A contains two distinct macrochromatin domains capable of directing macroH2A to the inactive X chromosome. Nucleic Acids Res 29, 2699–2705. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/29.13.2699

Chan, J.Y., 2011. A Clinical Overview of Centrosome Amplification in Human Cancers. Int J Biol Sci 7, 1122–1144.

Chan, K.-L., Roig, M.B., Hu, B., Beckouët, F., Metson, J., Nasmyth, K., 2012. Cohesin's DNA Exit Gate Is Distinct from Its Entrance Gate and Is Regulated by Acetylation. Cell 150, 961–974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2012.07.028

Chang, B., Chen, Y., Zhao, Y., Bruick, R.K., 2007. JMJD6 Is a Histone Arginine Demethylase. Science 318, 444–447. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1145801

Chang, D.C., Xu, N., Luo, K.Q., 2003. Degradation of Cyclin B Is Required for the Onset of Anaphase in Mammalian Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 37865–37873. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M306376200

Chao, W.C.H., Murayama, Y., Muñoz, S., Costa, A., Uhlmann, F., Singleton, M.R., 2015. Structural Studies Reveal the Functional Modularity of the Scc2-Scc4 Cohesin Loader. Cell Reports 12, 719–725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2015.06.07 1

Chapard, C., Jones, R., van Oepen, T., Scheinost, J.C., Nasmyth, K., 2019. Sister DNA Entrapment between Juxtaposed Smc Heads and Kleisin of the Cohesin Complex. Mol Cell 75, 224-237.e5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2019.05.0 23

Chaudhry, V., Rowinsky, E.K., Sartorius, S.E., Donehower, R.C., Cornblath, D.R., 1994. Peripheral neuropathy from taxol and cisplatin combination chemotherapy: Clinical and electrophysiological studies. Annals of Neurology 35, 304–311. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410350310

Cheeseman, I.M., Desai, A., 2008. Molecular architecture of the kinetochore– microtubule interface. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 9, 33–46. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2310

Chin, H.G., Estève, P.-O., Pradhan, M., Benner, J., Patnaik, D., Carey, M.F., Pradhan, S., 2007. Automethylation of G9a and its implication in wider substrate specificity and HP1 binding. Nucleic Acids Res 35, 7313– 7323. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkm726

Chinen, T., Yamamoto, S., Takeda, Y., Watanabe, K., Kuroki, K., Hashimoto, K., Takao, D., Kitagawa, D., 2020. NuMA assemblies organize microtubule asters to establish spindle bipolarity in acentrosomal human cells. The EMBO Journal 39, e102378. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.2019102378

Cimini, D., Mattiuzzo, M., Torosantucci, L., Degrassi, F., 2003. Histone Hyperacetylation in Mitosis Prevents Sister Chromatid Separation and Produces Chromosome Segregation Defects. MBoC 14, 3821–3833. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e03-01-0860 Cloos, P.A.C., Christensen, J., Agger, K., Maiolica, A., Rappsilber, J., Antal, T., Hansen, K.H., Helin, K., 2006. The putative oncogene GASC1 demethylates tri- and dimethylated lysine 9 on histone H3. Nature 442, 307–311. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04837

Collins, R.E., Tachibana, M., Tamaru, H., Smith, K.M., Jia, D., Zhang, X., Selker, E.U., Shinkai, Y., Cheng, X., 2005. In vitro and in vivo analyses of a Phe/Tyr switch controlling product specificity of histone lysine methyltransferases. J Biol Chem 280, 5563– 5570.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M410483200

Contreras-Galindo, R., Kaplan, M.H., He, S., Contreras-Galindo, A.C., Gonzalez-Hernandez, M.J., Kappes, F., Dube, D., Chan, S.M., Robinson, D., Meng, F., Dai, M., Gitlin, S.D., Chinnaiyan, A.M., Omenn, G.S., Markovitz, D.M., 2013. HIV infection reveals widespread expansion of novel centromeric human endogenous retroviruses. Genome Res 23, 1505–1513. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.144303.112

Cooper, D.N., Mort, M., Stenson, P.D., Ball, E.V., Chuzhanova, N.A., 2010. Methylationmediated deamination of 5-methylcytosine appears to give rise to mutations causing human inherited disease in CpNpG trinucleotides, as well as in CpG dinucleotides. Human Genomics 4, 406. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-7364-4-6-406

Copeland, R.A., Solomon, M.E., Richon, V.M., 2009. Protein methyltransferases as a target class for drug discovery. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 8, 724–732. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2974

Costanzi, C., Pehrson, J.R., 2001. MACROH2A2, a New Member of the MACROH2A Core Histone Family. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 21776–21784. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M010919200 Coue, M., Lombillo, V.A., McIntosh, J.R., 1991. Microtubule depolymerization promotes particle and chromosome movement in vitro. J Cell Biol 112, 1165– 1175.

https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.112.6.1165

Couture, J.-F., Collazo, E., Ortiz-Tello, P.A., Brunzelle, J.S., Trievel, R.C., 2007. Specificity and mechanism of JMJD2A, a trimethyllysine-specific histone demethylase. Nature Structural & Molecular Biology 14, 689–695. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1273

Cowieson, N.P., Partridge, J.F., Allshire, R.C., McLaughlin, P.J., 2000. Dimerisation of a chromo shadow domain and distinctions from the chromodomain as revealed by structural analysis. Current Biology 10, 517– 525. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00467-X

Crampton, C.F., Moore, S., Stein, W.H., 1955. Chromatographic Fractionation of Calf Thymus Histone. J. Biol. Chem.

Cruickshank, B., Giacomantonio, M., Marcato, P., McFarland, S., Pol, J., Gujar, S., 2018. Dying to Be Noticed: Epigenetic Regulation of Immunogenic Cell Death for Cancer Immunotherapy. Front. Immunol. 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00654

Cruz-Tapias, P., Robin, P., Pontis, J., Maestro, L.D., Ait-Si-Ali, S., 2019. The H3K9 Methylation Writer SETDB1 and its Reader MPP8 Cooperate to Silence Satellite DNA Repeats in Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells. Genes 10, 750. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes10100750

Csankovszki, G., Nagy, A., Jaenisch, R., 2001. Synergism of Xist Rna, DNA Methylation, and Histone Hypoacetylation in Maintaining X Chromosome Inactivation. J Cell Biol 153, 773–784.

https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.153.4.773

Cucco, F., Servadio, A., Gatti, V., Bianchi, P., Mannini, L., Prodosmo, A., De Vitis, E., Basso, G., Friuli, A., Laghi, L., Soddu, S., Fontanini, G., Musio, A., 2014. Mutant cohesin drives chromosomal instability in early colorectal adenomas. Hum Mol Genet 23, 6773–6778. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddu394

Cui, P., Liu, W., Zhao, Y., Lin, Q., Zhang, D., Ding, F., Xin, C., Zhang, Z., Song, S., Sun, F., Yu, J., Hu, S., 2012. Comparative Analyses of H3K4 and H3K27 Trimethylations Between the Mouse Cerebrum and Testis. Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics 10, 82–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gpb.2012.05.007

Cui, W., Dai, J., Ma, J., Gu, H., 2019. circCDYL/microRNA-105-5p participates in modulating growth and migration of colon cancer cells. Gen. Physiol. Biophys. 38, 485– 495. https://doi.org/10.4149/gpb2019037

Curtin, N.J., 2012. DNA repair dysregulation from cancer driver to therapeutic target. Nature Reviews Cancer 12, 801–817. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3399

Dai, J., Sullivan, B.A., Higgins, J.M.G., 2006. Regulation of Mitotic Chromosome Cohesion by Haspin and Aurora B. Developmental Cell 11, 741–750. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2006.09.0 18

Dai, J., Sultan, S., Taylor, S.S., Higgins, J.M.G., 2005. The kinase haspin is required for mitotic histone H3 Thr 3 phosphorylation and normal metaphase chromosome alignment. Genes Dev. 19, 472–488. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1267105

D'Assoro, A.B., Lingle, W.L., Salisbury, J.L., 2002. Centrosome amplification and the development of cancer. Oncogene 21, 6146– 6153.

https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1205772

Deardorff, M.A., Bando, M., Nakato, R., Watrin, E., Itoh, T., Minamino, M., Saitoh, K.,

Komata, M., Katou, Y., Clark, D., Cole, K.E., De Baere, E., Decroos, C., Di Donato, N., Ernst, S., Francey, L.J., Gyftodimou, Y., Hirashima, K., Hullings, M., Ishikawa, Y., Jaulin, C., Kaur, M., Kiyono, T., Lombardi, P.M., Magnaghi-Jaulin, L., Mortier, G.R., Nozaki, N., Petersen, M.B., Seimiya, H., Siu, V.M., Suzuki, Y., Takagaki, K., Wilde, J.J., Willems, P.J., Prigent, C., Gillessen-Kaesbach, G., Christianson, D.W., Kaiser, F.J., Jackson, L.G., Hirota, T., Krantz, I.D., Shirahige, K., 2012. HDAC8 mutations in Cornelia de Lange syndrome affect the cohesin acetylation cycle. Nature 313-317. 489, https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11316

Deaton, A.M., Bird, A., 2011. CpG islands and the regulation of transcription. Genes Dev. 25, 1010–1022. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.2037511

Dej, K.J., Ahn, C., Orr-Weaver, T.L., 2004. Mutations in the Drosophila Condensin Subunit dCAP-G: Defining the Role of Condensin for Chromosome Condensation in Mitosis and Gene Expression in Interphase. Genetics 168, 895–906. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.104.0309 08

Déjardin, J., 2015. Switching between Epigenetic States at Pericentromeric Heterochromatin. Trends in Genetics 31, 661–672.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2015.09.003

Delhommeau, F., Dupont, S., Valle, V.D., James, C., Trannoy, S., Massé, A., Kosmider, O., Le Couedic, J.-P., Robert, F., Alberdi, A., Lécluse, Y., Plo, I., Dreyfus, F.J., Marzac, C., Casadevall, N., Lacombe, C., Romana, S.P., Dessen, P., Soulier, J., Viguié, F., Fontenay, M., Vainchenker, W., Bernard, O.A., 2009. Mutation in TET2 in Myeloid Cancers. New England Journal of Medicine 360, 2289– 2301.

https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa0810069

Dhalluin, C., Carlson, J.E., Zeng, L., He, C., Aggarwal, A.K., Zhou, M.-M., Zhou, M.-M., 1999. Structure and ligand of a histone acetyltransferase bromodomain. Nature 399, 491–496. https://doi.org/10.1038/20974

Díaz-Martínez, L.A., Beauchene, N.A., Furniss, K., Esponda, P., Giménez-Abián, J.F., Clarke, D.J., 2010. Cohesin is needed for bipolar mitosis in human cells. Cell Cycle 9, 1764–1773.

https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.9.9.11525

Dignam, J.D., Lebovitz, R.M., Roeder, R.G., 1983. Accurate transcription initiation by RNA polymerase II in a soluble extract from isolated mammalian nuclei. Nucleic Acids Res 11, 1475–1489. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/11.5.1475

Dillon, S.C., Zhang, X., Trievel, R.C., Cheng, X., 2005. The SET-domain protein superfamily: protein lysine methyltransferases. Genome Biol 6, 227. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2005-6-8-227

Docter, B.E., Horowitz, S., Gray, M.J., Jakob, U., Bardwell, J.C.A., 2016. Do nucleic acids moonlight as molecular chaperones? Nucleic Acids Res 44, 4835–4845. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw291

Dong, Y., Zhou, L., Tian, Q., Zheng, Y., Sanche, L., 2017. Chemoradiation Cancer Therapy: Molecular Mechanisms of Cisplatin Radiosensitization. J. Phys. Chem. C 121, 17505–17513.

https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jpcc.7b05271

Dormann, H.L., Tseng, B.S., Allis, C.D., Funabiki, H., Fischle, W., 2006. Dynamic Regulation of Effector Protein Binding to Histone Modifications: The Biology of HP1 Switching. Cell Cycle 5, 2842–2851. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.5.24.3540

Dorsett, D., Kassis, J.A., 2014. Checks and Balances between Cohesin and Polycomb in

Gene Silencing and Transcription. CurrentBiology24,R535–R539.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2014.04.037

Dorus, S., 2003. The CDY-related gene family: coordinated evolution in copy number, expression profile and protein sequence. Human Molecular Genetics 12, 1643–1650.

https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddg185

Dreier, M.R., Bekier, M.E., Taylor, W.R., 2011. Regulation of sororin by Cdk1mediated phosphorylation. J Cell Sci 124, 2976–2987.

https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.085431

Dugué, P.-A., Bassett, J.K., Joo, J.E., Jung, C.-H., Wong, E.M., Moreno-Betancur, M., Schmidt, D., Makalic, E., Li, S., Severi, G., Hodge, A.M., Buchanan, D.D., English, D.R., Hopper, J.L., Southey, M.C., Giles, G.G., Milne, R.L., 2018. DNA methylation-based biological aging and cancer risk and survival: Pooled analysis of seven prospective studies. International Journal of Cancer 142, 1611– 1619. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.31189

Efferth, T., Kuete, V., 2013. Molecular determinants of cancer cell sensitivity and resistance towards the sesquiterpene farnesol. Pharmazie 608–615. https://doi.org/10.1691/ph.2013.6503

Enguix-Riego, M.V., Torroglosa, A., Fernández, R.M., Moya-Jiménez, M.J., de Agustín, J.C., Antiñolo, G., Borrego, S., 2016. Identification of different mechanisms leading to PAX6 down-regulation as potential events contributing to the onset of Hirschsprung disease. Sci Rep 6, 21160. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep21160

Ernst, J., Kellis, M., 2010. Discovery and characterization of chromatin states for systematic annotation of the human genome. Nat Biotechnol 28, 817–825. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1662 Escamilla-Del-Arenal, M., da Rocha, S.T., Spruijt, C.G., Masui, O., Renaud, O., Smits, A.H., Margueron, R., Vermeulen, M., Heard, E., 2013. Cdyl, a New Partner of the Inactive X Chromosome and Potential Reader of H3K27me3 and H3K9me2. Molecular and Cellular Biology 33, 5005–5020. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.00866-13

Feinberg, A.P., Ohlsson, R., Henikoff, S., 2006. The epigenetic progenitor origin of human cancer. Nature Reviews Genetics 7, 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1748

Feinberg, A.P., Vogelstein, B., 1983. Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. Nature 301, 89–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/301089a0

Feitoza, L., Costa, L., Guerra, M., 2017. Condensation patterns of prophase/prometaphase chromosome are correlated with H4K5 histone acetylation and genomic DNA contents in plants. PLOS ONE 12, e0183341. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0183 341

Feng, Q., Wang, H., Ng, H.H., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Struhl, K., Zhang, Y., 2002. Methylation of H3-Lysine 79 Is Mediated by a New Family of HMTases without a SET Domain. Current Biology 12, 1052–1058. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00901-6

Filion, G.J., van Bemmel, J.G., Braunschweig, U., Talhout, W., Kind, J., Ward, L.D., Brugman, W., de Castro, I.J., Kerkhoven, R.M., Bussemaker, H.J., van Steensel, B., 2010. Systematic Protein Location Mapping Reveals Five Principal Chromatin Types in Drosophila Cells. Cell 143, 212–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.09.009

Filion, G.J.P., Zhenilo, S., Salozhin, S., Yamada, D., Prokhortchouk, E., Defossez, P.-A., 2006. A Family of Human Zinc Finger Proteins That Bind Methylated DNA and Repress Transcription. Molecular and Cellular Biology 26, 169–181. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.26.1.169-181.2006

Fischle, W., Franz, H., Jacobs, S.A., Allis, C.D., Khorasanizadeh, S., 2008. Specificity of the Chromodomain Y Chromosome Family of Chromodomains for Lysine-methylated ARK(S/T) Motifs. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 19626– 19635.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M802655200

Fischle, W., Tseng, B.S., Dormann, H.L., Ueberheide, B.M., Garcia, B.A., Shabanowitz, J., Hunt, D.F., Funabiki, H., Allis, C.D., 2005. Regulation of HP1chromatin binding histone by H3 methylation and phosphorylation. Nature 438, 1116-1122. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04219

Fraga, M.F., Ballestar, E., Montoya, G., Taysavang, P., Wade, P.A., Esteller, M., 2003. The affinity of different MBD proteins for a specific methylated locus depends on their intrinsic binding properties. Nucleic Acids Res 31, 1765–1774. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkg249

Franz, H., Mosch, K., Soeroes, S., Urlaub, H., Fischle, W., 2009. Multimerization and H3K9me3 Binding Are Required for CDYL1b Heterochromatin Association. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 35049–35059. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.052332

Friedman, P.A., Platzer, E.G., 1978. Interaction of anthelmintic benzimidazoles and benzimidazole derivatives with bovine brain tubulin. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - General Subjects 544, 605–614. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-4165(78)90334-3

Fritsch, L., Robin, P., Mathieu, J.R.R., Souidi, M., Hinaux, H., Rougeulle, C., Harel-Bellan, A., Ameyar-Zazoua, M., Ait-Si-Ali, S., 2010. A Subset of the Histone H3 Lysine 9 Methyltransferases Suv39h1, G9a, GLP, and SETDB1 Participate in a Multimeric Complex. Molecular Cell 37, 46–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2009.12.0 17

Fujioka, Y., Kimata, Y., Nomaguchi, K., Watanabe, K., Kohno, K., 2002. Identification of a Novel Non-structural Maintenance of Chromosomes (SMC) Component of the SMC5-SMC6 Complex Involved in DNA Repair. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 21585–21591. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M201523200

Fujita, N., Watanabe, S., Ichimura, T., Tsuruzoe, S., Shinkai, Y., Tachibana, M., Chiba, T., Nakao, M., 2003. Methyl-CpG Binding Domain 1 (MBD1) Interacts with the Suv39h1-HP1 Heterochromatic Complex for DNA Methylation-based Transcriptional Repression. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 24132– 24138.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M302283200

Ganem, N.J., Godinho, S.A., Pellman, D., 2009. A mechanism linking extra centrosomes to chromosomal instability. Nature 460, 278–282. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08136

Gehani, S.S., Agrawal-Singh, S., Dietrich, N., Christophersen, N.S., Helin, K., Hansen, K., 2010. Polycomb Group Protein Displacement and Gene Activation through MSK-Dependent H3K27me3S28 Phosphorylation. Molecular Cell 39, 886– 900.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.08.0 20

Gerlich, D., Koch, B., Dupeux, F., Peters, J.-M., Ellenberg, J., 2006. Live-Cell Imaging Reveals a Stable Cohesin-Chromatin Interaction after but Not before DNA Replication. Current Biology 16, 1571–1578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2006.06.068 Ghoussaini, M., Pharoah, P.D.P., Easton, D.F., 2013. Inherited Genetic Susceptibility to Breast Cancer: The Beginning of the End or the End of the Beginning? The American Journal of Pathology 183, 1038–1051. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.07.00 3

Gilbert, S.L., Sharp, P.A., 1999. Promoterspecific hypoacetylation of X-inactivated genes. PNAS 96, 13825–13830. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.24.13825

Gill-Sharma, M.K., Choudhuri, J., Ansari, M.A., D'Souza, S., 2012. Putative molecular mechanism underlying sperm chromatin remodelling is regulated by reproductive hormones. Clin Epigenetics 4, 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/1868-7083-4-23

Glenn, S.E., Geyer, P.K., 2019. Investigation of the Developmental Requirements of Drosophila HP1 and Insulator Protein Partner, HIPP1. G3 (Bethesda) 9, 345–357. https://doi.org/10.1534/g3.118.200705

Gonzalo, S., Jaco, I., Fraga, M.F., Chen, T., Li, E., Esteller, M., Blasco, M.A., 2006. DNA methyltransferases control telomere length and telomere recombination in mammalian cells. Nature Cell Biology 8, 416–424. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1386

Gore, S.D., Jones, C., Kirkpatrick, P., 2006. Decitabine. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 5, 891–892. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2180

Grant, P.A., Duggan, L., Côté, J., Roberts, S.M., Brownell, J.E., Candau, R., Ohba, R., Owen-Hughes, T., Allis, C.D., Winston, F., Berger, S.L., Workman, J.L., 1997. Yeast Gcn5 functions in two multisubunit complexes to acetylate nucleosomal histones: characterization of an Ada complex and the SAGA (Spt/Ada) complex. Genes Dev 11, 1640–1650.

https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.11.13.1640

Grant, S., Easley, C., Kirkpatrick, P., 2007. Vorinostat. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 6, 21–22. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2227

Gruber, S., Arumugam, P., Katou, Y., Kuglitsch, D., Helmhart, W., Shirahige, K., Nasmyth, K., 2006. Evidence that Loading of Cohesin Onto Chromosomes Involves Opening of Its SMC Hinge. Cell 127, 523–537. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.08.048

Gruber, S., Haering, C.H., Nasmyth, K., 2003. Chromosomal Cohesin Forms a Ring. Cell 112, 765–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00162-4

Guan, J., Ekwurtzel, E., Kvist, U., Yuan, L., 2008. Cohesin protein SMC1 is a centrosomal protein. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 372, 761–764.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.05.120

Guenther, M.G., Levine, S.S., Boyer, L.A., Jaenisch, R., Young, R.A., 2007. A chromatin landmark and transcription initiation at most promoters in human cells. Cell 130, 77–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.05.042

Guezennec, X.L., Vermeulen, M., Brinkman, A.B., Hoeijmakers, W.A.M., Cohen, A., Lasonder, E., Stunnenberg, H.G., 2006. MBD2/NuRD and MBD3/NuRD, Two Distinct Complexes with Different Biochemical and Functional Properties. Molecular and Cellular Biology 26, 843–851. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.26.3.843-851.2006

Gurley, L.R., Walters, R.A., Tobey, R.A., 1974. CELL CYCLE-SPECIFIC CHANGES IN HISTONE PHOSPHORYLATION ASSOCIATED WITH CELL PROLIFERATION AND CHROMOSOME CONDENSATION. J Cell Biol 60, 356–364. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.60.2.356

Haarhuis, J.H.I., Elbatsh, A.M.O., van den Broek, B., Camps, D., Erkan, H.,

Jalink, K., Medema, R.H., Rowland, B.D., 2013. WAPL-Mediated Removal of Cohesin Protects against Segregation Errors and Aneuploidy. Current Biology 23, 2071–2077. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2013.09.003

Haering, C.H., Löwe, J., Hochwagen, A., Nasmyth, K., 2002. Molecular Architecture of SMC Proteins and the Yeast Cohesin Complex. Molecular Cell 9, 773–788. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00515-4

Hagstrom, K.A., Meyer, B.J., 2003a. Condensin and cohesin: more than chromosome compactor and glue. Nat Rev Genet 4, 520–534. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1110

Hagstrom, K.A., Meyer, B.J., 2003b. Condensin and cohesin: more than chromosome compactor and glue. Nature Reviews Genetics 4, 520-534. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg1110

Haigney, A., Ricketts, M.D., Marmorstein, R., 2015. Dissecting the Molecular Roles of Histone Chaperones in Histone Acetylation by Type B Histone Acetyltransferases (HAT-B). J. Biol. Chem. 290, 30648–30657. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M115.688523

Hake, S.B., Allis, C.D., 2006. Histone H3 variants and their potential role in indexing mammalian genomes: The "H3 barcode hypothesis." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103, 6428–6435. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0600803103

Hall, L.E., Mitchell, S.E., O'Neill, R.J., 2012. Pericentric and centromeric transcription: a perfect balance required. Chromosome Res 20, 535–546. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10577-012-9297-9

Hamed, R.B., Batchelar, E.T., Clifton, I.J., Schofield, C.J., 2008. Mechanisms and structures of crotonase superfamily enzymes – How nature controls enolate and oxyanion reactivity. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 65, 2507–2527.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-008-8082-6

Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R.A., 2011.Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation.Cell144, 646–674.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013

Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R.A., 2000. The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell 100, 57–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9

Hara, K., 2014. Structure of cohesin subcomplex pinpoints direct shugoshin-Wapl antagonism in centromeric cohesion. molecular biology 21, 9.

Hara, K., Taharazako, S., Ikeda, M., Fujita, H., Mikami, Y., Kikuchi, S., Hishiki, A., Yokoyama, H., Ishikawa, Y., Kanno, S.-I., Tanaka, K., Hashimoto, H., 2017. Dynamic feature of mitotic arrest deficient 2-like protein 2 (MAD2L2) and structural basis for its interaction with chromosome alignmentmaintaining phosphoprotein (CAMP). J. Biol. Chem. 292, 17658–17667. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.804237

Hardy, S., Jacques, P.-É., Gévry, N., Forest, A., Fortin, M.-È., Laflamme, L., Gaudreau, L., Robert, F., 2009. The Euchromatic and Heterochromatic Landscapes Are Shaped by Antagonizing Effects of Transcription on H2A.Z Deposition. PLOS Genetics 5, e1000687.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000 687

Hassig, C.A., Tong, J.K., Fleischer, T.C., Owa, T., Grable, P.G., Ayer, D.E., Schreiber, S.L., 1998. A role for histone deacetylase activity in HDAC1-mediated transcriptional repression. PNAS 95, 3519–3524. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.7.3519

Hata, K., Okano, M., Lei, H., Li, E., 2002. Dnmt3L cooperates with the Dnmt3 family of de novo DNA methyltransferases to establish maternal imprints in mice. Development 129, 1983–1993.

Hatziapostolou, M., Polytarchou, C., Aggelidou, E., Drakaki, A., Poultsides, G.A., Jaeger, S.A., Ogata, H., Karin, M., Struhl, K., Hadzopoulou-Cladaras, M., Iliopoulos, D., 2011. An HNF4 α -miRNA inflammatory feedback circuit regulates hepatocellular oncogenesis. CELL 147, 1233–1247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.10.043

Hauf, S., Roitinger, E., Koch, B., Dittrich, C.M., Mechtler, K., Peters, J.-M., 2005. Dissociation of Cohesin from Chromosome Arms and Loss of Arm Cohesion during Early Mitosis Depends on Phosphorylation of SA2. PLOS Biology 3, e69. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.00300 69

Hauf, S., Waizenegger, I.C., Peters, J.-M., 2001. Cohesin Cleavage by Separase Required for Anaphase and Cytokinesis in Human Cells. Science 293, 1320–1323. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1061376

Hayward, D., Alfonso-Pérez, T., Gruneberg, U., 2019. Orchestration of the spindle assembly checkpoint by CDK1-cyclin B1. FEBS Lett 593, 2889–2907. https://doi.org/10.1002/1873-3468.13591

Heald, R., Tournebize, R., Blank, T., Sandaltzopoulos, R., Becker, P., Hyman, A., Karsenti, E., 1996. Self-organization of microtubules into bipolar spindles around artificial chromosomes in Xenopus egg extracts. Nature 382, 420–425. https://doi.org/10.1038/382420a0

Hein, M.Y., Hubner, N.C., Poser, I., Cox, J., Nagaraj, N., Toyoda, Y., Gak, I.A., Weisswange, I., Mansfeld, J., Buchholz, F., Hyman, A.A., Mann, M., 2015. A Human Interactome in Three Quantitative Dimensions Organized by Stoichiometries and Abundances. Cell 163, 712–723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.09.053

Hempel, M., Cremer, K., Ockeloen, C.W., Lichtenbelt, K.D., Herkert, J.C., Denecke, J., Haack, T.B., Zink, A.M., Becker, J., Wohlleber, E., Johannsen, J., Alhaddad, B., Pfundt, R., Fuchs, S., Wieczorek, D., Strom, T.M., van Gassen, K.L.I., Kleefstra, T., Kubisch, C., Engels, H., Lessel, D., 2015. De Novo Mutations in CHAMP1 Cause Intellectual Disability with Severe Speech Impairment. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 97, 493–500. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.08.003

Hendzel, M.J., Wei, Y., Mancini, M.A., Van Hooser, A., Ranalli, T., Brinkley, B.R., Bazett-Jones, D.P., Allis, C.D., 1997. Mitosis-specific phosphorylation of histone H3 initiates primarily within pericentromeric heterochromatin during G2 and spreads in an ordered fashion coincident with mitotic chromosome condensation. Chromosoma 106, 348–360.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s004120050256

Heun, P., Erhardt, S., Blower, M.D., Weiss, S., Karpen, Skora, A.D., G.H., 2006. Mislocalization of the Drosophila Centromere-Specific Histone CID Promotes Formation of Functional Ectopic Kinetochores. Developmental Cell 10, 303-315.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2006.01.0 14

Heydarian, N., Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Science and Research Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran, Favaedi, R., Department of Genetics, Reproductive Biomedicine Research Center, Reproductive Royan Institute for Biomedicine, ACECR, Tehran, Iran, Sadighi Gilani, M.A., Department of Andrology, Reproductive Biomedicine Research Center, Royan Institute for Reproductive Biomedicine, ACECR, Tehran, Iran, Shahhoseini, M., Department of Genetics,

Reproductive Biomedicine Research Center, Royan Institute for Reproductive Biomedicine, ACECR, Tehran, Iran, 2016. Expression level of chromodomain Y (CDY): potential marker for prediction of sperm recovery in non-obstructive azoospermia. IJRM 14, 383–388. https://doi.org/10.29252/ijrm.14.6.383

Higashi, T.L., Ikeda, M., Tanaka, H., Nakagawa, T., Bando, M., Shirahige, K., Kubota, Y., Takisawa, H., Masukata, H., Takahashi, T.S., 2012. The Prereplication Complex Recruits XEco2 to Chromatin to Promote Cohesin Acetylation in Xenopus Egg Extracts. Current Biology 22, 977–988. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.04.013

Hirano, T., 2015. Chromosome Dynamics during Mitosis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 7, a015792. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a0157 92

Hirota, T., Lipp, J.J., Toh, B.-H., Peters, J.-M., 2005. Histone H3 serine 10 phosphorylation by Aurora B causes HP1 dissociation from heterochromatin. Nature 438, 1176–1180. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04254

Hochedlinger, K., Blelloch, R., Brennan, C., Yamada, Y., Kim, M., Chin, L., Jaenisch, R., 2004. Reprogramming of a melanoma genome by nuclear transplantation. Genes Dev. 18, 1875–1885. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1213504

Hoebeke, J., Van Nijen, G., De Brabander, M., 1976. Interaction of oncodazole (R 17934), a new anti-tumoral drug, with rat brain tubulin. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 69, 319–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-291X(76)90524-6

Holliday, R., Pugh, J.E., 1975. DNA modification mechanisms and gene activity during development. Science 187, 226–232.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.187.4173.2 26

Hooser, A.A.V., Ouspenski, I.I., Gregson, H.C., Starr, D.A., Yen, T.J., Goldberg, M.L., Yokomori, K., Earnshaw, W.C., Sullivan, K.F., Brinkley, B.R., 2001. Specification of kinetochore-forming chromatin by the histone H3 variant CENP-A. Journal of Cell Science 114, 3529–3542.

Hore, T.A., Meyenn, F. von, Ravichandran, M., Bachman, M., Ficz, G., Oxley, D., Santos, F., Balasubramanian, S., Jurkowski, T.P., Reik, W., 2016. Retinol and ascorbate drive erasure of epigenetic memory and enhance reprogramming to naïve pluripotency by complementary mechanisms. PNAS 113, 12202–12207.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1608679113

Hornbeck, P.V., Chabra, I., Kornhauser, J.M., Skrzypek, E., Zhang, B., 2004. PhosphoSite: A bioinformatics resource dedicated to physiological protein phosphorylation. PROTEOMICS 4, 1551–1561. https://doi.org/10.1002/pmic.200300772

Hornig, N.C.D., Knowles, P.P., McDonald, N.Q., Uhlmann, F., 2002. The Dual Mechanism of Separase Regulation by Securin. Current Biology 12, 973–982. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(02)00847-3

Hotchkiss, R.D., 1948. The quantitative separation of purines, pyrimidines and nucleosides by paper chromatography. J. Biol. Chem. 175, 315–332.

Houston, S.I., McManus, K.J., Adams, M.M., Sims, J.K., Carpenter, P.B., Hendzel, M.J., Rice, J.C., 2008. Catalytic Function of the PR-Set7 Histone H4 Lysine 20 Monomethyltransferase Is Essential for Mitotic Entry and Genomic Stability. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 19478–19488. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M710579200 Hwang, A., Maity, A., McKenna, W.G., Muschel, R.J., 1995. Cell Cycle-dependent Regulation of the Cyclin B1 Promoter(*) | Elsevier Enhanced Reader [WWW Document].

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.270.47.28419

Inoue, A., Hyle, J., Lechner, M.S., Lahti, J.M., 2008. Perturbation of HP1 localization and chromatin binding ability causes defects in sister-chromatid cohesion. Mutation Research/Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis, Chromosomal Aberration Research – From Past to Future Proceedings of the 8th International Symposium on Chromosome Abberations 657, 48–55.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrgentox.2008.0 8.010

Isidor, B., Küry, S., Rosenfeld, J.A., Besnard, T., Schmitt, S., Joss, S., Davies, S.J., Lebel, R.R., Henderson, A., Schaaf, C.P., Streff, H.E., Yang, Y., Jain, V., Chida, N., Latypova, X., Le Caignec, C., Cogné, B., Mercier, S., Vincent, M., Colin, E., Bonneau, D., Denommé, A.-S., Parent, P., Gilbert-Dussardier, B., Odent, S., Toutain, A., Piton, A., Dina, C., Donnart, A., Lindenbaum, P., Charpentier, E., Redon, R., Iemura, K., Ikeda, M., Tanaka, K., Bézieau, S., 2016. De Novo Truncating Mutations in the Kinetochore-Microtubules Attachment Gene CHAMP1 Cause Syndromic Intellectual Disability. Hum. Mutat. 37, 354-358. https://doi.org/10.1002/humu.22952

Issa, J.-P.J., Kantarjian, H.M., Kirkpatrick, P., 2005. Azacitidine. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 4, 275–276. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1698

Issa, J.-P.J., Ottaviano, Y.L., Celano, P., Hamilton, S.R., Davidson, N.E., Baylin, S.B., 1994. Methylation of the oestrogen receptor CpG island links ageing and neoplasia in human colon. Nature Genetics 7, 536–540. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng0894-536 Ito, A., Kawaguchi, Y., Lai, C.-H., Kovacs, J.J., Higashimoto, Y., Appella, E., Yao, T.-P., 2002. MDM2–HDAC1-mediated deacetylation of p53 is required for its degradation. The EMBO Journal 21, 6236–6245. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/cdf616

Ito, S., D'Alessio, A.C., Taranova, O.V., Hong, K., Sowers, L.C., Zhang, Y., 2010. Role of Tet proteins in 5mC to 5hmC conversion, ES cell self-renewal, and ICM specification. Nature 466, 1129–1133. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09303

Itoh, G., Kanno, S., Uchida, K.S.K., Chiba, S., Sugino, S., Watanabe, K., Mizuno, K., Yasui, A., Hirota, T., Tanaka, K., 2011. CAMP (C13orf8, ZNF828) is a novel regulator of kinetochore-microtubule attachment: Role of CAMP in chromosome segregation. The EMBO Journal 30, 130–144. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2010.276

Ivanov, M.P., Ladurner, R., Poser, I., Beveridge, R., Rampler, E., Hudecz, O., Novatchkova, M., Hériché, J.-K., Wutz, G., van der Lelij, P., Kreidl, E., Hutchins, J.R., Axelsson-Ekker, H., Ellenberg, J., Hyman, A.A., Mechtler, K., Peters, J.-M., 2018. The replicative helicase MCM recruits cohesin acetyltransferase ESCO2 to mediate centromeric sister chromatid cohesion. The EMBO Journal 37, e97150. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201797150

Ivanova, A.V., Bonaduce, M.J., Ivanov, S.V., Klar, A.J.S., 1998. The chromo and SET domains of the Clr4 protein are essential for silencing in fission yeast. Nature Genetics 19, 192–195. https://doi.org/10.1038/566

Izawa, D., Pines, J., 2015. The mitotic checkpoint complex binds a second CDC20 to inhibit active APC/C. Nature 517, 631–634. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13911

James, T.C., Elgin, S.C., 1986. Identification of a nonhistone chromosomal protein associated with heterochromatin in Drosophila melanogaster and its gene. Mol Cell Biol 6, 3862–3872.

Jenuwein, T., Allis, C.D., 2001. Translating the Histone Code. Science 293, 1074–1080. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1063127

Jessberger, R., Riwar, B., Baechtold, H., Akhmedov, A.T., 1996. SMC proteins constitute two subunits of the mammalian recombination complex RC-1. The EMBO Journal 15, 4061–4068. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1460-2075.1996.tb00779.x

Ji, H., Sang, M., Liu, F., Ai, N., Geng, C., 2019. miR-124 regulates EMT based on ZEB2 target to inhibit invasion and metastasis in triplenegative breast cancer. Pathology - Research and Practice 215, 697–704. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prp.2018.12.039

Johnson, T.B., Coghill, R.D., 1925. RESEARCHES ON PYRIMIDINES. C111. THE DISCOVERY OF 5-METHYL-CYTOSINE IN TUBERCULINIC ACID, THE NUCLEIC ACID OF THE TUBERCLE BACILLUS¹. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 47, 2838–2844. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01688a030

Jones, P.A., 1999. The DNA methylation paradox. Trends in Genetics 15, 34–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-9525(98)01636-9

Jones, P.L., Veenstra, G.J.C., Wade, P.A., Vermaak, D., Kass, S.U., Landsberger, N., Strouboulis, J., Wolffe, A.P., 1998. Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Nature Genetics 19, 187–191. https://doi.org/10.1038/561

Kagey, M.H., Newman, J.J., Bilodeau, S., Zhan, Y., Orlando, D.A., van Berkum, N.L., Ebmeier, C.C., Goossens, J., Rahl, P.B., Levine, S.S., Taatjes, D.J., Dekker, J., Young, R.A., 2010. Mediator and cohesin connect gene expression and chromatin architecture. Nature 467, 430–435. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09380

Kanke, M., Tahara, E., Huis in't Veld, P.J., Nishiyama, T., 2016. Cohesin acetylation and Wapl-Pds5 oppositely regulate translocation of cohesin along DNA. The EMBO Journal 35, 2686–2698.

https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201695756

Karra, H., Repo, H., Ahonen, I., Löyttyniemi, E., Pitkänen, R., Lintunen, M., Kuopio, T., Söderström, M., Kronqvist, P., 2014. Cdc20 and securin overexpression predict shortterm breast cancer survival. British Journal of Cancer 110, 2905–2913. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.252

Kawashima, S.A., Yamagishi, Y., Honda, T., Ishiguro, K., Watanabe, Y., 2010. Phosphorylation of H2A by Bub1 Prevents Chromosomal Instability Through Localizing Shugoshin. Science 327, 172–177. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1180189

Kelling, J., Sullivan, K., Wilson, L., Jordan, M.A., 2003. Suppression of Centromere Dynamics by Taxol[®] in Living Osteosarcoma Cells. Cancer Res 63, 2794–2801.

Kelly, A.E., Ghenoiu, C., Xue, J.Z., Zierhut, C., Kimura, H., Funabiki, H., 2010. Survivin Reads Phosphorylated Histone H3 Threonine 3 to Activate the Mitotic Kinase Aurora B. Science 330, 235–239. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1189505

Keniry, A., Gearing, L.J., Jansz, N., Liu, J., Holik, A.Z., Hickey, P.F., Kinkel, S.A., Moore, D.L., Breslin, K., Chen, K., Liu, R., Phillips, C., Pakusch, M., Biben, C., Sheridan, J.M., Kile, B.T., Carmichael, C., Ritchie, M.E., Hilton, D.J., Blewitt, M.E., 2016. Setdb1-mediated H3K9 methylation is enriched on the inactive X and plays a role in its epigenetic silencing. Epigenetics & Chromatin 9, 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-016-0064-6 Kim, S.T., Sohn, I., Do, I.-G., Jang, J., Kim, S.H., Jung, S.H., Park, J.O., Park, Y.S., Talasaz, A., Lee, J., Kim, H.C., 2014. Transcriptome Analysis of CD133-positive Stem Cells and Prognostic Value of Survivin in Colorectal Cancer. Cancer Genomics Proteomics 11, 259–266.

Kim, Y., Hm, L., Y, X., N, S., Sw, H., X, C., Ji, E., J, J., Bl, R., Yh, J., 2016. Targeting the histone methyltransferase G9a activates imprinted genes and improves survival of a mouse model of Prader-Willi syndrome. Nat Med 23, 213–222. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.4257

Kim, Y.-I., 2005. Nutritional Epigenetics: Impact of Folate Deficiency on DNA Methylation and Colon Cancer Susceptibility. J Nutr 135, 2703–2709. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/135.11.2703

Kitajima, T.S., Sakuno, T., Ishiguro, K., Iemura, S., Natsume, T., Kawashima, S.A., Watanabe, Y., 2006. Shugoshin collaborates with protein phosphatase 2A to protect cohesin. Nature 441, 46–52. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04663

Kiyomitsu, T., Iwasaki, O., Obuse, C., Yanagida, M., 2010. Inner centromere formation requires hMis14, a trident kinetochore protein that specifically recruits HP1 to human chromosomes. J Cell Biol 188, 791–807.

https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200908096

Kleer, C.G., Cao, Q., Varambally, S., Shen, R., Ota, I., Tomlins, S.A., Ghosh, D., Sewalt, R.G.A.B., Otte, A.P., Hayes, D.F., Sabel, M.S., Livant, D., Weiss, S.J., Rubin, M.A., Chinnaiyan, A.M., 2003. EZH2 is a marker of aggressive breast cancer and promotes neoplastic transformation of breast epithelial cells. PNAS 100, 11606–11611. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1933744100

Klose, R.J., Yamane, K., Bae, Y., Zhang, D., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Wong, J., Zhang, Y., 2006. The transcriptional repressor JHDM3A demethylates trimethyl histone H3 lysine 9 and lysine 36. Nature 442, 312–316. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04853

Koch, B., Kueng, S., Ruckenbauer, C., Wendt, K.S., Peters, J.-M., 2008. The Suv39h–HP1 histone methylation pathway is dispensable for enrichment and protection of cohesin at centromeres in mammalian cells. Chromosoma 117, 199–210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00412-007-0139-z

Kogo, R., Shimamura, T., Mimori, K., Kawahara, K., Imoto, S., Sudo, T., Tanaka, F., Shibata, K., Suzuki, A., Komune, S., Miyano, S., Mori, M., 2011. Long Noncoding RNA HOTAIR Regulates Polycomb-Dependent Chromatin Modification and Is Associated with Poor Prognosis in Colorectal Cancers. Cancer Res 71, 6320–6326. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1021

Kollenstart, L., Groot, A.J.L. de, Janssen, G.M.C., Cheng, X., Vreeken, K., Martino, F., Côté, J., Veelen, P.A. van, Attikum, H. van, 2019. Gcn5 and Esa1 function as histone crotonyltransferases to regulate crotonylation-dependent transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 294, 20122–20134. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.RA119.010302

Kornberg, R.D., 1974. Chromatin Structure: A Repeating Unit of Histones and DNA. Science 184, 868–871. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.184.4139.8 68

Kriaucionis, S., Heintz, N., 2009. The Nuclear DNA Base 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine Is Present in Purkinje Neurons and the Brain. Science 324, 929–930. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1169786

Kruhlak, M.J., Hendzel, M.J., Fischle, W., Bertos, N.R., Hameed, S., Yang, X.-J., Verdin, E., Bazett-Jones, D.P., 2001. Regulation of Global Acetylation in Mitosis through Loss of Histone Acetyltransferases and Deacetylases from Chromatin. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 38307– 38319.

Kueng, S., Hegemann, B., Peters, B.H., Lipp, J.J., Schleiffer, A., Mechtler, K., Peters, J.-M., 2006. Wapl Controls the Dynamic Association of Cohesin with Chromatin. Cell 127, 955–967. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.040

Kulemzina, I., Ang, K., Zhao, X., Teh, J.-T., Verma, V., Suranthran, S., Chavda, A.P., Huber, R.G., Eisenhaber, B., Eisenhaber, F., Yan, J., Ivanov, D., 2016. A Reversible Association between Smc Coiled Coils Is Regulated by Lysine Acetylation and Is Required for Cohesin Association with the DNA. Molecular Cell 63, 1044–1054. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.08.0 08

Kuppuswamy, M., Vijayalingam, S., Zhao, L.-J., Zhou, Y., Subramanian, T., Ryerse, J., Chinnadurai, G., 2008. Role of the PLDLSbinding cleft region of CtBP1 in recruitment of core and auxiliary components of the corepressor complex. Mol. Cell. Biol. 28, 269–281.

https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.01077-07

Lacey, K.R., Jackson, P.K., Stearns, T., 1999. Cyclin-dependent kinase control of centrosome duplication. PNAS 96, 2817– 2822.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.6.2817

Lachner, M., O'Carroll, D., Rea, S., Mechtler, K., Jenuwein, T., 2001. Methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 creates a binding site for HP1 proteins. Nature 410, 116–120. https://doi.org/10.1038/35065132

Lafont, A.L., Song, J., Rankin, S., 2010. Sororin cooperates with the acetyltransferase Eco2 to ensure DNA replication-dependent sister chromatid cohesion. PNAS 107, 20364–20369. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1011069107

Lahn, B.T., Page, D.C., 1999. Retroposition of autosomal mRNA yielded testis-specific gene family on human Y chromosome. Nat Genet 21, 429–433. https://doi.org/10.1038/7771

Lahn, B.T., Tang, Z.L., Zhou, J., Barndt, R.J., Parvinen, M., Allis, C.D., Page, D.C., 2002. Previously uncharacterized histone acetyltransferases implicated in mammalian spermatogenesis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, 8707–8712. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.082248899

Langemeijer, S.M.C., Kuiper, R.P., Berends, M., Knops, R., Aslanyan, M.G., Massop, M., Stevens-Linders, E., van Hoogen, P., van Kessel, A.G., Raymakers, R.A.P., Kamping, E.J., Verhoef, G.E., Verburgh, E., Hagemeijer, A., Vandenberghe, P., de Witte, T., van der Reijden, B.A., Jansen, J.H., 2009. Acquired mutations in TET2 are common in myelodysplastic syndromes. Nature Genetics 41, 838-842. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.391

Laskey, R.A., Gurdon, J.B., 1970. Genetic Content of Adult Somatic Cells tested by Nuclear Transplantation from Cultured Cells. Nature 228, 1332–1334. https://doi.org/10.1038/2281332a0

Lee, D.H., Goldberg, A.L., 1998. Proteasome inhibitors: valuable new tools for cell biologists. Trends in Cell Biology 8, 397–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0962-8924(98)01346-4

Lee, J.-S., Smith, E., Shilatifard, A., 2010. The Language of Histone Crosstalk. Cell 142, 682–685. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.08.011

Leylek, T.R., Jeusset, L.M., Lichtensztejn, Z., McManus, K.J., 2020. Reduced Expression of Genes Regulating Cohesion Induces Chromosome Instability that May Promote Cancer and Impact Patient Outcomes. Scientific Reports 10, 592. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-57530-9

Li, X., Hu, X., Patel, B., Zhou, Z., Liang, S., Ybarra, R., Qiu, Y., Felsenfeld, G., Bungert, J., Huang, S., 2010. H4R3 methylation facilitates β -globin transcription by regulating histone acetyltransferase binding and H3 acetylation. Blood 115, 2028–2037. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2009-07-236059

Li, X., Hu, X., Zhou, Z., Qiu, Y., Felsenfeld, G., Bungert, J., Huang, S., 2008. Regulation of Chromatin Looping and Transcription by PRMT1 Mediated H4R3 Methylation. Blood 112, 1864–1864. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood.V112.11.186 4.1864

Li, Y., Li, Z., Dong, L., Tang, M., Zhang, P., Zhang, C., Cao, Z., Zhu, Q., Chen, Y., Wang, Hui, Wang, T., Lv, D., Wang, L., Zhao, Y., Yang, Y., Wang, Haiying, Zhang, H., Roeder, R.G., Zhu, W.-G., 2018. Histone H1 acetylation at lysine 85 regulates chromatin condensation and genome stability upon DNA damage. Nucleic Acids Res 46, 7716–7730. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky568

Li, Y., Sabari, B.R., Panchenko, T., Wen, H., Zhao, D., Guan, H., Wan, L., Huang, H., Tang, Z., Zhao, Y., Roeder, R.G., Shi, X., Allis, C.D., Li, H., 2016a. Molecular Coupling of Histone Crotonylation and Active Transcription by AF9 YEATS Domain. Molecular Cell 62, 181– 193.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.03.0 28

Li, Y., Tan, T., Zong, L., He, D., Tao, W., Liang, Q., 2012. Study of methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 and H3 lysine 27 during X chromosome inactivation in three types of cells. Chromosome Res 20, 769–778. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10577-012-9311-2 Li, Y., Zhao, D., Chen, Z., Li, H., 2016b. YEATS domain: Linking histone crotonylation to gene regulation. Transcription 8, 9–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/21541264.2016.12 39602

Liang, C., Chen, Q., Yi, Q., Zhang, M., Yan, H., Zhang, B., Zhou, L., Zhang, Z., Qi, F., Ye, S., Wang, F., 2018. A kinase-dependent role for Haspin in antagonizing Wapl and protecting mitotic centromere cohesion. EMBO reports 19, 43–56. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201744737

Liao, H., Winkfein, R.J., Mack, G., Rattner, J.B., Yen, T.J., 1995. CENP-F is a protein of the nuclear matrix that assembles onto kinetochores at late G2 and is rapidly degraded after mitosis. J Cell Biol 130, 507– 518. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.130.3.507

Liao, P., Bhattarai, N., Cao, B., Zhou, X., Jung, J.H., Damera, K., Fuselier, T.T., Thareja, S., Wimley, W.C., Wang, B., Zeng, S.X., Lu, H., 2020. Crotonylation at serine 46 impairs p53 activity. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 524, 730–735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.01.152

Ling, Y., Zhang, X., Bai, Y., Li, P., Wei, C., Song, T., Zheng, Z., Guan, K., Zhang, Y., Zhang, B., Liu, X., Ma, R.Z., Cao, C., Zhong, H., Xu, Q., 2014. Overexpression of Mps1 in colon cancer cells attenuates the spindle assembly checkpoint and increases aneuploidy. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 450, 1690-1695. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.071

Lipp, J.J., Hirota, T., Poser, I., Peters, J.-M., 2007. Aurora B controls the association of condensin I but not condensin II with mitotic chromosomes. Journal of Cell Science 120, 1245–1255.

https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.03425

Litwin, I., Wysocki, R., 2018. New insights into cohesin loading. Curr Genet 64, 53–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00294-017-0723-6

Liu, L., Wylie, R.C., Andrews, L.G., Tollefsbol, T.O., 2003. Aging, cancer and nutrition: the DNA methylation connection. Mechanisms of Ageing and Development 124, 989–998. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2003.08.001

Liu, N., Zhang, Z., Wu, H., Jiang, Y., Meng, L., Xiong, J., Zhao, Z., Zhou, X., Li, J., Li, H., Zheng, Y., Chen, S., Cai, T., Gao, S., Zhu, B., 2015. Recognition of H3K9 methylation by GLP is required for efficient establishment of H3K9 methylation, rapid target gene repression, and mouse viability. Genes Dev. 29, 379–393. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.254425.114

Liu, S., Yu, H., Liu, Y., Liu, Xinhua, Zhang, Y., Bu, C., Yuan, S., Chen, Z., Xie, G., Li, W., Xu, B., Yang, J., He, L., Jin, T., Xiong, Y., Sun, L., Liu, Xiaohui, Han, C., Cheng, Z., Liang, J., Shang, Y., 2017. Chromodomain Protein CDYL Acts as a Crotonyl-CoA Hydratase to Regulate Histone Crotonylation and Spermatogenesis. Molecular Cell 67, 853-866.e5.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2017.07.0 11

Liu, W., Tanasa, B., Tyurina, O.V., Zhou, T.Y., Gassmann, R., Liu, W.T., Ohgi, K.A., Benner, C., Garcia-Bassets, I., Aggarwal, A.K., Desai, A., Dorrestein, P.C., Glass, C.K., Rosenfeld, M.G., 2010. PHF8 mediates histone H4 lysine 20 demethylation events involved in cell cycle progression. Nature 466, 508–512. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09272

Liu, Y., Lai, S., Ma, W., Ke, W., Zhang, C., Liu, S., Zhang, Y., Pei, F., Li, S., Yi, M., Shu, Y., Shang, Y., Liang, J., Huang, Z., 2017a. CDYL suppresses epileptogenesis in mice through repression of axonal Nav1.6 sodium channel expression. Nat Commun 8, 355. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00368z

Liu, Y., Li, M., Fan, M., Song, Y., Yu, H., Zhi, X., Xiao, K., Lai, S., Zhang, J., Jin, X., Shang, Y., Liang, J., Huang, Z., 2019. Chromodomain Ylike Protein–Mediated Histone Crotonylation Regulates Stress-Induced Depressive Behaviors. Biological Psychiatry 85, 635–649. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2018.11. 025

Liu, Y., Liu, S., Yuan, S., Yu, H., Zhang, Y., Yang, X., Xie, G., Chen, Z., Li, W., Xu, B., Sun, L., Shang, Y., Liang, J., 2017b. Chromodomain protein CDYL is required for transmission/restoration of repressive histone marks. Journal of Molecular Cell 178-194. Biology 9. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmcb/mjx013

London, N., Biggins, S., 2014a. Mad1 kinetochore recruitment by Mps1-mediated phosphorylation of Bub1 signals the spindle checkpoint. Genes Dev. 28, 140–152. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.233700.113

London, N., Biggins, S., 2014b. Signalling dynamics in the spindle checkpoint response. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15, 736–748. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3888

Long, H.J., 1994. Paclitaxel (Taxol): A Novel Anticancer Chemotherapeutic Drug. Mayo Clinic Proceedings 69, 341–345. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0025-6196(12)62219-8

Losada, A., Hirano, M., Hirano, T., 2002. Cohesin release is required for sister chromatid resolution, but not for condensinmediated compaction, at the onset of mitosis. Genes Dev. 16, 3004–3016. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.249202

Luger, K., Mäder, A.W., Richmond, R.K., Sargent, D.F., Richmond, T.J., 1997. Crystal structure of the nucleosome core particle at 2.8 Å resolution. Nature 389, 251–260. https://doi.org/10.1038/38444

Lv, X.-B., Jiao, Y., Qing, Y., Hu, H., Cui, X., Lin, T., Song, E., Yu, F., 2011. miR-124 suppresses multiple steps of breast cancer metastasis by targeting a cohort of pro-metastatic genes in vitro. Chin J Cancer 30, 821–830. https://doi.org/10.5732/cjc.011.10289

Ma, H.T., Poon, R.Y.C., 2011. Synchronization of HeLa cells. Methods Mol Biol 761, 151– 161. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-182-6_10

Ma, J.C., Dougherty, D.A., 1997. The Cation–π Interaction. Chem. Rev. 97, 1303–1324. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr9603744

Maier, V.K., Feeney, C.M., Taylor, J.E., Creech, A.L., Qiao, J.W., Szanto, A., Das, P.P., Chevrier, N., Cifuentes-Rojas, C., Orkin, S.H., Carr, S.A., Jaffe, J.D., Mertins, P., Lee, J.T., 2015. Functional Proteomic Analysis of Repressive Histone Methyltransferase Complexes Reveals ZNF518B as a G9A Regulator. Mol Cell Proteomics 14, 1435– 1446.

https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M114.044586

Maison, C., Almouzni, G., 2004. HP1 and the dynamics of heterochromatin maintenance. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 5, 296–305. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1355

Maksakova, I.A., Goyal, P., Bullwinkel, J., Brown, J.P., Bilenky, M., Mager, D.L., Singh, P.B., Lorincz, M.C., 2011. H3K9me3-binding proteins are dispensable for SETDB1/H3K9me3-dependent retroviral silencing. Epigenetics Chromatin 4, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-8935-4-12

Manning, A.L., Yazinski, S.A., Nicolay, B., Bryll, A., Zou, L., Dyson, N.J., 2014. Suppression of Genome Instability in pRB-Deficient Cells by Enhancement of Chromosome Cohesion. Molecular Cell 53, 993–1004.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2014.01.0 32

Marotta, L.L.C., Almendro, V., Marusyk, A., Shipitsin, M., Schemme, J., Walker, S.R., Bloushtain-Qimron, N., Kim, J.J., Choudhury, S.A., Maruyama, R., Wu, Z., Gönen, M., Mulvey, L.A., Bessarabova, M.O., Huh, S.J., Silver, S.J., Kim, S.Y., Park, S.Y., Lee, H.E., Anderson, K.S., Richardson, A.L., Nikolskaya, T., Nikolsky, Y., Liu, X.S., Root, D.E., Hahn, W.C., Frank, D.A., Polyak, K., 2011. The JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway is required for growth of CD44+CD24– stem cell–like breast cancer cells in human tumors [WWW Document].

https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI44745

Matsumoto, Y., Yasuda, H., Mita, S., Marunouchi, T., Yamada, M., 1980. Evidence for the involvement of H1 histone phosphorylation in chromosome condensation. Nature 284, 181–183. https://doi.org/10.1038/284181a0

Mazumdar, M., Sundareshan, S., Misteli, T., 2004. Human chromokinesin KIF4A functions in chromosome condensation and segregation. J Cell Biol 166, 613–620. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200401142

Mei, M., Wang, Y., Wang, Q., Liu, Y., Song, W., Zhang, M., 2019. CircCDYL Serves as a New Biomarker in Mantle Cell Lymphoma and Promotes Cell Proliferation. Cancer Manag Res 11, 10215–10221. https://doi.org/10.2147/CMAR.S232075

Metzger, E., Wissmann, M., Yin, N., Müller, J.M., Schneider, R., Peters, A.H.F.M., Günther, T., Buettner, R., Schüle, R., 2005. LSD1 demethylates repressive histone marks to promote androgen-receptor-dependent transcription. Nature 437, 436–439. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04020

Michailidou, K., Hall, P., Gonzalez-Neira, A., Ghoussaini, M., Dennis, J., Milne, R.L., Schmidt, M.K., Chang-Claude, J., Bojesen, S.E., Bolla, M.K., Wang, Q., Dicks, E., Lee, A., Turnbull, C., Rahman, N., Fletcher, O., Peto, J., Gibson, L., Silva, I. dos S., Nevanlinna, H., Muranen, T.A., Aittomäki, K., Blomqvist, C.,

Czene, K., Irwanto, A., Liu, J., Waisfisz, Q., Meijers-Heijboer, H., Adank, M., van der Luijt, R.B., Hein, R., Dahmen, N., Beckman, L., Meindl, A., Schmutzler, R.K., Müller-Myhsok, B., Lichtner, P., Hopper, J.L., Southey, M.C., Makalic, E., Schmidt, D.F., Uitterlinden, A.G., Hofman, A., Hunter, D.J., Chanock, S.J., Vincent, D., Bacot, F., Tessier, D.C., Canisius, S., Wessels, L.F.A., Haiman, C.A., Shah, M., Luben, R., Brown, J., Luccarini, C., Schoof, N., Humphreys, K., Li, J., Nordestgaard, B.G., Nielsen, S.F., Flyger, H., Couch, F.J., Wang, X., Vachon, C., Stevens, K.N., Lambrechts, D., Moisse, M., Paridaens, R., Christiaens, M.-R., Rudolph, A., Nickels, S., Flesch-Janys, D., Johnson, N., Aitken, Z., Aaltonen, K., Heikkinen, T., Broeks, A., Van't Veer, L.J., van der Schoot, C.E., Guénel, P., Truong, T., Laurent-Puig, P., Menegaux, F., Marme, F., Schneeweiss, A., Sohn, C., Burwinkel, B., Zamora, M.P., Perez, J.I.A., Pita, G., Alonso, M.R., Cox, A., Brock, I.W., Cross, S.S., Reed, M.W.R., Sawyer, E.J., Tomlinson, I., Kerin, Miller, Ν., Henderson, M.J., B.E., Schumacher, F., Le Marchand, L., Andrulis, I.L., Knight, J.A., Glendon, G., Mulligan, A.M., Lindblom, A., Margolin, S., Hooning, M.J., Hollestelle, A., van den Ouweland, A.M.W., Jager, A., Bui, Q.M., Stone, J., Dite, G.S., Apicella, C., Tsimiklis, H., Giles, G.G., Severi, G., Baglietto, L., Fasching, P.A., Haeberle, L., Ekici, A.B., Beckmann, M.W., Brenner, H., Müller, H., Arndt, V., Stegmaier, C., Swerdlow, A., Ashworth, A., Orr, N., Jones, M., Figueroa, J., Lissowska, J., Brinton, L., Goldberg, M.S., Labrèche, F., Dumont, M., Winqvist, R., Pylkäs, K., Jukkola-Vuorinen, A., Grip, M., Brauch, H., Hamann, U., Brüning, T., Radice, P., Peterlongo, P., Manoukian, S., Bonanni, B., Devilee, P., Tollenaar, R.A.E.M., Seynaeve, C., van Asperen, C.J., Jakubowska, A., Lubinski, J., Jaworska, K., Durda, K., Mannermaa, A., Kataja, V., Kosma, V.-M., Hartikainen, J.M., Bogdanova, N.V., Antonenkova, N.N., Dörk, T., Kristensen, V.N., Anton-Culver, H., Slager, S., Toland, A.E., Edge, S., Fostira, F., Kang, D., Yoo, K.-Y., Noh, D.-Y., Matsuo, K., Ito, H., Iwata, H., Sueta, A., Wu, A.H., Tseng, C.-C., Van Den Berg, D., Stram, D.O., Shu, X.-O., Lu, W., Gao, Y.-T., Cai, H., Teo, S.H., Yip, C.H., Phuah, S.Y., Cornes, B.K., Hartman, M., Miao, H., Lim, W.Y., Sng, J.-H., Muir, K., Lophatananon, A., Stewart-Brown, S., Siriwanarangsan, P., Shen, C.-Y., Hsiung, C.-N., Wu, P.-E., Ding, S.-L., Sangrajrang, S., Gaborieau, V., Brennan, P., McKay, J., Blot, W.J., Signorello, L.B., Cai, Q., Zheng, W., Deming-Halverson, S., Shrubsole, M., Long, J., Simard, J., Garcia-Closas, M., Pharoah, P.D.P., Chenevix-Trench, G., Dunning, A.M., Benitez, J., Easton, D.F., 2013. Large-scale genotyping identifies 41 new loci associated with breast cancer risk. Nat Genet 45, 353-361e2. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2563

Millar, C.B., Xu, F., Zhang, K., Grunstein, M., 2006. Acetylation of H2AZ Lys 14 is associated with genome-wide gene activity in yeast. Genes Dev. 20, 711–722. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1395506

Minc, E., Allory, Y., Worman, H.J., Courvalin, J.-C., Buendia, B., 1999. Localization and phosphorylation of HP1 proteins during the cell cycle in mammalian cells. Chromosoma 108, 220–234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004120050372

Mohammad, H.P., Barbash, O., Creasy, C.L., 2019. Targeting epigenetic modifications in cancer therapy: erasing the roadmap to cancer. Nat Med 25, 403–418. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-019-0376-8

Mohandas, T., Sparkes, R.S., Shapiro, L.J., 1981. Reactivation of an inactive human X chromosome: evidence for X inactivation by DNA methylation. Science 211, 393–396. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6164095

Morales, C., Losada, A., 2018. Establishing and dissolving cohesion during the vertebrate cell cycle. Current Opinion in Cell Biology 52, 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2018.01.010

Morin, R.D., Mendez-Lago, M., Mungall, A.J., Goya, R., Mungall, K.L., Corbett, R.D., Johnson, N.A., Severson, T.M., Chiu, R., Field, M., Jackman, S., Krzywinski, M., Scott, D.W., Trinh, D.L., Tamura-Wells, J., Li, S., Firme, M.R., Rogic, S., Griffith, M., Chan, S., Yakovenko, O., Meyer, I.M., Zhao, E.Y., Smailus, D., Moksa, M., Chittaranjan, S., Rimsza, L., Brooks-Wilson, A., Spinelli, J.J., Ben-Neriah, S., Meissner, B., Woolcock, B., Boyle, M., McDonald, H., Tam, A., Zhao, Y., Delaney, A., Zeng, T., Tse, K., Butterfield, Y., Birol, I., Holt, R., Schein, J., Horsman, D.E., Moore, R., Jones, S.J.M., Connors, J.M., Hirst, M., Gascoyne, R.D., Marra, M.A., 2011. Frequent mutation of histone-modifying genes in non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Nature 476, 298-303. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10351

Mozzetta, C., Pontis, J., Fritsch, L., Robin, P., Portoso, M., Proux, C., Margueron, R., Ait-Si-Ali, S., 2014. The Histone H3 Lysine 9 Methyltransferases G9a and GLP Regulate Polycomb Repressive Complex 2-Mediated Gene Silencing. Molecular Cell 53, 277–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2013.12.0 05

Mukherjee, B., Kessinger, C., Kobayashi, J., Chen, B.P.C., Chen, D.J., Chatterjee, A., Burma, S., 2006. DNA-PK phosphorylates histone H2AX during apoptotic DNA fragmentation in mammalian cells. DNA Repair 5, 575–590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2006.01.0 11

Muller, H.J., 1930. Types of visible variations induced by X-rays inDrosophila. Journ. of Gen. 22, 299–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02984195

Mulligan, P., Westbrook, T.F., Ottinger, M., Pavlova, N., Chang, B., Macia, E., Shi, Y.-J., Barretina, J., Liu, J., Howley, P.M., Elledge, S.J., Shi, Y., 2008. CDYL Bridges REST and Histone Methyltransferases for Gene Repression and Suppression of Cellular Transformation. Molecular Cell 32, 718–726. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.10.0 25

Mulligan, P., Yang, F., Di Stefano, L., Ji, J.-Y., Ouyang, J., Nishikawa, J.L., Toiber, D., Kulkarni, M., Wang, Q., Najafi-Shoushtari, S.H., Mostoslavsky, R., Gygi, S.P., Gill, G., Dyson, N.J., Näär, A.M., 2011. A SIRT1-LSD1 Corepressor Complex Regulates Notch Target Gene Expression and Development. Molecular Cell 42, 689–699. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2011.04.0 20

Murayama, Y., Uhlmann, F., 2015. DNA Entry into and Exit out of the Cohesin Ring by an Interlocking Gate Mechanism. Cell 163, 1628–1640.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.11.030

Murr, R., Loizou, J.I., Yang, Y.-G., Cuenin, C., Li, H., Wang, Z.-Q., Herceg, Z., 2006. Histone acetylation by Trrap–Tip60 modulates loading of repair proteins and repair of DNA double-strand breaks. Nature Cell Biology 8, 91–99. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1343

Nakamura, T.M., Du, L.-L., Redon, C., Russell, P., 2004. Histone H2A Phosphorylation Controls Crb2 Recruitment at DNA Breaks, Maintains Checkpoint Arrest, and Influences DNA Repair in Fission Yeast. Molecular and Cellular Biology 24, 6215–6230. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.24.14.6215-6230.2004

Nan, X., Ng, H.-H., Johnson, C.A., Laherty, C.D., Turner, B.M., Eisenman, R.N., Bird, A., 1998. Transcriptional repression by the methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 involves a histone deacetylase complex. Nature 393, 386–389. https://doi.org/10.1038/30764

Nan, X., Tate, P., Li, E., Bird, A., 1996. DNA methylation specifies chromosomal localization of MeCP2. Molecular and Cellular Biology 16, 414–421. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.16.1.414

Nechiporuk, T., McGann, J., Mullendorff, K., Hsieh, J., Wurst, W., Floss, T., Mandel, G., 2016. The REST remodeling complex protects genomic integrity during embryonic neurogenesis. eLife 5, e09584. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.09584

Ng, H.-H., Jeppesen, P., Bird, A., 2000. Active Repression of Methylated Genes by the Chromosomal Protein MBD1. Molecular and Cellular Biology 20, 1394–1406. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.20.4.1394-1406.2000

Nishibuchi, G., Déjardin, J., 2017. The molecular basis of the organization of repetitive DNA-containing constitutive heterochromatin in mammals. Chromosome Res 25, 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10577-016-9547-3

Nishiyama, T., Ladurner, R., Schmitz, J., Kreidl, E., Schleiffer, A., Bhaskara, V., Bando, M., Shirahige, K., Hyman, A.A., Mechtler, K., Peters, J.-M., 2010. Sororin Mediates Sister Chromatid Cohesion by Antagonizing Wapl. Cell 143, 737–749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.10.031

Nishiyama, T., Sykora, M.M., Veld, P.J.H. in 't, Mechtler, K., Peters, J.-M., 2013. Aurora B and Cdk1 mediate Wapl activation and release of acetylated cohesin from chromosomes by phosphorylating Sororin. PNAS 110, 13404–13409. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1305020110

Nonaka, N., Kitajima, T., Yokobayashi, S., Xiao, G., Yamamoto, M., Grewal, S.I.S., Watanabe, Y., 2002. Recruitment of cohesin to heterochromatic regions by Swi6/HP1 in fission yeast. Nat Cell Biol 4, 89–93. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb739

Nozawa, R.-S., Nagao, K., Masuda, H.-T., Iwasaki, O., Hirota, T., Nozaki, N., Kimura, H., Obuse, C., 2010. Human POGZ modulates dissociation of HP1 α from mitotic chromosome arms through Aurora B activation. Nat Cell Biol 12, 719–727. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2075

Oh, J.J., Shivakumar, M., Miller, J., Verma, S., Lee, H., Hong, S.K., Lee, S.E., Lee, Y., Lee, S.J., Sung, J., Kim, D., Byun, S.-S., 2019. An exome-wide rare variant analysis of Korean men identifies three novel genes predisposing to prostate cancer. Sci Rep 9, 17173. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-53445-2

Okamoto, N., Tsuchiya, Y., Kuki, I., Yamamoto, T., Saitsu, H., Kitagawa, D., Matsumoto, N., 2017. Disturbed chromosome segregation and multipolar spindle formation in a patient with *CHAMP1* mutation. Mol Genet Genomic Med 5, 585– 591. https://doi.org/10.1002/mgg3.303

Okano, M., Bell, D.W., Haber, D.A., Li, E., 1999. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell 99, 247–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81656-6

Okholm, T.L.H., Nielsen, M.M., Hamilton, M.P., Christensen, L.-L., Vang, S., Hedegaard, J., Hansen, T.B., Kjems, J., Dyrskjøt, L., Pedersen, J.S., 2017. Circular RNA expression abundant and is correlated to aggressiveness early-stage in bladder cancer. npj Genomic Med 2, 36. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41525-017-0038-z

O'Leary, N.A., Wright, M.W., Brister, J.R., Ciufo, S., Haddad, D., McVeigh, R., Rajput, B., Robbertse, B., Smith-White, B., Ako-Adjei, D., Astashyn, A., Badretdin, A., Bao, Y., Blinkova, O., Brover, V., Chetvernin, V., Choi, J., Cox, E., Ermolaeva, O., Farrell, C.M., Goldfarb, T., Gupta, T., Haft, D., Hatcher, E., Hlavina, W., Joardar, V.S., Kodali, V.K., Li, W., Maglott, D., Masterson, P., McGarvey, K.M., Murphy, M.R., O'Neill, K., Pujar, S., Rangwala, S.H., Rausch, D., Riddick, L.D., Schoch, C., Shkeda, A., Storz, S.S., Sun, H., Thibaud-Nissen, F., Tolstoy, I., Tully, R.E., Vatsan, A.R., Wallin, C., Webb, D., Wu, W., Landrum, M.J., Kimchi, A., Tatusova, T., DiCuccio, M., Kitts, P., Murphy, T.D., Pruitt, K.D., 2016. Reference sequence (RefSeq) database at NCBI: current status, taxonomic expansion, and functional annotation. Nucleic Acids Research 44, D733–D745. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkv1189

Ono, T., Losada, A., Hirano, M., Myers, M.P., Neuwald, A.F., Hirano, T., 2003. Differential Contributions of Condensin I and Condensin II to Mitotic Chromosome Architecture in Vertebrate Cells. Cell 115, 109–121. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00724-4

Org, T., Chignola, F., Hetényi, C., Gaetani, M., Rebane, A., Liiv, I., Maran, U., Mollica, L., Bottomley, M.J., Musco, G., Peterson, P., 2008. The autoimmune regulator PHD finger binds to non-methylated histone H3K4 to activate gene expression. EMBO reports 9, 370–376.

https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2008.11

Oswald, J., Engemann, S., Lane, N., Mayer, W., Olek, A., Fundele, R., Dean, W., Reik, W., Walter, J., 2000. Active demethylation of the paternal genome in the mouse zygote. Curr Biol 10, 475–478. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0960-9822(00)00448-6

Ovejero, S., Bueno, A., Sacristán, M.P., 2020. Working on Genomic Stability: From the S-Phase to Mitosis. Genes (Basel) 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11020225

Parab, S., Dalvi, V., Mylavaram, S., Kishore, A., Idicula-Thomas, S., Sonawane, S., Parte, P., 2017. Tubulin acetylation: A novel functional avenue for CDYL in sperm. Cytoskeleton 74, 331–342. https://doi.org/10.1002/cm.21381

Park, P.J., 2009. ChIP-Seq: advantages and challenges of a maturing technology. Nat Rev Genet 10, 669–680. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg2641

Paull, T.T., Rogakou, E.P., Yamazaki, V., Kirchgessner, C.U., Gellert, M., Bonner, W.M., 2000. A critical role for histone H2AX in recruitment of repair factors to nuclear foci after DNA damage. Current Biology 10, 886–895. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00610-2

Pedersen, M.T., Kooistra, S.M., Radzisheuskaya, A., Laugesen, A., Johansen, J.V., Hayward, D.G., Nilsson, J., Agger, K., Helin, K., 2016. Continual removal of H3K9 methylation promoter by Jmjd2 demethylases is vital for ESC self-renewal and early development. The EMBO Journal 35, 1550-1564. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201593317

Peng, J.C., Karpen, G.H., 2007. H3K9 methylation and RNA interference regulate nucleolar organization and repeated DNA stability. Nature Cell Biology 9, 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1514

Petela, N.J., Gligoris, T.G., Metson, J., Lee, B.-G., Voulgaris, M., Hu, B., Kikuchi, S., Chapard, C., Chen, W., Rajendra, E., Srinivisan, M., Yu, H., Löwe, J., Nasmyth, K.A., 2018. Scc2 Is a Potent Activator of Cohesin's ATPase that Promotes Loading by Binding Scc1 without Pds5. Molecular Cell 70, 1134-1148.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2018.05.0 22

Peters, A.H.F.M., O'Carroll, D., Scherthan, H., Mechtler, K., Sauer, S., Schöfer, C., Weipoltshammer, K., Pagani, M., Lachner, M., Kohlmaier, A., Opravil, S., Doyle, M., Sibilia, M., Jenuwein, T., 2001. Loss of the Suv39h Histone Methyltransferases Impairs Mammalian Heterochromatin and Genome Stability. Cell 107, 323–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00542-6

Petersen, C.P., Bordeleau, M.-E., Pelletier, J., Sharp, P.A., 2006. Short RNAs Repress Translation after Initiation in Mammalian Cells. Molecular Cell 21, 533–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.01.0 31

Pines, J., 2011. Cubism and the cell cycle: the many faces of the APC/C. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology 12, 427–438. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3132

Podhorecka, M., Skladanowski, A., Bozko, P., 2010. H2AX Phosphorylation: Its Role in DNA Damage Response and Cancer Therapy [WWW Document]. Journal of Nucleic Acids. https://doi.org/10.4061/2010/920161

Poli, M.N., Iriarte, P.F., Iudica, C., Zanier, J.H.M., Coco, R., 2015. New Sequence Variations in Spermatogenesis Candidates Genes. JBRA Assist Reprod 19, 216–222. https://doi.org/10.5935/1518-0557.20150042

Polioudaki, H., Markaki, Y., Kourmouli, N., Dialynas, G., Theodoropoulos, P.A., Singh, P.B., Georgatos, S.D., 2004. Mitotic phosphorylation of histone H3 at threonine 3. FEBS Letters 560, 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0014-5793(04)00060-2

Prendergast, Á.M., Cruet-Hennequart, S.,Shaw, G., Barry, F.P., Carty, M.P., 2011.Activation of DNA damage responsepathways in human mesenchymal stem cellsexposed to cisplatin or γ-irradiation. CellCycle10,3768–3777.https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.10.21.17972

Qi, C., Liu, S., Qin, R., Zhang, Y., Wang, G., Shang, Y., Wang, Y., Liang, J., 2014. Coordinated regulation of dendrite arborization by epigenetic factors CDYL and EZH2. J. Neurosci. 34, 4494–4508. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3647-13.2014

Qin, R., Cao, S., Lyu, T., Qi, C., Zhang, W., Wang, Y., 2017. CDYL Deficiency Disrupts Neuronal Migration and Increases Susceptibility to Epilepsy. Cell Rep 18, 380– 390.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.12.04 3

Racey, L.A., Byvoet, P., 1971. Histone acetyltransferase in chromatin: Evidence for in vitro enzymatic transfer of acetate from acetyl-coenzyme A to histones. Experimental Cell Research 64, 366–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-4827(71)90089-9

Rathert, P., Dhayalan, A., Murakami, M., Zhang, X., Tamas, R., Jurkowska, R., Komatsu, Y., Shinkai, Y., Cheng, X., Jeltsch, A., 2008. Protein lysine methyltransferase G9a acts on non-histone targets. Nat Chem Biol 4, 344–346. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.88

Razin, A., Riggs, A.D., 1980. DNA methylation and gene function. Science 210, 604–610. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.6254144

Rea, S., Eisenhaber, F., O'Carroll, D., Strahl, B.D., Sun, Z.-W., Schmid, M., Opravil, S., Mechtler, K., Ponting, C.P., Allis, C.D., Jenuwein, T., 2000. Regulation of chromatin structure by site-specific histone H3 methyltransferases. Nature 406, 593–599. https://doi.org/10.1038/35020506

Rhie, B.-H., Song, Y.-H., Ryu, H.-Y., Ahn, S.H., 2013. Cellular aging is associated with increased ubiquitylation of histone H2B in yeast telomeric heterochromatin. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 439, 570–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.09.017 Rogakou, E.P., Pilch, D.R., Orr, A.H., Ivanova, V.S., Bonner, W.M., 1998. DNA Doublestranded Breaks Induce Histone H2AX Phosphorylation on Serine 139. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 5858–5868. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.10.5858

Roh, T.-Y., Cuddapah, S., Zhao, K., 2005. Active chromatin domains are defined by acetylation islands revealed by genomewide mapping. Genes Dev. 19, 542–552. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1272505

Rougier, N., Bourc'his, D., Gomes, D.M., Niveleau, A., Plachot, M., Pàldi, A., Viegas-Péquignot, E., 1998. Chromosome methylation patterns during mammalian preimplantation development. Genes Dev. 12, 2108–2113. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.12.14.2108

Ruthenburg, A.J., Allis, C.D., Wysocka, J., 2007. Methylation of Lysine 4 on Histone H3: Intricacy of Writing and Reading a Single Epigenetic Mark. Molecular Cell 25, 15–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2006.12.0 14

Sabari, B.R., Tang, Z., Huang, H., Yong-Gonzalez, V., Molina, H., Kong, H.E., Dai, L., Shimada, M., Cross, J.R., Zhao, Y., Roeder, R.G., Allis, C.D., 2015. Intracellular Crotonyl-CoA Stimulates Transcription through p300-Catalyzed Histone Crotonylation. Molecular Cell 58, 203–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2015.02.0 29

Saksouk, N., Simboeck, E., Déjardin, J., 2015. Constitutive heterochromatin formation and transcription in mammals. Epigenetics & Chromatin 8, 3. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-8935-8-3

Salinas-Torres, V.M., Gallardo-Blanco, H.L., Salinas-Torres, R.A., Cerda-Flores, R.M., Lugo-Trampe, J.J., Villarreal-Martínez, D.Z., Martínez de Villarreal, L.E., 2019. Bioinformatic Analysis of Gene Variants from Gastroschisis Recurrence Identifies Multiple Novel Pathogenetic Pathways: Implication for the Closure of the Ventral Body Wall. Int J Mol Sci 20. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20092295

Salisbury, J.L., D'Assoro, A.B., Lingle, W.L., 2004. Centrosome Amplification and the Origin of Chromosomal Instability in Breast Cancer. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia 9, 275–283.

https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOMG.00000487 74.27697.30

Samora, C.P., Saksouk, J., Goswami, P., Wade, B.O., Singleton, M.R., Bates, P.A., Lengronne, A., Costa, A., Uhlmann, F., 2016. Ctf4 Links DNA Replication with Sister Chromatid Cohesion Establishment by Recruiting the Chl1 Helicase to the Replisome. Molecular Cell 63, 371–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2016.05.0 36

Santos-Rosa, H., Schneider, R., Bannister, A.J., Sherriff, J., Bernstein, B.E., Emre, N.C.T., Schreiber, S.L., Mellor, J., Kouzarides, T., 2002. Active genes are tri-methylated at K4 of histone H3. Nature 419, 407–411. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01080

Sarni, D., Kerem, B., 2017. Oncogene-Induced Replication Stress Drives Genome Instability and Tumorigenesis. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 18, 1339. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms18071339

Savci-Heijink, C.D., Halfwerk, H., Koster, J., Horlings, H.M., van de Vijver, M.J., 2019. A specific gene expression signature for visceral organ metastasis in breast cancer. BMC Cancer 19, 333. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12885-019-5554-z

Schatten, H., 2008. The mammalian centrosome and its functional significance. Histochem Cell Biol 129, 667–686. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00418-008-0427-6

Schmitz, J., Watrin, E., Lénárt, P., Mechtler, K., Peters, J.-M., 2007. Sororin Is Required for Stable Binding of Cohesin to Chromatin and for Sister Chromatid Cohesion in Interphase. Current Biology 17, 630–636. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.02.029

Schöckel, L., Möckel, M., Mayer, B., Boos, D., Stemmann, O., 2011. Cleavage of cohesin rings coordinates the separation of centrioles and chromatids. Nature Cell Biology 13, 966–972. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2280

Schoeler, N.E., Leu, C., Balestrini, S., Mudge, J.M., Steward, C.A., Frankish, A., Leung, M.-A., Mackay, M., Scheffer, I., Williams, R., Sander, J.W., Cross, J.H., Sisodiya, S.M., 2018. Genome-wide association study: genetic Exploring the basis for responsiveness to ketogenic dietary therapies for drug-resistant epilepsy. Epilepsia 59, 1557-1566. https://doi.org/10.1111/epi.14516

Schwartzentruber, J., Korshunov, A., Liu, X.-Y., Jones, D.T.W., Pfaff, E., Jacob, K., Sturm, D., Fontebasso, A.M., Quang, D.-A.K., Tönjes, M., Hovestadt, V., Albrecht, S., Kool, M., Nantel, A., Konermann, C., Lindroth, A., Jäger, N., Rausch, T., Ryzhova, M., Korbel, J.O., Hielscher, T., Hauser, P., Garami, M., Klekner, A., Bognar, L., Ebinger, M., Schuhmann, M.U., Scheurlen, W., Pekrun, A., Frühwald, M.C., Roggendorf, W., Kramm, C., Dürken, M., Atkinson, J., Lepage, P., Montpetit, A., Zakrzewska, M., Zakrzewski, K., Liberski, P.P., Dong, Z., Siegel, P., Kulozik, A.E., Zapatka, M., Guha, A., Malkin, D., Felsberg, J., Reifenberger, G., von Deimling, A., Ichimura, K., Collins, V.P., Witt, H., Milde, T., Witt, O., Zhang, C., Castelo-Branco, P., Lichter, P., Faury, D., Tabori, U., Plass, C., Majewski, J., Pfister, S.M., Jabado, N., 2012. Driver mutations in histone H3.3 and chromatin remodelling genes in paediatric glioblastoma. Nature 482, 226-231. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10833

Selvi, B.R., Batta, K., Kishore, A.H., Mantelingu, К., Varier, R.A., Balasubramanyam, К., Pradhan, S.K., Dasgupta, D., Sriram, S., Agrawal, S., Kundu, T.K., 2010. Identification of a Novel Inhibitor of Coactivator-associated Arginine Methyltransferase 1 (CARM1)-mediated Methylation of Histone H3 Arg-17. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 7143-7152. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M109.063933

Serrano, Á., Rodríguez-Corsino, M., Losada, A., 2009. Heterochromatin Protein 1 (HP1) Proteins Do Not Drive Pericentromeric Cohesin Enrichment in Human Cells. PLoS ONE 4, e5118. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0005 118

Seto, E., Yoshida, M., 2014. Erasers of Histone Acetylation: The Histone Deacetylase Enzymes. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 6, a018713. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a0187 13

Shang, W.-H., Hori, T., Westhorpe, F.G., Godek, K.M., Toyoda, A., Misu, S., Monma, N., Ikeo, K., Carroll, C.W., Takami, Y., Fujiyama, A., Kimura, H., Straight, A.F., Fukagawa, T., 2016. Acetylation of histone H4 lysine 5 and 12 is required for CENP-A deposition into centromeres. Nature Communications 7, 13465. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms13465

Shi, Y.-J., Matson, C., Lan, F., Iwase, S., Baba, T., Shi, Y., 2005. Regulation of LSD1 Histone Demethylase Activity by Its Associated Factors. Molecular Cell 19, 857–864. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2005.08.0 27

Shi, Yujiang, Lan, F., Matson, C., Mulligan, P., Whetstine, J.R., Cole, P.A., Casero, R.A., Shi, Yang, 2004. Histone Demethylation Mediated by the Nuclear Amine Oxidase Homolog LSD1. Cell 119, 941–953. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2004.12.012

Shi, Yujiang, Sawada, J., Sui, G., Affar, E.B., Whetstine, J.R., Lan, F., Ogawa, H., Po-Shan Luke, M., Nakatani, Y., Shi, Yang, 2003. Coordinated histone modifications mediated by a CtBP co-repressor complex. Nature 422, 735–738.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01550

Shintomi, K., Hirano, T., 2009. Releasing cohesin from chromosome arms in early mitosis: opposing actions of Wapl–Pds5 and Sgo1. Genes Dev. 23, 2224–2236. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1844309

Shrestha, R.L., Ahn, G.S., Staples, M.I., Sathyan, K.M., Karpova, T.S., Foltz, D.R., Basrai, M.A., 2017. Mislocalization of centromeric histone H3 variant CENP-A contributes to chromosomal instability (CIN) in human cells. Oncotarget 8, 46781–46800. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.18108

Siouda, M., Dujardin, A.D., Barbollat-Boutrand, L., Mendoza-Parra, M.A., Gibert, B., Ouzounova, M., Bouaoud, J., Tonon, L., Robert, M., Foy, J.-P., Lavergne, V., Manie, S.N., Viari, A., Puisieux, A., Ichim, G., Gronemeyer, H., Saintigny, P., Mulligan, P., 2020. CDYL2 Epigenetically Regulates MIR124 to Control NF-κB/STAT3-Dependent Breast Cancer Cell Plasticity. iScience 23, 101141.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2020.101141

Sjögren, C., Nasmyth, K., 2001. Sister chromatid cohesion is required for postreplicative double-strand break repair in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Current Biology 11, 991–995. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(01)00271-8

Sterner, D.E., Berger, S.L., 2000. Acetylation of Histones and Transcription-Related Factors. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 64, 435– 459. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.64.2.435-459.2000

Stock, J.K., Giadrossi, S., Casanova, M., Brookes, E., Vidal, M., Koseki, H., Brockdorff, N., Fisher, A.G., Pombo, A., 2007. Ring1mediated ubiquitination of H2A restrains poised RNA polymerase II at bivalent genes in mouse ES cells. Nature Cell Biology 9, 1428–1435.

https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1663

Stork, C.T., Bocek, M., Crossley, M.P., Sollier, J., Sanz, L.A., Chédin, F., Swigut, T., Cimprich, K.A., 2016. Co-transcriptional R-loops are the main cause of estrogen-induced DNA damage. Elife 5. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.17548

Strahl, B.D., Allis, C.D., 2000. The language of covalent histone modifications. Nature 403, 41–45. https://doi.org/10.1038/47412

Stuckey, J.I., Dickson, B.M., Cheng, N., Liu, Y., Norris, J.L., Cholensky, S.H., Tempel, W., Qin, S., Huber, K.G., Sagum, C., Black, K., Li, F., Huang, X.-P., Roth, B.L., Baughman, B.M., Senisterra, G., Pattenden, S.G., Vedadi, M., Brown, P.J., Bedford, M.T., Min, J., Arrowsmith, C.H., James, L.I., Frye, S.V., 2016. A cellular chemical probe targeting the chromodomains of Polycomb repressive complex 1. Nat Chem Biol 12, 180–187. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.2007

Stunnenberg, H.G., Vermeulen, M., 2011. Towards cracking the epigenetic code using a combination of high-throughput epigenomics and quantitative mass spectrometry-based proteomics. BioEssays 33, 547–551. https://doi.org/10.1002/bies.201100044

Sun, J., Zhang, H., Tao, D., Xie, F., Liu, F., Gu, C., Wang, M., Wang, L., Jiang, G., Wang, Z., Xiao, X., 2019. CircCDYL inhibits the expression of C-MYC to suppress cell growth and migration in bladder cancer. Artif Cells Nanomed Biotechnol 47, 1349–1356. https://doi.org/10.1080/21691401.2019.15 96941

Sun, Z., Terragni, J., Borgaro, J.G., Liu, Y., Yu, L., Guan, S., Wang, H., Sun, D., Cheng, X., Zhu, Z., Pradhan, S., Zheng, Y., 2013. High-Resolution Enzymatic Mapping of Genomic 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine in Mouse Embryonic Stem Cells. Cell Reports 3, 567– 576.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.01.00 1

Szklarczyk, D., Morris, J.H., Cook, H., Kuhn, M., Wyder, S., Simonovic, M., Santos, A., Doncheva, N.T., Roth, A., Bork, P., Jensen, L.J., von Mering, C., 2017. The STRING database in 2017: quality-controlled protein–protein association networks, made broadly accessible. Nucleic Acids Res 45, D362–D368.

https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw937

Tachibana, M., Sugimoto, K., Nozaki, M., Ueda, J., Ohta, T., Ohki, M., Fukuda, M., Takeda, N., Niida, H., Kato, H., Shinkai, Y., 2002. G9a histone methyltransferase plays a dominant role in euchromatic histone H3 lysine 9 methylation and is essential for early embryogenesis. Genes Dev. 16, 1779–1791. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.989402

Tagami, H., Ray-Gallet, D., Almouzni, G., Nakatani, Y., 2004. Histone H3.1 and H3.3 Complexes Mediate Nucleosome Assembly Pathways Dependent or Independent of DNA Synthesis. Cell 116, 51–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(03)01064-X

Tahiliani, M., Koh, K.P., Shen, Y., Pastor, W.A., Bandukwala, H., Brudno, Y., Agarwal, S., Iyer, L.M., Liu, D.R., Aravind, L., Rao, A., 2009. Conversion of 5-Methylcytosine to 5-Hydroxymethylcytosine in Mammalian DNA by MLL Partner TET1. Science 324, 930–935. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1170116 Tamaru, H., Selker, E.U., 2001. A histone H3 methyltransferase controls DNA methylation in Neurospora crassa. Nature 414, 277–283. https://doi.org/10.1038/35104508

Tan, M., Luo, H., Lee, S., Jin, F., Yang, J.S., Montellier, E., Buchou, T., Cheng, Z., Rousseaux, S., Rajagopal, N., Lu, Z., Ye, Z., Zhu, Q., Wysocka, J., Ye, Y., Khochbin, S., Ren, B., Zhao, Y., 2011. Identification of 67 Histone Marks and Histone Lysine Crotonylation as a New Type of Histone Modification. Cell 146, 1016-1028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.08.008

Tanaka, A.J., Cho, M.T., Retterer, K., Jones, J.R., Nowak, C., Douglas, J., Jiang, Y.-H., McConkie-Rosell, A., Schaefer, G.B., Kaylor, J., Rahman, O.A., Telegrafi, A., Friedman, B., Douglas, G., Monaghan, K.G., Chung, W.K., 2016. De novo pathogenic variants in CHAMP1 are associated with global developmental delay, intellectual disability, and dysmorphic facial features. Cold Spring Mol Case Harb Stud 2, a000661. https://doi.org/10.1101/mcs.a000661

Tang, T.K., Tang, C.J., Chao, Y.J., Wu, C.W., 1994. Nuclear mitotic apparatus protein (NuMA): spindle association, nuclear targeting and differential subcellular localization of various NuMA isoforms. Journal of Cell Science 107, 1389–1402.

Tanno, Y., Kitajima, T.S., Honda, T., Ando, Y., Ishiguro, K., Watanabe, Y., 2010. Phosphorylation of mammalian Sgo2 by Aurora B recruits PP2A and MCAK to centromeres. Genes Dev. 24, 2169–2179. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.1945310

Taunton, J., Hassig, C.A., Schreiber, S.L., 1996. A mammalian histone deacetylase related to the yeast transcriptional regulator Rpd3p. Science 272, 408–411. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.272.5260.4 08 Taverna, S.D., Li, H., Ruthenburg, A.J., Allis, C.D., Patel, D.J., 2007. How chromatinbinding modules interpret histone modifications: lessons from professional pocket pickers. Nat Struct Mol Biol 14, 1025– 1040. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb1338

Taylor, C.F., Platt, F.M., Hurst, C.D., Thygesen, H.H., Knowles, M.A., 2014. Frequent inactivating mutations of STAG2 in bladder cancer are associated with low tumour grade and stage and inversely related to chromosomal copy number changes. Hum Mol Genet 23, 1964–1974. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddt589

Thatcher, N., Lind, M., Morgenstern, G., Carr, T., Chadwick, G., Jones, R., Craig, P., 1989. High-dose, double alkylating agent chemotherapy with DTIC, melphalan, or ifosfamide and marrow rescue for metastatic malignant melanoma. Cancer 63, 1296-1302. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(19890401)63:7<1296::AID-CNCR2820630712>3.0.CO;2-3

Thrower, D.A., Jordan, M.A., Wilson, L., 1996. Modulation of CENP-E organization at kinetochores by spindle microtubule attachment. Cell Motility 35, 121–133. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0169(1996)35:2<121::AID-CM5>3.0.CO;2-D

Tjeertes, J.V., Miller, K.M., Jackson, S.P., 2009. Screen for DNA-damage-responsive histone modifications identifies H3K9Ac and H3K56Ac in human cells. The EMBO Journal 28, 1878–1889. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2009.119

Tomonaga, T., Matsushita, K., Yamaguchi, S., Oohashi, T., Shimada, H., Ochiai, T., Yoda, K., Nomura, F., 2003. Overexpression and Mistargeting of Centromere Protein-A in Human Primary Colorectal Cancer. Cancer Res 63, 3511–3516.

Torres, I.O., Kuchenbecker, K.M., Nnadi, C.I., Fletterick, R.J., Kelly, M.J.S., Fujimori, D.G., 2015. Histone demethylase KDM5A is regulated by its reader domain through a positive-feedback mechanism. Nature Communications 6, 6204. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms7204

Toyoda, Y., Yanagida, M., 2006. Coordinated Requirements of Human Topo II and Cohesin for Metaphase Centromere Alignment under Mad2-dependent Spindle Checkpoint Surveillance. MBoC 17, 2287–2302. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.e05-11-1089

Trojer, P., Reinberg, D., 2007. Facultative Heterochromatin: Is There a Distinctive Molecular Signature? Molecular Cell 28, 1– 13.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2007.09.0 11

Tropberger, P., Schneider, R., 2010. Going global: Novel histone modifications in the globular domain of H3. Epigenetics 5, 112–117. https://doi.org/10.4161/epi.5.2.11075

Tsai, M.-C., Manor, O., Wan, Y., Mosammaparast, N., Wang, J.K., Lan, F., Shi, Y., Segal, E., Chang, H.Y., 2010. Long Noncoding RNA as Modular Scaffold of Histone Modification Complexes. Science 329, 689–693. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1192002

Tschiersch, B., Hofmann, A., Krauss, V., Dorn, R., Korge, G., Reuter, G., 1994. The protein encoded by the Drosophila position-effect variegation suppressor gene Su(var)3-9 combines domains of antagonistic regulators of homeotic gene complexes. EMBO J 13, 3822–3831.

Tsukada, Y., Fang, J., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Warren, M.E., Borchers, C.H., Tempst, P., Zhang, Y., 2006. Histone demethylation by a family of JmjC domain-containing proteins. Nature 439, 811–816. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04433 Uhlmann, F., Nasmyth, K., 1998. Cohesion between sister chromatids must be established during DNA replication. Current Biology 8, 1095–1102. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(98)70463-4

Uhlmann, F., Wernic, D., Poupart, M.-A., Koonin, E.V., Nasmyth, K., 2000. Cleavage of Cohesin by the CD Clan Protease Separin Triggers Anaphase in Yeast. Cell 103, 375– 386. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00130-6

Unnikrishnan, A., Gafken, P.R., Tsukiyama, T., 2010. Dynamic changes in histone acetylation regulate origins of DNA replication. Nat Struct Mol Biol 17, 430–437. https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1780

Valls, E., Sánchez-Molina, S., Martínez-Balbás, M.A., 2005. Role of Histone Modifications in Marking and Activating Genes through Mitosis*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 280, 42592–42600. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M507407200

van Haaften, G., Dalgliesh, G.L., Davies, H., Chen, L., Bignell, G., Greenman, C., Edkins, S., Hardy, C., O'Meara, S., Teague, J., Butler, A., Hinton, J., Latimer, C., Andrews, J., Barthorpe, S., Beare, D., Buck, G., Campbell, P.J., Cole, J., Forbes, S., Jia, M., Jones, D., Kok, C.Y., Leroy, C., Lin, M.-L., McBride, D.J., Maddison, M., Maquire, S., McLay, K., Menzies, A., Mironenko, T., Mulderrig, L., Mudie, L., Pleasance, E., Shepherd, R., Smith, R., Stebbings, L., Stephens, P., Tang, G., Tarpey, P.S., Turner, R., Turrell, K., Varian, J., West, S., Widaa, S., Wray, P., Collins, V.P., Ichimura, K., Law, S., Wong, J., Yuen, S.T., Leung, S.Y., Tonon, G., DePinho, R.A., Tai, Y.-T., Anderson, K.C., Kahnoski, R.J., Massie, A., Khoo, S.K., Teh, B.T., Stratton, M.R., Futreal, P.A., 2009. Somatic mutations of the histone H3K27 demethylase gene UTX in human cancer. Nat Genet 41, 521-523. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.349

Varambally, S., Dhanasekaran, S.M., Zhou, M., Barrette, T.R., Kumar-Sinha, C., Sanda, M.G., Ghosh, D., Pienta, K.J., Sewalt, R.G.A.B., Otte, A.P., Rubin, M.A., Chinnaiyan, A.M., 2002. The polycomb group protein EZH2 is involved in progression of prostate cancer. Nature 419, 624–629. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01075

Varier, R.A., Outchkourov, N.S., de Graaf, P., van Schaik, F.M.A., Ensing, H.J.L., Wang, F., Higgins, J.M.G., Kops, G.J.P.L., Timmers, Ht.M., 2010. A phospho/methyl switch at histone H3 regulates TFIID association with mitotic chromosomes. The EMBO Journal 29, 3967–3978.

https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2010.261

Vega, H., Waisfisz, Q., Gordillo, M., Sakai, N., Yanagihara, I., Yamada, M., van Gosliga, D., Kayserili, H., Xu, C., Ozono, K., Wang Jabs, E., Inui, K., Joenje, H., 2005. Roberts syndrome is caused by mutations in ESCO2, a human homolog of yeast ECO1 that is essential for the establishment of sister chromatid cohesion. Nature Genetics 37, 468–470. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng1548

Vermeulen, M., Eberl, H.C., Matarese, F., Marks, H., Denissov, S., Butter, F., Lee, K.K., Olsen, J.V., Hyman, A.A., Stunnenberg, H.G., Mann, M., 2010. Quantitative Interaction Proteomics and Genome-wide Profiling of Epigenetic Histone Marks and Their Readers. Cell 142, 967–980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.08.020

Verreault, A., Kaufman, P.D., Kobayashi, R., Stillman, B., 1996. Nucleosome Assembly by a Complex of CAF-1 and Acetylated Histones H3/H4. Cell 87, 95–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81326-4

Voellenkle, C., Perfetti, A., Carrara, M., Fuschi, P., Renna, L.V., Longo, M., Sain, S.B., Cardani, R., Valaperta, R., Silvestri, G., Legnini, I., Bozzoni, I., Furling, D., Gaetano, C., Falcone, G., Meola, G., Martelli, F., 2019. Dysregulation of Circular RNAs in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1. Int J Mol Sci 20. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms20081938

Vrba, L., Muñoz-Rodríguez, J.L., Stampfer, M.R., Futscher, B.W., 2013. miRNA Gene Promoters Are Frequent Targets of Aberrant DNA Methylation in Human Breast Cancer. PLOS ONE 8, e54398. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054 398

Waddington, C.H., 1942. The Epigenotype. Int J Epidemiol 41, 10–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyr184

Waizenegger, I.C., Hauf, S., Meinke, A., Peters, J.-M., 2000. Two Distinct Pathways Remove Mammalian Cohesin from Chromosome Arms in Prophase and from Centromeres in Anaphase. Cell 103, 399– 410. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00132-X

Walia, H., Chen, H.Y., Sun, J.-M., Holth, L.T., Davie, J.R., 1998. Histone Acetylation Is Required to Maintain the Unfolded Nucleosome Structure Associated with Transcribing DNA. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 14516– 14522.

https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.23.14516

Wan, J., Liu, H., Ming, L., 2019. Lysine crotonylation is involved in hepatocellular carcinoma progression. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 111, 976–982. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.12.1 48

Wan, L., Hu, X.-J., Yan, S.-X., Chen, F., Cai, B., Zhang, X.-M., Wang, T., Yu, X.-B., Xiang, A.P., Li, W.-Q., 2013. Generation and neuronal differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells in Cdyl-/- mice: NeuroReport 24, 114– 119.

https://doi.org/10.1097/WNR.0b013e3283 5cf179 Wang, F., Higgins, J.M.G., 2013. Histone modifications and mitosis: countermarks, landmarks, and bookmarks. Trends in Cell Biology 23, 175–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2012.11.005

Wang, G.G., Cai, L., Pasillas, M.P., Kamps, M.P., 2007. NUP98–NSD1 links H3K36 methylation to Hox-A gene activation and leukaemogenesis. Nature Cell Biology 9, 804–812. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1608

Wei, W., Liu, X., Chen, J., Gao, S., Lu, L., Zhang, H., Ding, G., Wang, Z., Chen, Z., Shi, T., Li, J., Yu, J., Wong, J., 2017. Class I histone deacetylases are major histone decrotonylases: evidence for critical and broad function of histone crotonylation in transcription. Cell Res 27, 898–915. https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2017.68

Wei, Y., Chen, X., Liang, C., Ling, Y., Yang, X., Ye, X., Zhang, H., Yang, P., Cui, X., Ren, Y., Xin, X., Li, H., Wang, R., Wang, W., Jiang, F., Liu, S., Ding, J., Zhang, B., Li, L., Wang, H., 2020. A Noncoding Regulatory RNAs Network Driven by Circ-CDYL Acts Specifically in the Early Stages Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Hepatology 71, 130–147. https://doi.org/10.1002/hep.30795

Wei, Y., Mizzen, C.A., Cook, R.G., Gorovsky, M.A., Allis, C.D., 1998. Phosphorylation of histone H3 at serine 10 is correlated with chromosome condensation during mitosis and meiosis in Tetrahymena. PNAS 95, 7480–7484.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.13.7480

Weisenberger, D.J., Campan, M., Long, T.I., Kim, M., Woods, C., Fiala, E., Ehrlich, M., Laird, P.W., 2005. Analysis of repetitive element DNA methylation by MethyLight. Nucleic Acids Res 33, 6823–6836. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gki987

Welburn, J.P.I., Vleugel, M., Liu, D., Yates, J.R., Lampson, M.A., Fukagawa, T., Cheeseman, I.M., 2010. Aurora B Phosphorylates Spatially Distinct Targets to Differentially Regulate the Kinetochore-Microtubule Interface. Molecular Cell 38, 383–392.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.02.0 34

Whelan, G., Kreidl, E., Wutz, G., Egner, A., Peters, J.-M., Eichele, G., 2012. Cohesin acetyltransferase Esco2 is a cell viability factor and is required for cohesion in pericentric heterochromatin. The EMBO Journal 31, 71–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/emboj.2011.381

Wimberly, H., Shee, C., Thornton, P.C., Sivaramakrishnan, P., Rosenberg, S.M., Hastings, P.J., 2013. R-loops and nicks initiate DNA breakage and genome instability in non-growing Escherichia coli. Nature Communications 4, 2115. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms3115

Winsel, S., Mäki-Jouppila, J., Tambe, M., Aure, M.R., Pruikkonen, S., Salmela, A.-L., Halonen, T., Leivonen, S.-K., Kallio, L., Børresen-Dale, A.-L., Kallio, M.J., 2014. Excess of miRNA-378a-5p perturbs mitotic fidelity and correlates with breast cancer tumourigenesis in vivo. British Journal of Cancer 111, 2142–2151. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2014.524

Wong, E., Yang, K., Kuraguchi, M., Werling, U., Avdievich, E., Fan, K., Fazzari, M., Jin, B., Brown, A.M.C., Lipkin, M., Edelmann, W., 2002. Mbd4 inactivation increases $C \rightarrow T$ transition mutations and promotes gastrointestinal tumor formation. PNAS 99, 14937–14942.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.232579299

Woods, D., Turchi, J.J., 2013. Chemotherapy induced DNA damage response. Cancer Biol Ther 14, 379–389. https://doi.org/10.4161/cbt.23761

Wreggett, K.A., Hill, F., James, P.S., Hutchings, A., Butcher, G.W., Singh, P.B., 1994. A mammalian homologue of Drosophila heterochromatin protein 1 (HP1) is a component of constitutive heterochromatin. CGR 66, 99–103. https://doi.org/10.1159/000133676

Wu, H., Min, J., Antoshenko, T., Plotnikov,
A.N., 2009. Crystal structures of human CDY
proteins reveal a crotonase-like fold.
Proteins 76, 1054–1061.
https://doi.org/10.1002/prot.22472

Wu, H., Zhang, H., Wang, P., Mao, Z., Feng, L., Wang, Y., Liu, C., Xia, Q., Li, B., Zhao, H., Chen, Y., Wu, J., Kong, W., Yu, X., 2013. Short-Form CDYLb but not long-form CDYLa functions cooperatively with histone methyltransferase G9a in hepatocellular carcinomas: CDYLb and G9a Function Cooperatively In HCC. Genes Chromosomes Cancer n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/gcc.22060

Wu, H., Zhang, Y., 2011. Mechanisms and functions of Tet protein-mediated 5methylcytosine oxidation. Genes Dev 25, 2436–2452. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.179184.111

Wutz, A., 2011. Gene silencing in Xchromosome inactivation: advances in understanding facultative heterochromatin formation. Nature Reviews Genetics 12, 542–553. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrg3035

Wysocka, J., Swigut, T., Xiao, H., Milne, T.A., Kwon, S.Y., Landry, J., Kauer, M., Tackett, A.J., Chait, B.T., Badenhorst, P., Wu, C., Allis, C.D., 2006. A PHD finger of NURF couples histone H3 lysine 4 trimethylation with chromatin remodelling. Nature 442, 86–90. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature04815

Xia, X., Zhou, X., Quan, Y., Hu, Y., Xing, F., Li, Z., Xu, B., Xu, C., Zhang, A., 2019. Germline deletion of Cdyl causes teratozoospermia and progressive infertility in male mice. Cell Death Dis 10, 229. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-019-1455-y Yamamoto, Y., Verma, U.N., Prajapati, S., Kwak, Y.-T., Gaynor, R.B., 2003. Histone H3 phosphorylation by IKK- α is critical for cytokine-induced gene expression. Nature 423, 655–659.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01576

Yan, H., Kikuchi, S., Neumann, P., Zhang, W., Wu, Y., Chen, F., Jiang, J., 2010. Genomewide mapping of cytosine methylation revealed dynamic DNA methylation patterns associated with genes and centromeres in rice. Plant J 63, 353–365. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04246.x

Yang, F., Wang, P.J., 2016. Multiple LINEs of retrotransposon silencing mechanisms in the mammalian germline. Semin Cell Dev Biol 59, 118–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.03. 001

Yang, L., Han, S., Sun, Y., 2014. An IL6-STAT3 loop mediates resistance to PI3K inhibitors by inducing epithelial–mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cell expansion in human breast cancer cells. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 453, 582–587.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.09.129

Yang, L., Liu, Y., Fan, M., Zhu, G., Jin, H., Liang, J., Liu, Z., Huang, Z., Zhang, L., 2019. Identification and characterization of benzo[d]oxazol-2(3H)-one derivatives as the first potent and selective small-molecule inhibitors of chromodomain protein CDYL. European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 182, 111656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2019.111 656

Yang, L.-F., Yang, F., Zhang, F.-L., Xie, Y.-F., Hu, Z.-X., Huang, S.-L., Shao, Z.-M., Li, D.-Q., 2020. Discrete functional and mechanistic roles of chromodomain Y-like 2 (CDYL2) transcript variants in breast cancer growth and metastasis. Theranostics 10, 5242–5258. https://doi.org/10.7150/thno.43744

Yazdi, P.T., Wang, Y., Zhao, S., Patel, N., Lee, E.Y.-H.P., Qin, J., 2002. SMC1 is a downstream effector in the ATM/NBS1 branch of the human S-phase checkpoint. Genes Dev 16, 571–582. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.970702

Yi, Q., Chen, Q., Liang, C., Yan, H., Zhang, Z., Xiang, X., Zhang, M., Qi, F., Zhou, L., Wang, F., 2018. HP 1 links centromeric heterochromatin to centromere cohesion in mammals. EMBO Rep 19. https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.201745484

Zahn, J., Kaplan, M.H., Fischer, S., Dai, M., Meng, F., Saha, A.K., Cervantes, P., Chan, S.M., Dube, D., Omenn, G.S., Markovitz, D.M., Contreras-Galindo, R., 2015. Expansion of a novel endogenous retrovirus throughout the pericentromeres of modern humans. Genome Biol 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0641-1

Zeller, P., Gasser, S.M., 2017. The Importance of Satellite Sequence Repression for Genome Stability. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 82, 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2017.82.03366 2

Zeng, L., Zhang, Q., Li, S., Plotnikov, A.N., Walsh, M.J., Zhou, M.-M., 2010. Mechanism and regulation of acetylated histone binding by the tandem PHD finger of DPF3b. Nature 466, 258–262. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09139

Zerbino, D.R., Achuthan, P., Akanni, W., Amode, M.R., Barrell, D., Bhai, J., Billis, K., Cummins, C., Gall, A., Girón, C.G., Gil, L., Gordon, L., Haggerty, L., Haskell, E., Hourlier, T., Izuogu, O.G., Janacek, S.H., Juettemann, T., To, J.K., Laird, M.R., Lavidas, I., Liu, Z., Loveland, J.E., Maurel, T., McLaren, W., Moore, B., Mudge, J., Murphy, D.N., Newman, V., Nuhn, M., Ogeh, D., Ong, C.K., Parker, A., Patricio, M., Riat, H.S., Schuilenburg, H., Sheppard, D., Sparrow, H., Taylor, K., Thormann, A., Vullo, A., Walts, B., Zadissa, A., Frankish, A., Hunt, S.E., Kostadima, M., Langridge, N., Martin, F.J., Muffato, M., Perry, E., Ruffier, M., Staines, D.M., Trevanion, S.J., Aken, B.L., Cunningham, F., Yates, A., Flicek, P., 2018. Ensembl 2018. Nucleic Acids Research 46, D754–D761.

https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkx1098

Zhang, J., Shi, X., Li, Y., Kim, B.-J., Jia, J., Huang, Z., Yang, T., Fu, X., Jung, S.Y., Wang, Y., Zhang, P., Kim, S.-T., Pan, X., Qin, J., 2008. Acetylation of Smc3 by Eco1 Is Required for S Phase Sister Chromatid Cohesion in Both Human and Yeast. Molecular Cell 31, 143– 151.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2008.06.0 06

Zhang, K., Mosch, K., Fischle, W., Grewal, 2008. of S.I.S., Roles the Clr4 methyltransferase complex in nucleation, spreading and maintenance of Nature Structural heterochromatin. & 15, 381-388. Molecular Biology https://doi.org/10.1038/nsmb.1406

Zhang, R., Erler, J., Langowski, J., 2017. Histone Acetylation Regulates Chromatin Accessibility: Role of H4K16 in Internucleosome Interaction. Biophysical Journal 112, 450–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2016.11.015

Zhang, X., Yang, Z., Khan, S.I., Horton, J.R., Tamaru, H., Selker, E.U., Cheng, X., 2003. Structural Basis for the Product Specificity of Histone Lysine Methyltransferases. Molecular Cell 12, 177–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00224-7

Zhang, Y., Yang, X., Gui, B., Xie, G., Zhang, D., Shang, Y., Liang, J., 2011. Corepressor Protein CDYL Functions as a Molecular Bridge between Polycomb Repressor Complex 2 and Repressive Chromatin Mark Trimethylated Histone Lysine 27. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 42414–42425. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.271064

Zhao, X., He, X., Han, X., Yu, Y., Ye, F., Chen, Y., Hoang, T., Xu, X., Mi, Q.-S., Xin, M., Wang, F., Appel, B., Lu, Q.R., 2010. MicroRNA-Mediated Control of Oligodendrocyte Differentiation. Neuron 65, 612–626. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.02.0 18

Zheng, G., Kanchwala, M., Xing, C., Yu, H., 2018. MCM2–7-dependent cohesin loading during S phase promotes sister-chromatid cohesion. eLife 7, e33920. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.33920

Zhou, J., Zhang, H., Gu, P., Bai, J., Margolick, J.B., Zhang, Y., 2008. NF-κB pathway inhibitors preferentially inhibit breast cancer stem-like cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat 111, 419–427. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-007-9798-y

Zhou, X., Xu, B., Zhang, D., Jiang, X., Chang, H.-M., Leung, P.C.K., Xia, X., Zhang, A., 2020. Loss of CDYL Results in Suppression of CTNNB1 and Decreased Endometrial Receptivity. Front Cell Dev Biol 8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.00105

Zhou, X.-J., Rahmani, R., 1992. Preclinical and Clinical Pharmacology of Vinca Alkaloids. Drugs 44, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-199200444-00002

Zilberman, D., Coleman-Derr, D., Ballinger, T., Henikoff, S., 2008. Histone H2A.Z and DNA methylation are mutually antagonistic chromatin marks. Nature 456, 125–129. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07324